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PREFACE.

IT is precisely five years since we wrote the Preface to the first volume
of this work,—the twelfth part of an average long life! We do not say
that the whole of this protracted period has been devoted to the under-
taking. On the contrary, lengthened intervals occurred, during which
no progress whatever was made with it. This arose out of events which
cannot well be explained. The want of a Publisher—engaging to run
the risk of the second volume—oceasioned an unavoidable and serious
delay. Nearly two years elapsed before Mr. STEVENSON, the publisher,
came forward, and undertook the responsibility of completing the work.
Since that time, we have been enabled to move on—slowly, or more ex-
peditiously, according to circumstances. No doubt, the attention re-
quired in managing the business of a printing-office, however small, has
been a material drawback ; still, when the magnitude of the undertaking
is considered, the time consumed in bringing it to a close may not appear
so extraordinary after all. ' »

. Tous it has been, in one sense, a labour ef pleasure, but, in another,
of much anxiety ; and, we may add, of considerable pecuniary loss. The
work is of such a nature that it could not be expected from the sale,—
local and limited as the demand for such books usually is, —to yield any-
thing like a remuneration for the research involved in it; yet, having
put our hand to the plough, we could not think of abandoning it, even in
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the face of apparently insurmountable difficulties, and the certainty of
reaping a very inadequate reward. But for it, we might have been en-
gaged in more profitable pursuits, and avoided many annoyances to which
our devotion to the undertaking exposed us. It is now finished, however,
and we may mention these things by way of apology to our Subscribers,
many of whom have to look back over a period of at least eight long
years since they first added their names to the subscription list, not only
for the delay, but also on account of not a few deficiences inseparable
from a task so often interrupted. No work of the kind ought ever to
be undertaken, save by men of “lettered ease and independence,” who
can afford to give their hobby full rein,—a life-time being scarcely suffi-
cient to do justice to such an extensive field of enquiry as we have gone
over.

Sensible we are of the numerous defects of the work—its sins of omis-
sion and commission,—we might have been more full here, more accu-
rate there ; still, when the difficulty of obtaining information—especially
anything like correct information—in reference to family history and
the descent of property, is considered, some indulgence will be vouch-
safed to us. In the preface to the first volume, we took cccasion to
thank the representatives of the various families, to whom we had ap-
plied, for the ready manner in which they responded to our inquiries ;
and we have our renewed thanks to tender in a similar manner on ac-
count of this, the second volume. At the same time, we may state that
there were exceptions. In some instances not even a reply could be
elicited—while, in numerous cases, where the ancient race is extinct, we
had no source of information save the public records. It is therefore
little to be wondered at if our genealogies sometimes dwindle down to
mere skeleton sketches—notes thrown chronologically together, no
doubt, but wanting the muscular adhesion of a full grown pedigree. It
may be proper to explain, however, that the * History of the County
of Ayr,” was in reality designed to partake more of the character of a
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historical than a genealogical work. 'We were less caring for minute
family detail, than to trace the progress and division of land, and the ori-
gin and descent of the principal branches of the proprietors. If we are
therefore occasionally less full in the pedigrees than some genealogists

~ could wish, our apology is thus at hand.

Faulty as the work may be in this respect, yet such notes as we have
been able to give, may lead to fuller expansion by members of the fa-
milies themselves—who have a taste for genealogical inquiry—or by
parties into whose hands the requisite family documents have fallen.
‘Whatever may be the opinion of the public as to the merits or demerits
of the work, we are glad to know that the design of it is appreciated,
and that, by and by, there may be done for other counties of Scotland
what we have attempted for Ayrshire.

Amidst discouragements of no ordinary description, we have great
pleasure in tendering our best thanks—in addition to the gentlemen
mentioned in the preface to the first volume—to David Laing, Esq. of
the Signet Library, for his unvaried kindness and assistance, and to
William Ranken, Esq. Glenlogan, and William Cooper, Esq. of Failford,
for their valuable information and otherwise.

PRINTING-OFFICE, 90, SOUTH BRIDGE,
[Edinburgh, September 1852.
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ACCOUNT OF THE PARISHES AND FAMILIES.

PARISH:OF DUNDONALD.

ETYMOLOGY, EXTENT, &c.

TRE name is evidently derived from the Gaelic
Dun, a fortified hill; and Donald, the name jof
& person—some warrior in those early periods of
which we have no authentic history. The parish
is situated at the north-west extremity of the dis-
trict of Kyle. It was at one time much more
extensive than it is at present. It forms nearly
‘* an equilateral triangle, the length of the side
of which is about seven miles. On the south-
west side it is bounded by the shore of the Frith
of Clyde; which, passing over the point at Troon
(extending nearly a mile into the sea), runs al-
most in a straight line from the point at Irvine
harbour to where the Rumbling and Po burns
meet, and separate it from the parish of Monk-
ton. On the north it is bounded by the water
of Irvine, separating it from the parishes of Ir-
vine, Dreghorn and Kilmaurs. On the south-
east it has no nataral boundary, but runs in a
straight line from a point on the Irvine, a little
below Caprington, to the above-mentioned point
on the coast westward, on which side it is bounded
by the parishes of Riccarton, Symington, and
Monkton.*

The topographical character of the parish is
well described by the writer in the Statistical Ac-
count :—** Within these limits the surface is mark-
ed by a very pleasing variety of appearance, All
along the sea-coast and the banks of Irvine for a
considerable way inland, the soil is almost a dead

¢ Statistical Acoount of the parish, admirably drawn
up by the Rev. Alexander Willison.

level, or very gently undulated. But with a view,
as it were, to make amends for this tiresome mo-
notony, it rapidly swells up, towards one concen-
trating point, into eminences betwixt three and
four hundred feet above the level of the sea.
These form the Clavin hills, so called probably
from the Celtic Clai bhein, signifying broed-
swords, which, when laid in a particular form,
give a good idea of their appeararce. From the
tops ot these eminences there is a most delight-
ful prospect, said to comprise parts of fourteen
counties ; and it is questionable if, from an equal
elevation, so fine a natural panorama, both for
richness and extent, is anywhere to be met with
in the lowlands of Scotland.

« At the foot of one of these hills, forming &
rocky precipice, and well skirted with wood, lies
the village of Dundonald. This, with the ad-
joining grey ruins of the castle, crowning an
eminence in front of the village, gives it a very
picturesque appearance. There is only one thing
wanting to complete the picture, and that is wa-
ter; the village being shut in from the sea by the
intervening hills, while there is scarcely a stream
deserving the name of a rivulet in the parish.
This defect, however, tells more upon the eye
than upon the comfort of the inhabitants; for,
the soil being generally retentive, excepting to-
wards the shore, springs are everywhere abun-
dant; and the water is in general good, though
in some places strongly impregnated with carbo-
nate of iron.”

There is reason, however, to believe that this
defect did not always exist. The low ground
between the precipice and the Castle Hill, through
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which a small streamlet runs, and which is still
marshy, has every indication of having at one
time forméd a loch. Indeed, none of the old
castles were built unless in the immediate vici-
nity of a plentiful supply of water. This sup-
position seems confirmed by the fact, that the
ground on which part of the village is built, is
styled in the title-deeds the fisherman’s field, from
the person, no doubt, whose business it was to
supply the castle with fish from the loch. At the
lower extremity apparently of this sheet of water
there are certain remains extant of a mill for
grinding corn, which was probably at work long
after the castle became tenantless and the loch
partially drained.

The climate is considered mild, though rather
moist, from the immediate vicinity of the hills,
The greater part of the land is under cultivation,
and the soil is exceedingly varied, so that no par-
ticular crop is peculiar to the parish. It is not
behind the rest of Ayrshire in dairy produce.

There are no extensive plantations in the pa-
rish, though the interior part of it is well wooded.
At Auchans there are a few acres of natural wood,
and some fine specimens of old trees near the
mansion-house.

The means of communication are good. Be-
gides roads in various directions, two railways
pass through the parish. These are the old tram-
road, constructed by the Duke of Portland in
1810, between Kilmarnock and Troon—now re-
laid with rails by the Glasgow and Ayr Railway
Company, who have leased the line—and the
Glasgow and Ayr line, which passes along the
coast for nearly eight miles.

There are two harbours properly within the
parish—Irvine and Troon. The former, how-
ever, is usually classed along with Irvine. Troon
is technically considered only a creek of Irvine,
although it is now the most important of the two.
A charter was obtained, by William Fullarton of
Fullarton, from Queen Anne in 1707, for the
purpose of comstructing a harbour at Troon.
About that period, says the Old Statistical Ac-
count, ** an offer was made to the proprictor by
the merchants of Glasgow for feuing the adjoin-
ing land, and proceeding with the work; but
their offer was rejected for a reason which,
however ridiculous it may now appear, would be
considered very cogent in those days—Ilest a rise
should take place on the price of butter and eggs.”
The charter thus remained in abeyance till 1808,
 when the Duke of Portland, who had previously
purchased the estate of Fullarton, entered on the
undertaking, which has cost from first to last about
£100,000.” There arc two dry docks, and a wet
dock has been constructed, while other improve-

ments are still going on. ‘ The harbour has a
good lighthouse, supported from its own revenue ;
and on the Lady Isle, lying towards the bay of
Ay, but belonging to this parish; the merchants
of Glasgow, more than half-a-century ago, erected
two pillars for the direction of vessels.”* )

HISTORY, CIVIL AND ECCLESIASTICAL.

“The first historical notice we have of the
place,” says the Statistical Account, *‘is in the
time of the fifth Walter Stewart, who was styled
of Dundonald, and was made Justiciary of Scot-
land by Alexander II., at St Andrews, in 1230.
It is said, however, by Chalmers, that the manor
and parish belonged to Walter, the son of Allan,
the first Stewart, who held the whole of the -
northern half of Kyle in the beginning of the reign
of William the Lion ; and that it might have been
granted tq him by David I., or his successor, Mal-
colm IV. Nothing more is known, or even con-
jectured, regarding it until the reign of Robert IL,
who appears, by several charters dated at Dun-
donald, to have made it the place of at least occa-
gional residence, from 1871 till the time of his
death in 1390. This latter event is particularly
mentioned by the Prior of St Serf’s Inch, Loch-
leven :—

¢ The secownd Robert of Scotland Kyng,
As God purwaid maid endying
At Downdownald in his countre.
©Of a schort sicknees thare deyd he.'— 3

That his gentle, but ill-starred son and succes-
sor, Robert IIL., died in the same place, is also
asserted by the same author; and though his
authority on this point is disputed by Pinkerton
and Fordoun, there are others of no mean autho-
rity, such as Ruddiman and Macpherson, who
stand up in defence of the testimony of the poct.
But, be this a3 it may, there cannot be a doubt of
his continuing to reside bere some time after his
father's death: and it is probable, that it was
honoured by occasional visits from his royal suc-
cessors till the time of James IV. From the pre-
decessor of this monarch, James IIT., Allan, first
Lord Cathcart, obtained the custody of the castle,
with the dominical lands, in 1482, and with this
family they may be supposed to have continued
for some time. The next account we have of it
is in 1527, the date of a charter from James V.,
confirmatory of one probably given in his mino-
rity, and granting it in right of possession to a
person of the name of Wallace, a cadet, in all
likelihood, of the family of Craigic. In this de-
scent it continued till 1638, when the proprictor,
who appears to have been deeply involved in the

& Statistical Account.



PARISH OF DUNDONALD. 5

troubles of the time, by taking an active lead in
the covenanting interest, made it over by sale to
Sir William Cochrane of Cowden, the ancestor of
the present Earl of Dundonald.®* In 1726, it
passed again into the possession of the Eglinton
family, with whom it still continues ; and all that
now remains to the Dundonald family is merely
the mouldering walls of the castle, with the mount
on which it stands, extending to about six or eight
acres of land.”

So far the Statistical Account. From the Boyd
charter-chest it would appear that Thomas, fifth
Lord Boyd, had a charter of Auchans (the supe-
riority probably) from John Wallace of Auchans,
in 1599 ; and he and his successors seem to have
had no small trouble in enforcing their rights—
the vassals of Wallace having resisted their claims.
The case came before the sheriff and his deputies,
who failed to put their decrees into execution,
until letters were obtained from the Signet, com-
manding them to end the matter, and ** do justice
to Lord Boyd.” By a novodamus, in a charter of
the twenty pound lands of Dundonald, obtained
by Mr William Cochran in 1638, the Kirktown of
Dundonald was erected into a free burgh of ba-
rony. This clause in the charter, however, never
seems to have been acted upon.

Before the harbour of Troon was constructed,
the point upon which it is built was used as a fish-
ing creek, and immense quantities of smuggled
goods were landed at it, and carried through the
Dundonald hills into the interior. All along the
coast the inhabitants were extensively engaged
in the contraband trade. Many curious stories
are told of their encounters with the revenue offi-
cers, whom they frequently defeated or outwitted.

In reference to the ecclesiastical history of the
parish, Chalmers, in his Caledonia, states that it
was ‘‘ anciently of much greater extent than it
has been in more modern times. It comprehend-
ed, on the cast, the chapelry of Ricardstoun, which
was formed into a separate parish long before the
Reformation; and it comprehended, on the south,
the chapelry of Crossby, which is now included in
the united parish of Monktoun and Prestwick.t

* We take this to be the date of transfer, instead of that
given in the former Statistical Account, which is two years
later; because that date is given without authority, and we
find 8ir William's name entered in 1638, as 3 member of
the kirk-session, which could scarcely have happened before
the purchase of this estate, as it was his only bond of con-
nection with the parish.

t This is a mistake. Monkton parish is sometimes erro-
neously mentioned as the united parish of Monkton, Prest-
wick, and Crosby. The latter never was a separate parish.
The records of the Presbytery of Ayr bear that, in 1651,
the estate of Crosby, at the request of its proprietor, was
disjoined from the parish of Dundonald, and for the sake
of being nearer to religious ordinances, was joined to Monk-
ton. In 1688, however, it was again wholly remitted to

The church of Dundonald, with its two chapels of
Richardstoun and Crossby, was granted by the
second Walter the Stewart to the Gilbertine con-
vent, which he founded at Dalmulin,in 1229. When
this convent was given up, in 1288, Walter grant-
ed the church of Dundonald, with its two chapels
of Richardstoun and Crossby, to the monks of
Paisley. The chapel of Richardstoun was esta-
blished as a separate parish church, which be-
longed to the monastery of Paisley till the Refor-
mation ; as did, also, the church of Dundonald,
with its remaining chapel of Crossby. The church
of Dundonald was served by a viear, who had a
fixed stipend from the monks, out of the tithes of
the parish, and some other profits.* In Bagi-
mont's roll the vicarage of Dundonald was taxed
at £5, 6s. 8d., being a tenth of its estimated value.
At the epoch of the Reformation, the vicarage of
Dundonald was held by Mr Hew Montgomery,
to whom it yielded £60 yearly, besides 40 merks
more, which were paid to two curates who did
the duty. The rectorinl revenues of the church
of Dundonald were reported, in 1562, as produc-
ing to the monastery of Paisley £140 and 2 chal-
ders 8 bolls of bear yearly. In 1587, the patron-
age, and the tithes of the church of Dundonald,
were vested heritably in Lord Claud Hamilton,
the commendator of Paisley, who was created
Lord Paisley; and they descended, in 1621, to
his grandson, James Earl of Abercorn. In 16563,
the patronage of this parish passed, with the
lordship of Paisley, from the Earl of Abercorn to
Sir William Cochran of Cowdon, who, some years
before, acquired from Wallace of Dundonald the
estate of Dundonald. . . In the beginning
of the eightecnth century the patronage of Dun-
donald church passed, with the estate of Dun-
donald, to the Earl of Eglinton. They still belong
to that family, and are at present held by [the
Earl of Eglinton and Winton.] . . Within the
castle of Dundonald there was anciently founded
a chapel, which was dedicated to Saint Ninian ;
and an endowment was made for the support of a
chaplain to perform divine service in it. The
patronage of this chaplainry probably belonged
to the Prince and Steward of Scotland ; but, dur-

Dundonald. It would appear that, subsequent to this latter
date, the laird of Crosby erected the placc of worship, the
ruins of which still remain, for the accommodation of the
neighbouring population, and it continued for some time as
a preaching station, and for a while had a minister of its
own.

#« There belonged to the vicarage of Dundonald glebe
lands, in various places, to the extent of ten merks, seven
shillings and fourpence, of the old valuation. All those
were acquired, about the epoch of the Reformation, which
was equally the epoch of dilapidation, by Cuninghame of
Caprington. There belonged to the church of Dundonald
other church lands, which also passed into lay hands after
the Reformation.
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ing the reigns of James IV. and James V., and
till the Reformation, the patronage was exercised
by the Crown ; there being, in those periods, no
prince who was of full age.”

Besides these chapels there appears to have
been another, possibly of greater antiquity, not
mentioned by Chalmers, called St Mary’s Chapel.
A very small portion of the building is still trace-
able. It was situated in the pass through the
Clavin hills. The site now forms the garden of
Hallyards farm. An excellent well, still called
St Mary's Well, exists about a hundred yards
west of the remains of the chapel.

It is said that a chapel once existed at a place
called the chapel-hill, near the mansion of Hill-
house. In the garden wall, built nearly a cen-
tury ago, the font stone is still pointed out.

The present church of Dundonald was built in
1808. The finishing touch, however, may be
suid to have been omly put to it within the last
ten years. The following paragraph recording
the circumstance we quote from a local print :—
** DUNDONALD.—Our village steeple—so long
without a hand or tongue to note the flight of
Time—has at length been furnished with both in
a style that may well excite the envy of surround-
ing communities. The clock—which is the work-
manship of Messrs Breckenridge & Son, Kilmar-
nock, who deserve great credit for the very sub-
stantial and elegant job they have made of it—
was set a-going about ten days ago, and it con-
tinues to perform its important functions in the
most accurate and faithful manner. The history
of this valuable ornament is worthy of being re-
corded, as alike honourable to the heritors and
the inhabitants of the parish. A sum amounting
to upwards of £50—the unappropriated residue
of & fund collected some years ago for the relief
of the unemployed during a protracted stagna-
tion of trade—having been handsomely offered
by the heritors as a contribution on their part
towards procuring the long-contemplated desi-
deratum of a clock, the villagers and farmers in
the neighbourhood immediately commenced a
subscription, which was speedily augmented to
nearly £30. These two sums conjoined enabled
the committee not only to mecet the charges of
the Messrs Breckenridge, but to purchase a new
and very melodious bell, the maiden tones of
which were first heard pealing on Tucsday the
9th instant [1841], in honour of the arrival of
the Earl and Countess of Eglinton and Winton
in Ayrshire. The spire—not unhandsome in it-
self—is greatly improved by the neatly-figured
and richly-gilt horologes that now grace three
sides of its square, and prominently indicate the
hours and minutes of the day. The old bell—

which, of course, has been superseded—is an ob~
ject of antiquarian curiosity. It bears the fol-
lowing inscription :—*‘* SANCTE EGIDIE ORA PRO
NOBIS ANNO DNI M.ccC.Lxxxx.vto. X.” The
English of which is—* Saint Egidius pray for us.
In the year of our Lord Jesus Christ, 1395.” St
Egidius, though we cannot ascertain the fact, was
in all probability the patron saint of Dundonald.
+ + . When the old church was taken down,
and during the erection of the present one—built
about the beginning of this century—the bell
was carefully secured. Suspended between two
trees, it continued to warn the parishioners to
sermon in the churchyard, where the minister
preached from a tent constructed for the purpose.
Thus, after five centuries of faithful service, it
has found, we believe, a resting-place at New-
field, where it will be sure to meet that care and
respect which it deserves as a relic of former
times,”*

Owing to the distance of Fullarton and Troon
from the parish church, places of worship, on the
church extension principle, were erected there in
1837 and 1838, with ordained clergymen, who
have quoad spiritualia districts assigned to them.

In the churchyard at Dundonald there are no
memorials older than the beginning of the last
century. William first Earl of Dundonald, who
died in 1686, was, by his own direction, interred
within the church, but without any funeral mo-
nument. There are no monumental remains of
the families of the district.

The parochial records go as far back as 1602,
being thus two years earlier than those of Ayr.t
“ The oldest volume, containing the records of
session, is tolerably entire; nay, strange to say,
much more so than any of the succeeding ones.
It extends over a period of forty years, compris-
ing a silent interval of sixteen years, and contains
a great deal of parochial information that is cu-
rious and interesting. Among other entries of
this kind, are minutes of the trial of Patrick
Lowrie, warlock, and Catharine M*‘Teir, demit of
witchcraft. These seem to have been cases of
peculiar interest, and considerable judicial diffi-
culty, from the minute detail of evidence adduced,
and the length of time they appear to have been
under trial. The attention of the session was
more or less occupied by them for nearly five
years—a term which would now-a-days do no
small honour to a Chancery law-guit. Notwith-
standing all this trouble, however, matters seem

® Since the death of Col. Crawfurd the bell has come
into possession of the Free Church of Dundonald.

t+ The first entry is dated 3d January. It concerns a
case of discipline, at which were present four elders and
four deacons.

3
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to have been left just where they began; no de-
cision being recorded, probably from the parties
leaving the parish, as we see, from part of the
evidence, they threatened to do."* Patrick was
accused of visiting the byres of the neighbouring
farmers, walking in at one door and out at the
other, without speaking : the cows invariably, af-
ter such visitations, became * seik,” and gave
blood in place of milk. Catherine M‘Tier is the
only witch mentioned in the records of the ses-
gion, and escaped being burned by leaving the
¢ kintra,” as Lowrie is supposed to have done.
The following are extracts :—

¢ 28d March, 1602.—The quhilk day, Symon
Wallace in Creux requyrit to schaw the manner
of that uproir and tumult maid in the kirkyard
immediatelie eftir the sermon on Sonday the 8th
of Apryle last was, be him and his adherentis,
and John Dickie in Curraith and his adherentis,
The said Symon declarit in manner following :
That he persaiving the said John Dickie to come
by his accustomed manner with convocation of
his friendis that day to the kirk, and that the said
John Dickie had offendit him, he tuik the sam
as done in contempt of him, quharupon quhen he
saw the said John Dickie he bad him ga out of
the kirkyard, and that thairupon the said John
Dickie and his adherentis drew swordes to the
said Symon, qubairupon thai cutit his ganging
staf, quhilk onlie he had in his han, and na ither
armour. The Session continuit thes matters to
farther tryel.

¢ 18th January, 1605.—Quhilkk day Johne
Wyllie, in Clavins, accused for noth yoking his
pleuch on Yule day last ; declarit that he was at
the smiddie himself laying and mending the pleuch
yrnes (irons), and the rest of the folkis wrocht at
hame that day. -~

George Brackenrig accusit in lyk manner, de-
clarit that he led peitis that day.

¢ 17th March, 1605.—John Fergushill, young-
er in Haly, deferrit ane slanderous taill spokin to
him by Agness Lyoun, spous to Petir Renkin in
Parkheid ; she aledgand upon George Lachland
her author, as the said George Lachland aledgit
Symon Muir his author, ¢ That the late minister
of Kilwinning now departit this life was eardit
with his mouth doun, and that he confessit that
the minister of Ayr and Irvine, and he, had the
wyt of all the ill wedder the year.’

¢ 25th January, 1608.—The whilk day the
Session ordained that Catherine Neil and James
Dickie, leppiris, wha, with danger of infection of
otheris, hants frielie the companie of utheris in
this parochin, thocht they were clein, be chargit

» Statistical Account.

be the officer to gae to Hew Wallace in Bogside,
and agree with him for places in Kingcase,* and
gif it stand on Bogsides’s pairt, to adverteis the
Session, that be their travellis he and they may be
addressit ; and gif it failzie on the said leppiris’
pairts, that they neither will repair to him, to the
effect foresaid, nor seek to the places appointit
for sic foul persones, to certify them that they sal
be publicklie dischargit this parochin.

¢ 10th July, 1608.—The quhilk day Issobell
Turnbill, in Lones, compearand befor the Session,
was accusit of the sclander of ane superstitious
doing by her. Declared that she was sent for
anes or twys be Catherine Walker, spous to John
Dook in Chamber in Lonis, and that when she
cam to her she took ane auld left foot scho of the
husband’s, and therin thrust the said Catherine’s
sair pap, and cast the said scho over the balk;
and that she thrust her pap in the scho, and cuist
it over the balk twys or thryse, and thereafter
she grew seik.

¢ June 2, 1611.—Quhilk day the Session or-
deined that help be maid to John Young to get
remeid to his deiseas, after it be knawin gif the
mediciners will tak him in hand, and quhat they
will tak thairfor.

¢ 8th November, 1629.—The quhilk day the
minister publicklie out of the pulpit, by the au-
thority of the Presbytery, did inhibit and dis-
charge all sorte of charming, and resorting to
charmers, consulting with wizards, sorcerers, and
uthers of that sorte, certifeing all and sundrie
who did so in time cuming, they should be cha-
lengit criminallic thairfore, and followit and per-
sewit with death, as for the crimes of witchcraft.

¢ 16th October, 1686.—The quhilk day it was
orduinit that the deacons, gif they neglect to
come to gather at the kirk door on the Sabbath
at thair appointit days, and be absent without
ane lawfull excuse, sall be lyable to the penalty
of six shillings and aught pennies, money, of
penalty, toties quoties, as they are fund absent.

‘¢ 24th April, 1637.—The quhilk day compear-
ed William Watsoun in Crosbie, and because he
was to be married without the bounds of this
parish, desired libertie to tak from our parishion-
ers who was to accompany him at his marriage
feist six shilling for their bridal lawing,} quhilk
the Session granted, providing that he paid out
of his consignatioune the sowme of twenty-four
shillings to the poure.

* See united parishes of Monkton and Prestwick for an
account of Kingease hospital.

+ This is a curious minute, the first of the kind we have
met with. The Seesion seem to have considered it proper
to defray at least a portion of the bridegroom’s expenses,
because he was going to be married out of the parish.



8 "PARISH OF DUNDONALD. ,

¢ 20th February, 1642.—It was ordained to
summond to the next day, John French, John
M‘Speddan, John Small, and Adam Forgiskill,
fugitives from the armie, and so guiltie of the
sinne of perjurie; to heir their injunes according
to the Presbyteries ordinance, to give signs of re-
pentance in the public place the next day for the
foirsaid sinne. (They appeared and were rebuked
accordingly.)

¢ 16th May, 1642.—The Session ordained that
no woman be suffered to sit in the kirk in the
time of sommer with plyds upon their heids, be-
cause it is a cleuck to their sleiping in tyme of
sermon, and desyred the minister to exhort them
gravelie the next day to the observance of the
same.

¢ 12th September, 1642.—The whilk day these
persons following war ordained to be summond to
the next day, for absenting themselfs from the
publict thanksgiving to the Lord for his great
mercies showen unto this land, in returning our
armie in saiftie, and bringing of our King amongst
us, and settling of the Kirk and State, on Tuysday
last, to wit, Hew Fultoun, &c.”

The records are chiefly occupied with cases of
bastardy and Sabbath-breaking, and working on
fast-days. It would appear that actual fasting—
abstaining from both meat and drink—was en-
forced at this period. One case occurs in which
& married woman, who was ‘ with bayrne,” is
accused of having taken food, as she could stand
out no longer. She was dismissed with * ane
admonitioun.” There are repeated notices of
the ¢ pest,” which paid more than one devastat-
ing visit to Scotland during the seventeenth cen-
tury.

The first volume contains a record of a differ-
ent kind from the foregoing extracts, * and to
Scotchmen at large, of a more interesting nature,
namely, the solemn League and Covenant, to
which are attached no fewer than 222 signatures.
But of these, which is a lamentable proof of the
low state of education at the time, 179 are sub-
scribed by proxy, because, as it is stated, they
¢ could not wryt themselfis.’® It appears, how-
ever, that the eyes of the people were beginning
to open to this defect, as we find them making
arrangements two years afterwards, in 1640, for
forming what may be considered the first parish
school. The articles agreed on at a public meet-
ing held for the purpose, and to be subscribed by
the teacher on admission to the office, are cer-
tainly curious enough. The luckless man of let-
ters was to be anything but a free agent; for

ol oY

* Amongst those whose signat were grap
M'Kerrell of Hillhouse is the only one whose descendants
are in possession of the family property.

there was scarcely a part of his duty,Jeven the
most trifling, which was not laid down to him by

rule, and according to which he was not com-
manded to walk on pain of deposition. The
hours of teaching and recreation, the tasks for
the children, the deportment to be borne towards
him, the kinds of punishment, even to the parti-
cular kind of birch to be used, with the exact
parts of the body to which it was to be applied,
are all made the subject of minute description
and legal enactment. What would a teacher
now-a-days think if he were gravely called upon
to subscribe such an article as the following?
¢ That he shall attend at all hours when the
children are in school, and not suffer himself to
be withdrawn by drinking, playing, or any other
avocation.’ And more especially, when he takes
a glance at No. 4, and sees that these hours in
the winter months are from sunrise to sunset, and
in summer from seven o'clock morning ill six
evening, without even the benefit of a Saturday’s
recreation ; and that on the very Sabbath itself,
he was to be always present in church with his
little flock around him, to see, as the record bears,
that they conducted themselves with propriety,
and gave due attention to the ordinances of reli-
gion, of which examination on the following da;

was strictly to be made.* - Y

* The followjng is & copy of the Regulations :—

Orders to be subscrybed be him who shall have
charge of instrucling the youth heirafter at the
Kf;‘k of Dundonald, whereunto ke shall ty kim-
self under paine of deposition from his office,
in caice of failzie after deu tryall and admoni-
tions.

1. The Mr. shall attend at all tymes when the children
ar in schoole, and not suffer himself to be withdrawn by
drinking, playing, or any other avocation.

2. If ony other inevitable necessitie draw him away a
whole day, or the great part of it, he shall not fill to
have some other in his abeence to teach the schollers, and
keip them in ordoar. .

8. If it shall happen that the Mr. have neocessarie bus-
ainess to withhold him longer nor the space of one day,
he shall acquaint the Session th ith, or at lest the mi-
nister, If the haist of the matter cannot admit delay till
the Session meit, that he may obtein libertie thairto.

4. Let the children in the moneths of Ootober, Novem-
ber, December, January, Fcbruary, meit in the morning at
the sunne ryseing, and be dismissed at the sunne setting
at nicht, excep some younger ones, or those who ar fardest
from the schoole, of whom some consideratioun most be
had. All the rest of the yeir let the hour of gathering in
the moming be seavin of clock, and the hour of skailling
six; and such as learns latein wold always prevent (pre-
cede) the rest a prettie space.

5. Let the schollers goe to breckfast at nyne hours, and
oonvein againe at 10. To dinner lykways at 12 hours,
and returne at one afternoone, 50 neir as may be.

6. Let the Mr. pray gravelie and religiounslie everie
morning before the schollers at their first meeting, and so
at even before he dismisse them.

7. Let a task be prescrybed everle evening to ilk schol-
ler in the Lord's prayer, bellef, commands, graces, or ca-
techisme, according to their age and progresse, whilk let
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¢ The minutes of session, after the conclusion
of this volume till within the last few years, have
been very carelessly kept. The next entry after
1643 is in 1702, the commencement of another
volume. And for more than half a century after
this date there are scarcely ten consecutive years
of their transactions recorded. The register of
baptisms, extending to four volumes, begins in

them say everie morning before they enter to their ordinar
lesson.

8. It most be caerfullie attended that the achollers be
present at the sermons on the Lord's day, that they sit
round about the Mr. silent, hearkening modestlie, and re-
verentlie; and have in reddines what they have observed,
to say on Mononday morning, at quhilk tyme, as also on
ilk Saturday, before they goe home, the Mr. wold spend at
least ane half hour, opening up to them the grounds of
religion.

9. They who learne leatein most have a peice of that
quhilk they have learned before, to say everie morning ;
quhilk being accurately examened, let thair lesson in au-
thor and grammer, if they be that farre advanced, be
taught; and what difficulty occurs in them let it be point-
ed out to them. Let the pairts of their lesson qubairof
they are to be examened be told them, whether belonging
to etymologie or syntax in the author; and whatever is to
them obscuir in the grammer.

10. Let them expone their lesson, and conferre of the
parts thairof among themselves till nyne hours. When
they enter at 10 hours let the Mr. heir them expone thair
author and grammer. So much of the author as he may
overtake, let it be examined at the said tyme, and what
he misses then, let him overtake at one, afternoon; that
quhen they ar to give ane account of thair lesson, thair be
no more to examein bot the grammer. Let them get a
theme to turne into latein everie day betwixt elevin and
twelve hours before noone, quhilk also let be a common
wryting hour to the whole schoole. Let the theim be ao-
curatelie ex d ather pr lie after the making of it,
or when they say thair lessons. Let everie day's lcsson be
said before they skaill, both play-days and others, that it
prejudge not the morning peice.

11. Because no certane number of lessons can be ap-
pointed for them who learns Scots to get, it being a thing
that depends on the tyme of the yeir, the number of schol-
lers and thair proficience, in respect quhairof some will
have more to say at a lesson, and others less, quhilk will
take up tyme accordinglie; therefore, in this let the Mr.
doe all that possible may be. And that thair be no ne-
glect thairin, let the minister, with the best skilled of the
gentlemen, everie quarter of the yeir at leist, stand by the
Mr. in the schoole, till in our presence he have hearkened
throuch all the children learning Scots; that according to
the tyme spent thairin quhilk they ehall missour wiili a
glasse, they may direct the Mr. how many lesscns he
shall give them in the morning, before and afterncone,
quhilk thair directioun the Mr. ghall be bund to fulfil as if
heir it were particularlie expressed. At quhilk tyme also
the sald minister and gentlemen shall take inspection of
the estate of the schoole, try the childreins' proficiencie
and the Mr’s diligence and fidelitie in fulfilling all the
points of his charge, and shall make report to the Session,
that the Mr. may be commended and encouraged ; or re-
buked and admonished, accordingly, as the matter shall
require. And if it shall be fund that the Mr. uasis ony

to elude the tryall, as that he cause the children say
ldnger lessons that day nor they usse ordinarlie, or ony
such, that this shall be ane fault mereting removeal from
his charge. .

12. For the childrein's better profiting, let those who are
farder advanced in reeding Scottish, whether print or writ,
each of them have the charge of & young scholar who
shall sitt besyde them, quhom they shall mak perfyte of
his lesson, against the tyme come ha shall be called to £8Y,
on the negligeut pairteis perrii, quhilk of the two svever it

1673 ; that of deaths, in one volume, in 1763 ;
and that of marriages, also in one volume, in 1828.
The first of these is, in comparison, tolerably cor-
rect. But the other two are very incorrect, and
hopelessly so, until more stringent measures are
taken to compel the people generally to attend to
such matters.” *

shall be fund to have bein. And let the eldest scholler
themselfs speir at the Mr. quhat words they are ignorant
of in thair own lesson. It being alwayes provydit that
the elder scholler his furdering of the younger hinder not
himself in his learning.

18. Let a speciall care be had of the childrein’s wryting
who ar meit for it. Let the hour named betwixt 11 and
12 be alotted to that everie day, and farder to
those whols speciall ayme that is. Let the Mr. make ar
mend their pens, rule their paper, cast their ooppeis, take
inspectioun particularlie of every one’s wryting, point out .
the fauits; and learne them be ocular demonstratioun in
his own practeise before them how to mend. The Mr.
most lead the hands of young beginners, stand over thair
heid for thair directioun; and be goeing throuch all for
thair furderance.

14, As the Mr. would be cairfull and conscientious to
teach his schollers good learning, so wold he also learne
them good maners, how to carrie themselfs faschionablie
towards all. And for that purpose wold learn them ges-
tures of courtessle to be ussed towards himself in the
schoole, thair parents at home, gentlemen, eldermen and
others, of honest fashion abroad. Ie wold put in thair
mouths styles of compellation sutable to each one's place,
to whom they speik; and how to compose thair counten-
ance, eyes, hands, feet, when ony speiks to them, or they
to them; and that they be taucht to abandoun all unci-
veill gestures, as skarting of heid, arms, &ec.

15. And because mony, far lesse the tender youth, ar
unable to abyde continuall bensell of learning, let them
have for preserveing and sharpening thair ingynes some
recreatioun on the ordinar dayes, Tuysday, Thursday, and
Saturday, in the afternoone, for.the space of ane hour in
the winter, or from October to Februar, and two hours the
rest of the yeir. Bot let the Mr. sie that they play not at
ony unlawfull or obscene pastime, or such as may ather
reddilie defyle or rent thair cloaths, or hurt thair bodies ;
and let a convenient place be choissin neirby the schoole,
bot not at all the church-yaird, nor ony part of it, quhilk
is ¢ Dormitorium Sanctorum,’ a place for no ordinarie ce-
veill itnployment, let be the ludicroua; it serving for mourn-
ing rather than for playing and sporting, quhilk wold be
keipit honest and separat for the owne usse.

16. And finallie, as without disciplein no companie can
be keipit in ordour, so leist of all unbridled youth, thair-
for it shall be necessarie that thair be in the schioole &
common censour, who shall remarke all faulis, and delate
them to the Mr., of quhom aocount wold be taken once a
week, And for more perfyte understanding of the chil-
dreins’ behaviour thair wold be a clandestein oensor, of
quhom none shall know bot the Mr., and he who is employ-
ed in that office, that may secretlie acquaint the Mr. with
all things. And ding to the qualitie of the faults the
Master shall inflict punishment, strecking some on the loof
with a birk wand, belt, or pair of tawse, others on the hips,
as their faults deserve; bot none at ony tyme, or in ony
cace, on the heid or cheiks. And heirin especiallie is the
Mr. to kyth his prudence in takeing up the severall incli-
nations of his schollers, and applying himself thairunto
by lenitie, allurements, commendatiouns, fair words, some
little rewards, drawing from vyce, and provoking to ver-'
tue such as may be wone thairby; and others by moder-
at severitie, if that be fund most convenient for their stub-
borness. And let the wyse Mr. rather by a grave, austere,
and authoritative countenance and cariage, represse inso-
lence, and gaine everie one to thair dewtie then by strocks ;
yet not neglecting the rod quhair it is ncedfull.

« ‘Statistical Account.
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ANTIQUITIES.

The Castle of Dundonald looks dark and
gloomy in the distance, and is not much improved
by a closer inspection. Built on the summit of a
detached conical eminence of considerable height,
it must have been a place of great strength prior
to the introduction of artillery, The building is
not extensive—the area on which it stands being
circumscribed. It, however, bears unequivocal
evidence of having been one of the most magni-
ficent strongholds of the age. DBesides the mas-
sive oblong tower—at least three spacious stories
in height, the remains of the courtyard and some
interior structures still exist. The arch over the
ground-floor is in good preservation, as well as
some of the outer walls, particularly the north-
west, but the stair is almost entirely gone. True
to history and tradition, the ruins bear ample
proof of the royalty ascribed to the building—
the Stewart arms, with the lion of Scotland, ap-
pearing on various portions of it.

Boswell, in his ¢ Journal of a Tour to the He-
brides,” states that Dr Johnson, who had the
curiosity to visit the castle, was very * jocular on
the homely accommodation of King Bob, and
roared and laughed till the ruins echoed.” The
learned lexicographer, however, might have pre-
served his gravity, had he reflected on the com-
parative rudencss of the age, and the fact that it
was originally a baronial, and at best only a pri-
vate residence of the monarch. The baronial
castles of England were not, with few or no ex-
ceptions, superior in the thirteenth or fourteenth
century. It is not known at what time the castle
was built, or when it became ruinous; but Chal-
mers, in his Caledonia, supposes that it was erect-
ed by Walter, son of Allan the first Lord High
Steward of Scotland who had a grant of the land
from David I., or Malcolm IV. This family pos-
sessed an extensive portion of Ayrshire—part of
Kjyle being still known as Kyle-Stewart; and on
succeeding to the throne in the person of Robert
II., in 1870, the castle, of course, became an ap-
pendage to the crown.

Opposite the Castle of Dundanald is a high
and precipitous bank, clothed with wood, part of
which forms the boundary of the Auchans deer
park, where, not many years ago the sportive
fawns might be seen enjoying themselves in all
the wantonness of conscious security. The whole
herd, however, have lately been removed to the
Eglinton policies. Sweeping round the base of
this pleasant and thickly planted bank, the visiter
is delighted to find, in a gently sloping curvature,
the venerable House of Auchans, said to have
been, * for a long period, the residence of the

Wallaces of Dundonald.” Of this there can be
little doubt, it probably having been built on the
accession of that family to the property, though
the structure is somewhat modern in appearance.
This, however, may be accounted for by subse-
quent additions and improvements. The build-
ing, in the form of a right angle, has all the fea-
tures of that half-castle half-mansion-house style
which obtained in the latter end of the sixteenth
and during the seventeenth century. One of the
sides of the angle bears the date 1644 ; but, judg-
ing from appearances, it seems to have been a
later erection than the other. As the land passed
from the Wallaces to the Cochranes in 1640, the
inference is that this portion of the building was
the addition of the latter possessors. The house
has been long in a state of decay, and it is some-
what surprising that the more recent part of the
structure has suffered most. The roof is still
kept entire, aud in good repair; but, internally,
the hand of time is ruinously apparent. Some
of the apartments in the older division are occu-
pied by the family in charge of the place. The
last inhabitant of Auchans of distinction was the
celebrated Countess of Eglinton, to whom Allan
Ramsay inscribed his * Gentle ;Shepherd.” On
the marriage of her son Archibald, the eleventh
Earl, in 1772, it became the jointure-house of
her ladyship, where she died in 1780, at the ad-
vanced age of 91. Here the Countess was visited
by Dr Johnson and his biographer, after their
return from the Hebrides, in 1778, Of this in-
teresting meeting Boswell has recorded the fol-
lowing particulars :—* Lady Eglintoune, though
she was now in her eighty-fifth year, and had
lived in the retirement of the country for almost
half a century, was still a very agreeable woman.
She was of the noble house of Kennedy, and had
all the elevation which the consciousness of such
birth inspires. Her figure was majestic, her man-
ners high bred, her reading extensive, and her
conversation elegant. She had been the admira-
tion of the guy circles of Life, and the patroness
of poets. Dr Johnson was delighted with his re-
ception here. Her principles in Church and State
were congenial with his. She knew all his merit,
and had heard much of him from her son, Earl
Alexander, who loved to cultivate the acquaint-
ance of men of talent, in every department. .

In the course of our conversation, this
day, it came out that Lady Eglintoune was mar-
ried the year before Dr Johnson was born ; upon
which she graciously said to him that she might
have been his mother, and that she now adopted
him; and 'when we were going away she em-
braced him, saying, ‘* My dear son, farewell I’
My friend was much pleased with this day’s en-
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tertainment, and owned that I had done well to
force him out.”

A vast number of old papers, chiefly connected
with the Eglinton family, are secured in one of
the rooms at Auchans. It is unfortunate that
they were not sooner attended to—many of thens
having been destroyed by persons who had no
idea of their importance. Dr Johnson could not
here have found occasion to complain of the want
of timber, as he had done in other parts of Scot-
land—the wood around Auchans being both ex-
tensive and old. In the orchard, a portion of
which exists, the pear, known over the country
as the Auchans pear, was first produced. ¢ The
tree,” says the Old Statistical Account of Scot-
land, ‘* came originally from France, grew to a
great height, and was not long ago (1798) blown
down by a storm.” Auchans has long been famed
as a preserve for game. :

About the beginning of the fourteenth century,
the family of Fullarton erected and endowed a
convent of Carmelites on the site now occupied
by the town of Fullarton. The convent, which
was dedicated to the Virgin Mary, continued to
flourish till the time of the Reformation. The last
prior, Robert Burn, foreseeing the approaching
storm, alienated the lands, which went under the
name of Friar's Croft, to Fullarton of Dreghorn.
No traces of the edifice, or of the ancient mansion-
house of its founders, which stood close by, are
now to be found. And the only circumstance
which gives a decided locality to the building,
which at one time was disputed, was, that when
the grounds some years ago were feued out for
building, the foundation of the convent walls was
discovered on digging, about fifty yards west from
the old place of Fullarton. Friar’s Croft, in the
more ancient title-deeds, is described as being
bounded on the east side by the road leading to
St Mary's Well, and a ford in the river Irvine,
adjoining this place, appears frequently in the old
writs of Fullarton by the namne of the Friars-
Fuird.

The ruins of Crosby Chapel, * three-fourths of
the walls of which still maintain their original
height, stand close by the south entrance to Ful-
larton Park, and a mile north-west of the village
of Monkton. It has been a building of small ex-
tent, measuring only forty-five feet in length and
twenty-one in width. The only chiseled work
that when more entire it presented, wcre a few
mouldings, with the usual emblems of mortality,
rudely carved on a recess in the interior of the
north side-wall, denoting the burial place of the
ancient family of Fullarton of that Ilk. This wall
has, within the last twenty years, fallen down, and
several of the carved stones have been employed

in patching up the remaining ones. The chapel
was not of old standing, having been built sub-
sequent to 1681, as a preaching station for the
accommodation of the district, after the final re-
union of the estate of Fullarton with the parish of
Dundonald. Of the Popish structure which the
chapel succeeded, neither vestige nor tradition has
been preserved.” One of the few monumental
remains which the churchyard contains bears the
following inscription in characters of bold relief
round the margin:—* Heir. lye Corpis of ane
Honorrabel man Callit David Hameltovne of Bo-
thelhavche spovs To Elesone Sinclar in his Tyme
Quha desist the 14 of Merche 1619.”* Some in-
telligent individuals have been of opinion that it
was the party thus commemorated who shot the
Regent Murray. But it is a well ascertained fact,
that the name of the person was James not.David.
A more ancient relic than either of these still
exists at Kemplaw, on the Auchans estate. This
is the remains of a vitrified fort, which occupy a
considerable eminence in the centre of the ravine
or pass through the Clavin hills. It seems to
have been intended to commnand the pass, though
8o very small that it could not have accommo-
dated many warriors. That it was a place of
strength, however, there can be little doubt, for,
on the west, where there is no natural declivity,
as on all the other sides, the outline of a fosse is
distinctly traceable. The wall of the fort itself,
which is circular, has a hollow passage round, of
a conical form, and covered over with flags of
sandstone, through which, when entire, a man
might have crept on all-fours. Some years ago,
a piece of iron was discovered in a mass of vitri-
fied stone. It was about four inches in length,
and shaped like an ear-ring. The position in
which it was found indicated that it had been
accidentally deposited there. The iron, with &
portion of the mass of stone to which it adhered,
was presented to the Ayr Mechanics’ Museum.
On the heights above the farm of Harpercroft
are the remains of two circular encampments.
They are popularly ascribed to the Romans—but
they are more likely, from their shape, to have
been of British or Danish origin, belonging to the
Roman period, or constructed during the invasions
of the latter. ** The largest of these,” says the Old
Statistical Account, ** contains, within a circular
embankment of loose stones and earth, ten acres
of ground; and there is an inmer circle of the
same kind, and from the same centre, which
encloses one of these acres. The other encamp-
ment is about two hundred yards distant. No
artificial work has been raised on its north-east

® The Churchyards of Ayrshire. By William Dobie, Eeq.
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quarter, the steepness of the declivity being a suf- | circular embankment is strong, and within is a

ficient defenco.

Buton the south and west, the | platform, not exceeding an acre in extent.”

FAMILIES IN THE PARISH OF DUNDONALD.

FULLARTONS OF THAT ILK.

THE most ancient possessors of the soil in this
parish, next to the ancestors of the royal family,
who had a gift of Kyle and Strathgrife (now Ren-
frewshire), are the Fullartons of Fullarton, who
are supposed to have been' of Anglo-Saxon or
Norman origin, and vassals of the Stewards.

That part of the barony of Fullarton, whence
the family designation is derived, as also doubtless
their surname, is situated in the immediate vici-
nity of the town of Irvine, upon the south-west
side of the water of that name, and in the bailli-
wick of Kyle-Stewart, which is here separated
from the district of Cuninghame.

To ancient Fullarton have been added, at differ-
ent periods, particularly in the reigns of David II.
and Robert II., several extensive and valuable
properties adjoining to the south and east. The
family held also, from an early period, lands in
the island of Arran ; and which they retained until
about the close of the sixteenth century—but ap-
pear then to have been alienated to the family of
Hamilton.

In this island also, at a very early period, settled
a cadet of the family, which is said to have sprung
from a second son named Lewis; in allusion to
whom the descendants from this branch have al-

ways been distinguished by the patronymic of |

MacLeuwie, i. e. son of Lewis. *

¢ On the landing of Robert de Bruce in Arran, dur-
his disconslate wanderings through the Highlands and Isles,
this ancient branch of the House of Fullarton attached
themselves to his interest, and followed his fortunes; for
which, on recovering the throne of his ancestors, he, by a
charter dated at Arnele Castle (in Cuninghame), in the
socond year of his reign, granted to Fergus Fullarton the
lands of Kilmichail, &o., with the hereditary office of Coro-
ner of the bailliedom of Arran. [See Notes to the ** Lord
of the Isles.”)

This family have ever since possessed these lands through
the direct line of male descent. They have in their pos-
seasion an ancient seal of their arms, being the same with
the bearing of the original family, with a crescent be-
twixt the otter's heads for difference; which scems to
corroborate the fact of their descent from & second son,
as related.

Coeval with the family of Kilmichail, but from a third
brother, were the Fullartons of the island of Bute, who had
the patronymic of MacCamie, i.e. son of James, which
scems to have been the namwe of their original ancestor.
They are often called Jumeson.

The particular period, however, when the fa-
mily of Fullarton first obtained lands and be-
came resident in Kyle-Stewart, is very uncertain.
Indeed, but very little progress appears hitherto
to have been made in bringing to light materials,
if such really exist, relating to the early history
of private families. It seems corroborative of the
tradition, that they came to Scotland along with
Walter, ancestor of the High Stewards, that, in
Shropshire, whence Walter is said to bave come,
several families of the name of Fouler* have been
seated from a very early period.

Fullarton, or, as in ancient deeds always written,
¢ Foulertoun,”t is obviously of Saxon etymology,
and has most likely been derived from office or
occupation : in corroboration of which, a Galfre-
dus Foullertoun, whom there is reason to suppose
was descended of this family, obtained from Ro-
bert I. a charter of some lands in Angus, together
with the kereditary office of fowler to the king, in
that county ; in which office, he and his successors
were obliged to serve the king’s household with
wild-fowl when he came to Forfar Castle, where
this Fowler was to be entertained with a servant
and two horses. }

It may be remarked, that the situation of the
original castle of Fullarton scems also greatly to
strengthen this supposition, being set down near
the influx of the Irvine Water into the sea, in the
immediate neighbourhood of an extensive tract of
low marshy lands, many hundred acres of which,
at no distant period, were overflowed promis-
cuously with the waters of this river and the tides

From Kilmichail, again, have branched several other
families, amongst whom, we must not omit to mention John
Fullarton of Overtown, West Kilbride, whose literary and
antiquarian taste is well known, and to whom we are
greatly indebted for the very liberal manner in which he
has tendered us the use of his extensive gleanings for the
illustration of the present work.

» The arms of the family of Fowler,"Gloucestershire, are,
quarterly, azure and or; in the first quarter, a hawk's lure
and line, or. This speaks directly to the name. The armo-
rinl achievements of the family of Fullarton, we conjecture,
have been assumed as indicative of their territory ; the crest
seems of castern origin, and probably connected with the
period of the Crusades.

+ The town, or possession of the Fowler.

_ § Nisbet, who states the original charter to be in the
Earl of Haddington's collection.
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of the ocean. The occupation, therefore, in this
state, of so large a portion of land, and that, too,
lying upon the very verge of the Firth, whilst the
adjacent country was still thickly covered with
natural wood, must necessarily have been pecu-
liarly adapted for the pursuits of the fowler.

In the early annals of Scottish history, the sports
of the field were by far the most frequent of the
royal amusements. The kings, in imitation of
the Norman sovereigns of England, were always
the chief hunters; and in every shire they had a
castle toaccommodate them in these their favourite
sports. Connected, also, with these establishments
were the offices of forester, falconer, hunter, and,
as clearly appears from the above mentioned char-
ter, the fowler—all which ultimately became here-
ditary in particular families ; and from which un-
questionably have been derived respectively their
surnames.

So far Robertson: but in strengthening his
hypothesis he assumes too much. If the Fullar-
tons were Anglo-Saxon or Norman followers of
the Stewarts, derived from the Lowlers of Shrop-
shire, it does not follow that they should be fow-
lers at Irvine. It seems as probable that they
had no connection with the Shropshire Fowlers,
the patronymic originating simply in the simila-
rity of office—hence there might be persons of the
name of Fowler, Forester, Falconer, or Hunter in
various districts of the country, perfectly distinct
in descent.

But to come to documentary evidence of the
family :—

1. ALaxvus DE FOWLERTOUN lived before the
middle of the thirteenth century, and died about
the year 1280; as may clearly be inferred from
his son’s charter of the lands of Fullarton, &ec.,
by whom he was succeeded, namely—

II. Adam de Fowlertoun, who received a char-
ter from James High Steward of Scotland, *.Ade
de Fowlertoun militi filio quandam Alani de Fow-
lertoun, de terra de Fowlertoun in Kyle-senescall,
infra vic. de Are; et de terra de Gaylis; et de
piscaria de Irwyne.” This charter is undated, yet
it must have been granted inter 1283 ez 1309, the
period in which James held the office of High
Steward. It was afterwards renewed in 1871.*
He was succeeded by—

III. Reginald de Fowlertoun of that Ilk. This
is distinctly instructed from his (Reginald's) son’s
charter, who succeeded him, as shall appear after-
wards. In the family tree, this Reginald is stated
to have been son of the preceding Adam ; and this
is most probably the fact. He had, besides his
successor, two daughters, Johanna et Elena, who

* Records of the Great Seal.

appear in a resignation in favour of their brother,
Sir Adam Fullarton, in a full court of Kyle, held
at Foullertoun, the Thursday before the feast of
St Barnabas, in April 1840. He had probably
another son called David. David IL grants ‘‘ ane
pension to David Foulertoun.” He was suc-
ceeded by his son— .

IV. Sir Adam Foullertoun of that Ik, who, as
already alluded to, had a charter by Robert, High
Steward of Scotland, dated at Irvine, April 13,
1344,1 wherein he is expressly designed, “son to
Reginald Fowlertoun of that Ilk,” of the lands of
Fowlertoun, and Gaylis in Kyle-Stewart, with the
hail fishings from the Trune to the water mouth
of Irvine, and thence up the water (of Irvine) as
far as the lands of Fowlertoun go; and also an
annual rent of four merks and an half out of the
lands of Shewaltoun. 7This charter bears, that
Jean, Elen, and Marion, sisters of the said Regi-
nald, had freely resigned all right they had in said
lands, fishings, and annual rent ; and the reddendo
is a pair of white gloves at Whitsunday, and three
suits of court at the Steward's Court of Kyle, in
place of all other services.

There are still remaining, in possession of the
family, many other documents in which Sir Adam’s
name appears ; and, as stated by Nisbet, ‘‘he is
frequently to be met with, as a witness, in the
charters of King Robert II., designed, * Dominus
Adamus de Foullertoun dominus de Corsbie,’ upon
account that he had a charter of these last men-
tioned lands from that king:" The charter here
alluded to was not discovered by Robertson ; yet,
as Crosbie does not appear in the writs of Fullar-
ton before this time, it is very probable that the
fact is as stated by Nisbet.}

Sir Adam doubtless, along with the High Stew-
ard, accompanied the army under David II. into
England in 1346. Bowmaker relates, that before
the Scottish army passed the English border, King
David created several knights. He says, * De
tyronibus suis quinque numero ibi militari cinxit
gladio, viz. Stuart, Eglintoun, Craigie, Boyde,
and Foullertoun.” And being present at the dis-
astrous battle of Durham, which immediately en-
sued, viz. on the 17th of the same month, Sir
Adam Fullarton, along with King David, was there
tuken prisoner.* On David’s rclease, October 3,

* Robertson’s Index.

+ Fullarton Charter-Chest.

$ The manor of Crosby was a part of the extensive pro-
perty which was acquired by Walter, the first Stewart, in
Kyle. This manor was held, under the Stewarts, by Ful-
lerton of Crosby, in the fourteenth century, and perhaps
during an earlier age.—* Caledonia,’ vol. iii. p. 506.

There is a paper in a roll of Robert I., entitled, “ The
Laird of Crosbie, his form of holding of his lands of Cros-
bie.—* Robertson's Index.’

* Abercromby's Martial Achievements.
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1857, the eldest son and heir of Sir Adam Fuller-
ton was one of twenty hostages left in England,
until payment of the king's ransom. It is there-
fore probable that Sir Adam returned home at
this time, if not sooner.

His wife was Marjorie, a lady of the Stewart
family, as Robertson supposes, from a charter
she obtained of an annual rent out of the lands
of Troon, granted by King Robert II. whilst he
was High Steward—* Marjorie Foullertoun di-
lectse consanguine nostre.® This charter Robert
afterwards, on his coming to the throne, confirmed
at Irvine, December 7, 1371. Her name occurs in
a charter of confirmation by Robert II., dated
* Doundonnald, 4 Decemb. a. v. i.,” ** donationis
quam Matheus de Crake fecit Ade de Foulertoun,
militi, et Marjorie, spouse ejus, de duabus Marcis
Sterlingorum annui redditus debiti ex Malendino
de Crosby,” &c. She is also named in her grand-
son’'s indenture with the Carmelite Friars, 1399.

By this lady he had two sons, whom we find
mentioned in the writs of the family: 1. John,
who predeceased his father; 2. David, who ob-
tained a charter, from Sir Hugh Eglintoun of that
Ik, of the lands of Laitkis,1 upon the resignation
of Thomas Laithis of that Ilk, to be holden blanch
for payment of a penny silver at Whitsunday, at
the Crag of Robertoun.

In 1892, Sir Adam Fullarton made a mortifica-
tion out of his lordship of Co:sbie to the Abbot
and Convent of Paisley, *for the health of his
soul, and the souls of his ancestors ;" and, on his
death, about the year 1399,1 was succeeded by
his grandson, his son—

V.John Foullerton, younger of Foullerton, hav-
ing predeceased his father. As already noticed,
he was one of the twenty hostages agreed upon,
by treaty, 1357, to be left in England until pay-
ment of the king’s ransom. The particular time,
however, of his release out of England seems un-
certain. Many of those first left were afterwards
exchanged for others who went in their stead;
and not a few died in confinement.

He received a charter from John, High Steward
of Scotland, ‘‘de terris de Laithis, orientali et
occidentali : et de terris de Harperland, cum per-
tinan; in Baronia de Kyle-Senescali, infra vic.
de Are.” Which charter was afterwards confirmed
at Scoon, March 5, 1378, by King Robert IL.,
father to the granter.

It does not appear who he married ; but he left
a son—

VL. Reginald Foullertoun of that Ilk, who suc-
ceeded to the family estates, about the year 1399,
on the death of his grandfather, Sir Adam. This
is shown by an indenture, dated at Irvine, August
24, that year, entered into betwixt Reginald Foul-
lertoun of that Ilk, heir to Sir Adam Foullertoun
of that ilk, his guid sire, on the one part, and the
Provincial and the Brethren of the Convent of
the Carmelite Friars, near Irvine, on the other.
By which contract the said Reginald obliged him-
self to pay to the Prior and Brethren of said Con-
vent 40 merks sterling, for meliorating and up-
holding the houses of said Convent, and for also
repairing the principal Kirk and Cloyster, with the
knowledge and consent of the said Reginald ; whilst
the said Prior and Brethren oblige themselves, on
the other part, in all time coming, to pray weekly
upon the Lord’s-day, or any other feast day, in
the beginning of a mass, at the Great Altar, with
an audible voice, for the souls of the said Sir Adam
and Marjorie his wife, and especially for the said
Reginald and Elizabeth kis wife, their heirs and
successors; and for the souls of all the faithful
deceased.

The next, after Reginald, in chronological order,
mentioned in the writs of the family, is styled—

VII. Rankine of Foullertoun, Lord of that Ilk.
He is found so designated in another indenture, or
more properly a decreet, with said Convent, pro-
nounced by the Provincial of the order of the
Carmelite, or White Friars of Scotland, given at
Irwyne, June 28, 1412, in which the family of
Fullarton are declared to have been founders and
patrones of this monastery. *

® Copy of an Indenture, or Decreet, betwizt

* Rankin of Foullerton, Laird of that Ilk,”

and the Provincial and Convent of the White

Friars near Irvine, June 28th 1412. -

“ Thir Indenturs made at Irvyne the xxviij day of the
moneth of Junij, the zher of our Lord & thousand four
Hondyr and twelve, bet. firer William Coker, than beande
Provincial of the quite firers of Scotland, beand at Irrwyn
on the ta part, and a worshipful Lord Rankyn of flowler-
toun, Lorde of that ilk on the tother part, In maner, forme,
and in Effect as after followse ; that is to say it is cum till
our eris that thar has bene syndry tymes great debaitt
and stryfe betwixt the sd. worshipful Lord and our ffrers
dwellande in the sd. house of Irrwyne, sume for willfull-
nesse, and sume for defaute of knawlage as to the right of
patronage of the sd. house of Irwyn, flor the forsaid Lorde
clemys that he sulde be patron, and the flrers has sayd
nay, ﬂ‘or the qwilke dcbate the house and the personis

® This conjecture is highly probabl
::la chutermv;u gmgd while he was Higb vantd but
was for the , in his to style
lntherlnkofbmn"n‘eousin oharters, y'© pemons
t Allan, first Lord Cathcart, had a transaction with Dal-
rymple of Laith, 1478.—Peer. vol. i. p. 340.
$ Thomas Foullartoun had a charter of “ Ane twentie
pund land in the earldom of Carrik,” from David II. This
Thomas was possibly a brother of Sir Adam.

dwellande have syndry tymis sufferit disese and
sk‘lthe. the said Lorde cumand till us and requirand to se
qwither he aucht to be patrone of the said place or noucht,
we the hale chapter sittand apon this cause we haf fondyn
the forbears of the said Rankyne beand ffoundours and pa-
tronis till our house of Irwyn. Qwharfor we haf gefyn
decrete, and grantis, and be thia present Indentur confirmys
the said Rankyne of flowlertoun the foundourship of the
said place of Irwyn, and all his airs lanchfully succedande
eftir him, we forbiddande till ony frer or freris that now is
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He was twice married : first to Elizabeth, men-
tioned in the indenture 1399, by whom he had a
son, George, his successor, (of whom immediately.)
His second wife was Marion, danghter of Wallace
of Craigie, by which lady he had two sons, Wil-
liam and Adam ; all of which is established
from a charter, dated at Perth, July 20, 1428, by
King James I., of the lands of Drigara, &c. in
Kyle Stewart, to Rankin Foullertoun of Crosby,
and Marion Wallace his spouse, and after their
decease to William Foullertoun their son, and the
heirs of his body ; which failzieing, to Adam Foul-
lertoun, brother-german to the said William, and
his heirs in like manner. This charter proceeds
on the resignation of said Rankin ;—and in terms
of which, and a subsequent ratification thereof, to
be immediately further noticed, William, the elder
of Marion Wallace's two son's, succeeded to the
lands of Drigarn (Dreghorn), &c., and was the
first of that ancient and very respectable branch
of the family of Fullarton.*

This laird of Fullarton predeceased his lady
soon after the above settlement, and was succeed-
ed by his son, of the first marriage,—

VIII. George Foullertoun of that Ilk, who,
however, was most frequently designed ** Laird
of Corsby.” He granted the charter of ratifica-
tion, &c. above alluded to—dated at Ayr, Jan-
nary 19, 1430, by which he ratifies and confirms
¢¢ the resignation some time made by his dearest

or sall be in ony tyme to cum, under all payne that than
may fall into the religion, that nane presume to impugne
our decrete gefyne upon this mater; and gif ony presumys
to say ony thing in the contrary that is before sayd, as
God forbede that they sall, the forsaid Lorde or his ayrs,
quhatsa thai be, for the tyme, sal abide the Provincials
cumying, and sal pleinzhe til him quhatsa he be for the
tyme, and he sal punys that frer or freris with help of the
patron, gyf myster be as the cause requyres. Item, the
said Rankyn is oblist till us that he and his airs sal sup-
poret the place, and the freris tharin dwellande, as patronys
in thair richtwis cause efter thair power in all tyme to
cume, na he na his ayrs sal nocht annoye nor disese the
place throuch na tityl of patronage but as it is grantit til
him and tham in this indenture, that is to say that what
time the said Rankyn or his ayrs askys lefe at the priour
of the house to entre in the place that than the priour sall
na supprycion to the place or to the per-
sonis, and gif ony supprycion be done in dede be him or
his ayrs, he or his ayrs sal amende it as sic dede asks, or
Ellis he or thal qwhatsumever thai be for the tyme sal
remove oute of the place within xiilj dayls qwil it be
amendit. In witness of the quilk thing to thir present
Indenturs to the pt. remaynande with the said Lorde, the
comon sele of the hale province, and with the sele of the
provincial office, ar to put, and to the pt. remaynande wt.
the said Convent, the forsaid Lord his sele is to put, the
day, the moneth, and zher beforsaide.”

# There is some reason for ting that Reginald and
Rankin, No. VI. and No. VIL, may be one and the same
person. It is so far certain, at least, that in some legal
writs respecting both, the names are Latinized alike—
Ranulphus de Foullerton ; but, as in the annals of the fa-
mily, they are held to be two distinct persons; an adher-
enoe is bere had to that arrangement.

fadir, Rankin of Foullertoun, Laird of Corsby,”
of the lands of Dregirn, Newyall and Laithis;
and Gayn Gifin, made by the King to his said
dearest father, and till Marion Wallace his spouse;
and after their decease, to William and Adam,
their sons ; and obliges himself and his heirs that
he sall never raise mote, pleade claim, nae ques-
tion to the said Marion, William, and Adam, nae
to nane of their heirs belongand to the said lands
of Dregirn, &c. And gif it happens him to fail-
zie, a8 God forbid, he binds himself, his heirs, &c.
to pay to the King of Scots 100 pund Scots; to
St Mungo's work in Glasgow 100 pund do, and
200 pund to the said Marion, William and
Adam.*

In 1439 he granted, out of the lands of Foul-
lertoun and Shewalton, ten marks sterling, and
five marks out of the ground of the Temples of
Wester Templetoun, &c. to the Carmelite Friars
near Irvine :—expressed thus in the sasine: ** Le-
vand. Deo et beate Mari, Priori et Fratribus
Conventus Fratrum ordinis Carmelitoram de
Irwine:” the said Prior and Convent paying
yearly out of the said Temples, to St John and
his ministers, the annual rent vsit and wont due
to them therefrom; and, by another instrument,
of the same date, he relieved the Convent of
said annual rent, which was 10 shillings 10 pen-
nies.

He obtained a charter, under the Great Seal,
by King James ITI. in favour of himself; fail-
ing heirs male of his body, to William Foul-
lertoun his brother; of the lands of Fowlertoun,
Marrass, Shewaltoun, Harperland, and Wester’
Laithis; also Crosbie, Trune, Craikisland, and
Russelsland; all lying within the Bailliarie of
Kyle, and Sheriffdom of Are: as also of the
lands of Knightsland, lying in the Isle of Arran
—all proceeding on his own resignation, dated at
Edinburgh, October 24, 1464.

It does not appear who this Fullarton married;
but he had two sons: the elder, Paul, was con-
tracted to marry a daughter of the laird of Craigie,
as appears from a back-bond, granted by Adam
Wallace of Craigie, to * ane Nobleman, George
of Foullertoun, Laird of Corsbie,” which proceeds
upon a narrative that there was a marriage ap-
pointed betwixt ** Paul of Foullertoun, son and
appearand heir of the said George, and Janet,
daughter of the said Adam, conform to indentures
entered into by the said Adam and George.”

In contemplation of which marriage the said
Adam Wallace gave to Fullarton the sum of nine
score marks of tocher; and in security therefor,

* There is a simil t and obligati

ag in “ The
Memorie of the Somerville’s,” vol. i. p. 259.
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until performance of said indentures, Craigie re-
ceived an heritable conveyance of the lands of
¢ Harperland, Marrass, and Gaylis.” This bond,
which contains various other items agreed upon,
is dated at Irwyne, May 13, 1464. It may be
remarked here, that, from the tenure of the last-
mentioned charter of settlement, and from its

being dated in the month of October immediately |

following this contract, it appears not improbable
that the young laird of Fullarton had been pre-
maturely cut off in the interim, and before con-
summation of his marriage; as, not long after
this, on the death of his father, the representa-
tion of the family devolved upon the second son,

IX. John Foullarton of that Ilk, who is men-
tioned in a sasine, given by Sir Wiliam Wallace
of Craigie, Baillie of Kyle-Stewart, proceeding
on his retour as heir to his said father, of the
lands of Foullartoun, Trune, &c., dated May 26,
1471.

There is also amongst the family writs a letter
of reversion, dated at Fullarton, 28th April,
1493, granted by James Esdaill, burgess of Ir-
vine, whereby he obliges himself to * a right
worshipful man, John of Foullarton, Laird of
that Ilk, and Corsbie,” to resign in his favour the
half of the lands of Marrass, upon the payment
of three score marks Scots. There is also ano-
ther letter of this nature betwixt Fullarton and
Lambart Wallace of Shewalton, of same date.
And the last time he appears in said writs is in a
remission of all debts and fymes which he could
require from Ninian Bawnatyne of Kaimes, under
the hand of Andrew Madkcormy, Nottar Publick
—dated May 9, 1494,

Who he married does not appear; but he died
in the latter end of the year 1494, and was suc-
ceeded by his son,

X. John Foullartoun of that Ik, who was
served heir to his father, in the whole lands of
Fullarton, Corsbie, &c., Nov. 10, 1494; but
which he enjoyed only four years, as appears by
his son's retour. He married a daughter of Cun-
inghame of Caprington,* and left a son, who
succeeded him, viz.

XI. John Foullarton of that Ilk, whose ser-
vice and retour, as heir to his father, in the estates
of Fullarton, passed November 10, 1507—at
which time the lands are stated to have been nine
years in nonentry.

He granted a charter of the lands of Wester
Lathis to Gavin Foullarton (probably brother
to his father)t and Elison Dalrymple his spouse,

* Genealogical paper relating to the Fullartons of Dud-
wick.
+ He was of the family of Dreghorn.

August 4, 1514. In this charter he is designed
¢ of that Ilk,” and * Laird of Corsbie.”

" His wife was Katherine Maxwell, daughter to
umgqll. John Maxwell of Nether Pollock; which
is evidenced by a liferent charter granted in her
favour at the time of their marriage, June 10,
1515. On his death, in 1628, he was succeeded
by his son,

XII. John Foullartoun of that Ik, who, when
his father died, was only about cleven years of
age; as seems probable from a sasine, under the
hands of George Aberncthie, N.P., in his favour
of the nine mark lands of Dunrudyer, in the Isle
of Arran and shire of Bute,* proceeding upon a
retour as heir to his father, and which bears that
these lands had been in non-entry for the space of
ten years from the date thereof, May 8, 1538.

He married, about the year 1548, Kathrine,
daughter to David Blair of Adamtoun, (omitted in
Robertson’s account of that family, ) as is shown by
a liferent sasine, amongst the Fullarton writs, in
favour of said Kathrine Blair, * spouse to John
Foullarton of Crosbie,” of the lands of Fullarton
(proper) and Marrass, dated April 5, 15438. On
17th December, 1545, he alienated the lands of
Shewalton, which are described as lying in dominio
de Fullartoun, to Edward Wallace. t

He acquired, May,10, 1546, the non-entry
duties of the estates of Fullarton, &c., i Kyle,
from David Blair of Adamton, who acquired right
thereto from William Hamilton of Sanquhar,
which last had them by the gift of King James V.
Moreover, he obtained a charter, under the Great
Seal, by Mary, Queen of Scots, dated Edinburgh,
May 2, 1548, in favour of himself in liferent, and
David Fullarton, his son in fee, of the lands of

" Fullarton, Marrass, and Gaylis; and of the lands

of Corsbie, Craiksland, Sandhill, and nine acres
of land, with the patronage of the kirk of Corsbie,
proceeding upon his own resignation.

On December 10, 1562, he granted to his son
and apparent heir a charter of the mark land of
Troon ; and, October 31, 1564, he granted a com-
mission, with consent of Kathrine Blair, his spouse,
to his said son, to redeem certain lands from the
persons therein named. He also, with consent of
his eldest son, David (February 8, 1566), alien-
ated, to John Wallace of Dundonald, and Edward
Wallace of Shewalton, the lands of Marrass, to-

¢ The name Dunrudyer seems to be a corruption of the
Gaelic * Touroider,’ signifying Knightsland, and by which
latter denomination they are actually so expressed in a
charter by James IT1, 1434. Three of the witnesses to
this sasine are Robertus Jamison, Coronator de Bute, Ro-
bertus Jamison de Makynock, and Nigello M‘Camie. (See
remarks on this patronymic, page 12.)

t Excerpts from the MS. book in the Public Records,
entitled, “ Repertorium Omnis Terrse.”
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gether with the fishing in the water mouth of
Irvine, up to the bridge on both sides of the river,
within the sea flood.* He was succeeded by his
son,

XITI. David Fullarton of that IIk. He was
twice married; first, to Christian, daughter of
James Hamilton of Bothellhaugh, and sister to
David Hamilton, afterwards of the same place,
by which lady he had three sons. 1. James, who
succeedeéd him. 2. David; and 3. Robert, from
whom it is supposed descended the first series of
the Fullartons of Bartonholm. His second lady
was Jean Lockhart, sister to Alexander Lockhart
of Boghall, and relict of George Hamilton of
Bogwood ; but whether of this marriage he had
any issue does not appear.t He granted a charter
in favour of this last lady, of the lands of St Med-
dens and Craikslands, which was afterwards con-
firmed by King James V1. apud Halyrudehouse,
November 4, 1600. Further, he granted a pro-
curatory of resignation, in implement of a con-
tract of marriage past betwixt James Fullarton,
his son, on the one part, and John Fullarton of
Dreghorn, Jean Mure, Lady Dreghorn, his mo-
ther, and Agnes Fullarton, her daughter, on the
other part, for resigning the whole lands of Ful-
larton, Corsbie, &c., together with the mills of
Corsbie and Fullarton; as also, the advocation
and patronage of the kirk of Corsbie; in his Ma-
Jjesty’s hands, in favour and for new infeftment to
the said James Fullarton, his son, dated Septem-
ber 22, 1593. He was succeeded by his eldest
son,

XIV. James Fullarton of that Ik, who was
retoured heir to his father in the barony of Ful-
larton, &ec., by a precept, granted by Henry,
Prince of Great Britain, and Steward of Scotland,
dated May 2, 1605, and followed by sasine ac-
cordingly.

As already mentioned, he married Agnes,
daughter of John Fullarton of Dreghorn,} by
Jean Mure, daughter of Mungo Mure of Row-
allan, by whom he had three-sons and one daugh-
ter: 1. James, who succeeded him; 2. John,
who was bred to a military life, and served sever-

- al years in Germany ;* after which, in 1639, he
went to France, as lieut.-colonel to the Hon.

Alex. Erskine, brother to the Earl of Mar. In
1640, Louis XITI. advanced him to the rank of
colonel in the French army. He acquired the
estate of Dudwick, in the county of Aberdeen ;
was married, and left a family, who succeeded
him in the estate.* The third son, William, was
the first of the Fullartons of Craighall, in the
shire of Ayr, but latterly of Carstairs, in Lan-
arkshire.} The daughter, Helen, was married to
James Blair of Ladykirk, in Ayrshire. He was
succeeded by his son,

XV. James Fullarton of that Ilk, who mar-
ried Barbara, eldest surviving daughter of John
Cuninghame of Cuninghamehead; all which ap-
pears from a charter (amongst the Fullarton
writs) granted by James Fullarton of that Ilk,
and Agnes Fullarton his spouse, of the ten pound
land of Corsbie-Banatyne, and the twenty shil-
ling land of Troon, in favour of James Fullarton,
their eldest son, and Barbara Cuninghame, sister
of William Cuninghame of Cuninghamchead,
and longest liver of them, &c., dated Nov. 2,
1624. There is also another charter, of the same
date and tenor, of these lands, by the same
granters, to their said son and his spouse, but to
be holden of the Prince, whereas the former was
to be held of the granters.

Moreover he obtained a charter, under the
Great Seal, by King Charles I., as father, tutor,
&c. to Charles, Prince and Steward of Scotland,
in favour of himself and Barbara Cuninghame,
his spouse, proceeding upon his father and mo-
ther's resignation, of the same lands mentioned
in the two preceding charters. This is dated at
Edinburgh, August 1, 1634, in the end of which
year, or beginning of the following, his father
died, as may be inferred from the two sasines,
March 26, 1635.

On November 20, 1634, he received a commis-

* This family appears to have followed the profession of
arms; were highly respectable, and existed until the be-
ginning of the present century. The last was General
John Fullarton of Dudwick, a brave and gallant officer,
who greatly distinguished himself in the Prussian and
Russian service, in the latter of which he was promoted
to the above rank. A gentleman who was acquainted
with this distinguished veteran writes—* Ile was spoken
of as having been a very brave officer, but of somewhat

liar character and habits, acquired in foreign service,

® MS. book in the Public Records, entitled, “ Repertorium
Om. Ter.”

+ This lady afterwards married George Schaw of Glen-
muir. In the list of debtors to “ William Broune, mer-
chand burges of Air,” who died in 1613, she is styled * Jeane
Lockhert, Lady Corsbie, spous to George Schaw of Glen-
muir."—GLAS. CoM. REC.

$ “Jamcs Fullertoun of that Ik, and Nans Fullertoun
his spous,” occur in the testament of Issobell Colvill in
Craigie-Symountoun. Feb. 1622.—IBID.

* He appears to have accompanied the first Duke of
Hamilton in aid of the King of Sweden, in 1631.

VOL. II.

and latterly from advancing age; went little from home,
or had little intercourse with the neighbouring proprietors
—unless at public meetings, which he attended pretty re-
gularly, in an old fashioned carriage, and accompanied by
one or two Russian servants. He was a most respectable,
and much esteemed country gentleman—was never mar-
ried, so far as I have heard, and left no family. He was
succceded in his property of Dudwick by the family of
Udny of Udny, in the same ecounty, supposed to have been
relatives, or connected with him.

+ There appears to have been a fourth son. Mr Robert
Fullartoun, son lawfull to James Fullartoun of that Jlk,
is witneas to a testament, Jan. 31, 1632.—Gras. CoM. REC.

C
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sion, under the Great Seal, from King Charles I.,
appointing him Bailie of the Bailiery of Kyle-
Stewart. How long this office remained in the
family does not appear. It was successively held
by the families of Glencairn, Craigie, and Lou-
doun.

This Fullarton of Corsbie was one of the two
commissioners for the shire of Ayr in the Scots
Parliament, anno 1643. In 1645, Feb. 20, an
act was past, appointing the Laird of Crosbie
head sheriff of Ayr, ‘ in respect that shyre had
wanted a sheriff the 4 yeires bypast.”*

The Laird of Corshie and others disclaimed
the Remonstrance in June 1651.f The family,
however, seem to have afterwards taken part with
the Presbyterians, for, by the act of oblivion,
September 9, 1662, Fullarton of Corsbie was
fined in £2,000 Scots.

By his lady, Barbara Cuninghame, he had
three sons and three daughters: 1. William, of
whom afterwards; 2. James, who predeceased his
father unmarried; 8. George, who succeeded to
the estate of Dreghorn by a special destination,
and ultimately succeeded his elder brother in
Fullarton. The daughters were: 1. Elizabeth,
who was married, June 20, 1649, to Robert Wal-
lace of Cairnhill; 2. Mary, who was married,
March 30, 16564, to Robert Alexander of Corse-
clays, and had two daughters: (1. Barbara, who,
on the 27th Jan. 1682, was married to Andrew
Brown of Knockmarloch; and 2. Beatrice, who,
on March 21, 1686, was married to & Mr Robert
Wallace); 8. Barbara, who, on November 32,
1662, was married to Patrick Macdowal of Freugh,
in the county of Wigton, to whom she had issue,
Patrick, next representative of the ancient family;
and whose son, or grandson, succeeded to the
estates and honours of the family of Dumfries.

He died in 1667, and was succeeded by his
eldest son,

XVI. William Fullarton of that Ilk, who, in
the retour of his service, dated September 26 of
said year, is styled ‘* Magister Willielmus Ful-
lartoune de eodem, heeres Jacobi Fullertoune de
eodem, patris:"—and it is observable that in al-
most all writs wherein he appears he is uniformly
so styled; which circumstance very probably
arises from his having studied the profession of
the law. A rigid adherence to distinctions of
this nature was peculiar to those times.

On July 80, 1683, he and his brother, George
Fullarton of Dreghorn, were, on suspicion of
being concerned in the affair of Bothwell-Bridge,
committed to prison; and on the 2d of April fol-

* Balfour's Annals.
t Do.

lowing were indicted for trial; but the diet, it
seems, was afterwards deserted stmpliciter. On
this occasion, amongst other offences, they were
charged with * harbouring and countenancing”
their brother-in-law, Macdowall of Freugh. This
gentleman, as is well known, was amongst the
most forward and zealous supporters of the Re-
formed Church.

He received a charter, under the Great Seal,
by King William III., of the whole lands con-
tained in his retour as heir to his father; and
farther, the five pound land of Aldtoun, contain-
ing the little isle, opposite to the lands of Corsbie,
called the Lady-isle; and containing a new erec-
tion of the hail lands and others” into a barony,
to be called, in all time coming, the ¢ Barony of
Fullarton.” This charter is dated ‘¢ Edinburgh,
December 9, 1698, et anno Regni nostri unde-
cimo.”

And again he obtained another charter, under
the Great Seal, dated at Windsor Castle, August
b, 1707, by Queen Anne, erecting anew the whole
lands, &c. contained in the former, called and to
be called, the Barony of Fullarton; and further,
constituting the port of Troon a free sea-port
and harbour, with power to lift anchorage and
other customs. This charter also contains an
erection of the town of Fullarton into a burgh
of barony, with two annual fairs, the one to be
held on the third Wednesday of July O. 8., and
the other on the first Thursday of November,
also old style; likewise a weekly market on the
Wednesdays; and further, with all the powers
and privileges of any free burgh of barony within
the realm. -

He was thrice married: first, to Elizabeth,
daughter of Mr William Wallace of Elintoun,
advocate, with whom he received 9000 marks
tocher; and at the time of his marriage, July 29,
1662, his father resigned to him the following
parts of his estate, viz. the lands of Fullarton
(proper), Gaills, Harperland, St Meddens, Wil-
lockstoun, that portion of land called the Sealand,
Ronhill, and Brownlic, all to be holden of the
granter. By this lady he had a daughter, Eu-
pham, who was, in 1682, married to Sir William
Wallace of Craigie, to whom she brought a mar-
riage portion of £20,000 Scots, but had no sur-
viving issue,

In 1669, he was contracted matrimonially, as
appears by a document amongst the family writs,
with Lady Elizabeth Cuninghame, sister to the
Earl of Glencairn, and widow of William Ha-
milton of Orbistoun; but before the marriage
could be solemnized, Lady Elizabeth was sudden-
ly taken ill, and died.

He married secondly, July 9, 1670, Anne,
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daughter of John Brisbane, younger, of Bishop-
toun, by Dame Mary Mure, daughter of Sir
William Mure of Rowallan, and relict of Walter,
third Lord Blantyre, but by this marriage he had
no surviving issue. He married lastly, April 17,
1707, Margaret, eldest daughter of Alexander
Dunlop of Dunlop, but without issue. This lady
survived him, and was afterwards married to Sir
Robert Denholm of West Shiels, Bart.

He died in 1710, leaving no surviving descen-
dant—the paternal inheritance and representa-
tion of the family of Fullarton devolved upon
his next surviving brother-german,

XVIL George Fullarton of that k. He was
concerned in the Bothwell-brig insurrection. As
will be remembered, this gentleman had succeed-
ed to the estate of Dreghorn; which property,
on his coming to the family estates, he alienated.
His retour of Fullarton is dated May 9, 1710.
About the year 1670, he married Elizabeth,
daughter of James Gray of Warristoun, in the
shire of Mid-Lothian, by whom he had three
sons and a daughter, as follows:

XVHI. 1. Patrick Fullarton, younger, of Ful-
larton—born in 1677; he received a judicial edu-
tion, and afterwards practised at the Scottish
Bar. He married Elizabeth, daughter, of Cle-
lund of that Ilk, in the county of Lanark, (who
survived him, and married A. Craufurd of Fer-
gushill) by whom he had two sons and two
daughters: 1. William, who succeeded his grand-
father in Fullarton; 2. Patrick, who, in 1788,
purchased the lands of Goldring, now called
Roscmount. He married Miss Harper, by whom
he bhad two sons, William and Jobn, and one
daughter. William, the eldest, added consider-
ably to his paternal property, by purchase; and,
with good taste and liberal management, im-
proved and left it one of the best cultivated and
most beautiful} places in Ayrshire. He married
Annabella, third daughter of Ronald Craufurd
of Restalrig, W. S. He died in 1805. John
was an officer in the Hon. East India Company’s
service, and died in India in 1804. The daugh-
ters were: 1. Anne, married, April 4, 1728, to
Robert Wallace of Sauchrie, to whom she had
issue; 2. Margaret, died unmarried.

2. Robert, from whom is descended the pre-
sent family of Fullarton, of whom hereafter.

8. George, died young.

The daughter, Marion, was married, in 1711,
to James Cuninghame of Auchenharvie; from
whom is descended the present family of Auchen-
harvie.

Patrick, the younger, predeceased his father in
1709, so that the latter, upon his death, was suc-
ceeded, as before stated, by his grandson,

XIX. William Fullarton of Fullarton. By
a disposition and tailzie, dated May 17, 1710, his
grandfather resigned to him the whole lands and
barony of Fullarton; and failing him, to and in _
favour of his brother-german, Patrick [Rose-
mount]; whom also failing, to Robert Fullarton,
W. 8., second son of the said George Fullarton
the granter. This deed was afterwards con-
firmed by a charter, dated at Edinburgh, July 25,
1711, under the Great Seal, by Queen Anne,
This gentleman devoted much time to the study
of agriculture and rural science, and greatly im-
proved and embellished the paternal estate. In
17456 he built the present house of Fullarton, in
which, and its accompaniments, he showed a just
taste, by the simplicity and unity of the design.
Gardening and botany he also cultivated with
much assiduity and success—particularly the lat-
ter, of which he was a devoted admirer. In
May, 1751, he marricd Barbara, fourth daughter
of William Blair of Blair, by whom he had an
only son, his successor,

XX. Colonel William Fullarton of Fullar-
ton, who was born January 12, 1754; and in the
year 1759 was served and retoured heir to his
father in the barony of Fullarton. He thus suc-
ceeded to his property when a child of little more
than five years of age. He received his acade-
mical education at Edinburgh, and in his sixteenth
year was placed under the government of Pa-
trick Brydone, Esq., a gentleman of eminent liter-
ary attainments. With Mr Brydone he travel-
led on the Continent, and also accompanied him
while he made the celebrated Tour in Sicily and
Malta, in 1770. Of the early indications of young
Fullarton’s mind, which afterwards so greatly
distinguished him, Mr Brydone, as he was pre-
paring to proceed to these unfrequented islands,
thus obeerves :—** Fullarton has been urging me
to it [to proceed on the tour] with all that ar-
dour which a new "prospect of acquiring know-
ledge ever inspires him.” With the same feeling,
and in allusion to his early connection with this
gentleman, Burns, in one of his poems, thus al-
ludes to him:

« Brydone's brave wano I well could spy,
Beneath old Sootia’s smiling eye;
‘Who call’d on Fame, low standing by,
To hand him on;

thommnpnﬁotnmeonh!gh,
And hero shone.”

In 1775, when only twenty-one years of age, he"
was appointed principal secretary to the embassy
of Lord Stormont, at the court of France. In
1780, he communicated to the administration the
plan of an expedition to Mexico against the
Spaniards. This project having been approved
of, he instantly sct about putting it into execu-
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tion, and with this view raised the 98th regiment
of infantry. Sir John Dalrymple, in his Memoirs
of Great Britain, gives the following account of
the expedition:

¢ It was planned and proposed to the Cabinet
Ministers, by Colonel Fullarton of Fullarton,
who acted in conjunction with the late Colonel,
then Major Mackenzie Humberstone, the first of
whom had never been in the army, both repre-
sentatives of families amongst the most ancient
of their country—young, generous, spirited, gay,
and scholars. They raised 2,000 men at their
own expense, with unusual dispatch, and involved
their estates to a very large amount, by prepara-
tions for the expedition, agreeable to the terms
upon which government had adopted the proposal.

*“ The object of it was an attack upon the
coast of Mexico; the troops were to sail to Ma-
dras, and be joined there by a body of Lascars,
who were to proceed with them to one of the
Luconian islands in order to refresh the men, and
then to make for the coast of Mexico, in the tract
of the Acapulea ships. Lord George Germaine
added to this the idea of another expedition to
the Spanish Main, which was to go across the
South Sea, and join that on the coast of Mexico,
and there is no doubt that, if the junction had
been ‘made, Spain must have immediately sued
for peace. But the unexpected breaking out of
the Dutch war obliged the expedition intended
for Mexico to be sent upon an attack on the Cape
of Good-Hope: and when that was found im-
proper, it was employed in the war of India,
where Colonel Mackenzie bravely fell in his
country’s cause. His friend (Col. Fullarton) re-
turned on the peace, covered with laurels, to de-
fend her libertics in the senate.”

As thus related by Sir John, on the interrup-
tion of the expedition to South America, Col.
Fullarton, with the troops under his command,
proceeded to India, and with them served on
board Commodore Johnston’s fleet. In May
1783, he received the command of the Southern
Army on the coast of Coromandel—a force con-
sisting of upwards of 13,000 men. His cam-
paigns and operations, with this army, in that and
the succceding year, were attended with a rapi-
dity and brilliancy of success altogether unknown
in that distempered and enervating climate. On
his return to Europe, he published a work en-
titled ¢ A View of the English Interests in In-
dia,” &c.—together with an account of his cam-
paigns there in the years 1782, 1783, and 1784,
in which work he has given a very particular and
interesting narrative of these transactions, as
well as much curious and valuable information
relative to the history of our eastern empire.

Colonel Fullarton was frequently a member of
the House of Commons—twice was he returned
for his native county of Ayr, the last time of
which his election was unanimous.

He was served heir of line, and representative
of the family of Cuninghame of Cuninghame-
head, Bart., in the year 1791—which represen-
tation is still in the present family of Fullarton.

- At the breaking out of the French war in the
year 1793, he raised the 28d Light Dragoons,
then called ¢ Fullarton’s Light Horse,” and also
the 101st regiment of infantry; and, in 1801,
was appointed first Comnrissioner, or Governor,
of the Island of Trinidad. In this situation,
however, he remained but a short time—return-
ing in the year 1803.

The short intervals he enjoyed from public
employment were assiduously devoted to the
study of science and literature. In 1793, at the
request of the President of the Board of Agri-
culture, he wrote * An Account of the Agricul-
ture of the County of Ay, with Observations on
the means of its Improvement,” which the same
year was printed, and generally circulated in the
county and elsewhere. This Report, as also an
Essay which he wrote in 1801, addressed to the
Board of Agriculture in England, on the best
method of turning grass lands into tillage, have
been highly esteemed both for the accuracy of
the ecientific observations and the classical ele-
gance of the composition.

In the year 1792, he married the Honourable
Mariamne Mackay, eldest daughter of George,
fifth Lord Reay, by Elizabeth, daughter of John,
second son of Fairlic of Fairlie (formerly Dreg-
horn), Ayrshire.

Col. Fullarton died at London, 13th February,
1808, at the age of 54 years, deeply regretted by
a numerous circle of friends, to whom he was
much endeared, not more from his highly culti-
vated mind, in almost cvery branch of literature
and science, than from his amiable dispositions,
and condescending affability; which latter qua-
lity cntwined him round the hearts and affec-
tions of his vassals and tenantry. He was in-
terred within the church of Isleworth, where has
been placed to his memory a marble tablet, with
an appropriate Latin inscription.

He left no male issue, and the representation
of this ancient family devolved on his second-
cousin, Colonel Stewart Murray Fullarton of Bar-
tonholm, grandson of

XXI. Robert Fullarton, second son of George
Fullarton of that Ilk, No. XVTI. in this account.
He was bred a Writer to the Signet, which pro-
fession he for many years practised. He wrote
the genealogical trec of the family of Fullarton,
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formerly alluded to. He obtained the lands of
Bartonholm and others from Captain William
Fullarton of Bartonholm, the last of this ancient
cadet of the family. In the deed of entail exe-
cuted by Sir William Cuninghame, the third Ba-
ronet of Cuninghamehead, he and his heirs what-
soever were called to the succession of his estate
and title; so that the present representative of
the Fullarton family has a clear right to the Ba-
ronetcy of Cuninghamchead.®* On the 15th
March, 1716, he married Grizel Stuart, daughter
of John Stuart of Ascog, in the Island of Bute,
a cadet of the family of Bute; by whom he had
several children, none of whom survived him,
except his successor,

XXII. George Fullarton of Bartonholm, who
was an officer in the army, and was much upon
foreign service, particulurly in North America,
where he was present during the whole of the
period generally denominated ¢¢ the Seven Years'
War.”

He married, February 7, 1763, Barbara, sister
of James Innes of Warrix, Ayrshire, by whom
he had one daughter, John, and two sons: 1. Ro-
bert, who died in the year 1784, unmarried; 2.
his successor,

XXIII. Stewart Murray Fullarton of Fullarton.
His service and retour as heir male to the family
of Fullarton is dated August 5, 1809. He en-
tered early into the military service, and was, in
1812, comunissioned Colonel of the Kirkcudbright
and Wigton, or Galloway Regiment of Militia;

* The deed of entail was executed in 1711. It runs as
follows: *“ To myself, and the heirs-male, lawfully pro-
create, or to be procreate, of my own body ; whilk failing,
to the heirs-female, lawfully p , or to be p
of my own body; whilk fnﬂing. to Robert Fullnrton,
‘Writer to the Signet, lawful son to the lute George Ful-
larton of that Ik, and the heirs of his body whatsoever,
lawfully procreate, or to be procreate; whilk failing, to
Patrick Fullarton, second lawful son to the deceast Mr
Patrick Fullarton, advocate, and eldest son to the said
George Fullarton of that Ik, and the heirs whatsomever
of his body, lawfully procreate, whether male or female ;
whilk failing, to Mrs Marion Fullarton, lawful daughter to
the said George Fullarton of that 11k, if she shall happen
to be herself in life at the time of her succeeding to this
tailzie, and to the heirs whatsomever of her body lawfully
procreate ; whilk failing, to Ann and Margaret Fullarton,
lawful daughters to the said deccast Mr Patrick Fullarton,
advocate, successively, they being in life at the time of
their succeeding to this tailzie, and to the heirs-male or
female lawful of their bodies; whilk failing, to Barbara
Fullarton, Lady Freugh ; whilk failing, to I’atrick M‘Dowal
of Freugh, and the heirs of his body lawfully procreate,
or to be procreate, whether male or female; whilk failing,
to the heirs of Dame Elizabeth Cunninghame, my grand-
aunt, youngest lawful daughter of John Cunninghame of
Cunninghamehead, and Elizabeth Edmonston, his spouse ;
the heirs lawful, whether male or female, of the said Dame
Elizabeth Cunninghame, belng Protestants, and no other-
ways; whilk failing, to George Fullarton, youngest lawful
son to the sald George Fullarton of that 11k; whilk all fail-
ing, to my own nearcst heirs \\homsoc\cr, heritably and
irrevocably.”

which situation he resigned upon being appointed,
in May 1819, Collector of his Majesty’s Customs
at the Port of Irvine.

In January 4, 1796, he married Rosetta, daugh-
ter of Colonel Fullarton, his predecessor, (who
died October 19, 1814), by whom he had cight
sons and four daughters :

1. George, his successor, born 12th December, 1796.

2. William, born 8d September, 1799, died in 1809.

3. James, born 11th April, 1801. He was Lieut.-Colonel
of the 26th N. I. Madras Army, and died at the
Cape, whither he had gone for his health, on the 7th
November, 1845.

4. John Campbell, born 2d October, 1803; Lieutenant
Royal Navy.

5. Robert, born 16th March, 1806; died at Cawnpore,

August 1839, M.D.; Assistant-Surgeon, H.E.LC.S.

Madras Army.

Stewart Murray, born 8th October, 1807, Captain

39th Regiment N.I. Bengal Army. .

William, born 3d September, 1810, died in 1817,

Craufurd Rose, born 19th October, 1814, died in 1815.

Barbara, borm 3d Junc, 1798 ; married, 15th May,
1820, tg Alex. H. Manners, Esq., W.8,, and has issue.
Mariaine, born 28th April, 1804; married, 24th
December, 1826, to the Rev. Charles Bannatine Steven,
minister of Stewarton, and has issue.

Annabella Craufurd, born 1st March, 1813; died in
1814,

He married secondly, September 11, 1820,
Isabella-Buchanan, only daughter of the late
James Muir, M.D., Glasgow, and had issue

1. Elizabeth Muir, born 17th September, 18322.

2. Craufurd, born 13th January, 1824; Lieut. 1st Ro-

giment N.I. Madras Army.
8. Agnes Marion, born 2lst June, 1825; died 15th
April, 1848.

4. Robina Alexander, born 30th September, 1826.

5. William Fullarton, born 31st August, 1823; Ensign
Royal Ayrshire Militia.

8. Blair, born 8th January, 1834.

Col. Fullarton died 20th May, 1844, and was
succceded by his eldest son,

XXTV. George Fullarton of that Ilk, Cap-
tain in the Kirkcudbright Regiment of Militia.

oo

4.

Residences.—From about the year 1500, this
family appears to have resided chiefly at their
Place of Crosby, which, in after-times, came to
be called Fullarton-house. Part of the old
mansion is still standing. The present house,
as already mentioned, was begun in the year
1745. In 1791, Colonel Fullarton made consi-
derable additions, in the form of wings, to the
principal building; the whole, though not very
large, has certainly a very graceful, dignified ap-
pearance. The situation is also singularly in-
viting; placed upon a dry and gently elevated
lawn, about a mile from the margin of the sea,
over which, to the picturesque and lofty Island
of Arran, the view is uncommonly varied and
extensive.

Fullarton-house is further embellished by many
noble trees, particularly ash, sycamore and elm—
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many of which have obtained to great size and
beauty.

Arms.—Argent, three Otters' heads erased,
gules. Crest, a Camel's head and neck erazed,
proper. Supporters, two naked Savages, wreath-
ed about the head and middle with laurel, and
holding clubs in their hands, all proper. Motto
—Lux in Tenebris.

In 1805, this domain was alienated to the Duke
of Portland, whose residence in Scotland it now
is. The lineage of the Duke is too well known,
in connection with the illustrious of the British
Peerage, to require any account of his family
here. He is universally esteemed by his Scottish
tenantry as a liberal and considerate landlord,
while his name will go down to posterity as one
of the greatest agricultural improvers of his time.

FULLARTON OF DREGHORN.,

The first of this family was,

L. WiLLiaM FuLrartoN of Dreghorn, eldest
son of Rankine Fullarton of that Ilk, by a second
marriage with Marion, daughter of Wallace of
Craigie. He obtained the lands of Dreghorn
from his father, who had a charter of them from
James 1., dated 20th July, 1428, in favour of him
and his spouse; whom failing, to the said Wil-
liam, his son, and the heirs of his body. He re-
ceived a charter from Elizabeth Stewart, with
consent of Adam Mure, her husband, of the lands
of Lagland, now Craighall, dated at Ayr, 24th
January, 1454, in favour of himself and his spouse,
Agnes, and which charter was confirmed by
James IL. at Edinburgh, 26th July of that year.
He received also a charter of confirmation from
James ITI., dated at Edinburgh, 24th October,
1466, of the lands of Dreghorn, Newhall, and
Laithis, which had been left him by his father.
He was succeeded by his son,

II. William Fullarton of Dreghorn, who mar-
ried Giles Hamilton, by whom he had four sons:
Charles, Adam, David, and William, who are all
mentioned in a charter granted by himself, and
confirmed by James III., at Edinburgh, 1st No-
vember, 1485, of the lands of Ladyland, Bar-
clengh, Knockgulrane, Dreghorn, and Laithis.
He received also a charter of confirmation, dated
29th May, 1492, from John Fullarton of Fullar-
ton, of the lands of Wester Laithis. He was
succeeded by his eldest son,

II1. Charles Fullarton of Dreghorn, who, on
the 2d December, 1484, married Elizabeth Ross,
daughter of George Ross of Haining, by whom
he had two sons—John and James, the latter of

whom married Elison Dalrymple, of the family of
Stair, and a daughter, Janet, who, on the 15th
February, 1506, married John Campbell of Skel-
don. He was succeeded by his eldest son,
IV. John Fullarton of Dreghorn, who was
seized in the lands of Dreghorn and others on the
18th December, 1518. He married Helen, daugh-
ter of Sir John Chalmers of Gadgirth, by whom he
had two sons—John; and William, who married,
1st. May, 1545, Agnes, daughter of Thomas Cor-
rie of Kelwood; and a daughter, who married
William M‘Kerrell of Hillhouse. On the 9th
July, 1522, he received a charter of confirmation
from John Fullarton of Fullarton, in favour of
himself and the said Helen Chalmers, his spouse,
of the lands of Wester Laithis. He died in 1546,
and was succeeded by his eldest son,
V. John Fullarton of Dreghorn, whose retour
is dated in 1546. He seems to have studied with
a view to some of the learned professions. Inthe
list of assize at the trial of the Archbishop of St
Andrews and others, for attempting to restore
Popery at Maybole, Kirkoswald, &c., in 1563, he
is styled ¢ Mr Jo. Fullertone of Dreghorne.” Ho
took an active part in the affairs of the Reforma-
tion, and involved his estate very much on that
account. With a view of suppressing the Con-
vent of Carmelite Friars, which his chiefs, the
Fullartons of that Ilk, built in the thirteenth cen-
tury, and for ages afterwards liberally supported,
he purchased, on the 10th May, 1558, from Ro-
bert Burne, prior of the Convent, the lands of
Friars Croft, and Dyets Temple, on which it was
situated, near Trune, and to which they belonged.
On the 4th September, 1562, he subscribed the
famed Band, at Ayr, along with the Earls of Glen-
cairn, Lords Boyd and Ochiltree, and a number
of the gentlemen of Ayrshire, binding themselves
to support and defend the reformed religion at all
hazards against all its enemies ; and upon Queen
Mary’s marriage with Lord Darnley, he wenti, on
the 81st August, 1565, to Edinburgh, along with
the Earls of Murray, Glencairn, and Rothes,
Lords Boyd and Ochiltree, at the head of 1300
horse, in defence of the reformed interests. He
married Janet, daughter of Mungo Mure of Row-
allan, by whom he had three sons,
1. John, his successor.
8. Adam, who, on 81st July, 1598, married Agnes, only
:fhnl?orhr illiam Fullarton of Ardovie, in the county

8. James, who married Elizabeth Gray. He was first
gentleman of the Bed-Chamber to Charles 1., by whom
he was created a knight. He was buried in West-
minster Abbey, where an elegant monument is erected
to his memory.

1. Agnu. who was married in 1598, to James Fullarton,

ounger of Fullarton, from whom the present family
Is dewended.
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2, Marion, who married James Chalmers of Gadgirth,
and had issue.

8. Elizabeth, who married John Wallace, younger of
Mainford, and was provided for by her brother, on
17th June, 1593, in the lands of Arrothill.

He was succeeded by his eldest son,

VI. John Fullarton of Dreghorn, whose retour
is dated 10th March, 15687. He rececived a char-
ter from James VIL., dated at Edinburgh, 5th
June, 1599, of the lands of Arrothill. He mar-
ried Janet, daughter of Sir Patrick Houstoun of
that Ilk. This lady survived him, and afterwards
married Sir George Craufurd of Lifnorris. He
had three sons—

1. John, his sucoessor.

2. David, who, on the 16th May, 1600, married a dangh-
ter of Craufurd of Lifnorris, who was provided for
in the lands of Easter Templeton®.

8. Wiliam. In the testament of William Fullarton,
minister of Dreghorn, in 1622, he is mentioned as
“Mr William Fullarton, brother-germane to John
Fullarton of Dreghorn.”

He was succeeded by his eldest son,

VII. John Fullarton of Dreghorn, whose re-
tour is dated 16th May, 1606. He married
Christian, daughter of Wallace of Auchans, and
relict, first, of Mr James Ross of Whiteriggs;
second, of John Craufurd of Craufurdland, to
both of whom she had issue; but having no
children to him, the succession devolved by spe-
cial destination on his cousin, and second living
son of James Fullarton of Fullarton,t who be-
came

VIII. George Fullarton of Dreghorn, and upon
the death of his brother, William Fullarton of
Fullarton, without issue, in 1710, succeeded to
the estate and representation of that family. He
then sold the estate of Dreghorn to William
Fairlie of Bruntsfield, who changed its name to
Fairlie, and it is now the property and seat of
Sir John Cuninghame Fairlie of Robertland and
Fairlie, Baronet.

The armorial bearings of Fullarton of Dreg-
horn were the same as Fullarton of Fullarton,
with a crescent for difference.

FAIRLIES OF DREGHORN, AFTERWARDS OALLED
FAIRLIE.

NisBET states, in his Heraldry, that the ancient

* In a legal document in reference to the lands of
Holmes of Dundonald, dated April 3, 1609, he is styled
“ David Fullertoun of Knokinlaw, sone lawfull to vmgle.
John Fullertoun of Dreghomne.”

t There I8 a letter in our possession dated “ Dreghorne,
31 Dx 1677,” add d by “ George Fullartoune ”
to his “ Honored Cusing” “ The Laird of Enterkine,” in
reference to some case of arbitration in which he appears
to have felt keenly, so that he must have snoceeded to
Dreghorn before that year.

family of Fairlie of Braid, in the vicinity of
Edinburgh, was descended from a natural son of
Robert IL.; and it is probable that Fairlie of
Bruntsfield, in the same neighbourhood, was a
cadet of that family, This supposition is strong-
ly countenanced by the similarity of the armorial
bearings of both families. From an inventory
of writs in the charter chest at Fairlie, it would
appear that

I. JorN FAIRLIE, burgess in Edinburgh, bought
the lands of Bruntsfield from Alexander Lauder
of Halton in 1603. He had previously acquired
the four oxengait lands of Restalrig from Robert
Logan, portioner thereof. The disposition of
these lands is dated 29th May, 1601. This John
Fairlie was married to Elizabeth Watson, and
had issue. He died before the 24th February
1607, for of that date

II. William Fairlie is served heir to his father,
John Fairlie of Brountisfield. This laird of
Bruntsficld had the honour of knighthood con-
ferred on him soon afterwards; and, it should
seem, enjoyed some adequate property distinct
from these lands on which he himself lived; as it
appears that he disponed of them to his son,

II1. William Fairlie, very soon after his own
succession. The charter conveying his lands—
dated 8d September, 1608—is granted by Sir
William Fairlie to William Fairlie his son, to be
holden of the Laird of Halton, for the yearly
payment of seventeen marks. Again, thereis a
charter, dated 80th September, 1618, * granted
be Sir William Fairlie of Bruntsfield, to his son
William Fairlie, of the four oxengait lands of

ig.” Sir William Fairlie died before the
81st of March, 1626, on which day William
Fairlie, his son, is served heir in the lands of
Bruntsfield. There is a precept of clare constat,
granted by John Lord Balmerino, to William
Fairlie, son of Sir William Fairlie, of the four
oxengait lands of Restalrig, dated in 1632.

IV. William Fairlie of Bruntsfield, who had
acquired the lands of Little Dreghorn, in the
county of Ayr, was, in the year 1689, appointed one
of the commissioners for ordering out the militia.
He was no doubt the son of the previous William
Fairlie. Who he married does not appear, but
he had at least two sons. John, the second son,
married Barbara Mure, the heiress of Caldwell,
without issue. In Law's Memorials he is thus
noticed :—** Rowallan, elder and younger, and
Bruntsfield, does retire and darn for a time.”
That is, kid themselves—this gentleman having
evidently been concerned with them in the Both-
well-Brig insurrection, in which were implicated
a great many Ayrshire gentlemen. He was ap-
prehended in London, in June the same year;
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but it does not appear that, in these perilous
times, he suffered to any greater extent on ac-
count of his attachment to civil and religious
liberty. He died before the 22d of May 1696,
on which day his son,

V. William Fairlie of Bruntsfield, was served
heir to his father William Fairlie of Bruntsfield.
This gentleman dropped the designation of Brunts-
field, and assumed that of Fairlie, applied to the
lands of Little Dreghorn, purchased by his father
from the Fullartons. He married Jean Mure, only
daughter of William Mure, the last of Rowallan,
(who afterwards married David, first Earl of
Glasgow, and scttled her paternal property on
the issue of the last marriage, in preference to
that of the first.) By this lady he had two sons:
1. William, of whom afterwards; 2. John, Col-
lector of the Customs at Ayr, who married Miss
Bowman, daughter of John Bowman of Ash-
grove, by whom he had an only child, Elizabeth
Fairlic, who was married, in 1760, to George
Lord Reay, being his second lady; to whom she
had a son, who dicd young, and three daughters.

VI. William Fairlie, the eldest son, succeeded
his father in Fairlic. He was twice married:
first, to Miss Catherine Brisbane, daughter of
Thomas Brisbane of that Ilk, by whom he had
issue, of whom afterwards; and secondly, to
Elizabeth Craufurd, second daughter of John
Craufurd of Craufurdland, by whom he had no
issue. She survived him more than sixty years,
during which time she enjoyed a jointure off’ the
estate. She married John Howieson of Brae-
head, in the county of Edinburgh, to whom she
had two sons who died in infancy ; a daughter,
who died unmarried ; and a daughter, Elizabeth,
who married the Rev. James Moody, minister in
Perth, by whom she had a son, William Howie-
son Craufurd, now of Craufurdland and Brae-
head; and a daughter, Isabella. Mrs Moodie
dicd in April, 1828. Her mother, the dowager
of Fairlie, died in 1802, at the very advanced
age of 97, before the cause was decided that ad-
judged her right to the estate of Craufurdland.
By his first lady, Mr Fairlie had a son, Alexan-
der, and a daughter, Margaret, of whom after-
wards.

VII. Alexander Fairlie of Fairlie succceded
his father in 1744, in which year his father's
widow, as stated above, was married to John
ITowicson of Brachead. Ie was a gentleman of
much ability and public spirit, taking an active
part in the affairs of the county. IHe took a
prominent lead in promoting agricultural im-
provement. He died unmarried, at an advanced
age, in 1803—when he was succeeded by his
sister,

VIII. Margaret Fairlie of Fairlie, who was
married to William Cuninghame, at first designed
of Auchinskeith; but, in 1778, having been
served heir to the late Sir David Cuninghame of
Robertland, he assumed that title, and was ac-
cordingly designed Sir William Cuninghame of
Robertland, Bart., which title was at first con-
ferred onh his ancestor, Sir David Cuninghame of
Robertland, who, in 1630, was creatcd a Baronet
of Nova Scotia, being amongst thc most early
creations to that dignity. Sir William had two
sons: 1. William ; 2. Alexander, who was Col-
lector of Customs at Irvine, and died unmarried.

IX. Sir Willism Cuninghame Fairlie of Ro-
bertland and Fairlie, succeeded his father in his
paternal property in 1781, and his mother, the
heiress of Fairlie, in Fairlie, in 1811. He mar-
ried Anue, daughter of Robert Colquhoun, Esq.
of St Cristopher’s, and sister to Wm. Colquhoun,
Esq. M.P. for Bedford; by whom he had issue:

1. William.

2. Robert—died unmarried,

8. John, of whom afterwards.

4. Charles, who married Frances, danghter of 8ir John

* Call, Bart. of Whiteford, in Cornwall, and banker in
London.

1. Frances, died in 18165.

2. Margaret, married to John Cuninghame of Craigends.

3. Anne, married to 8ir William Bruce of Stenhouse.

IX. Sir William Cuninghame Fairlie, of Ro-
bertland and Fairlie, the eldest son, succeeded
his father in 1811. In June 1818, he was re-
turned member of Parliament for Leominster.
In the same year he married Anne, only daughter
of Robert Cooper, Esq. of Foxford, Suffolk,
banker at Woodbridge. He died in 1837, when
he was succeeded by

X. Sir John Cuninghame Fairlie of Robert-
land and Fairlie, the present Baronet, who mar-
ried Jessie, daughter of the late John Wallace
of Kelly.

Fairlie-House is pleasantly situated on the brow
of a gentle eminence, on the south banks of the
Irvine water, about three.miles west from Kil-
marnock. It is an clegant, commodious, and
remarkably well-constructed modern mansion.

WALLACES OF DUNDONALD AND AUCHANS,

The lands and castle of Dundonald formed part
of the royal demesnes after the accession of the
Stewart family to the throne. They constituted
a portion of the principality of Scotland, esta-
blished by Robert ITT., in 1404. Alan, first Lord
Cathcart, had a grant of the custody of Dun-
donald Castle, and the dominical lands of Dun-
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donald, from James III., in 1482. These lands
of Dundonald continued for some time in the pos-
session of the Cathcarts. John, the second Lord,
had a charter, In 1505, of Colynane, Hilhouse,
and Holmyss, in Ayrshire, in the hands of the
King, by reason of forfeiture, for the alienation
of the greater part of the same by Alan, Lord
Cathcart, his grandfather, without consent of the
King,* &c. The next possessors of the lands
were the Wallaces, a branch, no doubt, of the
Wallaces of Riccarton. The first of the name
who 18 foun On Was—

1. William Wallace, who had a charter from
James V. of the lands and barony of Dundonald;
the charter and infeftment of feu approved by
act of Parliament in 1527.

II. William Wallace of Dundonald was, in 1566,
conjoined with Edward Wallace of Shewalton, in
the purchase of the lands of Marress from the
laird of Fullarton.

IIi. John Wallace of Dundonald, who is sup-
posed to have married Agnes, sister of Walter,
first Lord Blantyre, whose father, Sir John Stew-

art of Minto, died in 1583. He had issue, as ap-
pears from the latter-will of James Wallace, after-
wards quoted, who must have been his son,

1. John, who succeeded.

2. James, who died unmarried.

3. Thomas, who appears to have married and had issue.

4. Agnes, married to Patersoun, baker, Edinburgh.

IV. John Wallace of Dundonald, was retoured
heir to his father, John Wallace of Dundonald, in
15672. He had a brother, whose name occurs in
a testamentary document as *‘ James Wallace, bro-
ther-german to Jon. Wallace of Dyndonald,” in
1597. Thomas, fifth Lord Boyd, had a charter of
the lands or superiority of Auchans from John Wal-
lace, in 1599. The Boyds appear to have experi-
enced considerable difficulty with the property, the
Wallace tenantry having resisted their demands.
Robert, sixth Lord Boyd, at last, in 1617, pro-
cured letters from the Signet, commanding the
Sheriff and his deputies to put their decrees in
execution, and do justice to Lord Boyd. * Johne
‘Wallace, elder of Dundonald,” is mentioned in
a testamentary document, in 1604, so that he
had a son, named after himself, who succeeded
him.t He died about 1609, in which year we have
the latter-will of his brother, James Wallace, for-
merly mentioned, which is curious, and in sub-
stance as follows :—

Testament, &c. of vingle. James Wallace, bro-

* Wood's Peerage, 1. 340.

t * Item, in and to the annuall and dewitie restand awand
to the said cedent, or that may appertene to him during
his liftyme, furth of the lands of Dundonald, pertening to
Johno ‘Wallace, elder and zounger of Auchans.”—King’s

tion in to certain dwes owing to Mr
Andm Boyd, minister at Eglishame.

VOL. II.

ther-germane to vingle. Johnne Wallace of Dun-
donald, the tyme of his deceis, Quha deceist in
the moneth of Junuar, 1609. Gevin vp be him-
gelf the 19 day of Januar, the said year, in as
far, &c., and pairtlie gevin vp be Johnne Wallace
of Dundonald, in so far as concernis the Inventar,
&ec., Quhome he constitutis his onlie executor, &c.
Inventar.

Item, the said vngle. James being vnmareit,
had all, &c. viz. the abuilzement of his bodie,
estimat to thriescoir fyiftein punds. .

Legacie.

. + . Item the said James Wallace levis to
his brother, Thomas Wallace, the sowme of fourtie
markis money : mau', levis to him ane stand of
broune freis: mair, ane pair of gray worset
schankis. . : mair, levis to him ane sword,
qlk. is in the handis of Andro Leitch, sone and
appeirand air to the Laird of Craig. Item, levis
to Bessie Wallace, hir brother dochter, ane new
cloik of Inglis claith, with ane neck of veluot.
Item, levis to Agnes Wallace, relict of vmgle.

Patersoun, baxter, burges of Edinburghe,
the sowme of Twentie pundis. Item, levis to
Agnes Wallace, dochter to Johume Wallace of
Dundonald, ane pair of blankettis, ane dowblet
and breikis of Spainis taffatie, cuttit out vpone
taffatie of the cord, with some musick buikis,
quhilkis ar in the handis of Thomas Porter, in
Kilfaird of Dundonald. Item, levis to Andro
Paterson, baxter, sone to the said Agnes Wallace,
ane cloick of Scotts greine, and ane coitt and
breikis of broune claith, pasmentit with blak pas-
mentis. Done at Edinburghe, the 19 Januar,
1609. Mathow Wallace of Garscadden, cautioner
and souertie for Johnne Wallace of Dundonald,
executor, &c. to vmgle. James Wallace, his bro-
ther-germane. Feb. 7, 1610.

From this document, it would appear that John
Wallace of Dundonald died in 1609, or 1610. He
was alive when his brother James made his will ;
and, from the preamble, he must have been dead
when it was recorded in 1610. We also learn
from it, that besides his heir, he had a daughter
named Agnes. In the testament of William Wal-
lace, minister of Failfuird, who died in 1616, men-
tion is made of * Margaret Catheart, relict of
vmqule. Jon. Wallace of Dundonald.” This was
in all likelihood his widow. The name of Lady
Faile was Janet Cathcart, probably a sister.

V. John Wallace of Dundonald is frequently
mentioned in testamentary documents between
1610 and 1625, in which latter year Mathew
Wallace of Dundonald occurs. John possibly
died unmarried, and was succeeded by—

VI. Mathew Wallace of Dundonald. From
the latter-will of ** Johnne Stewart, brother-ger-

D



26

PARISH OF DUNDONALD.

N

mane to Archibald Stewart of Ardgowane,” who
died unmarried at Paisley, August 1627, it would
appear that Mathew Wallace had married the re-
lict of Stewart of Ardgowane. Amongst
other legacies, he leaves * to Janet and Agmes
Wallaces, dochters lawfull to Mathew Wallace of
Dundonald, the sowme of Threttein hundrithe
marks money, equallie betuixt thame, and the
anuelrent of the said Threttein hundrithe markis
To radoune and appertein to Margrat Stewart, his
and their mother, during hir 1 A t
Stewart, spous to Mathew Wallace of Dundonald,”
died in the month of June 1628.* Her latter-
will was made in favour of Annabell and Marie
‘Wallaces, her daughters. By these documents,
it would thus appear that there were four daugh-
ters of this marriage—1. Junet ; 2. Agnes; 8. An-
nabell ; 4. Marie.t Mathew Wallace of Dun-
donald was alive in 1641, in which year he is men-
tioned in the latter-will of ‘¢ Mareoune Craufurd,
Lady Armillane.” Whether he had a son and
heir, does not appear; but 8

VII. ¢ John Wallace of Auchanes” is mention-
ed in a testamentary document, as cautioner for
‘Wallace of Garscaddane, in 1648. The lands of
Dundonald seem to have been sold to Sir William
Cochrane, ancestor of the Earls of Dundonald,
before 1688 ; but those of Auchans were proba-
bly retained for some years longer in the family.
Colonel James Wallace, who headed the rising at
Pentland, is believed to have been the last of the
Wallaces of Dundonald and Auchans. }

COCHRANES, EARLS OF DUNDONALD.

This family is a branch of the family of Blair of
Bluir, and adopted the name of Cochrane, in con-
sequence of a marriage with the heiress of Coch-
rane, at the close of the sixteenth century. Wil-
liam Cochrane of that Ilk,§ county of Renfrew,
married Margaret, daughter of 8ir Robert Mont-

* Her testament recorded in the Commis. Rec. of Glas-
gow, 1630.

t One of the daughters is said to have married Robert
Montgomerie of Whitefoord.

$ Bince the foregoing sheets were put to press we have
been informed by the minister of Dundonald, that near to
the house of Auchans, occupied by C. D. Gairdner, Esq., Com-
missioner to the Earl of Eglinton, a workman, while dig-
ging lately in a small mound of gravel, came upon an
urn, containing some fragments of human bones. The urn,
which was of very rude workmanship, was much injured
fn the removal, and having been imperfectly fired, has

gomerie of Skelmorlie, Ayr&m He was living
in 1698. Elizabeth Cochnne. d@ughter and heir,

L Ammmm, son of Johh«Bhi:of Blair, who
took the name and arms of Cochrame. They had
seven sons, all of whom were officers in the royal
army. His second son,

II. Sir William Cochrane of Coldoun, who was
knighted by Charles I., acquired the estate of
Dundonald in 1638. He was created Baron Coch-
rane of Dundonald in 1647. The part he had
taken in the civil commotions of the time, is evi-
denced by the proceedings of the Presbytery of
Ayr, who—Feb. 28, 1649—debarred * Lord Coch-
rane” from renewing the solemn league and cove-
nant, he having * been a Colonel in the late un-
lawful rebellion, and having went to Ireland to
bring over forces,” &c.* In 1664, he was fined
in £5000 by Cromwell's act of grace and pardon.
On the Restoration, however, he was made a
Commissioner of the Treasury and Exchequer,
and created Baron Cochrane, of Paisley and
Ochiltree (having previously acquired the latter
barony), and Earl of Dundonald, with remainder
to the heirs-male of his body, failing which, to
the eldest beirs-female of bis body without divi-
sion, and the heirs-male of such heirs-female, bear-
ing the name and arms of Cochrane. The earl-
dom, however, has continued in the male-line.
He married Eupheme, daughter of Sir William
Scott of Ardross, county of Fife, and had issue :

1. William, Lord Cochrane, who died, during the life of

his father, in 1679, leaving issue by Katherine, daugh-
ter of John, sixth Earl of Cassillis,
1. JoHN, seoond Earl.
2. William, of Kilmaronock,t died 1717, having mar-
ried Grizel, daughter of James Grahame, second
Marquis of Montrose, and had issue,

TrOMAS, sixth Earl.
2. Bir John, of Ochiltree, from whom THOMAS, the eighth
Earl.

1. Margaret, married, in 1676, to Alexander, ninth Earl
of Eglinton, and had issue.

2. Helen, married to John, fifteenth Earl of Satheriand,
and had issue.

8. Jean, married, first, John, first Viscount Dundce;
secondly, to William, third Viscommt of Kilsyth, and
had issue.

The Earl, in his old age, was accused, 1684, of
having kept a chaplain with his son, then dying,
1679, who prayed for the success of those rebels

¢ In 1650, William, Lord Dundonald, and Dame
Scott, his spous ; Lieutennant-Colonell Hew Cochrane, bro-
ther to my Lord Cochrane, occur as debtors in the testa-
ment of “ Johne Blair, tailzeour, merchand burges of Air,”
& relation ofthe Blairs of Adamton.

suffered more sinoe by exposure to the air. Mr Gaird
sent the fragments to the where they still remain.
‘The urn seems to have been of British rather than Roman
workmanship. There is no tradition of a tumulus having
existed where the relic was discovered.

di;. For the Cochranes of Cowden, or Coldoun, sece Appen-

t Emr d « Kil k" in some of the

Peerages. “I, Mn Anne Cochrane, daughter of the de-
ceast Mr William Cochrane of Kilmaronock, grants me to
have received from the right honourable the Earle of Dun-
donald, the sum of five hundred merks Scots, and that in
full of a year's annualrent of the principall sum of ten
thousand merks,” &c.—May 29, 1782.
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in the west—those covenanters who defeated Cla-
verhouse at Drumclog. The Earl died in 1686,
and was interred in church of Dundonald.

III. John, %ﬂ%&ﬂ of Dondonald, grand-
son and heir, ied, in 1684, Susanna, daughter
of William and Anne, Duke and Duchess of Ha-
milton ; he died, 16th May, 1690.

IV. William, third Earl of Dundonald, son and
heir, died unmarried, 19th November, 1705.

V. John, fourth Earl of Dundonald, brother
and heir, married Anne, daughter of Charles Mur-
ray, second Earl of Dunmore, and by her—who
married, secondly, Charles, third Marquis of
Tweedale—had issue, a son and three daughters,
celebrated for their beauty in the poems of Ha-
milton of Bangour.®

1. Willam, fifth Earl.

1. Anne, married, 1728, to James, fifth Duke of Hamil-

ton and Brandon.

9. Susan, married, first, to Charles Lyon, sixth Earl of

Strathmore ; secondly, 1745, to George Forbes.

8. Katherine, married to Alexander Stewart, sixth Earl

of Galloway.

The Earl married, secondly, in 1715, Mary,
Dowager of Henry Somerset, second Duke of
Beanfort, but had no issue. He died 5th June,
1720.

VI. William, fifth Earl of Dundonald, son and
heir, dying unmarried, aged 16, was succeeded in
his unentailed property by his nephew, James,
sixth Duke of Hamilton, and in the title and en-
tailed estate by his cousin and heir-male,

VII. Thomas, sixth Earl of Dundonald, son of
William, second grandson of William, first Earl.
He was born in 1702, and married Katherine,
daughter of Lord Basil Hamilton of Baldoon.
He died on the 28th May, 1737.

VIII. William, seventh Earl of Dundonald,
son and heir, accompanied General Forbes to
America, 1757, and was killed at the siege of
Louisburgh. Dying unmarried, 9th July, 1758,
the title devolved upon his kinsman and heir-male,

IX. Thomas Cochrane, seventh son of William
Cochrane of Ochiltree, great-grandson of William,
first Earl of Dundonald. He thus became eighth
Earl of Dundonald. He married, first, Elizabeth,

® “ But who Is she, the gen'ral gaze
Of sighing crowds, the world's amaze,
‘Who looks forth on the blushing morn
On mountains of the east new born?
Is it not COCHRANE fair? °'Tis shé,
The youngest grace of graces three.
The eldest fell to death a prey,
Ah! snatch'd in early flower away ;
The second, manifold of charms,
Blesses a happy husband’s arms;
The third a blooming form remains ;
Q’er all, the blameless victor reigns:
‘Where'er she gracious deigns to move,
The publick praise, the publick Jove.”

daughter of James Ker of Morristoun, but by her
had no surviving issue; secondly, 1744, Jean,
daughter of Archibald Stuart of Torrence, county
of Lanark, Esq., and by her, who died 1808, aged
86, had issue—

1. Elizabeth, born 1745, married 1775, Patrick Heron
of Heron, Esq.

1. Archibald, ninth Earl.

9. Charles, a major in the army, born 1749, married
Katherine, daughter of Major Pitcairn of the Marines,
but by her—who remarried Charles Owen Cambridge
of Twickenham, Esq.—had no surviving issue. Major
Cochrane being sent by Sir Henry Clinton with de-
spatches to Earl Cornwallis, then besieged at York
Town, 1781, passed undisoovered in a boat through
the middle of the French fleet, and safely delivered
them., The Earl, in approbation of his intrepid con-
duct, appointed him one of his aides-de-camp ; but in
a day or two his head was taken off by a cannon ball,
previous to the surrender of that ill-fated army, aged
32.%

* The following spirited, and rather clever letter, writ-
ten by this brave officer, while on service in the American
war, to his brother Archibald, ninth Earl of Dundonald,
will be read with interest :—

“ New Jersey, 8th March, 1777.

“ DEAR BROTHER,—I regret that I should have allowed
you to be the first who has made an apology for the si-
lence that has prevailed ‘twixt you and me since leaving
England. I assure you it has very frequently been in my
mind the writing to my relations in Scotland, and making
you my best wishes, ere now; and it has not only been
thought of, but several times attempted. A kind, however,
of shame for having 8o long delayed it, joined to my of late
unsettled, inconvenient life, has occasioned my having un-
done many of those things which ought to have been done.
I beg that you will accept the will for the deed ; and if the
utmost sincerity can atone for the delay, my conscious
heart assures me of forgiveness.

«J, abont two months ago, received your kind letter in-
closed by K. It was of a very old date, as indeod are most
of them that find their way here. We understand that at
home many of our friends make the same complaint. I
don’t know any other reason for it except the uncertainty
of the which must be evident, when I assure you
that General Howe, since the 16th of October, has not re-
oefved any accounts from England, and that is now near
five months, If he receives accounts so unpunctually, we
have hardly a right to complain.

“ It gives me much satisfaction to see by yours that
there is almost a finishing stroke of the pick put to all your
labours, and that there is a near prospect of some return.
You have gambled tolerablv deep, to use a sporting ex-
pression ; but I now hope, as you have 8o long thrown out,
that you will now hold in, a good hand.

“ I thank you for your views or offers towards me. Not-
withstanding that my desires are very strong of one time
or other enjoying the sweets of a domestic retirement, yet
I shall never take any steps, or aocept of an offer that will
encumber, or tend to make me a dead weight on any rela-
tion, especially on one who, I fear, for some years will have
his own fortune to make.

“ With to my profession, I still Hke it above any
in the world. I think it, however, an improper one for a
person in my circumstances and situation, who has neither
friends or & tolerable prospect of preferment before him.
To speak impartially, what would I now have been, had
I not become a Benedict >—exactly a lieutenant in the 7th
regiment, after fifteen years being in the army. That a
kmock on the head should be ten thousand times more ac-
oeptable to one capable of reflection, and any share of am.
bition, is beyond doubt. Like Orlando, in ¢ As you like it,’
—not Orlando furiceo,—it might be said then: If dead, but
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8. John, born 1750, dled 1801, having married, 1800,
Miss Birch of Pinner, county of Middlesex.

4. James Atholl, in holy orders, born 1751, died 1823,

having married, Mary, daughter of —— Simpson, Esq.

- Basil, of Auchterarder, county of Perth, born 1753,
died 1826.

. Sir Alexander Forrester Inglis Cochrane, G.C.B., Ad-
rairal of the White, born 1758, married, 1788, Maria,
daughter of David S8haw, Esq., and widow of Sir Ja-
cob Wheate, Bart., Captain R. N., and had issue. He
took the rank of Lieutenant, 1778, was wounded in
Lord Rodney's engagement, 1780, made Post-Captain,
1782, and promoted to a fiag in 1804. In 1806, when
under Sir J. T. Duckworth, he attacked the French
squadron of Admiral de Siegler off St Domingo, and
took or destroyed the whole, one of 120 and two of 84
guns, having his hat blown off by the wind of a can-
non ball. He received the thanks of the House of
(‘ommons for the c of Martinique, 1809, and
died 1882.

. George Augustus Frederick, Colonel in the army, re-
tired, born 26th November, 1762.

8. Andrew James Cochrane Johnstone, born 1767, mar-
ried, first, 1783, Georgiana Amelia Constance Gertrnde,
daughter and heir of the late Baron Le Clugny, Go-
vernor of Guadaloupe, and widow of M. Raymond
Godet; and by the first marringe had Elizabeth, born
1795, married William John, first Lord Napier.

X. Archibald, ninth Earl of Dundonald, son
and heir, born 1748, married, first, 1774, Anne,
daughter of Captain James Gilchrist, R. N., and
by her, who died 1784, had issue,

1. Thomas, tenth Earl.
2. William Erskine, & Major fn the army, and late of
the 15th Dragoons.

q

8. Archibald, Captain R. N., distinguished himself under
his brother, when Lord Cochrane, in the Mediterranean,
1801 ; died 1829, having married, 1812, Jane, daugh-
ter of Arthur Mowbray, Esq., and had isene,

1. Anna Jane, born 2&8th January, 1813.

2. Caroline Elizabeth, born 11th June, 1814.

3. Robert Alexander, born 18th March, 1816.

4. Basil Edward Arthur, born 23d December, 1817.

6. Archibald Hamilton, born 2d June, 1819,

6. Elizabeth Stuart, bora 26th April, 1823.
He married, secondly, 1788, Isabella, danghter of
Samuel Raymond of Belchamp, county of Essex,
Esq., and widow of John Mayne of Jeffont-Ewias,
county of Wilts, Esq.; she died 1808; thirdly,
1819, Anna Maria, daughter of Francis Plowden,
Euq., and by her, who died 1822, had issue,

1. Dorothy, born March, 1820,

The Earl, whose life was devoted to seientific pur-
suits, rather to the injury than the improvement
of his fortunc, is known by various patents and
publications, particularly A Treatise on the Inti-
mate Connexion beticeen Agriculture and Chemistry,
1795; he died 1st July, 1831, and was succceded
by his son,

XI. Thomas, tenth and present Earl, better
known as ‘ the Gallant Lord Cochrave.” The
following account of this nobleman we copy from
an article in Bentley's Miscellany, entitled, Memoir
of the Earl of Dundonald ~—

one killed that should be willing to be so; could do one’s
friends no wrong, for there was none to Jament him ; the
world no injury, for in it he had nothing—only that a place
in it was filled up that might be much better supplied when
it was made empty. Poor Orlando! I have a sympathetic
feeling for him, and might, perhaps, had similar ideas, had
I not thought fit at times to act for myself.

*1 don’t immediately wish to leave the army; I am too
poor to do that. I am well satisfled to try a ten years far-
ther spell of it ; and wish I could see any chance of getting
on in it, or that I had friends who would endeavour to pro-
cure me some snug civil military employment that would
help to make the conjugal pot boil. I know many such
things that would suit me extremely well, and might either
give rank or the pence, and are far from being inconsistent
with an officer's holding. For instance, Major Maitland
here has been clerk of the pipes so many golden years, with
a BALARY sauce of £200, that his small pi] are almost

to humbug and amuse myself with these manuscripts, and
feast my thoughts with springs to catch woodcocks with.
1 have been very holy of late, and made a new beatitude—
Blessed are they who expect nothing, for they
‘Will not be disappointed.
I believe I have tired you long ago with my REVERIES ; if
not, nous re-verron.

“ We have had rather a disagreeable winter of it. The
light infantry, with which corps I am, have been much
harassed during the winter, and are miserably ill lodged ;
my whole y, which ists of 53 men, are obliged
to live in one small room, and I am in a pigeon-hole, with
11 officers, where we eat, drink, and sleep. Idon't believe
a man of this army, ever since the affair of Trontan, where
the fatal security of the Hessians brought us into that sad
scrape, have had their clothes off'; for my part, except one
fortnight, I have not been uncased these tem months. I
have a Galloway plaid, which Jack sent me; this, a blan-

turned into a golden drone. Col. Skene has held fifty em-

ployments these ten years, a soore of which were devised

on purpose for him ; I wish he would sell one of them to
me for the value of my company.

“ 1 like no aid-de-campship employments ; they are too

ous, and don’t last long enough for an Old Foggy.

Rauk in the army is a very pretty, pleasing, jcal thing,

ket, and a skin of a bear, is my principal baggage and bed.
It is the healthiest and most agreeable life in the world,
could one divest themselves of reflection, and have no eye
towards futurity, or the main chance.

“It is with much anxiety that every body expects a
vessel from Britain. We hear a war with France much
poken of. In that case, I hope some one will endeavour

with a name and no substance, and does vastly well until
you are tired of it, which seldom fails, sooner or later, hap-
pening. A troop of dragoons is a mighty sensible, snug
sinecure, for particular people. But some of Skene's or
Maitland's tunes on the pipes is the most insinuating mu-
sic in the world, played in the duet way, with my present
a-company-ment. 1 dare say, among my friends and re-
lations, there may be one or other that understands com-
position, and has a soul for music; they will, I hope, be
able, from the above notes, to get the tune completed in
time, and have it played for my benefit. Rut if they are
discord pos-ers, in the Graciosa way, I don’t
attempt the strain, or any part of

t, or no
expect that they will
my above affectuoeo.

* Nor shall I be a bit discomposed, but must beg leave

to get me made major to one of the new raised corps. All
my cotemporaries are so long ago, and I have as much de-
sire, ambition, and know my business full as well as any
of them.

“ When you have a few spare moments, you will oblige
me much by giving me a few lines, and telling me bow all
goes on. If you ever see any of my friends, I beg that you
will be s0 good as giye my best respects to any that are
pleased to remember me, not forgetting my commanding
officer, Mrs K.; and though I have not the honour of yet
knowing Lady (‘ochrane, I hope best wishes, and respectful
compliments of a brother, will not be disagreenble or un-
weloome. That she and you may enjoy every possible
happinees is the sinccrest wish of, dear brother, yours affec-
tionately, CH. COCITRANE.”
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¢ Thomas Cochrane, Earl of Dundonald, was
born in Scotland, December 14, 1775. His fa-
ther, the ninth Earl of Dundonald, had passed
the earlier part of his life in the naval service,
while his later years were devoted to the pursuit
of practical science, in which he made many use-
ful discoveries. At the early age of eleven, Lord
Cochrane entered as a midshipman under his uncle
Sir Alexander Cochrane, a gallant and enterprising
admiral. A tutor was provided for the boy; and

* thus, while he rapidly acquired a practical know-
ledge of seamanship, the higher pursuits of science
and literature were not neglected. The romantic
enthusiasm of his character was manifest at a very
early age, and was evinced in many adventures.
His age for some time delayed his promotion; but
his gallantry in attacking some French privateers
and gun boats, in the bay of Algeziras, was so
appreciated by Lord Keith, that he at once ap-
pointed him to the command of the Speedy, a sloop
of eighteen guns.

In Feburary, 1801, he captured the Caroline
& French brig; and in April he took several Span-
ish xebeques; but in the May of that year he
achieved his first great exploit, in the attack and
capture of the Spanish frigate El Jamo, off
Barcelona. The inequality of force was truly
alarming ; the frigate mounted thirty-two guns,
twenty of which were long twelve-pounders, and
she bad a crew of three hundred and nineteen
men. On the other hand, the Speedy had only
fourteen four-pounders, and her crew amounted
only to fifty-two men and two boys. But this
small crew was worthy of being commanded by
such a captain. No sooner did Cochrane an-
nounce his intention of boarding his enemy, than
men and boys proclaimed themselves ready to
follow him. The surgeon was obliged to take
the management of the wheel. The very audacity
of the attempt disconcerted the Spaniards; they
made a brief, spiritless resistance, and then threw
down their arms.

Many similar achievements followed. During
the ten months that Cochrane commanded the
Speedy, he captured thirty-three vessels, mounting
in all 128 guns, and manned by 538 sailors and
marines. Unfortunately he fell in with a large
French squadron, commanded by Admiral Linois,
and was obliged to strike to such a vastly superior
force. But his captivity did not last long; he
was liberated on an exchange of prisoners, and
promoted to the rank of post-captain in La Rai-
son frigate. )

On the renewal of the war after the peace of
Amiens, Lord Cochrane was appointed to the
Arab, and afterwards to the Pallas, of thirty-
two guns. In her he made several valuable cap-

tures, particularly that of the galleon Il Fortuna,
laden with specie to the amount of 150,000
crowns. It is highly honourable to the generosity /
of the captors that they returned 10,000 crowns ,
to the Spanish captain and crew, as some allevia~
tion of their misfortune.

In 1806 Cochrane made a daring and success-
ful attack on a French squadron in the Garonne,
ariver of most dangerous and difficult naviga-
tion. He sent a detachment in his boats to cut
out the corvettes, which were twenty miles up
the river, and they succeeded in carrying La Ta-
paguese, a corvette of fourteen long twelve-
pounders and ninety-five men, though she lay
under the protection of two powerful batteries.
Day dawned as they were bringing her off. Ano-
ther corVette of larger size gave chase to rocover
the Tapaguese; but after an hour’s fighting she
was 80 roughly handled that she too would have
fullen into the hands of the English but for the
rapidity of the tide. During the absence of his
boats, three ships of the enemy, mounting in all
sixty-four guns, advanced against Lord Cochrane;
but, though so large a portion of his crew was
absent, he met them half-way, and attacked them
so vigorously that they were driven on shore,
where they lay complete wrecks. His next ex-
ploit was the destruction of the Semaphores on
the French coast ; then followed the storming of
a battery ; then a battle with & French frigate of
vastly superior force, which would have been
taken, had not two others been sent to her assist-
ance, and several daring cuttings out of vessels
in the teeth of forts and batteries. From the
Pallas Lord Cochrane was transferred to the
Imperieuse; and in her, between the 13th of
December, 1806, and the 7th of January, 1807,
he took and destroyed fifteen ships of the enemy,
chiefly laden with wine and provisions.

Unfortunately for his fame, Lord Cochrane
wished to add senatorial dignity to his professional
honours. After a vain attempt in 1805, he was
returned for Honiton in 1806, and subsequently
became member for the city of Westminster.
But he did not abandon the naval service; he
rendered essential service to the cause of Spanish
independence by a long series of brilliant exploits
on the -coast of France and Spain. In 1809 he
performed his last great achievement in the service
of his country—the destruction of the French
shipping in the Basque Roads. Ten ships of the
line, and some frigates, lay in these roads, pro-
tected by formidablc batteries, and a dangerous
shoal, which extended between them and the
English blockading squadron, commanded by
Admiral Gambier. Lord Cochrane formed a
bold plan for the destruction of this squadronm,
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and communicated it to the Admiral. He was,
in consequence, sent to join Lord Gambier, and
under him to take command of the attack which
he had projected. Fireships and explosion-
vesgels having been prepared, Lord Cochrane,
with his gallant crew, led the way, and the boom
by which the enemy was protected was broken
by the Mediator. The fireships immediately
rushed through the opening, and were piloted
into the midst of the French anchorage, in spite
of a furious cannonade and discharge of shells
from the batteries. Though some of the ships
mistook their course, and others exploded too
soon, the greatest alarm was produced in the
French fleet. Three ships of the line, and a
frigate of fifty-six guns, were burned; another
ship of the line was so injured that she sunk a
few days after, and seven others were driven on
shore. The whole loss occasioned to the con-
querors was only ten men killed and thirty-five
wounded. For this exploit Lord Cochrane justly
received the dignity of a Knight of the Bath, an
honour more rarely accorded then than it is now.

Lord Gambier had from the very first opposed
this enterprise, and he was much annoyed that the
conduct of it was entrusted to Lord Cochrane, a
stranger to his squadron. He did not, therefore,
second the attack as heartily as he should have
done, and he lost the opportunity of capturing
and destroying the seven ships that had run a-
shore. Lord Cochrane, therefore, expressed his
determination to oppose the vote of thanks to
Lord Gambier when it should be proposed in Par-
liament. As Cochrane was in opposition, and
Gambier a great favourite with the administration,
party spirit was mixed with the question, and Gam-
bier demanded a court-martial. After a long in-
vestigation he was acquitted ; but the verdict of the
court was not ratified by the country. Lord Coch-
rane was regarded with manifest dislike by the
ministry, and he reciprocated the unfriendly feel-
ing with interest. Instcad of entering into this
controversy, we shall content ourselves with quot-
ing the opinion of Napoleon Buonaparte, whom
no one can suspect of partiality.—** Cochrane,”
he said, * might and would have taken the whole
fleet, and carried it out with him, had his Admiral
supported him as he ought to have done. For,
in consequence of the signal made by L’ Allemand
to the ships to do the best in their power to save
themselves, sauve qui peut, in fact, they became
panic struck, and cut their cables. The terror of
the brulots (fire-ships) was such that they actually
threw their powder overboard, so that they could
have offered very little resistance. The French
Admiral was an imbecille, but yours was just as
bad. Iassure you that if Cochrane had been sup-

ported, he would have taken every one of the
ships.” :

Ministerial vengeance found an opportunity to
vent itself on Lord Cochrane. He was induced
by Mr Cochrane Jolmstone and others to speca-
late in the funds. He was unfortunate, and lost
severely. Some of those with whom he had been
ussociated entered into a conspiracy to raise the
price of stocks by diffusing false intelligence ;
they were detected and brought to trial. Lord
Cochrane was included in the indictment, for his
intimate connection with the parties gave reason-
able ground for suspicion. The case was tried,
June 21st, 1814, before Lord Ellenborough, a
man of violent passions and prejudices, who too
often displayed on the bench the fiercest feeling
of a political partisan. By straining the circum-
stances of suspicion, his charge established an ap-
parent inferential case against Lord Cochrane, he
was found guilty, sentenced to a fine of a thou-
sand pounds, imprisonment for twelve months, and
exposure in the pillory. To this the Ministers
added expulsion from the House of Commons, de-
privation of his rank in the navy, and erasure from
the list of Knights of the Bath. The whole coun-
try was indignant at this spiteful harshness. Lord
Castlereagh, with great reluctance, was forced
to assure the House of Commons that the ex-
posure in the pillory would be remitted; and the
electors of Westminster marked their sense of the
proceedings by again choosing Lord Cochrane as
their representative. He paid the fine with a
thousand pound note, on which he wrote a spirit-
ed and characteristic protest against the harshness
with which he had been treated, and this note is
preserved among the curiosities of the Bank of
England. Disabled from serving his country, Lord
Cochrane took a part in the war of South American
independence as Admiral of the fleet equipped
by the new republic of Chili. Among his many
heroic exploits in this capacity, there is one so
graphically described by Captain Basil Hall, that
we must make room for the quotation:—

¢ While the liberating army under General San
Martin was removing to Ancon, Lord Cochrane,
with part of his squadron, anehored in the outer
roads of Callao, the port of Lima. The inner har-
bour was guarded by an extensive system of bat-
teries, admirably constructed, and bearing the
general name of the Castle of Callao. The mer-
chant ships, as well as the men of war, consisting
at the time of the Esmaralda, a large forty-gun
frigate, and two sloops of war, were moored under
the guns of the castle, within a semicircle of four-
teen gun-boats, and a boom made of spars chained
together. Lord Cochrane, having previously
reconnoitred these formidable defences in person,
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undertook, on_the 5th of December, 1820, the
desperate enterprise of cutting out the Spanish
frigate, although she was known to be fully pre-
pared for the attack. His lordship proceeded in
fourteen boats, containing 240 men, all volunteers
from the squadron, in two divisions, one under the
immediate orders of Captain Crosbie, the other
under Captain Guise, both officers commanding
ships of the Chilian squadron.

¢ At midnight the boats having forced their
way across the boom, Lord Cochrane, who was
leading, rowed alongside the first gun-boat, and
taking the officer by surprise, proposed to him
with a pistol at his head the alternative of ‘silence
or death;’ no reply was made, the boats pushed on
unobserved, and Lord Cochrane, mounting the
Esmeralda's side, was the first to give the alarm.
The sentinel on the gangway levelled his piece
and fired, but was instantly cut down by the cox-
swain, and his lordship, though wounded in the
thigh, at the same moment stepped on the deck.

¢ Thefrigate being boarded with no less gallantry
on the opposite side by Captain Guise, who met
Lord Cochrane midway on the quarter-deck, also
by Captain Crosbie, the after part of the ship was
carried sword in hand. The Spaniards rallied on
the forecastle, where they made a desperate resis-
tance, till overpowered by a fresh body of seamen
and marines, headed by Lord Cochrane. A gal-
lant stand was made for some time on the main
deck ; but before one o'clock the ship was cap-
tured, her cables cut, and she was steered triumph-
antly out of the harbour, under the fire of the
whole north face of the castle. The Hyperion,
an English, and the Macedonian, an American
frigate, which were at anchor close to the scene
of action, got under weigh when the attack com-
menced ; and, in order to prevent their being
mistaken by the batteries for the Emeralda,
showed distinguishing signals; but Lord Coch-
rane, who had foreseen and provided even for
this minute circumstance, hoisted the same lights
as the American and English frigates, and thus
rendered it impossible for the batteries to discri-
minate between the three ships ; the Emeralda,
in consequence, was very little injured by the shot
from the batteries. The Spaniards had upwards
of one hundred and twenty men killed and
wounded ; the Chilians had only eleven killed
and thirty wounded.’

This extraordinary achievement put an end to
the naval warfare in this part of the world, for
though the Spaniards had two frigates and several
other ships in the Pacific, they never ventured to
appear on a coast where they were likely to meet
the dreaded Cochrane. His lordship may be
said to have put an end to the war by the cap-

ture of Valdivia, the last post which the Spaniards
retained in Chili, February 20, 1820. From the
service of Chili, Lord Cochrane passed into that
of Brazil, where the Emperor Pedro recognised
his merits by creating him Marquis of Maranham.
On the conclusion of peace between Brazil and
Portugal, he tendered his services to aid in the
liberation of Greece, which were accepted. Here
his career was brief and not very glorious, for he
could not obtain the co-operation and support
necessary to success. He returned home to Eng-
land about the close of 1828, and retiring into
strict privacy, devoted himself to the pursuits of
practical science and mechanical invention.

Soon after the accession of William 1V, the
good-hearted sailor-king, who valued the inesti-
mable qualities of Lord Cochrane, and keenly
felt the injustice with which he had been treated,
restored him to his place in the navy ; after which
his lordship, in the course of promotion, became
Rear-Admiral. By the death of his father he
became Earl of Dundonald, but after having
tasted the charms of privacy, he appears to have
been unwilling again to take an active part in
public life. His proud spirit never recovered the
unworthy mortification to which he had been un-
Jjustly subjected, and he sought restoration to the
order of the Bath, not for the sake of the title,
but as the most solemn revocation of the igno-
miny that had been unfairly attached to his name.
The case of the brave but ill-used veteran was
brought under the personal notice of the Sove-
reign. Queen Victoria thoroughly investigated
all the proceedings that had occurred before she
was born, and being convinced that injustice had
been done, she commanded reparation to be made
as graciously as the injury had been inflicted
wantonly and harshly.”

The Earl married Katherine Francis Corbet,
daughter of Thomas Barnes, county of Essex, Esq.,
and has issue,

1. Thomas Barnes, Lord Cochrane, in the army, born 14th
April, 1814, married, December 1, 1847, Louisa, deugh-
ter of W. A. Mackinnon, Esq. M. P., and has issue.

3. Horatio Bernard William, in the army, born 8th
March, 1818, married, 29th October, 1844, Frances
Jaoobina, only daughter of Alexander Nicholson, Esq.,
and widow of George James Carnegie, Esq., nephew
of William, seventh Earl of Northesk.

3. Elizabeth Josephine, born 8th March, 1820, died in
Peru, in 1821.

4. Katherine Elizabeth, born 8th December, 1821, mar-
ried, 27th February, 1840, John Wallis Fleming, Esq.,
:{l«:;:m of John Fleming, Esq. of Stoneham Park,

5. Arthur Auckland Leopold Pedro, born 24th Septem-
ber, 1825.

6. A son, still-born, 15th April, 1829.
7. Ernest Grey Lambton, born 4th June, 1835.

Residence—The Earls of Dundonald resided
chiefly at their mansion in Paisley till about the
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-middle of the last century, when Culross Abbey
in Fifeshire became their ordinary place of abode.
Towards the close of the century, the increasing
embarrassments of the family, occasioned by the
unfortunate scientific speculations of the Earl,
compelled them to part with that fine property,
a8 well as most of the others. The present Earl
resides in London.

Arms—Argent, a chevron, gules, between three
boars’ heads, erased, azure.

Crest—A horse, passant, argent.

Supporters—Two greyhounds, proper, collared,
and leished, or.

Motto—Virtute et labore.

M‘KERRELL OF HILLHOUSE.

The M*Kerrells have flourished from a remote
period in the shire of Ayr. The name Kiriell ap-
pears on the roll of Battle Abbey; hence the
family is presumed to be of Norman descent.

Kiriell, Kirel, Kirrel, or Kerrell, (as at various
times spelt), is & surname now very rarely to be
met with. It is said to exist in Sweden, another
proof of Normanic origin in Scotland,* where the
family of Hillhouse alone bears it.

The first of the name, and the most remote
now on Scottish record, Sir John M*‘Kirel, { dis-
tinguished himself at the celebrated battle of Ot-
terburn, 19th August, 1388, by wounding and
capturing Rouel de Percie, who held the second
command in the English host, and whose brother,
the renowned Hotspur, was made prisoner by Sir
John Montgomerie,$ (from whom spring the
Earls of Eglinton), in the same sanguinary con-
flict. That this Sir John M‘Kirel was an ancestor
of the Hillhouse family, the circumstance of the
latter bearing the arms§ which he acquired by his

® There is a family of the name of M‘Kerlie in Dum-
fries-shire, and several of that name throughout the king-
dom. In the north of Ireland, the name of M‘Garrel is
frequently to be met with; but it is not known whether
either of these two names are of the same origin with the
family of Hillhouse.

¢ Mao, or “Son of,” was a prefixture more peculiar to
Sootland.

§ The death of 8ir John Montgomerie’s son, Hugh, in
this bloody raid, has been commemorated in the old and
popular ballad of Chevy Chaoe:

Against Sir Hugh Montgomerie
80 straight his shaft he set,

The grey goose wing that was thereon,
In his heart's blood was wet.

§ 1f heraldry may be trusted, and for long after its in-
stitution its purity as a science, and its utility still in Fo-

prowess in that celebrated battle, appears conclu-
sive, although a chasm of nearly two centuries
occurs in the pedigree.

The following is Froissart's account of the bat-
tle of Otterbourn, and the mention of M*Kirel :

¢ De touts les besognes, batailles et rencontres
qui sont cy dessous en ceste histoire (dont ie
traitte et ay traittd) grandes, moyennes petites,
ceste cy, dont ie parle pour le present, en fut
I'une des plus dures, et des mieux combattues sans
feintise, car il n'y auoit homme, chevalier n’escu-
yer qui ne s'acquittast et fit son devoir, et tout
main a main. Cette battaille fut quasi pareille a
la bataille de Becherel : car aussi elle fut moult
bien combattue e longuement. Les enfants au
Compte de Northomberllande, Messire Henry et
Messire Racul de Persy (qui Ia estoient soueraines
capitaines) s acqmtterent loyaument par bien com-
battre: et quasi pareil party, que celui, par qui
le Comte de Douglas fut arrest?, auint et cheut a
Messire Raoul de Persy; car il se bouta si auant
entre ses ennemis, qu'il fut enclos, et durement
naure, mis & la grosse halcine, pris et fiancé d’'un
Chevalier, lequel estoit de la charge et du meme
hostel de Moray, et I'appeloit on Jekan Afakirel.
En le prenant et fiancant, le Cheualier Escogois
demanda a Messire Raoul de Persy, qui lestoit,
(car il estoit si muiet que point ne le cognoissoit)
et Messire' Raoul (qui estoit si outré que plus ne
pouuait, et luy couloit le sang tout aual, qui I'af-
foiblissoit) luy dit; je suis Messire Raoul de Persy.
Adonc dit I'Escogois, Messire Raoul recoux ou
non récoux, ie vous fiance mon prisonnier. Je
suis Makirel. Bicn dit Messire Raoul, je le veieil,
mais entendez a mois, car ie suis trop durement
naure, et mes chausses et mes greues sont I toutes
cmplies de sang. A ces mots estoit le cheualiere
Escogois ententif, quand delez luy il ouyt crier
Moray et au compte: et recit le compte et sa
banniere droit deiez a luy. Si luy dit Messire
Jehan Makirel, Monseigneur, tenez. Je vous
baille Messire Raoul de Persy pour prisonnier ;
mais faites entendre a luy, car il est durement
nauré. Le Comte de Moray de ceste parole fut
réiouy moult grandement: et dit, Makirel, tu as
bien gagné les esperons. Adonc fit il venir ses
gens, et leun charger Messire Raoul de Persy:
lesquels luy banderent et etancherent ces playes.
Si se tanoit la bataille fort et dure et ne sauoit on

for distinction, leaving no question but that in consequence
of the capture of Percle, this formed oue of those cases de-
scribed by heralds of arms by conquest: for as M‘'Kerrel

storing the severed links of affinity when
through loas of documentary evidence, are manifest, the
arms of this family must have been those of Sir John
M-+Kerel, for they are founded on the Percie coat, which was
azure, five fusils in fess, or. The arms of M‘Kerrel being, azure,
three fusils, gules, on a fess, or, within a bordure engrailed

wu then lknlght. (chevalier in Froissart), and no honour

d being ded of him, it follows that this aug-
mentaﬁon to, or grant of arms, was his reward ; and their
inheritage, coupled with Froissart’s record, is the best of all
proafs of the descent of the present family of Hillhouse from
Sir John, and also of the correctness of one part af the tra-
dition above.—~BuRKE'S COMMONERS.
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encores lesquels en auroient le meilleur; car ie
vous dy qu'il y eut I plusieurs prises et récousses
faites, qui toutes ne vindrent pas a cognaissance.”

The tradition from sire to son bears that they
came out of Ireland,* and it carries back the pos-
session of the estate of Hillhouse full five hundred
years, to the glorious cra of Robert the Bruce—
a period when vast changes occurred in the pro-
prietary of the soil, and when the chiefs of nume-
rous houses, still in a high state of prosperity, were
endowed by that illustrious prince. This tradi-
tion, however, must be taken with caution. The
forty-shilling land of Hillhouse does not appear
to have existed as an independent property in the
days of Bruce. It, of course, formed part of the
large tract of country belonging to the Iligh
Steward, and was amongst the lands granted by
the Crown to the Cathcart family, of which a re-
newed charter was obtained in 1505.1 If the
M:Kerrells were in possession of Ifillhouse at this
period, it 1nust have been as tenants or vassals of
the Cathcarts.

The first of the name, so far as we have dis-
covered, in connection with the property, was—

I. WiLLiaM M‘KERREL of 1lillhouse, who mar-
ried, about 1570, Margaret,} daughter of John
Fullerton of Dreghorn, by Helen, daughter of Sir
John Chalmers of Gadgirth. This lady died in
1612. From her latter-will, it would appear that
M‘Kerrell of Hillhouse was Sheriff-clerk of Ayr.
The substance of this document is as follows :—

¢ Testament, &c., and Inuentar of the guids,
&e. glk. perteinit to vmqle. Margaret Fullertoune,
spous to Wm. M‘Kerrell of Hillhouse, Sheriff-
clark of Air,§ within the parochin of Air, the
tyme of his deceis, Quha deceist vpone the saxt
day of September, the zeir of God 1612 zeiris,
fiatfullic maid and gevin vp be the said Wm. in
name and behalf of Jeane and Margaret M‘Ker-
rells, lautfull bairnes to the defunct, executouris
datives, dewlie decernit, to her guids and geir, be
decreit of the Commissour of Glasgow, the nynt
day of August, 1617.

Inuentar.

Item, the said vingle. Margaret and her said

® The advent of the family from Ireland does not mili-
tate against their supposed Norman origin, if the swarm
of Anglo-Norman adventurers who joined the banner of
Earl Strongbow, and invaded that country in 1170, be
taken into consideration.

t John, sccond Lord Catheart, 1505, had & charter of
Colynane, Hilhouse, and 1Tolmnyss, in Ayrshire, in the hands
of the King, by reason of forfeiture, for the alienation of the
greater part of the same by Alan, Lord Cathcart, his grand-
father, without consent of the King, &c.—Wo00D’s PEER-
AGE, 1. 340.

$ In Robertson’s ¢ Ayrshire Families,’ and Burke's * Com-
meu,' the name is erroneously stated to have been Eliza-

§ He is mentioned in various legal documents as Sheriff-
clerk of Ayr, from 1603 till the date of this testament.

VOL. IIL

spous, had the tyme foirsaid perteining to thame
the guids and geir vnderwrittin . . .
viz. ane dussane of sylwir spoynes, pryce thereof
xlviii lib. ; ane sylwir peice of aucht vnce wecht,
or thereby, pryce thereof xxvilib. xiiis. iiiid.;
ane sylwir goblat of sevin vnce wecht, or thereby,
pryce thereof xxiiilib. vis. vilid. . . . . Item,
in gold and sylwir lyand attoure that quhilk fur-
neissit the hous to the nixt terme, xxxlib. Item,
the Insicht of the said Wm. his hous, with the
abuilzement of hir bodie, with ane gold cheinzie
and taiblet, and thrie litle wowp ringis, estimat to
1 fiiixx x lib.”

William M‘Kerrell of Hillhouse survived till
1629. His name occurs in various documents pre-
vious to that year. He died at Hillhouse in the
month of October. His testament was * ffayt-
fullie 1naid and gevin vp be Mr Williame M*‘Ker-
rell, eldest lautfull sone to the defunct, and exe-
cutour dative,” &c. From these documents it
would appear that he had more sons than his heir,
and two daughters, Jean and Margaret. He was
succeeded by his son,

IL. Magister William M‘Kerrel of Hillhouse,
who appears in the retour, dated 1630, as pro-
prietor of several lands in the parish of Dun-
donald, and of Knock Gall, in the parish of
Ochiltree. Robertson puts this Mr William as
grandson of the previous proprietor of Hillhouse,
and Burke follows him; but they are both cer-
tainly in error.® From the title * Magister,” he
appears to have been brought up to one of the
learned professions. *Mr Wm. M‘Kerrell of
Hillhous™ occurs as a debtor in the testament of
% Adame Coninghame, elder, merchand, burges
of Irwein,” who died November, 1635. In 1636
he is retoured heir to his father in the fifty shilling
land of Goldring (now Rosemount), and ¢ a little
piece of land called the Kemnock land.” He was
succeeded by his son,

IOI. William M‘Kerrell of Hillhouse, whose
retour is dated in 1648, and who, in 1659, was
succecded by his brother, .

IV. John M‘Kerrell of Hillhouse, who married
about the year 1670, Elizabeth Wallace, daughter
of the Bishop of the Isles. Their initials are en-
graved on the lintel of the garden-door at Hill-
bouse, having been removed from the old house,
when taken down about fifty years ago. Amongst
the Boyd papers, there is a bond, dated 1666, to
John M‘Kerrell of Hillhouse, in name and in be-
half of his lawful children, Robert and Anna
M‘Kerrell, for certain moneys advanced in their
name by Lord Kilmarnock. John M‘Kerrell
had thus, in all likelihood, been twice married,

* In the retour, he is styled heir of Wiliam M‘Kerrell of
Hillhouse.
E
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Robert and Anna being children of the first
union. Among the Cochrane papers there is a
discharge, dated 1675, by Elizabeth Wallace, re-
lict of vingle. John M‘Kerrell of llilhous, tutrix
testamentar to Jeane and Elizabeth M‘Kerrell ”
her daughters, to the Earl of Dundonald for a
year’s interest on three thousand merks lent upon
a bond belonging to her children. William Ful-
lartoun of that Ilk, and Robert M‘Kerrell, mer-
chant in Irvine, were the guardians appointed in
the testament. John M‘Kerrell had thus died
before 1675. He was succeeded by his son,

V. John M‘Kerrell of Hillhouse, who wedded
Elizabeth, daughter of William Fairlie of Fairlie,
by his wife, Jane, only daughter of the last Sir
William Mure of Rowallan,* and had issue,

1. William,

2. John,

1. Jean.
2. Elizabeth,

He was succceded by his eldest son,

VI. William M‘Kerrell of Hillhouse. This
laird married Mary Vaux, of French extraction,
whose family sought refuge in this country from
the persecution which followed the revocation of
the edict of Nantes. Her father was in holy or-
ders, and one of the canons of St Paul's cathedral.
By this lady he had William and John, with a
daughter, Elizabeth. In 1713, William M‘Ker-
rell of Hillhouse petitioned the Sheriff of Ayr, to
order the Earl of Kilmarnock to deliver up cer-
tain bonds for five thousand merks lent upon hLeri-
table bond by his grandfather to M‘Kerrell's
grandfather, most of which had been paid up dur-
ing the Earl's minority.{ William M‘Kerrell
died before 1728, in which year he is mentioned
in the Ayr Presbytery records as * the deceased
Williamn M‘Kerrell of Hillhouse.” He was suc-
ceeded by his elder son,

VII. William M‘Kerrel of Hillhouse, at whose
decease, unmarried, the estates devolved on his
brother,

VIII. John M‘Kerrel of Hillhouse, who mar-
ried Margaret, sister of the late William Fulton,
Esq. of Park, in the county of Renfrew, and had
issue,

1. William, his helr.

2. John, married, first, Miss Hervey, of Edinburgh, and had

1. John, married Anna, daughter of Herbert Buch-
anan, Esq. of Arden. John died in 1831, and left
one daughter.

3. Alexander, died in 1827.

8. William, married his cousin, daughter of John
Edward Wright, Esq. of Bolton on Swale.

* The Mures of Rowallan were of great antiquity and
consideration in the shire of Ayr, and were distinguished
by their alliance with the royal family of Scotland, through
the marriage of King Kobert II. (the first of the Stuart
dynasty), with Elizabeth, daughter of Sir Adam Mure of
Rowallan, when residing at his castle of Dundonald, in
Kyle-Stewart.

t Boyd Papers.

He wedded, secondly, Helen Stuart, niece of Robert Mor-
ris, Esq. of Craig, and had a fourth son, Archibald.

3. Robert, who married Miss Shultz of Frankfort, and
had one son and two daughters, viz,

1. Robert, married Emily, daughter of Major-Gen.
Stavely, C.B., and has issue.
1. Margaret.
N 2. Augusta Jane, married to Count Segure, the
French charge d’affuires at Palermo.

4. Fulton, married, first, to his cousin-german, Elizabeth,
daunghter of Fulton of Hartfield, but had no issue. He
wedded, secondly, Mary, daughter of James M‘Call,
Fsq. of Brachead, and had three daughters, Sarah,
Margaret, and Mary.

1. Margaret, married to the late Moses Crawfurd, Esq
of Newfield, and had issue.

2. Mary, died in 1849,

8. Elizabeth, married to Colonel John Reid, of the Hon.
East India service, and died, leaving & daughter, EX-
sabeth M‘Kerrell Reid, who wedded James Campbell,
Esq. of Treesbanks.

4. Jane, married to her cousin, Robert Fulton of Hart-
field, late Lieut.-Colonel of the 79th Foot, with which
regiment he served in Egypt and the Peninsula; she
has issue,

1. Robert Fulton, Captain in the 79th regiment, died
in 1835.

2. John Fulton, Lieutenant in the East India Com-
pany's service.

8. William Fulton, a captain in 15th foot.

1. Jane Fulton, married to her cousin, John Buch-
anan, Esq.

5. Marion, married to the late James Kibble, Esq. of
‘Whittford and Greenlaw House, in the county of Ren-
frew, and had one son, Robert Kibble, who died in 18438.

6. Agnes, married to John-Edward Wright, Esq. of
Bolton-on- Swale.

Mr M‘Kerrell died in 1811, aged seventy-nine,
and was succeeded by his eldest son,

IX. William M‘Kerrell of Hillhouse, who mar-
ried, first, Miss Reid, sister of the late Robert
Reid, Esq. of Adamton, but had no issue. He
wedded, secondly, Miss Govane, daughter of Ro-
bert Govane of Anderstone, by whom he had five
sons and four daughters, viz.

1. John, his heir.

2. Robert, died in India.

8. William, died young.

4. Henry, of whom hereafter.

5. James, died in 1833.

1. Janet, died 1841.

2. Margaret, married Major John Crawford, late of the

44th regiment.

8. Anne, married to James Brown, Esq., and had issue;
died in 1883.

4. Mary, died 1837.

This gentleman, who had the honour of raising,
at Paisley, the first volunteer corps embodied in
Scotland during the French revolutionary war,
died in 1820, and was succeeded by his eldest son,

X. John M‘Kerrell, who went in early life to
India, in the Civil Service of the East India Com-
pany. He filled several important offices in India,
and for nine years previous to his return, that of
Master of the Mint at Madras. IHe died unmar-
ried, in 1835, and was succeeded by his brother,

XI. Henry M‘Kerrell of Hillhouse, formerly a
merchant in Liverpool. He married Margaret
Cochrane, daughter of John Paterson, Esq. Edin-

burgh.
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Arms—Azure, three fusils, gules, on a fess, or,
within a bordure engrailed.

Crest—An ancient warrior in armour, with a
shield and spear, a star over the point of the
latter.

Motto—Dulcis pro patrid labor.

Seat—Hillhouse, four miles south of Irvine.

THE WALLACES OF SHEWALTON.

Shewalton House, a modern erection, is situated
on the left banks of the water of Irvine, about
two miles eastward of the town of Irvine. The
old manor place, which latterly became ruinous
and uninhabitable, was one of those square towers
of former times, adapted more for security than
convenience. The situation is pleasant, and has
been much improved by plantation.

The Fullartons of Fullarton were the overlords
of this property. At what time it became pos-
sessed by a branch of the Wallaces is uncertain.
The first of them known is,

I. LaMBERT WaALLACE of Sewalton, who, in a
letter of reversion, 20th May, 1473, binds himself
to resign a rent of £3 out of the lands of Sewal-
ton to his Lord, John de Fullarton of that Ilk, on
getting payment of £60. Between him and the
next known possessor, a period of fifty years
elapses. *

IL. Edward Wallace of Sewalton, who appears
to have had some transaction with John Fullar-
ton of that Ilk, in reference to the lands of Shew-
alton, on the 17th December, 1543. There was
an Edward Wallace concerned in the purchase of
the lands of Marress from the same party, on the
8th February, 1566 ; but whether he was the same
Edward, it is impossible to determine. There is
a John Wallace, * fear of Sewalton,” mentioned
in a legal document in 1583, and—

II1. Edward Wallace of Shewalton is thus men-
tioned in 1586: June 20.—*‘‘This day Eduart
‘Wallace of Sewaltoun comperit personall within
the said paroche kirk ” (of Ayr), &c. In another
similar document, of date September 6, 1595, the
following occurs: * The rycht honorabell William
Wallace, tutour of Sewaltoun,”t{ and ‘ Helene
Dunbar, his spous,” obtain renunciation and dis-
charge of certain debts over a tenement in Air.
Edward Wallace had thus died, leaving his heir
in nonage. He was succeeded, at all events, by—

IV. Edward Wallace, who, in 1605, is styled
¢« Edwart Wallace of Sewaltoun,” in a testamen-

tary deed of that date. The same name occurs
in several other similar documents at a later pe-
riod. He appears to have married Marjorie Dum-
bar, who died in July, 1614, In her latter-will
she is styled ** Marjorie Dumbar, spous to Edward
Wallace of Sewaltoun.” The inventory was made
and given up * be said Edward, in name and be-
half of Robt., Edward, John, Agnes, Jeane, and
Helein Wallaces, bairnes lawtfull to the deid.”
Amongst the debts owing by the deceased, were
£226 to ‘‘ Mareoun Wallace, sister to the said
Edward.” Edward Wallace seems to have died
very soon after the demise of his spouse.

V. David Wallace of Sewaltoune is mentioned
in the testament of William Lyn in Sewaltoun, in
1615. * Jonet Peiblis, Ladie Sewaltoun,” occurs
in the latter-will of James Porter in Sewaltoun,
the same year. She was perhaps a daughter of
John Peblis, Provost of Irvine. David Wallace
was probably succeeded by a younger brother, of
nonage at the time. At least there is a ¢ Mar-
grat Wallace, dochter to Wm. Wallace, tutor of
Sewaltonne,” * mentioned in a testamentary docu-
ment, in 1619. The next found in possession is,

VI. ¢ Edward Wallace of Sewaltoune, heir to
Edward Wallace of Sewaltoun, Proavi,” (his
grandfather), served heir 25th March, 1624:
Also, at the same time, to *‘ Edward Wallace of
Sewaltoun, Patris,” (his father). Robertson states
that this Edward Wallace ** was, on his own re-
signation, succeeded by his son,” William. This
would appear to be correct from the inventory of
writs in the possession of the present family of
Shewalton, in which there is a charter, dated in
1627, ** Edward Wallace of Sewaltoun, &e., who
resigns these lands to his son, William.” Not-
withstanding, we find, in 1628, ** Edward Wal-
lace of Sewaltoun,” and * Wm, Wallace, zounger
in Sewalton,” mentioned in a testamentary docu-
ment of that date ; and again, in 1630, 1633, and
1684. This may he explained, however, by the
fact, that in cases of resignation, the father was
generally styled by the property, though virtually
in the possession of the son. He appears to have
died in 1649, at least there is the testament re-
corded of ** Edward Wallace, elder of Sewaltoun,”
who died in that year, ‘‘maid and gevin up be
Mr Dauid Conynghame, lait minister of Perstone,
burges of Irvine, lautfull creditor to the defunct.”
We shall therefore assume that—

VII. William Wallace was in possession. He
was, according to Robertson, married to Marga-
ret Scott, daughter of Lawrence Scott, whom he
conjectures to have been of the ancient family of

® Fullarton Writs.
t The tutor, as appears from a testamentary document,
had a son called Edward.

* A Margaret Wallace, of the house of Shewalton, was
the second wife of George Montgomery, second of Broom-
lands.



PARISH OF DUNDONALD.

Scott of Scotts-Loch, by Irvine. He * soon after-
wards,"” he adds,  resigns these lands to his son,”

VIII. Edward Wallace of Sewaltoun. The
deed of resignation is dated 1633, and registered
in 1654. In 1684, he is mentioned as tenant of
Knadger-hill, Irvine, in a testamentary document.
He married Janet Porter, only child of William
Porter, merchant in Edinburgh. The marriage
contract is dated 16th May, 1646. He had at
least four sons: 1. William; 2. John,* who, in
1672, is served heir of provision to his father, Ed-
ward Wallace of Sewaltoun, in the £2 land of
Whitehill ; 8. Lawrence; 4. Robert, both design-
ed, in the inventory of writs, merchants in Irvine,
and brothers of Williamn Wallace of Sewaltoun ;
also a daughter. He was probably twice married.
In an obligation on the part of John Iamilton of
Inchgothrie, in 1670, to shut up a back gate
leading to the Old Church of Ayr, Edward Wallace
of Shewalton is mentioned as the first husband of
Elizabeth More, then married to Major John Ful-
larton.t Edward Wallace of Shewalton was ap-
pointed, by Parliament, in 1649, one of the Com-
mittce of Defence in the shire of Ayr. He was
succeeded by his eldest son,

IX. William Wallace of Sewaltoun. He was
served heir to his father, Edward, in these lands
in 1670; and in the same year, married Mary, or
Maria Boyle, only daughter of David Boyle of
Halkshill and Dame Grizel Boyle of Kelburn, as
appears from the marriage contract, dated 15th
April, 1670. He and his father appear-to have
been involved in considerable pecuniary difficul-
ties, as may be inferred from the several heavy
sums that were from time to time borrowed from
the lairds of Kelburn, Hunterstoun, and Smith-
stoun, and others, all recorded in the inventory
already mentioned. The last of these that ap-
pear is dated 10th September, 1694, and he could
not have lived long after that timne, for his son,

X, Edward Wallace, who succeeded, is de-
signed laird of Shewalton in a bond, dated the
8th of January, 1698, to David Boyle, laird of
Kelburne, for the sum of £1136, 8s. 6d. Scots, in
all probability, from the fractional parts of the
sum, the bygone interest on his father's bonds.
The laird of Shewalton is mentioned in the records
of Parliament, as being on the Committee of De-
fence in 1696. The diffcrent estates of Shewal-
ton, Waxford, and Marress, appear to have all
remained in the family till they were sold by this
Edward, the last of the Wallaces,} to William

® In 1675, John Wallace, son of Edward Wallace of
Bhewalton, resigns the tenements within the yards com-
monly called Craigie House, and lands of W hitehill, in favour
of Sir Thomas Wallace of Craigie.

+ Town Records of Ayr.

t Edward Wallace of Shewalton, notwithstanding, con-

Boyle, Esq., brother of David, first Earl of Glas-
gow, and one of the Commissioners of Customs
in Scotland. The contract of sale is dated 15th
February, 1715,* and all these properties remain
in a branch of the Glasgow family to the present
day. The Waxford property had been acquired
by Edward Wallace of Shewalton in 1565.

BOYLE OF SHEWALTON.

I. Tar Ho~N. Patrick Boyvrk, third son of
John, second Earl of Glasgow, by Helen, his wife,
daughter of William Morrison, Esq. of Preston
Grange, county of Haddington, married, first,
Agnes, daughter of William Mure of Caldwell,
Esq., by whom (who died in 1758) he had no
issue; and, secondly, Elizabéeth, danghter of Alex-
ander Dunlop, Professor of Greek in the Univer-
sity of Glasgow, by whom he had (with other
children who died unmarried)

1. John, his heir.

2. David, now of Shewalton.

1. Helen, married, in 1795, to Thomas Mure, Esq. of
‘Warriston, and died in 1805.

2. Elizabeth, married, in 1800, to Rear-Admiral John
Rouett Smollett of Bonhill and Auchindonan, county
of Dumbarton, who died 6th May, 1842,

Mr Boyle died in 1798, and was succeeded by his
son,

II. John Boyle of Shewalton, Colonel of the
Ayrshire Local Militia, who died unmaried, 30th
January, 1837, and was succeeded by his brother,

I. The Right Hon. David Boyle of Shewal-
ton, Lord Justice-General, and President of the
Court of Session, born 26th July, 1772; married,
first, 24th December, 1804, Elizabeth, eldest
daughter of the late Alexander Montgomerie,
Esq. of Annick Lodge, brother of Hugh, twelfth
Earl of Eglinton, and had by her,

1. Patrick, & member of the Faculty of Advocates, Prin-
cipal Clerk of the High Court of Justiciary, M.A., &
Justice of the Peace, and Commissioner of Supply for
Ayrshire, born 29th March, 1806, married, 17th Au-
gust, 1830, Mary Frances, second daughter of Sir Ro-
bert Dalrymple Horn Elphinstone, Bart. of Horn and
Logic Elphinstone, and has issue,

. David, born in 1833.

. Robuert Elphinstone, born in 1887.

. Alexander James, born in 1842.

. Elizabeth Magdalene Greeme.

Louisa Laura.

. Mary Helen.

2. Alexander, Commander R.N., born 9th March, 1810.
3. John, born 9th September, 1819.

$3 00 2 0010

tinued to fill his place among the Commissioners of Supply
for the county of Ayr. He was one of the most regular
attenders, and his name occurs in the sederunts o late as
1720.

* William Wallace, *a brother of Shewalton’s,” appears
in the Ayr Presbytery records, 19th Deceruber, 1722. His
wife, Margaret Kennedy, had twins before marriage. He
was then in Kirkcudbright.
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4. William, Lieutenant 15th Foot, born 25th January,
1821,

5. Archibald Thomas, born 14th April, 1822,

1. Elizabeth, married, in 1828, to James Hope, Esq.
third son of the Right Hon. C'harles 11ope.

2. Helen, married, in*1829, to the late Sir Charles Dal-
rymple Fergusson of Kilkerran, Bart.

3. Iiamilla Augusta.

4. Eleanora Chariotte.

Mr Boyle married, secondly, 17th July, 1827,
Camilla Catherine, eldest daughter of the late
Hon. David Smythe of Methven Castle, Perth-
shire, a judge of the Court of Session, and has
by her,

1. George David, born 17¢th May, 1828.

4. Robert, born 2d December, 1580.

3. Henry Dundas, burn 1st February, 1883,

1. Amelia Laara.

Arms—Quarterly: 1st and 4th, or, an eagle,
displayed, with two heads, gules; 2d and 8d, per
bend, embattled, argent and gules; over all, an
escutcheon, or, charged with three stags’ horns,
erect, gules, two and one.

Crest—An eagle, displayed, with two heads,
per pale, embattled, argent and gules.

Motto—Dominus providebit.

Seat—Shewalton,

CUNINGHAMES OF COLLELLAN.

In the appendix to Nisbet, vol. ii., this family
is stated ‘‘to be come off that of Caprington,”
and Robertson supposes the statement to be likely,
¢ from the circumstance of the first of them, for
three gencrations in succession, being of the name
of Adam.” A manuscript genealogy, written
about 1704, says, however, that Alexander, Earl
of Glencairn, the Great Reformer, had a natural
son by a daughter of Lord Sempill, and that this
natural son was the ancestor of the House of Col-
lellan. Be this as it may, the family seems to
have been related to the Cuninghames of Caddell,
who were a branch of the Cuninghames of Glen-
garnock. The first of them on record was,

I. ApaMr CUNINGHAME of Clolynane, who
lived during the latter half of the sixteenth cen-
tury. He married a daughter of John Mure of
Rowallan. His successor is mentioned as—

II. Adame Cuninghame, son of the late Adame
Cuninghame of Clolynnane and Jeane Mure, in
1589-90. He was retoured heir to his father,
21st October, 1600. Adame Cwnynghame of
Clolynnan oceurs in the testament of ‘‘ Agnes
Cwnynghame, spous to Wm. Cwnynghame of
Clonbeith,” who died in 1612. The property had
probably been acquired by his father from the
Cathcart family, in whose possession it was in
1548. He was succeeded by his son,

OI. Adam Cuninghame of Collellan, whose
retour, as heir to his father, is dated in 1623.
The next in succession appears to have been,

IV. Alexander Cuninghame of Collellan, who
has a charter in favour of himsclf-and Margaret
Cuninghame, his spouse, dated 15th December,
1631. ‘*Alexander Cvynghame of Cullellane” is
mentioned as one of the ‘ kinsmen and freindis
in the latter-will of * Adame Cvninghane, elder,
merchand, burgess of Irwcin,” in 1635. ¢ Mar-
garet Conynghame, Lady Clolynane, elder, and

Conynghame, hir bairne,” appear as
creditors in the testament of Janes Thomesone,
merchant, Irvine,” in 1646, from which it may be
inferred that her husband, Alexander Cuning-
hame, had been previously deceased. This is con-
firmed by the following extract from the Com-
missary Records of Glasgow :—

* Omissa Conynghame. We (the Commissa-
ries), Be the tenour heirof, of new againe ratifie,
approve, and confirme the saidis Margaret Con-
ynghame, relict of umqle. Alex. Conynghame
of Cullellane, Johne Conynghame of Caddell,
Johne Conynghame of Baidlen, principall exe-
cutoris, &c., nominat, &c., to the said umgle.
Alex. Conynghame, in and to the sowme of
ffour hundreth merks, &c., adebtit and awand be
umgqle. Rot. Conynghame of Cassiltone, baillic of
Kilmairis,” &c., 1653.

Robertson supposes that this laird of Collellan
had been twice married, because he finds amongst
the Fullarton writs a charter from the Earl of
Dundonald, in favour of Alexander Cuninghamne
of Collellan and his spouse, Catherine Brown,
dated 18th December, 1635. But this must have
been his successor, the Alexander Cuninghame of
Collellan, younger, whom he also finds mentioned.

V. Alexander Conynghame of Collellane is
mentioned in a testamentary document in 1652,
He married Katherine Broune, daughter of
Broune of Mott. He died in August, 1660.
In the “ Inventar,” in his tcstament, occurs the
following: ¢ Item, nyno becskeps (attour the
airschip on), the most part of them being of the
third cast, pryce of them all xxlib.”

¢ Latter-will and Legacie.—I, Alex. Coning-
hame of Collellane, being for the present seik and
disseasit in body, &c., have thought good to mak
and sett doun this my testament and latter-will
as follows: Haveing heirtofor maid bondis and
provisions in favouris of my childrein, who ar as
zit voforisfamiliat, To wit, and the first, I mak and
constitute Katherine Broune, my lawfull spous,
to be my only executrix of all my haill guids and
geir, &c.; and I do heirby mak and constitute
Johne Coninghame of Caddell, John Coninghame
of Baidland, Mr Johne Coninghame, minister at
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Cumnock, Robert Broune of Mott, Hew Coning-
hame, lait baillie of Irving, Mr William Coning-
hame, minister of Kilbryd, to be tutoris testa-
menters to Robert, Alexander, William, Eupham,
Beatriz, and Jonet Coninghams, my lawfull chil-
drein: And I doe nominat John Coninghame of
Caddell, John Coninghame of Bedland, elder and
zounger, Rot. Broune of Mott, Wm. Monfod of
that Ilk, Mr Jon. Coninghame, minister at Cum-
nock, Hew Coninghame, lait baillie of Irving,
and Mr Wm. Coninghame, minister at Kilbryd,
to be oversiers to my childrein, to be helpfull to
them and remanent of my childrein who ar zit
vnforisfamiliate,” &ec.

VI. Robert Cuninghame of Collellan was re-
toured heir to Alexander Cuninghame of Collel-
lan, his father, in 1669. In 1674, he sold the
lands of Collellan, under reversion, to Alexander
Cuninghame, son to the deceased William Cun-
inghame of Clonbeith. He appears to have died
before 1684, in which year there is a decreet
against the heirs of Alexander Cuninghame of
Collellan, deceisit, Alexander, younger of Collel-
lan, and Robert Cuninghame, the son of the
younger Alexander, to enter heirs in special to
them, at the instance of Adam Fullarton of Bar-
tonholme. Robert thus died without leaving any
male issue. In 1691, Adam Fullarton had a dis-
position and assignation of the said lands, granted
by the heirs portioners of the saids Alexanders
Cuninghame, father and son, and Robert, the
grandson, all of Collellan, to the said Adam Ful-
larton.

The line of descent of the Cuninghames of Col-

lellan now underwent a complete change.
, VIL John Cuninghame of Collellan, heir to
Alexander Cuninghame, his futher, and probably
grandson of William of Clonbeith,* to which
Alexander the lands of Collellan were sold under
reversion by Robert Cuninghame of Collellan, in
1674, had a precept of clare constat, dated 1st
December, 1699, for infefting him in half of the
lands of Collellan, by Adam Fullarton. He was
succeeded by—

VIIL. Alexander Cuninghame of Collellan,
who, along with John Mure, represcuted the
burgh of Ayr in 1698 and 1700. He was most
likely a brother of his predecessor. In 1704,
Alexander Cuninghame of Collellan was appoint-
ed a Commissioner of Supply for the county of
Ayr. He married, 17th April, 1686, at Paisley,
Margaret Walkinshaw, as appears from a private
record on the blank leaf of the family Bible.
They had a numerous family, of whom only two

* The Clonbeith Cuninghames were descended from the
Aiket family.

reached mature years, James, his successor, and
Elizabeth, married, first to Robert Montgomerie
of Broomlands, and, secondly, to Provost Glas-
gow of Irvine, by neither of whom had she issue.

According to a note in the family Bible, this
Alexander Cuninghame * died at Sheins, near
Edinburgh, upon Fryday the threttin day of July,
1705, and was buried on the Saturday after, at
fyve of the clock at night, at Enterekin's tomb,
in the Grey-Friers churchyard, Edinburgh.”

IX. James Cuninghame of Collellan succeeded
his father. He was quite an infant at the time,
having been born on the 7th April, 1704. His
name frequently occurs in the sederunts of the
Commissioners of Supply for the county from
1732 till 1748. He married, at Hamilton, on the
5th May, 1727, Margaret, daughter of Sir Mark
Carse of Cockpen, in Mid-Lothian. By this
lady (who died of a decline on the 8th of March,
1738, in the 28th year of her age) he had two
sons, Alexander and William, and a daughter,
Elizabeth, all of whom died in infancy. Also a
daughter, Rachel, married, in 1754, to Alexander
Iamilton of Grange, third son of Robert Hamil-
ton of Grange, and had issue. He married, se-
condly, before the year 1737, Susana, daughter
of Thomas Cuninghame, the last of Mountgreenan.
By this lady he had a son, Loudoun Cuninghame,
who went to America, where he was killed acci-
dentally by a shot from his companion’s fowling-
piece. He had also two daughters, Margaret,
who died unmarried in 1818, in the 76th year of
her age; and Elizabeth, who died in infancy.

Besides Collellan, the Cuninghames possessed
the lands of Friars-Croft and Dyets-Temple, in
the vicinity of Irvine. In April, 1749, there was
a disposition of them, inter alia, by James Cun-
inghame and his spouse, Susana, to the trustees
for his creditors. The estate having been broken
up about this period, the property was acquired
by George Fullarton of Bartonholme.

Collellan is situated about four miles south of
Irvine, near to the high road to Ayr. The old
mansion is now occupied as a farm-house.

WALLACES OF GALRIGS, OR GARRIX, NOW CALLED
NEWFIELD.

The first of this family with whom we meet
was

I. WrLLiaM WALLACE of Gariggis. Octo-
ber 16, 1578, John Hamilton of Barnweill grants
* sasing ** of all and haill the xx s. land in Toun-
heid of Barnweill, occupiit be William Wallace
of Gariggis, &c., and of the four lib. lund of
Barnweill-Hereis, &c., in warrandice of the said

"
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xx 8. land to Wm. Wallace, sone and air apper-
and to Wm. Wallace in Gariggis, &c., conforme
to the said precept, &c., maid thereupoun,” &ec.
The Wallaces in Galriggis thus appear to have
been different parties from the Wallaces of Gal-
riggis, though probably nearly related. That
they were of some consideration is apparent from
the following rather curious extract® from the
testament of * Jeane Houstoun, spous to Wil-
liame Craufurd, elder of Lefnoreis,” who died in
1608. ‘¢ Debtis awand to the deid Item,
be Jeane Fullertoun, spous to Robert Wallace in
Galrigis, ane taiblet of gould, price thriscoir
sax pund xiiis. iiii d.; mair, be the said Robert
Wallace, ane Arabic duket, price fiftie pund.
Item, ane harie nobill, price ten lib. Item, ane
dowbill souerane, pryce sax pund. Item, ane
Spaneis peice, pryce sax pund. Item, mair be
the said Jeane, twentie ells of small borclaithes,
pryce of the elne saxtein schillingis mair
be hir, saxtein elnes servitour lynning, pryce of
the elne viiis.”

II. Robert Wallace ¢ of Galrix " is mentioned
along with * Mr William Wallace, minister at
Symontoun ” and others, as one of the overseers
appointed in the testament of Robert Wallace of
Ronhill. He and his wife were infeft in the
¢ thrie pund land of Holmis” by David Fullar-
ton, son of John Fullarton of Dreghorn, on the
13th May, 1609. Robert Wallace of Garricks
is also mentioned in the testament of * Jonet
Campbell, relict of vingle. Mr David Mylne, mi-
nister of Dundonald,” who died in 1618. His
wife, Jeane Fullertoun,t died in the month of
May, 1619. Her testament contains the follow-
ing: ¢ Legacie.—At Galrigis the 20 day of May,
the zeir of God 1619. The quhilk day the said
Jeane Fullartoune maks, nominats, &c., the
said Robert Wallace of Galrigis, hir spous, hir
onlie executor, &c. Item, the said Jeane Ful-
larton levis to Mr Wm. Fullertoune, hir brother
germane, the sowme of ane thousand merks
money, at his returning fra the kingdome of
France, quhere he now is,” &c. In 1625 the
name of Robert Wallace of Galrigis again oc-
curs as cautioner in the testament of Mr Alexr.
Sibbald, minister of Dundonald, He had a
daughter married to John Blair of Hilhouse, a
son of David Blair of Adamton, and a son called

* May 26, 1582, John Schaw of Haly “ Gaif heretabill
stalt and sasing to Wm. Wallace, as sone and air to vmqle.
Wm. Wallace in Garrigis, of the fyve lib. land of Helels,
of auld extent, liand within the baillere of Kylestewart,
&c.—MAs0oN'S NOTES.

t This is no doubt the same party referred to in the
testament of Lady Lifnoris. If 8o, her husband, formerly
* in" Galrigs, had become, either by succession or other-
wise, * of " Galrigs.

William. This appears from the testament of
John Blair of Hilhouse, who died in 1626 :—
* Debts awand In, Be Robert Wallace
of Galrigis, his father-in-law, the sowme of ane
hundrith punds money of annuell of his tocher
guid,” &c. His spous, Nans Wallace, is appoint-
ed Tutrix to her son, and failing her and others
mentioned in the testament, ‘* Mr Williame Wal-
lace, younger of Galrigis, tutor,” &c. * Robert
Wallace of Garrikis” occurs in the testament of
William M‘Kerrell of Hilhous in 1629, and in
that of Robert Barclay of Pierstoune in 1631.
In 1636 both he and his son, ‘ Mr Williame
Wallace, fear of Galrigis,” appear in the list of
debtors to ‘*‘ James Norwall, merchant in Kil-
marnock.” Robert Wallace died in the month
of September, 1642, The inventory of his effects
was * faithfullie maid and gevin vp be HHew Wal-
lace of Vnderwood, lawfull creditor to the de-
funct,” &c.; ** Mr Williame Wallace, sone to
vmgqle. Robert Wallace of Galrigis, cautioner.”

III. Mr Willinme Wallace of Garrickis is men-
tioned as a debtor in the testament of Margaret
Boyd, Kilmarnock, December, 1645. His name
occurs in another testamentary document in 1648,
and again in 1652.

IV. William Wallace of Galrigs, son, or pro-
bably grandson of the foregoing, sut as one of
the Commissioners of Supply for Ayrshire at the
sederunt, August 5, 1714; and again, for the last
time, in 1720.

The property of Galrigs, situated about a mile
from the village of Dundonald, was acquired
soon afterwards by Captain LAWRENCE NUGENT,
whose name appears in the sederunts of the Com-
missioners from 1725 to 1758. He appears to
have changed the name to Newficld, by which
designation he is mentioned in the Presbytery
records in 1723, as well as in the burgh records
of Ayrin 1725, and subsequently. He held some
situation in connection with the Customs.

CRAUFURD OF NEWFIELD,

The late Col. Craufurd of Newfield claimed
to be chief of the name of Craufurd. He traced
the descent of the family from Robert Craufurd
of Nethermains, third son of Patrick Craufurd
of Auchinames.*

1. Moses CRAUFURD, third son of Captain
Robert Craufurd of Nethermains, married Marion
Francis, of the family of Francis of Stane, and

® In the testament of Patrick Crawfurde of Auchinames,
dated “ at Corsbie the xii day of Decr. 1648 zeiris,” “ Ro-
bert Crawfurd of Nayr. Maynes, also my lawfull sone,”
is mentioned as one of the witnesses.



40

PARISH OF DUNDONALD.

had a son, Archibald, named afier his cousin-
german, the last of Auchinames, then resident
at Corsby, wha died in infancy, and a daughter,
Christian. He wedded, secondly, Janet Allason,
grand-daughter of Allason of Curreath, and had
by her, who died in 1738,

1. Robert, his heir.

2. Archibald, whose son, Moses, emigrated to America,

and had a son, Moses, a lieut. R. N., lately deceased.

3. David; 4. Jane; 5. Elizabeth.

Mr Craufurd died in 1723, and was succeeded by
his eldest son,

1I. Robert Craufurd, born in 1707, who mar-
ricd Marion Brison, co-heiress of the lands of
Groateholme, in the parish of Kilwinning, and
dying in 1772, was succceded by his cldest sur-
viving son,

III. Moses Craufurd, who went to India about
the year 1765, and there attaiued the rank of
Major in the Company’s service. He was second
in command at the capture of Beecligar, a strong
hill-fort on the Ganges, and was left in command
of that place with a garrison of two thousand
men. Returning home in 1783, he purchased
the estate of Newfield.and married in two years
after, Margaret, eldest daughter of John M‘Ker-
rell of Hillhouse, by whom he had issue—

1. Robert, his heir.

2. John, Major ¢4th foot, who, serving during the Pen-
insular war, was present at the battles of Salamanca
and Orthes, and wounded and taken prisoner in the
latter engagement.

3. Archibald, Major of Artillery in the E.I.C.8., who
married Octavia, daughter of the late Colonel James
Thelp, of Caston House, county Leicester.

4. Patrick, M.D., who died in India.

1. Margaret, married to the Rev. Dr Alexander Hill,
Professor in the University of Glasgow.
Major Craufurd died in 1794, and was succeeded
by his eldest son,

IV. Robert Craufurd of Newfield, represen-
tative of the Craufurds of Craufurd, Crosby, &c.;
Colonel-commandant of the Ayrshire Yeomanry,
and onc of the deputy-lieutenants. He married,
in 1813, Frances, daughter of the late Henry
O'Brien of Blatherwick Park, county Northamp-
ton, and dying in 1843, left issue,

1. Robert, his heir.

2. Patrick-Reginald.

1. Franccs.

2. Emma, married, 15th June, 1841, to George Walker,

Esq. of Eastwood, Notts.

8. Julia.

4. Letitia.

V. Robert Craufurd succeeded his father in
1843. He is an officer in the Rifle Brigade.

The estate of Newfield was sold, soon after his
father's demise, to Mr Finnie, a London mer-
chant, but originally from Kilmarnock, now also
deccased. The property, however, remains in
possession of this gentleman’s family.

Arms.—Quarterly: lst and 4th, gules, a fesse,
ermine, for Craufurd of Craufurd; 2d and 3d,
argent, three escutcheons, sable, for Loudoun of
Loudoun ; and a central coat, gules, thereon a
fesse, ermine, surmounted by two spears, salter-
wise, for Crosby.

Supporters.—Two stags, gules.

Crest.—A pheenix rising from the flames, gules.

Mottoes.—** God shaw the right;” and “1
bide my time.”

WALLACES OF RONHILL.

JOHNE WALLACE of Ronhill died in the month
of November, 1609 He left a son, Adame Wal-
lace, who, by his testament, was constituted his
only executor. Robert Wallace of Galrigs, Mr
VWilliam Wallace, minister of Symontoun, &ec.,
were appointed overseers.

The Wallaces in Dundonald parish seem to
have been all pretty nearly related. Adam, ori-
ginating with the Riccarton family, was a pre-
vailing name amongst them. Ronhill is now a
farm on the Newfield estate.

M‘CLUNK, OR M'CLEANE, OF HOLMES OF
DUNDONALD.

This family seems at one time to have possessed
considerable property. The first of them con-
nected with the parish of Dundonald was, in all
probability,

1. RoBert M‘CLUNE of Holmes, who died at
Largs in April, 1647. Hc was succeeded by his
son,

II. Robert M‘Clune, whose retour, ‘“in 8 lib~
ratis terrarum de Holmes de Doundouncll,” is
dated 10th August, 1647. 1ic was succeeded by,

1II. David M:Clean de Holmes, hares of Ro-
bertii M‘Cleane de Holmes of Dundonnell, whose
service to the lands is dated July 81, 1673.

The property was soon aﬁ;erwards acquired by
the Earl of Dundonald. It first appears in the
retours of that family in 1690. Previous to the
M‘Clunes coming into possession, Holmes had
belonged to the Fairlies of that Ilk. By a legal
document, dated 13th April, 1609, it appears that
the late John Fullarton of Dreghorn, father of
David Fullarton of Knokinlaw, had granted letters
of reversion to Sir Robert Fairlie of that Ik,
which letters of reversion had been assigned over
by Sir Robert to William M‘Kerrell of Hill-
house.*

© Mason's Notes.
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ETYMOLOGY, EXTENT, &e.

Chalmers is no doubt correct in ascribing the
etymology of the parish to the Celtic, Dunluib—
not lub, as he has it, however,—which signifies
the hill, at the bend or winding. There is a hill,
or dun, in the vicinity of the village, near which
a small stream, called the Glazert, describes such
a bend as to render the place still characteristic
of its Celtic etymology.*

Dunlop is quite a rural parish. It Lies south-
east of Beith, from which it is divided by the Lug-
ton water. It is bounded on the north-east by
the county of Renfrew, and south and south-west
by the parish of Stewarton. Its extreme length,
from south-west to north-east, is about four miles;
and it is a little more than four miles in breadth.
The greater part of the parish lies in Ayrshire, and
the lesser in the county of Renfrew. There are
4462 acres in Ayrshire, and 700 in Renfrewshire.

Topographically speaking, the parish is com-
posed of & number of small hills and ridges, rising
from 50 to 130 feet above their corresponding
hollows, though the highest point is calculated to
be above 560 feet above the level of the sea. Many
of the little hills present steep fronts of naked
rock, very picturesque and romantic. The prin-
cipal elevations are Braikenheuch, where, tradi-
tion says, one of the Cuninghames of Aiket was
killed by the Montgomeries, during the memorable
feud which existed between the families of Mont-
gomerie and Cuninghame. Braikenheuch is about
a mile and a half from Dunlop village. From its
summit one of the most interesting prospects is
obtained which can be found in the west of Scot-
land, embracing, as it does, an extensive view of
the parishes of Lochwinnoch, West Kilbride, Dal-
ry, Kilbirnie, Kilwinning, Stevenston, Irvine, &c.;
the Firth of Clyde, with the Islands of Arran,
Holy Isle, Plada, Ailsa, and the beautiful point

¢ Dunloppe Kirk, prettily
three small brookes.—PONT.

VOL. 1I1.

ted at ye fl of

of Troon. Far in the north towers the western
ridge of the Grampians— Benlomond, Benledi,
&c.; and towards the south, the eye rests on the
bold, rocky coast of Carrick. Dunlop, or more
properly, Boarland Hill, is a delightful round emi-
nence, a little to the west of the village of Dunlop.
Barr Hill is a pleasant eminence in the barony of
Aiket. Knockmade Hill is the most elevated
ground in the parish. It is on the estate of Col.
Mure of Caldwell. There are several other no-
table eminences, such as Craignaught Hill and the
Chapel Craigs—the whole presenting a series of
delightful green hills, with fertile vales lying be-
tween, the haunt, no doubt, of numerous fairies,
in the days of superstition.

Dunlop parish, as might be expected from its
undulating surface, is well watered—having nu-
merous springs and rivulets. The principal stream
is that of the Lugton, which rises out of Lochlibo,*
in Renﬁ'ewshue, and joins the Garnock near Kil-
winning, after coursing through the parish about
fifteen miles. Corsehill Burn divides the parish
from Stewartoun, while the Glazert intersects the
centre of it, falling at length into the Annick, a
tributary of the Irvine. Formerly there was a
lake in the parish, called Halket Loch, covering
about ten acres of land. It was drained, however,
some timé since, at the joint expense of the sur-
rounding proprietors, and now forms an excellent
meadow. Previous to this, the crops in the vici-
nity were much subject to mildew. Except on
the larger estates, where plantations have been
cultivated with considerable care, the parish is
deficient in shelter, and has a bare aspect. It is
also behind in agricultural improvement—the at-
tention of the inhabitants having for a long time

‘been chiefly directed to the dairy, which is carried

# Anciently ‘Loch le Bog Syde,’ so called in a charter
by Robert IT. to Hew de Eglintoun (from 1371 to 1390).
1t signified the Bogside Loch. In process of time it came
to be changed to Lochleboch, or Lochlevoch termed in
the conveyance of the Duke of Hamilton to Mure of Cald-
well, in 1754. It is now generally termed Lochlibo.

F
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on to great perfection, especially in the making of
cheese. Dunlop cheese is universally celebrated.
This description of cheese—made with sweet milk,
in place of skimmed, as was generally the practice
—is said to have originated with Barbara Gil-
mour, who had, with many others, been driven
into exile in Ireland, during the troubles in the
reign of Charles II. It has been affirmed that
she derived the idea of employing the whole milk
from the Irish; but this seems extremely doubtful,
seeing that the Irish do not understand cheese-
making at the present day.* Of late, consi-
derable progress has been made in draining on
the larger estates, particularly that of Dunlop;
and altogether the climate is more salubrious now
than it used to be, although the district has all
along been considered one of the most healthy in
the west of Scotland, if the longevity of the inha-
bitants is to be regarded as a test of purity. There
is a limestone quarry on the farm of Laigh Games-
hill, and the parish is well intersected with roads,
by which the lime, burnt or unburnt, can be easily
conveyed to wherever it may be required. The
turnpike from Paisley to Kilmarnock runs through
it, but none of the railways intersect it.

HISTORY, CIVIL AND ECCLESIASTICAL.

The lands of Dunlop appear to have been held
under the De Morvilles, who possessed all Cun-
inghame, by a powerful family of the name of Ross.
Timothy Pont says,—** Boirland over and nether
ar ye possesions of the Earl of Cassilles. Heir of
old duelt Gothred de Ross, a famous and potent
nobleman, of grate reputatione, quho, having his
residence heir, enjoyed ample possessions abrode
in ye countrey, and ves for ye tyme shriffe of Aire,
his jurisdictione then extending over Carrick, Cun-
ninghame and Kyill, of quhom, in the minority
of David ye TI., our annals remembreth thus:
Ac juvante conatus corum Gotofride Rossio pre-
fecto juridico Aerensi, breui totam Carrictam, Coil-
am et Cuninghamiam, in suas partes traxcrunt.”
As a proof that there had been a castle on Boar-
land, or Dunlop Hill, the residence, we may pre-
sume, of Gothred de Ross, the foundation of a
ruin was removed some years ago by a late pro-

* The Rev. Thomas Brisbane, who wrote the Statistical
Aoccount of the parish, in 1796, is believed to have been
the originator of this stat. Ayrshire has been cele-
brated from an early period for its dairy produce. Bishop
Leslie, in his “ De Origine Moribus ¢t Rebus Gestis Scoto-
rum Libri Decem,” &oc., written before 1578, speaks of
Ayrshire as producing the * best cheese,” and plenty of but-
ter; also bees and bee-skeps, not a few—aits, barley, &c.
In the same work he tells us, that that portion of Stirling-
shire lying towards the west, was rcnowned for the best
cheese.

prietor. A diligent observer may yet perceive
the traces of the ruin. On the east side of the
hill there are the remains of a deep trench, cut
from the top, in a straight line, half way down its
gide. In the charter chest of the burgh of Irvine
there is a notarial copy of an inquiry made in 1260,
respecting some lands in litigation between Dom.
Godfrey de Ross and that burgh. The Rosses
seem to have taken part with the Baliol faction in
the struggle for the Scottish crown, and their
possessions of course became forfeited. There is
a charter, for example, by Robert I. to Robert
Boyd, of the lands of Kilmarnock, Bondingtoun,
Hertschaw, &c., * que fuerunt Johannis de Bal-
liolo, Godfridi de Ross, filii quondam Reginaldi
de Ross, Willielmi de Mora, et Roberti de Ross.™
In the subsequent reign of David II. the Rosses
were still farther reduced by forfeitures. William
Murray, son to Maurice Murray, had a charter
from that monarch, of lands within the barony of
Stonehouse, by ‘¢ the forfaultrie of Godfred Ross.”
The parish is now divided into a great many
small proprietorships. So early as 1640, accord-
ing to a manuscript valuation among the Dunlop
papers, there were no fewer than thirty-three
heritors.

There are no very notable historical events con-
nected with the parish of Dunlop. Craignaught
Hill was the scene of the sanguinary feudal conflict
between the Stewarts and Boyds, as related in the
introductory sketch (vol. i) to this work. The
ground where the battle took place is a romantic
spot, near Neilstoun (parish of Dunlop) in Ren-
frewshire.

Chalmers says,—** The church of Dunlop be-
longed, in former ages, to the monastery of Kil-
winning. The monks enjoyed the rectorial reve-
nues, and a vicarage was established for serving
the cure. In Bagimont’s Roll, as it stood in the
reign of James V., the vicarage of Dunlop, in the
deanry of Cuninghame, was taxed £5, 6s. 8d.,
being a tenth of the estimated value, At the
Reformation, this vicarage was held by Mr John
Houston; and the whele profits of his benefice
was leased to William Cuningbame of Aiket, for
payment of £78 yearly. At the same epoch, the
rectorial tithes of the church of Dunlop produced
to the monks of Kilwinning only £40 a-year, hav-
ing been lcased by them for that sum. Of the
lands which belonged to the church of Dunlop, a
part, consisting of two merk lands of the ancient
extent, was appropriated to the vicarage, and the
remainder was enjoyed by the monks of Kilwin-
ning. The whole passed into lay hands after the
Reformation. In 1566, the church lands of the
vicar of Dunlop were granted, in fee-firm, to Wil-
liam Cuninghame of Aiket, by Mr John Houston,
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the then vicar of Dunlop, with consent of Gavin
Hamilton, the commendator of Kilwinning, the
patron of the said vicarage. The vicar reserved,
however, to himself and his successors, the manse,
gatden, and an acre of land, adjacent to the manse.
The lands thus granted, being two merk lands of
the ancient extent, continued with the family of
Cuninghame of Aiket. At the end of the seven-
teenth century, the rectorial church lands of Dun-
lop appear to have been acquired by the Earl of
Eglintoun. In 1608, the patronage and tithes of
the church of Dunlop were granted to Hugh Earl
of Eglintoun, with many other churches that be-
longed to the monks of Kilwinning. After that
date, the family of Dunlop of Dunlop appears to
have claimed a right to the patronage of the church
of Dunlop. The patronage was, however, held
by the Earl of Eglintoun at the Restoration, and it
has gince continued with that family. The parish
church of Dunlop was rebuilt about the year 1765.
It stands at the village of Dunlop.” This build-
ing having become too small for the population,
a new church was built by the heritors in 1835.
The manse was built in 1781; but a considerable
addition was made to it in 1814.

It is not known at what time Dunlop was erect-
ed into a parochial charge. The earliest notice of
it occurs in the chartulary of Paisley, from which
it appears, that in 1265, ‘* John de Reston” was
perpetual vicar of the parish church of Dunlop.
In 1505, Sir Andrew Marshall, the vicar of Dun-
lop, was chamberlain to the archbishop, and one
of the vicars-general of the archbishoprick. John
Major, or Mair, the instructor of Knox, appears
from the old register, entitled, ‘* Annales Univer-
sitatis Glasguensis,” to have been vicar of Dunlop
from 1518 till 1528.

In 1540, Alexander, the abbot of Kilwinning,
granted to the Court of Session a pension of £28
yearly from the vicarage of Dunlop. This pen-
sion was formerly granted from the vicarage of
Kilbirnie, but was now given from the vicarage of
Dunlop, because it was of greater value.

Hans Hamilton, son of Hamilton of Raploch,
appears to have been the first Protestant minister
of this parish, having entered on the charge in
1563. In the * Register of ministers, exhorters,
and readers, and of their stipends after the pe-
riod of the Reformation,” published by the Mait-
land Club, there is the following entry with re-
gard to Dunlop: * John Hamilton, vicar and ex-
horter, the thryd of the vicarage, extending to
xxvi li., providing he wait on his charge betym,
1567.” As there can be no doubt that this was
the same person, it is presumed that Hans, or
Hanis Hamilton, the name by which he is usually
designated, was a corruption of the Latin, Jo-

hannis.* Hans Hamilton was succeeded in the
charge by Hew Eglintoun, who died in 1647. As
the records of Presbytery, during the time of his
incumbency, are lost, little is known about him.
From an incidental notice in the record of the
Presbytery's proceedings at a subsequent period,
it appears that be was under process at the time
of his death, but the cause of the process is not
specified.t In 1648, one year after the death of

* James Hamilton, Viscount Clandeboyes, was the el.
dest son of Hans Hamilton, vicar of Dunlop. He was sent
to Ireland by James VI. in the year 1587, along with
Junes Fullerton, to keep up a correspondence with the

st of that kingdom, and i intelligence
ﬁom time to time as to the designs of the Irish in the
event of Queen Elizabeth’s death. The better to conceal
their design, they opened a school in Dublin for the educa-
tion of Protestant youths. After teaching privately for
several years, they were appointed to fellowships in Trinity
College, then newly founded, and by their talents contri-
buted much to establish the high character which it soon
acquired. After the accession of James to the throne of
England, James Hamilton, who had discharged his mission
to the satisfaction of the king, was rewarded by extensive
grants of forfeited lands in the county of Down and else-
where; and after being employed in several important ser-
vioes, was at length, in 1622, elevated to the peerage, by
the title of Viscount Clandeboyes and Baron Hamilton.
This title became extinct on the death of his grandsom,
Henry Earl of Clanbrassil. Lord Clandeboyes' five bro-
thers having followed him to Ireland, shared his good for-
tune. Their numerous descendants, the Hamiltons of Down,
Arnugh. Dublin, and Cn.rlow. with their various collateral
b are etill p d of great wealth and influence.
From them are descended the noble families of Clanbrassil,
Roden, Massareene, and Dufferin. The first of these hav-
ing become extinct through the failure of heirs in the eldest
branch of Hans Hamilton’s family, was granted to one of
the d dants of a younger son, but has again become
extinct. Archibald Hamilton Rowan, 80 well known from
his connection with the Irish rebellion, was the lineal
desoendant of Hans Hamilton’s second som, Archibald.—
STATISTICAL ACCOUNT.

In the east corner of the churchylrd of Dunlop, there is
a tomb d by the Vi t Clandeboyes in y
his father. On a flagstone on the floor is the following in-
seription: * Heir lyis Hanis Hamiltoun, vicar of Dunlop,
quha deceist ye 30 of Mail 1608, ye aige of 72 zeirs, and
Janet Denham, his spous.” Under a marble arch, with two
marble pillars of the composite order, in front, are two
statues kneeling on a marble t, in the de of
devotion, and habited according to the fashion of the times,
In the wall is a marble slab, having an inscription, stating
that Hanis Hamiltoune was the son of Archibald Hamil-
toune of Raploch; his wife a daughter of James Denham
of West Shields; that they lived together forty-five years,
during which period he served the cure at this (Dunlop)
church—offspring, six sons and one daughter. His daugh-
ter, Jean Hamiltoune, married to Wm. Muir of Glander-
stone. KErected by their son, James, the first Viscount
Clandebois, of the kingdom of Ireland.

t+ The following is an extract from his testament: “ At
the parosche kirk of Dunlope, the d day of D ber
1646 zeirs. The qnhilk d:y Mr Hew Eglintone, minister
at Dunl tituts MAREONE HAMIL-
TONE, his spous, his onlie execntrlx and universall intro-
mitrix with his haill guidis, &c. Item, first of all, he
lieves, assignes, &c., to the said Mareone, his spous, the
sowme of ane thousgnd merks money, &c. Quhilk sowme
of ane thousand merks he ordaines to be in compensatione,
&c., to hir of the said thousand merks money quhilk I and
my airs ar obleissit to pay to hir at my deceis, &c., conforme
to his band grantit to hir thairupone, of the dait the xxvi.
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Hew Eglintoun, Gabriel Cuninghame was settled.
He was ejected in 1663, and restored again by
the indulgence of 1672, when Mr William Mein
was associated with him in the charge of the pa-
rish. After this he seems to have fallen under the
suspicion and displeasure of the government ; for
on the 2d of April, 1683, he was indicted, along
with some others, * for aiding, assisting, and cor-
responding with Mr John Cuninghawe, late of
Bedlane, a notorious traitor.” Failing to appear,
‘ he was denounced and put to the horn, and his
moveable goods ordered to be escheat and brought
into his majesty’s use, as an outlaw and a fagitive.”
He is mentioned by Wodrow as having lived till
after the Revolution; but whether he was restored
to his charge before that period does not appear.®
He seems to have been a person of considerable
eminence, and to have taken a prominent part in
the deliberations of the Presbyterian ministers in
those distracted times.

The following is a list of the ministers since the
Revolution:

John Jameson, ordained 21st September 1692,
died 1706.1

James Rowat, ordained May, 1707: translated
to Jedburgh September, 1732.1

Robert Baird, ordained 28th March, 1734, died
27th March, 1756.

James Wodrow, D.D., ordained 1st September,
1757; translated to Stevenston, October, 1759.

John Fullarton, ordained 25th September, 1760;
translated to Dalry, 16th March, 1762.

John Graham, ordained 12th May, 1768 ; trans-
lated to Kirkinner, 30th June, 1779.§

day of Janueril 1636 zeiris: and the haill rest of my free
guids I lieve, &c., equallie betwixt John, Jeane, and Elspet
Eglintones, my bairns,” &c. [Magister Hugo Eglintoun,
minister at Dunlop, had a retour, 26th July, 1634, as heir
to Archibald Eglintoun, his father, in the lands of the vicar
of Mernis, in the parish of Mernis. He had a son, Hew, a
merchant in Glasgow, who died while a young man, in
1649.)

¢ He seems to have been restored to his charge. “Mr
Gabriel Cuninghame, minister of Dunlop,” gives a discharge
to the laird of Craigends for £120 Scots, January 21, 1690.
He died in 1693, as app from a d t signed by
William Cunynghame of Ashinyeards, executor dative of
vmgle. Mr Gabricl Cunynghame, minister at Dunlop, dated
22d July, 1692,

t This John Jameson was a poet of no small pretensions.
Some fragments of his poems exist in MS.

3 Mr James Rowat, minister at Dunlop, marrfed Agnes,
daughter of Jamee Muir of Roddans, or Rhoddens, son of
Willlam Muir of Glanderstoun. A son of Mr Rowat was
Professor of Church History in Glasgow College from 1752
to 1762.

§ His great hobby was farming, and he had some ground
leased on which he built a small round tower in which he
might study his sermons, while overlooking the farming
operations! The small tower is still standing, and is called
by the people “ The Folly.* He became very unpopular
with his flock.

Thomas Brisbane, ordained 27th April, 1780,
died May, 1837.*

Matthew Dickie, admitted from Limerick, 8th
May, 1834, assistant and successor. He left the
church at the late disruption.

William Gebbie is the present incumbent.

The parochial registers do not go farther back
than 1700, and were very irregularly kept until
about 1780.

The school-house at Dunlop was built in 1641,
as appears from the following inscription over the
door:

¢ 1641.
¢ This school is erected and endowed by James,
Viscount Clandeboyes, in love to his parish, im
which his father, Hans Hamilton, was pastor 45
years, in King James the Sixt his raigne.

“ JeLVv."

“ Tt is still in pretty good repair; but though
it affords to the schoolmaster what may be called
legal accommodation, it does not afford such ac-
commodation as a well-qualified teacher ought to
have. If, as the inscription intimates, the school
was ever endowed by Lord Claneboyes, all know-
ledge of the source whence the endowment was
derived is now lost.” t

ANTIQUITIES.

At a place called the Chapel Craigs, about half
a mile from the village of Dunlop, there existed
until lately the ruins of a chapel, which was de-
dicated to the Virgin Mary, and had an appro-
priate endowment for the support of a chaplain.
It is not known whether this was the parish church
before the Reformation, or a chapel distinet from
it. It stood upon a rock, on the side of a rivulet,
which was crossed by steps, called the lady’s steps
—which steps, however, have been superseded by
a bridge. A beautiful stream of water gushes

® Mr Brisbane had natural wit, and possessed much
shrewdness and common sense, but was very miserly. The
late celebrated Dr Fleming of Neilston used often to assist
Mr Brisb on tal i The Doctor, as is
well known in the west of Scotland, was a great advocate
of church accommodation. In the pulpit it was frequently
the Alpha and Omega of his discourses. Taking a walk
one Sabbath evening with Mr Brisbane, after having in-
dulged in his favourite theme in the church, he still com-
plained bitterly that he had not sufficient “ accommodation™
in his parish. Mr Brisbane, turning away from him, re-
joined him in a little, saying: * Saunders, I ha'e been mak-
ing an epitaph for you.” “ And what is it?” said the Doc-
tor. “I will let you hear it,"—repeating, with due em-
phasis, the following lines:
“ Here, underneath this stgne,
Is Dr Fleming’s station ;
Ance sairly scrimpt for room, but now
He's got acoommodation.”

t Statistical Account.
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from the rock. The existence of this chapel has
given name to a number of localities around. A
few hundred yards south-west of the site of the
chapel, on the gentle swell of the hill, is & Druidi-
cal stone, called the Thugart stane, supposed to
be a corruption of the grit stane. It appears at
one time or other to have been a rocking-stone.
The base is so covered with rubbish, that it has
now lost its vibratory motion. It lies on the farm
of Brandleside, and the tenant is bound in his
tack to protect it, by neither removing it, nor
cultivating the ground for a considerable number
of square yards around it. Above the site of the
chapel, a pathway was cut out of the solid rock,
leading to the top of the hill, where tradition says
there was a burying-place belonging to the cha-
pel. The pathway is nearly obliterated, a quarry
having been opened in the place a number of
years ago.

Until within these few years, two beautiful
small monuments stood on the top of Barr Hill,
in the barony of Aiket. They were well built,
the stones being firmly cemented with lime ; and
about twelve feet high. They were taken down,
in a spirit truly worthy of a vandal age, and the
stones applied to agricultural purposes. At the
foot of Barr Hill, on the right bank of the Glazert,
stands now, with only one exception, the most
ancient building in the parish—Aiket Castle. It
is a strong square tower, with a side of thirty feet:
it was originally four stories in height, but, in
modern times, has been reduced to three. An
addition has likewise been built to the east side.
The walls, at the base, are upwards of seven feet
thick. There was an inscription above the prin-
cipal entrance, but it has long ago been obliter-
ated. A tradition exists that the stones of the
building were quarried from the hill in its neigh-
bourhood, and conveyed thither by being handed
from one man to another. The castle stands on
a small rock overhanging the water of Glazert.
In ancient times it was surrounded with & moat.

TRADITIONS.

Like every inland rural parish in Ayrshire,
Dunlop has many traditions attached to certain
localities. Of course, the great enemy of mankind
has been seen in various shapes. Tam Giffen, the
reputed warlock; wandered much in this parish,
and many anecdotes are related of him of a mar-

vellous kind, which appear to have been believed
by the peasantry until within a late period. It
was believed that he frequented the midnight
meetings of ghosts, fairies, &c. On one occasion
he entered the farm-house of Gills, a little to the
west of the village. On being asked where he
had been the night previous, he replied, “I was
just at a meeting o’ witches, an’ we settled it yes-
treen, that the wee wean at the Grange is to dee
the nicht.” Which happened according to his
prediction.

Long ago, a noted cadger, who went under the
cognomen of ** Young Robin,” although his ** haf-
fets were lyart and gray,” saw several amazing
“gights.,” One night, returning home from Kil-
marnock on horseback, rather late, when the
moon was clear and bright, he was a little sur-
prised to find that he was riding in company with
a headless horseman, whose steed was likewise
minus the head. He spurred his weary stead to
its utmost speed, thinking, like Ichabod Crane,
to outrun his ‘eerie” company; but, strange to
say, he did not gain one inch on his rival. He
again reined in his steed, thinking the spectre
horseman would fly past him, but the strange
horseman likewise did the same. Wearied in
his efforts to get away from the unearthly eques-
trian, he hurried on towards the village, still in
company with the fiend, whose mysterious steed
galloped along without making the least noise
with his hoofs on the stony rond. When cross-
ing the bridge, the * headless horseman,” with
his steed, sprung high in the air and vanished
in a “flaucht o’ fire.” At another time he was
returning from Glasgow with a horse and cart.
On the road near the Camore, a lonely spot, there
was in a field a number of bushes close by the
roadside, where the fairies were reported to hold
‘“merry meetings.” It was far advanced in the
night ere he reached this ‘ haunted spot,” and
when he arrived, his ears were greeted with sweet
melody of a very enchanting kind. Looking round
he perceived a vast concourse of little people
dressed in green, his horse became frightened and
ran off, breaking the cart, which contained a bar-
rel of ale, which was stove, and all the ale lost;
so terrified was Young Robin that, for several
wecks afterwards, he durst not go to the door
when it was dark.*

* Young Robin’s apparitions were probably an invention
to monopolise the trade of cadging or merchandise in the
district.
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FAMILIES IN THE PARISH OF DUNLOP.

DUNLOP OF DUNLOP.

This family is of ancient origin, a8 are almost
all those whose patronymics are derived from lo-
cality, for there can be little doubt that the dis-
trict of Dunlop gave the name to the family. It
is impossible, however, to trace the line of suc-
cession accurately in the more early part of its
history. Several breaks occur, and in some in-
stances the links have to be supplied more by in-
duction than direct evidence. As we have seen,
the district of old belonged to the Rosses, whose
seat is supposed to have been the ancient strong-
hold of Boarland. It is a tradition, that the Dun-
lops were  servitours,” or vassals of this family.
Pont says—*‘ Dunlop, ane ancient strong house,
fortified with a deipe foussie of watter, and plant-
ed with goodly orchards. It is named Hunthall,
because, say they, the ancient possessor thereof
wes huntsman to Godofred Ross. The quhole
bounds and grounds heir about, and all Machar-
nock Moore, wes of old & mighte forrest.” The
castle, or strong house of Dunlop, stood on the
banks of a little rivulet callod Clerkland burn,
which divides the parish from Stewartoun. It is
unknown at what time the original square tower
was erected. One of the more modern additions
bore the date 1599. The site is now occupied by
the handsome modern mansion, built by the late
Sir John Dunlop, Bart., in 1834. The first to be
met with is,

I. Dou. GuLLiELMUS DE Dunror, who ap-
pears in a notarial copy of an inquest, in the char-
ter-chest of the burgh of Irvine, in 1260, in a
cause betwixt the burgh and Dom. Godfredus de
Ross. The next is,

II. Neil Fitz-Robert de Dulap,* who, in 1296,
appears in the Ragman Roll, and whom Nisbet con-
jectures to have been of Dunlop. The property,
shortly after this period, seems to have been alien-
ated from the Dunlops, probably, as has been
conjectured, on account of their having taken
part, along with their superiors, the Rosses, on
the side of Baliol, in the contest for the Scottish
crown. The link in the family chain is therefore
irremediably broken.

III. James Dunlop was in possession of Dunlop,
as appears from a valuation of the county of Ayr
of the fourteenth century. He was succeeded by,

® Delap, or Dulap, is the vernacular pronunciation in
the district at this day.

IV. John de Dunlop, who, in 1407, has a char-
ter from Hugh de Blare. The next in succession
probably was,

V. Alexander Dunlop of Hunthall,* whose
identity is ascertained by a transaction of his
grandson, as after stated. He is mentioned by
Rymer as of that Ik in the reign of James I.
He was possibly the son of the preceding, and
father of—

VI. John Dunlop of that Ilk.

VII. Constantine Dunlopt of that Ik is pre-
sumed to have been the son of the preceding. In
1483, he has a transaction respecting the entry of
the lands of Hunthall, that had been in arrear since
the time of his grandfather, Alexander Dunlop.

VIII. Alexander Dunlop of Dunlop, brother of
Constantine Dunlop, whose retour, as Dunlop of
that Ilk, is dated 1476, was succeeded by his son.
In 1489, he was appointed by Parliament—among
other Lords, or Barons, as they are termed—to
collect the bygone rents and casualties of the
Crown, in Stewarton and Kilmarnock, along with
Alexander Boyd, doubtless of the Kilmarnock
family, as we find him, soon after, permanently
established chamberlain of that family. He is
also mentioned as a member of an inquest on the
retour of Mathew, Earl of Lennox. Constantine
Dunlop died in 1505, leaving (with a daughter.
Janet, married to James Stuart, Sheriff of Bute,
great-grandson of King Robert II.) a son and
successor.

IX. John Dunlop of that Ik, whose infeftment
is not dated till 1507. This gentleman married
in 1492, Marion Douglas, and bad one son, Alex-
ander, and a daughter, who married Hugh Max-
well of Auldhouse. He died in 1509, and was
succeeded by his son,

X. Alexander Dunlop, who, in 1537, is in pos-
session of the lands of Hunthall, or Dunlop, and
of the presentation of the parish and patronage of
Dunlop Church. He married Ellen Cuninghame
of Glencairn. By a charter under the Great Seal,
in the reign of Queen Mary, and protectorship of
Arran, he settled his estate on his five sons In suc-
cession—James, William, Constantine, Robert,

* John, Earl of Buchan, had a charter of the lands of
Dunlop in 1413. This Alexander Dunlop was, therefore,
probably the first of the Danlops who re-acquired the pro-
perty.

t Constantine Dunlop of Hunthall, or Dunlop, is a wit-
ness to the infeftment of the Queen of James IV. in the

| lordship of Kilmarnock, in 1504.
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and Andrew. He died about the year 1549.
Margaret Dunlop, *of the family thereof,” who
was married to Archibald Lyon, a son of the fa-
mily of Glammis, in 1540, was probably a daugh-
ter of this laird of Dunlop. :

XI. James Dunlop, the eldest son, succeeded.
His retour is dated in the year 1549. He mar-
ried Isabel, daughter of Gavin Hamilton of Or-
bieston, and is said to have had two sons, James
and Allan. He was succeeded, however, by

XII. Alexander Dunlop of Dunlop, of whom
there appears to be no account in the family re-
cord. His existence, however, in 1558, is proved
beyond doubt by the Criminal Records.* He
was succeeded by his son or brother,

XIII. James Dunlop of Dunlop, in 1596. He
married Jean, daughter of Sommerville of Cam-
busnethan, by whom he left four sons:

1. James.

2. John, who purchased the lands of Garnkirk.

3. Thomas, who married Grizell, daughter of Cochrane
of that Ilk, and from this alliance are descended the
Dunlops of Househill.

4. Robert, to whom his father left the lands of Bloak.

e died in April, 1617, and was succeeded by
his eldest son,

XIV. James Dunlop of that Ilk, who married,
in 1614, Damne Margaret Ilamilton, widow of the
Bishop of Lismore, or Argyle, and daughter of
Gavin Hamilton, Bishop of Galloway. He and his
lady are mentioned in testamentary documents,
in 1615, 1616, and 1617, as younger of Dunlop.
His mother survived his father, as we find * Mar-
garet Hamilton, Lady Dunlop, zounger,” men-
tioned in anether testainentary document in 1618.1
He died in the month of May, 1634 ; the inven-
tory of his effects was made and given up * be
Mr Johnne Dunlope, brother-germane to the de-
fanct, lautfall creditor.”} Resisting the attempt
of Charles I. to introduce Episcopacy, the estate
of Dunlop had been made over to John of Garn-
kirk, for the purpose of security. This deed was
acted upon in 16383, when his brother took pos-
session, and in five years after made resignation
to his nephew,

XYV. James Dunlop, who obtained a charter,
under the Great Seal, of the lands of Dunlop.
He married Elizabeth Cuninghame, daughter of
Alexander Cuninghame of Corsehill, by whom he
had two sons and two daughters:

1. Alexander, his successor.
2. John.

* Bee vol. i. p. 66.

t Jeane Somervell, Ladie Dunlope, died in 1645, in which
year her testament is dated. Her son, Thomas Dunlop of
Househill, was her only executor.

$ John Dunlop, brother-german to the laird of Dunlop,
lent 1200 merks to Sir William Cochrane of Cowdoun, in
1639.

ll.{:an. married, in 1674, to William Ralston of that

2. Marion, married to David Montg of Lainsh
James Dunlop of Dunlop was & warm supporter
of the Presbyterian cause, and suffered both by
imprisonment and fines accordingly. About 1667,
when the Pentland Hill rising took place, he made
over a considerable part of his lands to the Earl
of Dundonald, probably as a measure of safety
against forfeiture. He was amongst the number
of Ayrshire lairds, who, according to Wodrow,
were imprisoned in 1665, and not liberated till
1667, and then only in consequence of granting a
bond to keep the peace, under a heavy penalty ;
his penalty, in particular, being rated at 12,000
merks. He was succeeded by his son,

XVI. Alexander Dunlop. He does not appear
ever to have obtained possession of the property
made over to the Earl of Dundonald. He suf-
ferred severely in the public cause. Wodrow
mentions that he was imprisoned on the 30th
July, 1683, on suspicion of being concerned with
the Bothwell Brig Covenanters, and was compel-
led to give up a part of his estate, besides a bond
for £12,000 Scots to appcar in November fol-
lowing. He was indicted anew in April, 1684,
when he made over to his son, John, the lands
which had been settled upon him on his marriage.
He emigrated soon after to America, and was ap-
pointed, 1685, Sheriff of South Carolina. He
married, in 1667, Antonia Browyn, daughter of Sir
John Brown of Fordel,* by whom he obtained
the lands of Rossie, which he sold in 1669. On
his marriage, his father made over to him the
valuable possessions of Muirshields, Over and
Nether Oldhalls, Galloherries, and the barony of
Peacockbank.

XVII. John Dunlop, his son, succeeded to Dun-
lop. In 1684, he got a disposition to the lands
that had been settled on his father, Alexander;
and, in 1685, the Earl of Dundonald resigned to
him those lands of which he got a conveyance from
his grandfather, James; and, in 1687, he had an
adjudication against his said grandfather, by
which he got possession of all his estates. In
1688, he had part of them erected into a frec
barony, by the name of the barony of Dunlop.
He does not appear ever to have been married,
and dying in 1706, was succeeded by his bro-
ther,

XVIII. Francis Dunlop of Dunlop. He was
among the gentlemen called upon, at the Union
in 1707, to witness the deposition of the Scottish

ey

* Sir John Brown died of a fever at Leith, being & pri-
soner, September, 1652.—BALF. ANNALS. In the year
1825, his portrait remained in the dining-room of Row-
allan House, his widow, Dame Mary Scott, having married
the laird of Rowallan.
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regalia in the Castle of Edinburgh.* In 1715,
he took an active part against the Chevalier, and
was Lieutenant-Colonel, under the Earl of Kil-
marnock, of a regiment of fencible cavalry then
raised. He wmarried, first, Susan, daughter and
sole heiress of John Leckie of Newlands, by whom
he had,

1. John; of whom afterwards.

2. Hugh, who died a student at Glasgow College, in his
17th year.

3. Alexander, Major of the Enniskillens, which he com-
manded in the unfortunate expedition to Carthagensg,
in 1741; and died on his return to Britain, unmarried.

1. Antonis, married to Sir Thomas Wallace, Bart. of
Craigie, but died without issue.

Secondly, he married a daughter of Sir —— Kin-
loch of Gilmerton, and widow of Charles Camp-
bell, by whom he had two daughters.

1. Frances, died unmarried.

2. Magdalene, married to Rubert Dunlop, R.N., and had
two children.

He died in 1748, and was succeeded by his son,

XIX. John Dunlop of Dunlop,} who on the re-

signation of his father, Francis, in 1748, was infeft
in the estate. In 1745 he was deputed by the
gentlemen of Ayrshire, together with Sir Thomas
Wallace of Craigie, to offer the assistance of the
county to the Duke of Cumberland. He married
Frances Ann, last surviving daughter of Sir Tho-
mas Wallace of Craigie, Bart. (by his first wife,
a daughter of Colonel Agnew of Lochryan), by
whom he had seven sons and six daughters:

1. Francis, died young.

2. 8ir Thomas, who succeeded to the eetate of his mater-
nal grandfather, and took the name of Wallace of
Craigie.

8. Alexander, died young.

4. Andrew, who died unmarried, in 1804. This gentle-
man served in the first American war, and attained
the rank of Major. He afterwards raised a regiment
of horse, called the Ayrshire Fencible Cavalry, which
he commanded until its reduction in 1800.

5. James, of whom presently.

6. John was in the army, but early retired on half-pay;
married his cousin, Frances Magdalene, as above, by
whom he had seven sons and four daughters; and died
in 1831, leaving issue—

1. John Andrew Wallace, a member of Council at
Bombay, who married Elizabeth, daughter of Dr
Sandwith, E.I1.C.8.,, by his wife, Jane Bamien
Boye of Gaften in Sweden, who died in 1843,
leaving issue, Robert Henry, of the Beng:l Civil
Bervice, born in 1823; Madeline Anne, Elizabeth
Joanna Emily, and Rosalind Harrlet Maria.

* He was the youngest of five brothers. There were
also two sisters. Of the other four brothers nothing is
known, but that one of them went out in the unfortunate
expedition to Darien, and was never more heard of. The
eldest sister, Margaret, was married to William Fullarton
of Fullarton, being his third wife, without issue, and whom
she survived. She was married, sccondly, to Sir Robert
Denham, Bart., and left two sons. The youngest was mar-
ried to an English gentleman of the name of Brewster,
who was forfeited in the “ill times.” She likewise left two
sons. These four boys, losing their parents in infancy,
were educated at Dunlop with Francis Dunlop's own sons.

t John Dunlop, younger of that Ilk, was admitted a
burgess of Ayr in 1738.

7. Anthony entered the navy early in life. He married
Ann, daughter of Alexander Cuninghame, Esq., bro-
ther of Sir William Cuninghame of Robertland, by
whom he had four sons and three daughters.

Frances, the third daughter, was married to Robert
Vans Agnew, Esq. of Barnbarrow, and had five sons
and four daughters.

Rachel, the fourth, married to Robert Glasgow of Mount-

greenan.

XX. James Dunlop, the fifth son, succeeded, in
1784, on his father's resignation, to the estate of
Dunlop, his only remaining elder brother, Sir Tho-
mas, the second son, having succeeded to the estate
of Craigie. He served in the American war, during
which he attained the rank of Major. In 1787 he
proceeded to India as Captain in the 79th regi-
ment, where he remained thirteen years, and
commanded one of the assaulting columns at the
storming of Seringapatam, where he was severely
wounded. He returned soon afterwards to Eng-
land, and served at home. In 1810, having attain-
ed the rank of Major-General, he was appointed
to the command of a brigade in the fifth division
of Lord Wellington's army, and he remained at
the head of that division during the campaign of
1811. In 1812, General Dunlop was elected
Member for the Stewartry of Kirkcudbright, as
he also was in the two ensuing Parliaments. He
married, in 1802, Julia, daughter of Hugh Baillie,
Esq., a younger son of Baillie of Monckton, and
had issue—

1. John, his heir. -

2. Hugh, Lieutenant R.N., married, in 1831, Ellen Cle-
mentina, only daughter of Robert Cockburn, Esq.

8. Andrew Robert, died in 1831.

1. Anna, married in 1824, to Francis John Davics, Eaq.,
Captain in the Grenadier Guards; and Wied in 1825.
2. Frances, married in 1838, to Alexander E. Monteith,

Esq., Sheriff of Fifeshire.

General Dunlop died in 1832 and was succeeded
by his son,

XXI. John Dunlop of Dunlop, born in 1806—
an officer in the Grenadier Guards; who married,
first, in 1829, Charlotte Constance, daughter of
General Sir Richard Downs Jackson, K.C.B., and
by that lady had issuc—

1. James, his heir.
2. Charlotte Constance.

He married, secondly, 29th December 1835, Har-
riet Primrose, cldest daughter of the Earl of Rose-
berry. Sir John, who represented the county in
Parliament, was created a Baronet in 1838. He
died 3d April, 1839, and was succeeded by his
son,

XXITI. James Dunlop of Dunlop, the present
Baronet.

Arms—Quarterly: 1st and 4th, argent; 2d and
3d, quarterly; 1st and 4th, gules, a lion, rampant,
argent; 2d and 3d, gules, a fesse, chequy, argent
and azure: an eagle with two heads displayed,
gules,
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Crest.—A. dagger in a dexter hand, and all

proper. ]
Motto.—Merito.

CUNINGHAMES OF AIKET.

The Cuninghames of the *two merk, six shil-
ling and eight pennie land of auld extent of Aiket-
over, exclusive of Auldhall,” were descended of
Bedland, who were cadets of Glencairn.

I ALEXANDER CUNYNGHAME got ‘a grant of
 Owr-Aitkead ” from James ITIL. or 1V., which
lands had fallen to the Crown by recognition, in
consequence of the heiress, Elizabeth Cunyng-
hame of Bedland, having disposed of them to
John, Lord Hay of Yester, without the superior’s
consent. Alexander Cunynghame married Jean
Kennedie, sister of the first Earl of Cassillis. His
name occurs in the Acts of the Lord’s Auditors,
date 16th October, 1479.*

II. Robert Cuninghame of Aiket married
Helen, daughter of Caldwell of that Ilk. He is
witness to a charter of Hunter of Hunterstoun,
in 1535.1

.III. William Cuninghame married Helen,
daughter of Colquhoun of Luss. He and his fa-
mily were guilty of the slaughter of Sir John Muir
of Caldwell, in 1570. His wife, Helen Colquhoun,
was accused before the Justice-Depute, of ad-
ministering poison to him in October, 1577, but
she did not appear.

IV. John Cuninghame of Aiket married Helen
Barclay, a daughter of the laird of Carfin. Issue :

1. Alexander, his successor.
2. llV:mllam. concerned in the murder of Lord Eglintoun,
1586.
3. Margaret, wife of the Laird of Langshaw. She be-
trayed Lord Eglintoun in 1586.
4.hli{lutilda. married to Cuthbert Cuninghame of Cors-

V. Alexander Cuninghame of Aiket was one
of the accomplices in the murder of Hugh, Earl
of Eglintoun, on the 19th April, 1586. He was
shot by the Montgomeries § near his own house.

® Millar's Genealogical Notes.

+ The Abbot of Kilwinning set in tack to Aiket, his helrs,
&c., the parsonage and vicarage teinds of Dunlop for four
lifetimes and five nineteen years. See a case as to the
validity of a sub-tack granted in 1655, by Hugh Lord Mont-
gomerie to Muir of Caldwell, in prejudice of this long tack.
—MORRISON'S DECISIONS.

t Pitcairn’s Criminal Trigls.

§ Robert, Master of Eglintoun, obtained a commission by
the ¢ Secret Counsall,” ratified by act of Parliament, to ex-
pel the denounced rebels from the Places of Robertland
and Aiket, to put in six men in the former, and four in the
lutter house, at the rate of £6 per man per month, to be
recovered from the readiest sums that could be raised on
these respective estates. Thus it continued till another
decreet of the Secret Counsall was obtained by the Cun-
inghames, 25th March, 1591, and ratified by Parliament,

VOL. II.

He married Dorothea Ross, and had issue : —

1. James Conynghame.

3. Maister Alexander, who died about 1644, without

issue.

VI. James Cunynghame of Aiket occurs in the
Commissary Records of Glasgow, 1607, 18, 15,
20, 28. ‘‘ Jacobus Cunninghame, laird of Aiket,”
was admitted a burgess of Ayrin 1625. William
Cunynghame, Tutor of Aiket, is mentioned in the
testament of John Lockhart of Bar, 1614. On
the 6th September, 1601, he is served as heir to
Alexander, his father, in the 83s. 4d. land of Bus-
toun, in Kilmaurs, but he does not appear to have
made up any title to Aiket.

VII. William Cunynghame of Aiket, who is
retoured heir to his great-grandfather’s father,
William Cuninghame of Aiket, 21st March, 1644,
He had another retour of the same date, as heir of
his father. He married Anna, only daughter of
Thomas Inglis of Corsflat, town-clerk of the burgh
of Paisley, by whom he obtained a considerable
fortune. Her father, by his testament, 27th April,
1625, appointed Mr Fullarton, minister of Beith,
as one of her trustees. He had expressed a wish
that his daughter should be married to Montgo-
merie of Hesilhead, her kinsman, but her fate was
otherwise. Aiket was of dissipated habits, and
used his lady in a brutal manner. The following
notice of her circumstances occurs in Baillie’s let-
ters, 20th August, 1641 :—

¢ Friday, 6th.—A world of Bills came to be
referred to the Parliament: Among the rest,
Anna Inglis complaining that her husband, young
Aiket Cunynghame, having reccived 40,000 merks
tocher with her, had deserted her after frequent
tormenting of her with strokes and hunger, he
debauching all with harlots in Paisley. We sent
two with this bill to the Parliament to get present
order. The justice of God was in this matter. The
damsel’s father had left her to be married to Mr
Hugh Montgomerie of Hesilheid, his wife's near
cousin. After, his (widow) falls in conceit with
Allan Lockhart, and gives herself to him, and by

5th June, 1592, whereby the laird of Robertland was re-
ceived into the number of his Majesty's subjects, and re-
stored to his Place and lands; but ordering him to give a
full discharge to the Master of Eglintoun for his intromis-
sions. The same favour was, at the same time, extended
to the wife of Alexander Cuninghame, styled Dorothea Roes,
Lady Aiket, who complained bitterly of “the destruction
of the policie of the place of Aiket, housis, yairdis, orch-
eardis, and growand tries, sua that the samyn has been
rwinous and laid waist, but door, windo, lok, ruf, or but
ony repair, and the dewties prescrivit, rigourouslie exacted,
to the grit wrack of the puir tenantis, quha ar not addetit
in sa mekle mail as is extortionat be thame.” Her lady-
ship, however, had also to grant a discharge to the Master
of Eglintoun for his intromissi and to b bound,
under a penalty of 5000 marks, to reset neither her hus-

‘band nor any other person concerned in the above murder

while they lay under a process for it.
G
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his persuasion, makes her daughter, when scarce
twelve years of age, without proclamation, to be
married to his cousin, Aiket. For her reward,
her husband, Allan, leaves her to pay 10,000
merks of his debt, which made her & poor vexed
widow.”

This was followed by an action of reduction,
which Anna Inglis brought with the view of set-
ting aside her contract of marriage with her hus-
band, on the plea of minority and lesion.* He
refused his concurrence; but the court found it
competent for her to carry on the action in her
own name, as the husband was the party to de-
fend—S8th July, 1642.+ He had a retour, 30th
May, 1640, in 2 merk 6s. 8d. land of Over-Aiket,
a8 heir of William Cuninghame of Aiket, his
grandfather.

VII. James Cunynghame of Aiket married
Euphan, daughter of William Russel, minister of
Kilbirnie. He feued the 18s. 4d. land of ** Ned-
der Auldhall,” called Collennan Auldhall, to John
Neilson, eldest son of Archibald Neilson of Auld-
hall, Collennan, 11th September, 1660.

IX. James Cunynghame of Aiket, who, in his
service as heir to his father, James, 29th July,
1695, is designed Captain. He commanded a
company in the Earl of Glencairn's regiment at the
Revolution, which he exerted himself in raising.
He was an active promoter of the Scots Darien
Expedition, in the records of which he is designed
Major James Cuninghame of Aiket. He went
along with the expedition, having been appointed
to the chief command; but he is understood to
have proven somewhat restive, and speedily re-
turned to Scotland, leaving the colony to its fate.
He petitioned the Scots Parliament, 23d August,
1704, for compensation for alleged losses sustained
in consequence; stating that he had been em-
ployed by the Company trading to Africa; that
be went as a counsellor, along with the first ships
to Caledonia; and that, besides neglecting his
own private fortune, there were due him of ar-
rears £145, 12s. sterling, and £270 sterling for
the support of his company in the Earl of Glen-
cairn's regiment, which he had defrayed from his
own estate. In 1705 he was allowed so much
of his claim out of the Poll Tax, imposed for the
support of the army, the remainder to be paid
when the whole tax was collected. Major Cun-
inghame distinguished himself by his opposition
to the Union, in 1707. He married Dorothea
M‘Adam, daughter to the laird of Waterhead,
and had issue. His affairs becoming embar-
rassed, he was obliged to part with the estate.

What became of his family is unknown. Robert-
son mentions that two ladies who had lived in
Ayr some years before he wrote, were said to be
the last of the family of Aiket. There wasa pro-
cess before the Presbytery of Ayr, 22d April,
1730, against Alexander Cuninghame of Aikkead,
and his wife, Anna Crawfurd, daughter of the
laird of Kerse, for irregular marriage. This was,
in all likelihood, the son of the preceding James
Cuninghame of Aiket,

DUNLOPS OF HAPLAND, SUBSEQUENTLY OF
BOARLAND.

Alexantler Dunlop of that Ilk, who died about
1549, settled his estate of Dunlop, or Hunthall,

on his five sons in succession, viz.:

1. James Dunlop, who succeeded to the lands of Hunt-
hall, or Dunlop.

2. William Dunlop.

3. Constantine Dunlop.

4. Robert Dunlop; of whom afterwards.

5. Andrew Dunlop.

I. RoBERT DUNLOP, fourth son of Alexander
Dunlop of that Ilk. He was designed of Hapland,*
and is mentioned by that designation as a debtor
in the testament of Thome Lauchlan, whose set-
tlement was written out by Alexander Lumsdane,
curatour, in 1551. He must have had a large
offspring :

1. Adam Dunlop; of whom afterwards.

2. A son; of whom afterwards.

1. A daughter, who was married to John Maxwell of
Auldhouse, whose progeny by this marriage sucoeeded
to the lands of Nether Pollok or Pollick.t

II. Adam Dunlop of Hapland. He died in or
before 1578, without male issue; for his nephew
succeeded to the estate.

TII. Jobn Dunlop was retoured, January 26,
1578, as heir-male or of entail—hsres mascules sive
tallie—of Adam Dunlop, his uncle, in the 6 merk
land of Hapland in property and tenendry, of auld
extent, in the parish of Dunlop. Johnne Dunlop

#* There is a Gilbert Dunlop mentioned in & remission
to Cuthbert Lord Kilmarnock, in 1498.

t This John Maxwell of Auldhouse acquired * Melkle
Glanderstoun,” &c., in 1558. He had confirmations, in
1572, of two charters from the Abbot of Paisley, dated in
15662. He was alive in 1678. Succeeded, John, his father,
in 1546.

1. George Maxwell of Auldhouse, minister at * Mernes,”
(Mearns) was a witness in the will of Gabriel Maxwell,
minister at Inchinan, April 1621. He died in November,
1648. He married Janet, daughter of John Millar of New-
ton (by Geils, daughter of Pollick of that Ilk); by whom
he had, 1. John, his successor. Married, secondly, Jean,
daughter of Willam Muir of Glanderstoun; by whom he
had, 2. William, ancestor of the Maxwells of Springkell,
B ts. He married, thirdly, Janet Douglas, daughter of

Issue—

* Les-age, or non-age, or lesion, a term in Scots law.
t Morrison’s Decisions.

the laird of Watersyde; by whom he had, 3. Hugh Max-
well, who married Marion, heiress of Maxwell of Dal-
swinton.




PARISH OF DUNLOP.

51

of Hapland was one of the assize between the fa~
milies of Hessilheid (Beith parish) and Scotstoun,
1st December, 1576.*

IV. David Dunlop * niffered” or excambied
with Patrick Cunningham t the lands of Hapland
for the lands of Boarland, before 1597, in which
year Patrick Cuninghame is mentioned in a testa-
mentary document a8 now  laird of Hapland.”

V. Dunlop of Boarland.

VI. Jobn Dunlop of Over Boarland married
Elizabeth Walkinshaw. Their land, in 1650, was
valued at £100 Scots, supposed to have been va-
lued by Cromwell’s agents.

VIIL. John Dunlop of Boarland, married to one
Montgomerie from the ¢ Heigh Corce,” in Stew-
arton parish. Issue—

1. John Dunlop of Boarland.

2. James Dunlop of Loanhead.

1. Margaret, who died young.

VII. John Dunlop of Boarland, married to
Mary, daughter of William Clerk, portioner of
Shitterflat, by Margaret Simpson, about 1740.
Issue—

1. John.

2. William.

8. James.

4. Robert.

1. Mary.

2. Margaret.

IX. John Dunlop of Boarland married Jean Gil-
mour. She was one of three daughters, heiresses,
portioners of the Tailend (Dunlop parish.) They
had a large family, who all died without issue,
except two daughters,} viz.—

1. Mary, who had the half of Boarland, married to An-
drew Brown of Craighead. She died in 1839, at the
Hill, the property of her mother's brother-in-law.
Issue now alive—

1. John Brown, married to —— Duncan, and has
issne—
1. Jean Brown.

2. Jean Dunlop, portioner of Boarland, married Thomas
Reid of Balgray, and has issue—
1. Robert.
2. John.

1. Jean.

PORTERFIELD OF HAPLAND.

I. GABRIEL, son of Master John Porterfield of
that Ilk, by his second marriage with Jean Knox,

* Pitcairn’s Criminal Trials.

t Cunninghem of Boarland was concerned in a foray
against Drumlanrig in 1650. The Cuninghames of Boar-
land were probably of the Aiket family, into whose hands
the property possibly fell through the marriage of Alex-
:“nﬂar.t.heﬂmofuket. with the sister of the Earl of Cas-

8.

3 The late Mrs Steven of Port-Glasgow mentioned, as
a family tradition, that there were nine lairds of the name
of Dunlop sucoessively inherited Hapland and Boarland—
the tenth generation being two heiresses.

daughter of the laird of Ranfurlie. His father gave
him the lands of Blairlin, in 1568. He is sup-
posed to have been the father of, .

II. Gabriel Porterfield, of the four pund land
of Porterfield, who infeft, 21st January, 1618, Ma-
riot Crawfurd, his future spouse, in Gills, Lothri-
hill, the Templeland and Maynes of Hapland, with
the mansion-house, lyand within the parish of
Dunlop, together also with a lyferent of £100
Scots. This Mariot was sister-german of George
Crawfurd, younger of Liffnorris. Witnesses,
Alexander Cunynghame, elder, of Corsehill, Hugh
Cunynghame, servitor to Sir William Cunyng-
hame of Capringtoun, &c. Subscryvit at the
Place, of Corcehill. ** Gabriell Porterfeild of
Hapland” is mentioned in a testamentary docu-
ment in 1620.

Jeane Porterfeild, married to Robert Hamil-
toune of Torrence, who died within the burgh of
Glasgow, December 1658, was probably a daugh-
ter of this laird of Hapland. She left, *“in legacy
to Elizabeth and Mary Porterfeilds, dochters law-
full to vmgqll. Gabriel Porterfield of Haipland, the
sowme of sex hundreth merks money, equally be-
twixt them,” &e.

III. Gabriel Porterfield of Hapland, son no
doubt of the foregoing, married Jean Maxwell.
They made a contract of alienation with Mr Da-
vid Dickson, minister at Irvine, 24th December,
1633, of their 44s. land of Crawfield, in the parish
of Beyth, in liferent, and his son, in fee. He and
his spouse had a conjunct liferent sasine in the
two merk and half land of Dunlophill, Wattir-
land, and Halketh, with the loch thereof, on a
charter of Robert Montgomerie of Hesilheid,
dated 24th May, 1684. Both had also a precept
of sasine, 29th July, 1687, in the fyve merk land
of Aikhead-Wallace, on & sale charter from Wil-
liam Wallace of Johnstoun (in Renfrewshire) and
Agnes Porterfield, his spouse. Gabriel Porter-
field of Hapland had another sasine of the four
pund land of Brockilmuir, from William Cun-
ynghame of Lagland. The Baillie in that part
was John Porterfield of Greenend.

Sir Johne, son of Sir James Cunynghame of
Glengarnock, by a disposition, dated at Castle-
Cunynghame, in the county of —— in Ireland,
28th June, 1632, disposed to Gabriel Porterfield
of Hapland and Jean Maxwell, his spouse, the
lands of Crawfield, in the parish of Beith. He was
a witness to a certain paper, dated 8d Novem-
ber, 1641, but died before 1648. He had issue,

1. John, his successor.

2. Alexander, who succeeded his brother.

3. Elizabeth,(?) wife of Mr Hugh Peeblis, minister at
Lochwinnoch about 1650. Two of their children died,
and were buried in the churchyard, in 1656. They
had surviving,
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1. Marion Peeblis, married to James Cochrane—
cousin and chamberlain to the Earl of Dundonald
—of Mainshill, before 1687.

* 2. Jean Peeblis, married to John Wallace of Neil-

stounsyde, ancestor of the laird of Kelly.

8. Catharine Peeblis, married to Matthew Hammill
of Roughwood, in 1681.

4. Daunghter, married to Alexander Cunynghame of
Cairncurran, in Kilmalcolm parish.

4. Mariot (or Mary?) Porterfield, married to Robert Fer-
gushill of that Ilk, 8th February, 1685, who infeft
Mariot Porterfield, his future spouse, in his mansion-
house, and the lands of Auchintiber.

IV. John Porterficld of Hapland, 19th October
1648, had a retour, as heir-male of Gabriel Por-
- terfield, his father, in the four pund land of Brock-
welmure, part of Caprington; five merk land of
Aiket-Wallace, &c.; two merk and half land of
Dunlop Hill, &c.; part of Wattirlandis, with the
corn-mill, &c.; part of Halkhead, with the loch,
&c. He was also retoured, 4th January 1649, as
heir to his father, in the four merk land of Leff-
noreis, the pendicle called the Ward, the ten shil-
ling land of Blackwodhill, in Kingiskyle, and in
the twa merk land of Swaidis (vel Snaidis) in the
barony of Auchinleck. The laird of Hapland was
ruling elder in the parish of Dunlop in 1649. He
died without issue, and was succeeded by

V. Alexander Porterficld of Hapland, who had
a retour, 5th October, 1653, as heir to his bro-
ther, John, in the four pund land of Brockwell-
muir, &. He had a retour, 5th October, 1653,
a8 heir of his father, Gabriel, of Leifnorris, and
pendicle called Ward, ten shilling land of Black-
woodhill, in Kingskyle, twa merk land of Snaidis,
&c. He also had a retour, 84 November, 1654,
a8 heir of John, his brother, in the four merk land
of Leifnoreis, and the ten shilling land of Black-
woodhill, within Kingskyle.

VI. Gabriel Porterfield of Hapland sold the
Crawfield, 15th December, 1676, to John Peebles,
to be holden of the disponer. This disposition
was signed at Hapland; witnesses, Alexander
Cunynghame, younger of Robertland, Magister
James Cunynghame of Tour of Kilmaurs, &c.
James Steill of Muirstoun, writer in Beith, was
factor of this estate in 1708. He left an account
of his intromissions; and mentions the lady as in
her widowhood. He was succeeded, probably,
by his son,

VII. Gabriel Porterficld of Hapland, who mar-
ried Elizabeth Cuningham, daughter of the laird
of Craigends, about 1720. Tssue—

1. Alexander Porterfleld of Hapland. He fell from his
horse in returning from Stewartoun, about 17¢5 or
1770, and was killed, unmarried.

. Johanna Porterfield, married to Thomas Trotter of
Mortonhall, and other extensive posscssions in Mid-
Lothian and Berwickshire. Their share of Hapland
consisted of the manor-place of Hapland, and about
200 acres of land. General Trotter was a son of this
union, and the property is still possessed by their de-
scendant, Sheriff Trotter.

2. Margaret Porterfield, married to John Hamilton of
Barr, in the parish of Lochwinnoch, in 1751, They
had a numerous family.

3. Lillias Porterfield, married to William Sommerville
of Kennox. Their daughter married to Colonel Mac-
allister of Loup, in Kintyre, and also proprietor of the
remainder of Hapland.

4. The third daughter married a common tradesman,
and was disinherited.

GEMMELLS OF TEMPLEBOUSE.

There are several small proprietors in the pa-
rish of Dunlop, whose families can boast of con-
giderable antiquity. Amongst these may be men-
tioned the Gemmells of Templehouse, whose an-
cestors were in possession of the property before
1570, in which year

L Parrick GEMMIL of Tempilhouse was one
of the jury on the trial of * William Cuninghame
of Aiket, William Fergushill, Florence Craufurd,
and John Raeburn of that Ilk, delatit of the
slaughter of vmgqle. Johnne Mure of Cauldwell.”

From an * Inventory of the writs of all and
haill the Templeland of Dunlop Hill, commonly
called Templehouse,” it would appear that, in
June 1696, the foresaid Patrick resigned the Tem-
plelands into the hands of the superior, Lord Tor-
phichen, in favour of his eldest son,

II. John Gemmill, and Isobel Ross, his spouse,
in liferent, and to John Gemmill, their son, his
heirs and assignees, in fee. John Gemmill died
before his father, and apparently without surviv-
ing issue,* for there is a precept of clare constat,
dated 24th October, 1617, granted by Robert
Montgomerie of Hesilheid and Tempill Con-
nynghame, in favour of

III. Patrick Gemmill, brother to the late John
Gemmill, who died last vest and seised in the said
lands, reserving to Patrick Gemmill, father to the
said John Gemmill, his liferent over the said lands.
He was succeeded by his son,

IV. John Gemmill of Templehouse, who had
a charter from his father, dated 15th December,
1656, of the lands of Templehouse, in implement
of a matrimonial contract with ‘* Agnes Smith,
his future spouse, and langest livend of them
twa."

V. John Gemmill of Templehouse succeeded
his grandfather. He had a precept of clare con-
stat, dated 18th November, 1754, granted by Mr
William Wallace of Cairnhill, ¢ in favour of John
Gemmill, as nearest and lawfull heir to the deceast
John Gemmill of Templehouse, his grandfather.”

s John, the grandson of Patrick, though he must have
died young, appears to have been married, for “ Elizabeth
Howie, spous to Johnne Gemmill, zounger of Tempilhous,
in the parochin of Dunlop,” died in the month of August,
1616.
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The instrument of sasine following thereon is dated
5th December, 1759. He was succeeded by

VL. John Gemmell of Templehouse, who had a
precept of clare constat, by Thomas Wallace, Esq.
of Cairnhill, dated 8th April, 1789, ‘ in favour of
John Gemmell of Templehouse, only son of Pa-
trick Gemmell, who was eldest lawful son of John
Gemmell of Templehouse, as the nearest and lawful
heir of his said grandfather.” He was infeft in
the lands 20th September, 1790. He was suc-
ceeded by his son,

VII. John Gemmell of Templehouse, father of

VIII. John Gemmell of Templehouse, the pre-
sent proprietor.

DUNLOPS OF LOANHEAD OR AIKET.

1. Jamgs, second son of John Dunlop of Boar-

land, the seventh laird. He was styled of Loanhead,
or of the Mains of Aiket. He married Agnes,
daughter of John Service of the Holms of Cauf,
in the parish of Dalry. His son,

II. James Dunlop of Loanhead, or the Mains
of Aiket, married Agnes, daughter of James
Black, Pennel, now of Locherbank, Kilbarchan
parish. He died at Beith, 1st June, 1829. Is-
sue—

1. James Dunlop, merchant in Glasgow, and others.
He married Marianne, only daughter and heirees of
the late Andrew M‘Millan, Esq., merchant in Port-
Glasgow, on the 26th August, 1817. He died in the
beginning of July, 1843. Issue—

1. James W. Dunlop.
2. Robert Dunlop.

The collateral branches of the Dunlops were

numerous.



PARISH OF FENWICK.

ETYMOLOGY, XXTENT, &c.

There can be little doubt that Chalmers is cor-
rect in deriving the name of this parish from the
Anglo-Saxon, Fen-wic, signifying the village at
the fen, ormarsh. The marshy nature of the sur-
rounding country, though now greatly drained
and improved, amply supports the accuracy of
the derivation. There is a hill in the vicinity of
the village or villages of Finnick, called Fenwick
Hill.* It is, however, scarcely prominent enough
to have given the name to the district.

The parish is about nime miles long, and up-
wards of six broad—resembling, in form, an ob-
long square. It is bounded on the east by the
parishes of Loudoun and Kilmarnock; on the
south by Kilmarnock; on the west by Stewartoun ;
and on the north, by Mearns and Eaglesham.{
The highest part of the parish is about 700 feet
above the level of the sea, to which height it at-
tains by a gradual ascent. The higher and lower
portions of the parish present very different fea-
tures. The land in the. former is almost wholly
pastural, while in the lower it is capable of the
highest cultivation, and produces excellent crops.
The lower portion is, consequently, thickly dotted
with farm-steadings, while the upper is thinly
peopled. Rowallan and Craigendunten Moors
occupy the greater portion of the upper range.
The pasture, however, is good, and excellent stock
is reared upon it. No small portion of the soil
has been of late reclaimed by draining, and large
patches of cultivation intersect the moorlands.
The mosses are extensive, and dangerous to life,
some farms having not less than a hundred acres
of it within their boundaries. The climate is con-
sequently moist; yet it seems to be healthy, if we
may judge from the longevity of the inhabitants.

* There were two “Finnicks,” — “ Finnick-hill” and
* Little Finnlck,”—possessions of the Mures of Rowallan.
t Statistical Account.

HISTORY, CIVIL AND ECCLESIASTICAL.

Fenwick waes originally a portion of Kilmarnock
parish. The disjunction took place by Act of
Parliament, in 1641. It is thus of comparatively
modern erection. The act directed that the pa-
rish should be called the New Kirk of Kilmarnock.
The populace, however, in matters of this kind,
pay little attention to Acts of Parliament. It was
popularly called Fenwick, from a small village at
a short distance from the church—which name
has long been universally recognised. The new
church was built in 1643, and a minister planted
in 1644, provision having been made for his main-
tenance from the tithes of the old parish of Kil-
marnock. Around the new church a village gra-
dually arose, called New Fenwick, or the Kirk-
town, which is now of more importance than the
original village. By the Act of 1641, the patron-
age of the church was settled on the Earl of Kil-
marnock; but in the reign of Charles II. it passed
to the Boyles of Kelburne, and now belongs to
the Earl of Glasgow.

The first minister of the parish was the cele-
brated Mr Guthrie, whose memory is still greatly
revered in the district. At his settlement among
them, it is understood that the people were sunk
in deep ignorance and barbarism, and Mr Guthrie
had the merit of producing, in the course of the
twenty years he continued in the parish, a decided
change for the better. Great multitudes flocked
from Glasgow, Hamilton, Lanark, and the adja-
cent districts, to hear Mr Guthrie's sermons, so
popular did he become. Wodrow, in his History
of the Sufferings of the Church of Scotland, has
preserved the following commission to Rowallan
¢ to bear down vice,” as illustrative of the mode
by which this change was effected : ‘¢ At Fenwick,
December 2d, 1674.—The whilk day the heritors
and kirk-session of Fenwick convened, by virtue




PARISH OF FENWICK,

b6

of the 22d Act of the 8d Session of the 2d Parl.
of King Charles II., entituled, * Act against Pro-
faneness,’ of the date September 1672, did, accord-
ing to the appointment of the foresaid Act,
nominate, likeas by these presents we do nomi-
nate William Muir of Rowallan, younger, resi-
denter within the said parish, as most fit to exe-
cute the penal statutes of several Acts of Parlia-
ment against cursing, swearing, and other pro-
fanenesses exprest in the foresaid Act, and other
Acts therein specified : And did, likeas, by those
presents do appoint and earnestly desire Sir Wil-
liam Muir of Rowallan, elder, to present this
unanimous nomination of the said William Muir,
younger of Rowallan, to the effect foresaid, to the
right honourable and noble lord the Earl of Eg-
lintoun, Baillie of Cuningham, and to entreat his
lordship to grant commission, in terms of foresaid
Act, and a deputation to the said William Muir
of Rowallan, younger, for convening the persons,
transgressors of the foresaid statutes against pro-
faneness, and to judge them according to law. In
witness of these premises we have subscribed these
presents,” &c. He had made himself too conspi-
cuous, by his zeal in the cause of the Covenant,
to be overlooked by the government after the
Restoration; so that he was among the * outed”
in 1664—which event he survived little more than
a year. His remains were interred at the Cathe-
dral of Brechin, in the vault of Pitforthy, to which
family he belonged.

Under such & ministry, it is to be presumed
that the inhabitants of the parish would be emu-
lous of the religious zeal of their gifted pastor.
‘We accordingly find that a stern resistance was
maintained against the government. One of the
most distinguished officers ‘‘ among the Cove-
nanters (Captain Jobn Paton) was a native of the
parish. He was born at Meadowhead, of which
his father was farmer, and was himself employed
in agriculture till the age of manhood, when he
went abroad, and engaged as a volunteer in the
German wars. For his heroic conduct at a siege,
he was raised per saltum to the rank of captain.
On his return to Scotland, his courage and mili-
tary experience gave him a prominent place in
the transactions of his persecuted country. Of
his prowess in battle many instances are recorded.
He fought at the battle of Worcester, where he
distinguished himself by his services, and so decply
impressed General Dalzell with admiration of his
courage, that long afterwards, when Paton had
been condemned, he applied to the king for his
pardon. At Bothwell it is said he acted as colonel,
though he did not retain the title. After the de-
feat of Bothwell he was declared a rebel, and a
price offered for his head. His escapes were nu-

merous and romantic. He afforded shelter in his
house at Meadowhead to several of the persecuted
ministers ; and it is said that Mr Cargill baptized
at one time twenty-two children in his house. He
was at last taken at Floak, in the parish of Mearns.
On his way to Kilmarnock, he was accidentally
met by General Dalzell, who affectionately em-
braced him, and assured him that he would apply
to the king for his pardon. The General kept his
word, and solicited and obtained the pardon; but
Bishop Paterson inhumanely detained the order
till after the execution. His Bible, which he
handed to his wife on the scaffold, along with his
sword, are still preserved as heir-looms by his
descendants. The people of Fenwick, in gratitude
for his services, have erected a tombstone to his
memory.” *

There are still the descendants of another fa-
mily in the parish who sternly resisted the oppres-
sion of the times—we mean the Howies in Loch-
goin, a remote farm in the south-eastern extremity
of the parish. ** The house,” says the writer in
the Statistical Account, * is altogether inaccessible
on the east to horsemen, and an active man could
not, even though acquainted with the locality, at
night cross the moss, by which it is defended, but
at the risk of his life ; and no stranger could ven-
ture across it with safety, even in daylight, without
a guide. On the west, the only direction from
which it can be approached, a sentinel was always
stationed in time of danger, whence he could com-
mand an extensive view of the whole country as
far as Ailsa Craig and the hills of Arran, and thus
no body of troopers could reach the house before
the inmates had time to escape into the morasses.
A situation like this was invaluable to the Cove-
nanters, and it was the point at which the utmost
vigilance and attention of the dragoons were na-
turally directed. Twelve times was the house
plundered, and as often did the people escape.
On such occasions, the money was removed, and
buried in the neighbouring mosses. It happened
once that they were nearly taken by surprise, and
had only time to conceal the coins, without being
able to reach the spot. In spite of all subsequent
search, it remained in the moss for more than a
century, when the place was accidentally disco-
vered. After an extensive search, some scores of
British and foreign coins were discovered. These
are preserved by the family as very interesting
relics. The Fenwick flag, which waved at Both-
well, Kilsyth, and Drumelog, is also preserved”
at Lochgoin.}

® Statistical Acocount.

t The Rev. Edward Irving paid a visit to Lochgoin, and
is said to have looked upon this relic “ with an interest
almost amounting to devotion.”
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The churchyard of Fenwick attests the nature
of the struggle to which the inhabitants were sub-
Jjected during what is called the Second Reforma-
tion in Scotland. It contains two tombstones,
upon which are inscribed the following memo-
rials :—

1. ¢ Here lies the dust of John Fergushill and
George Woodburn, who were shot at Midland by
Nisbet and his party, 1685.”

“When bloody prelates, once these nations’ pest,
Contrived that cursed self-contradicting test,
These men for Christ did suffer martyrdom,
And here thelr dust lies waiting till he come’.’

2. * Here lies the body of James White, who
was shot to death at Little Blackwood, by Peter
Inglis and his party, 1685.”

“ This martyr was by Peter Inglis shot,

By birth a tiger rather than a Scot;
‘Who, that his monstrous extract might be seen,
Cut off his head, and kick'd it o’er the green;

Thus was that head which was to wear a erown,
A football made by a profane dragoon.”

ANTIQUITIES.

The ruins of the strong house of Polkelly, now
the property of the Earl of Glasgow, still remain.
They occupy a portion of the rising ground north
of Muiryet, on the main line of road between
Glasgow and Kilmarnock. This tower, with the
lands of Polkelly, was one of the earliest posses-
sions of the Mures of Rowallan. It has long been
in ruins.

The church, built in 1643, still exists, and the
oaken pulpit, occupied by Mr Guthrie, is regard-
ed with no common interest. Within these few
years, and probably still, the old practice of
preaching by the sand-glass was kept up. *When
the preacher has announced the text from which
he is to preach, the precentor brings forth from
a small box a half-hour sand-glass, which he
places on an iron stand. When the glass has run
out, he removes it, and the preacher after that
only adds what he finds necessary.”*

TRADITION.

The writer in the Statistical Account appends
the following as a note to his account of the pa-
rish. We cannot vouch for its accuracy, but think
it worthy of copying. It has, no doubt, some
foundation in fact. Pathelly Hall is probably a
popular mistake for Polkelly, which was of old

* Statistical Account.

called Pothkelly: * There is a tradition connect-
ed with a house in this parish which is worth re-
cording. King’s Well has long been known as a
principal inn between Glasgow and Kilmarnock.
It stands on one of the most elevated spots in the
parish, and is flanked on the west by a deep flow-
moss, over which a road has been formed within
the last few years with extraordinary difficulty,
the moss being in many parts so soft that a dog
could not have walked across without sinking.
At some distance from King's Well stood Path-
elly Hall, a baronial residence of the Cochranes,
at that time a place of some importance, but of
which there is now hardly a vestige. Hither one
of the Jameses was proceeding to administer jus-
tice on occasion of some feud or foray, of which
the details have not been preserved. The affair
was sufficiently serious to occasion no slight ap-
prehensions on the part of those who had the mis-
fortune to be implicated, and the approach of the

.| monarch awakened many conflicting emotions of

hope and fear. After a long ride over very diffi-
cult ground, and in one of the highest and most
exposed districts in Scotland, his Majesty had at
last acquired an appetite too sharp to be compa-
tible with comfort. He was obliged thercfore to
alight at the nearest house, which happened to be
a peasant’s cottage. The gudewife supplied him
with very homely cheer; but luxury was then in
a great measure unknown, and a king would have
been contemptible who could not rough it with
the hardiest of his subjects. After a hearty meal,
he was proceeding to depart, when the good wo-
man told him that her husband was one of the
prisoners whose trial had been the main object of
his journey, and that he surely never would have
the heart to hang a man after having eat his break-
fast sitting in his arm-chair. This appeal the rules
of hospitality rendered irresistible. When he
rreached Pathelly Hall, he singled out the husband
of his hostess, lectured him on the impropriety of
his conduct, and dismissed him with an admonition
to be a better bairn. He next commenced his
investigation, and finding eighteen of the prisoners
guilty, hung them up forthwith on a hawthorn,
which is still pointed out, and displays obvious
marks of great antiquity. On his way to Path-
elly Hall, his horse drunk at the spot where the
King’s Well now stands, and shortly afterwards
sunk in a quagnire, which is still called the King’s
Stable. His Majesty long remembered the ride,
of which he used often to detail the particulars,
and the Ayrshire roads were represented as im-

passable.”
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FAMILIES IN THE PARISH OF FENWICK.

No family of note appears to have resided in
the parish of Fenwick, except the Mures of Pol-
kelly. This is sufficiently accounted for by the
originally bleak nature of the greater portion of
the district, and the fact of its having belonged in
large tracts to adjacent proprietors, such as Row-
allan, now possessed by the Marquis of Hastings,
Crawfurdland, Cuninghamehead, &c. A fow small
proprietorships have recently sprung up.

NMURES OF POLKELLY.

The first of the Mures of Polkelly, according
to the historian of the Mures,* was Ranald More,
& kinsman of Sir Gilchrist More of Rowallan, who
had come from Ireland, and aided hin in his feuds
with the Cumins, as well as fighting under his
banner at the Largs, where Sir Gilchrist obtained
great credit for his prowess. To this Ranald More
he gave the house and lands of Polkelly, together
with a portion of the Muir of Rowallan, which
property continued in the possession of Ranald’s
family till the marriage of the heiress, Janet Mure,
grandchild of Ranald, with Sir Adam Mure of
Rowallan, once more united the estate with Row-
allan. It was, however, branched off a second time
by the son of this Sir Adam, also Sir Adam Mure
of Rowallan, who gave his second son, Alexander,
¢ the barronie of Pokellie, together with the lands
of Limflare and Lowdowne hill, gherein his lady
was infef.” This occurred, we should suppose,
before the middle of the fourteenth century. The
property thus settled upon Alexander, was fur-
ther enhanced by the acquisition of the lands of
Hareschaw and Drumboy, all within the district
of Cuninghame, although described in the precept
by Lord Galloway and Annandale, for giving in-
feftment, as lying in the * Barronie of Strachanan
and Scherefdome of Lanrick,” which precept is
dated in 1417.

The house of Polkelly, of the surname of Mure,
continued a distinct branch from Rowallan, * verie
neer ane hundereth and fyftie yearis,” till towards
the end of the fourteenth century, when, by the
death of William Mure of Polkelly and all his
male children, the whole inheritance became the
property of Robert Cuninghame of Cuninghame-
head, who had sometime previously married Mar-

garet, his daughter and heir. Polkelly continued
in possession of the Cuninghamehead family till
the death of the last of them, in 1724, when it
was soon afterwards acquired by the Earl of Glas-

w.
goI"'mnickhill and Little Finnick also latterly be-
longed to minor branches of the Mures of Row-
allan. They were long possessed, however, by
the Amots of Lochridge, in the parish of Stewar-
toun. Sir Gilchrist More, already alluded to, gift-
ed to “ Edward Arnot the two finnicks, for year-
lie payment of ane paire of gloves at S. Lawrence
Chapell, and of ane paire of spures at S. Michaell's
Chapell, embleames of reddie service.” One of
these Fenwicks, called Wat, or" Wattis, Fenwick,
now the Kirktoun, was acquired by Robert Mure,
apparently a son of Rowallun, from ¢ Andreus
Arot de Watt fenik, fillius et heres apparen.
ednardi Arnot de lochrig,” in 1497.* Notwith-
standing this alienation of * vatt fanike,” the
Arnots seem to have resided at Fenwick until a
comparatively recent date. The testament of
Alexander Arnot of Lochrig, who died in Novem-
ber, 1628, is dated ‘*at Fynnick, the xxi day of
November,” in that year; and the conclusion of
the document states, that  thir presents ar writ-
tin be me, Alexr. Conynghame of Corshill, at the
directioun of the said Alexander Arnot, in his awn
hous of Fynnick,” &o.

GARDRUM.

The lands of Gardrum, with those of Skerney-
land, Ladeside, and Laighmoor, in the neighbour-
hood, belonged, prior to the Reformation, to the
Abbey of Kilwinning., After that period, they
fell into the hands of Alexander and John Hamil-
ton (father and son) of Grange. This appears
from a decree of the Court of Teinds, dated 8th
July 1685, charging them with minister’s stipend
for these lands, Fenwick being then in the parish
of Kilmarnock.

Not long afterwards, Gardrum fell into the
hands of James Kelso (of the Kelsoland family
probably), whom we find making a disposition of
Gardrum—18th December, 1697—in favour of
his son, James Kelso, younger.

Again, James Kelso, younger, gives a disposi-

® “The Historie and Descent of the House of Rowallane.”
VOL. I11.

* Historie of Rowallan,
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tion of the lands of Gardrum in favour of Mathew
Hopkin, merchant, Kilmarnock, dated 19th June,
1708; who makes them over to Ninian Bannatye,
chamberlain to Lord Boyle, his wife, Barbara
Wilson, and David Bannatyne, their eldest son,
on the 10th September of the same year; and in
1710, they receive a feudal right from Alexander
Hamilton of Grange.

David Bannatyne of Gardrum® died in 1784
or 5.t He was succeeded by his brother, a drug-
gist in London, whose retour in the lands of Gar-
drum, Skerneyland, Laighmuir, and Ladeside, is
dated 10th January, 1785.

Ninian Bannatyne was succeeded, 6th August,
1790, by Dugald Bannatyne, merchant, Glasgow;
and, on the 2d February, 1791, Dugald is suc-
ceeded by John Carse of Meiklewood, Alexander
Hamilton of Grange being still feudal superior.

In March, 1798, John Carse was succeeded in
the proprietorship of Gardrum by James Dunlop
of Polkelly, who, in turn, in 1819, gave place to
Robert Lindsay of Horselybrae, whose grandson,
Robert, is the present proprietor. His ancestors
long resided either at Bruntland or Dalmerster-
nock, in the parish of Fenwick.

It may be mentioned that, in 1793, March 7,
James Dunlop granted to William Sheddan six-
teen acres of the lands of Gardrum, commonly
called Gardrum-miln. This portion, therefore,
does not belong to the present proprietor. A
small property, part of Gardrum, called Tristrim-
hill, afterwards Blackfauld, consisting of two acree
or thereby, was also disposed of about the begin-
ning of the last century, by the younger Kelso, to
James Gilkison, smith, Tristrimhill, of which

® David Ballantine of Gardrum was elder for Ayr to the
General Assembly, in 1744.—AYR RECORDS.

t Captain John Ballantine, late of Gardrum, gave £10 to
the poor of Ayr, in 1780. He was probably a son or bro-
ther of David.

three enclourses were made. This latter por.
tion, however, has again been attached to the
Gardrum property, which is regarded as a goodly-
sized and well-conditioned farm.

LOCHGOIN.

The Howies in Lochgoin are a family of old
standing. They are said to have sprung from a
family of Waldenses, who took refuge in Scotland.
The earliest notes we have of them is from the
testament of ‘‘ Johnne Howie in Lochgoyne, with-
in the parochin of , the tyme of his
deceis. Quha deceist in the moneth of Februar,
1614, flaythfullie maid and gevin vp be his awin
Legacie—At Lochgoyne, the
xviii day of Februar, 1614—The quhilk day, &e.
Quharin he nominatis, constituts, &c., Dorathie
Gemmill, his wyfe, and Arthore Howie, his sone,
his onlie executouris, &c. To equallie distribute
the deids’ pairt amangis the said Arthor, William,
Stein, Andro, Alexander, and Agnes Howie, his
bairnes,” &c.*

The pretensions of the Howies to a considerable
antiquity are thus well-founded. Lochgoin forms
part of Rowallan Moor, so that they had been
originally tenants of that ancient barony. John
Howie, who died in 1793, was the author of the
Scots Worthies—a work of universal fame. His
son also, John Howie, was the author of & work
called the Fenwick Visions, in which there is a
singular record of visions of armies, in battle ar-
ray, &c., seen in the parish of Fenwick, imme-
diately before the rebellion of 1745, and the break-
ing out of the long war with France.

® Johnne Howie of Lochgoyne, and James Howie, his
brother, cocur in the testament of Johnne Landellis, pas-
singer, in Kilmarnock, April, 1618.




e

PARISH OF GALSTON.

ETYMOLOGY, EXTENT, &c.

The name of the parish is one of the few in
Ayrshire derived apparently from the Anglo-
Saxon. Chalmers supposed it to have originated
with some person of the name of Gall, to which
was added tun, or town, signifying Gall's posses-
sion. Chalmers makes a near guess at what may
be considered the truth. In early records the
name is spelled Gallystoun, or Gaulistoun, the
name of a place also in Galloway. In the reign
of David II. James Boyd had a charter of ** the
lands of Gauylistoun, in Galloway, quhilk Jokn
Gauilstoun forisfecit.” Thus we see that Galston
in Galloway was so called from a person of the
name of Gauil; and though we cannot show that
Galston in Ayrshire belonged to the same party,
yet it was similarly written, and was no doubt
similarly derived.

Galston is situated in that division of Kyle
called Kyle-Stewart, from its belonging to the
High Steward of Scotland, the great overlord of
the district. * Its greatest length is about 13
miles, and its greatest breadth about 4}; but its
figure is very irregular, and accordingly its super-
ficial extent is found to be scarcely 23 square
miles. It is bounded on the east by the river
Aven, which divides it from the parish of Aven-
dale; on the north by the Irvine, which separates
it from Loudon and Kilmarnock; and on the west
by the Cesnock, which divides it from Riccarton
and Craigie.”* On the south it is bounded by
Maauchline and Sorn.

The topographical appearance of the parish
presents considerable variety—hill and dale ming-
ling in admirable confusion. Burns says, in his
“ Holy Fair,"—

“ The rising sun oure Galston muirs
Wi glarious light was glintin®;"

& Statistical Account.

#0 that we have here a picture of wildness asso-
ciated with the running streams and rich valleys
of the Irvine, the Burnawn, and the Cesnock—
the banks of which latter stream are the scene of
one of Burns’ early and most exquisite lyrics:
“ Her voice Is like the ev'ning thrush

That sings on Cesnock banks unseen,

While his mate sits nestling in the bush,

And she’s twa sparkling, roguish een.”

The highest of the eminences is called, appropri-
ately enough, Distinct-horn. It is situated near
the south-eastern extremity of the parish, and is
about 1100 feet above the level of the sea. To
the north-west of this is Molmont-hill, nearly
1000 feet high. ¢ The general character of the
soil,” says the Statistical Account, ** in the higher
and eastern parts of the parish, is loamy and
sandy, with a considerable tendency in many
places to peat; in the lower and western parts,
the most prevalent soil consists of different va-
rieties of clay. In the eastern parts, which are
generally covered with heath, there are found
many trunks of trees of considerable magnitude.
One of these was lately dug up from a piece of
mossy ground, which appears formerly to have
been a small lake, about 500 feet above the level
of the sea. It proved to be a magnificent oak,
with & straight trunk, which had once been 48 feet
long, and is still 3§ feet in diameter at the upper
extremity. Two large pieces, in good preserva-
tion, are now kept at Lanfine garden. Whether
this tree and its fellows, already mentioned, are
to be regarded as the remains of the Caledonian
Forest mentioned in the Classics, or to be referred
to a still more ancient epoch in the history of our
globe, must be left for the decision of more com-
petent authorities than the writer of this account.
Along the south bank of the Irvine there are from
400 to 500 imperial acres of rich holm land, which
appear evidently to have been formed by succes-
sive deposits from the river. It is certain, at least,
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that the river has at some period traversed almost
every part of this rich tract; and it may be re-
marked, to the same purpose, that the uniformity
of the soil and subsoil throughout its whole extent,
as well as the considerable difference of level at
the two extremities, preclude the supposition of
its having been deposited at the bottom of an an-
cient lake.” The only streams in the parish of
Galston are those already alluded to—the Irvine,
which bounds the parish, and divides Kyle from
Cuninghame ; the Aven; the Burnawn—a small
rivulet which joins the Irvine at the village of
Galston; and the Cesnock, which also joins the
Irvine at the western boundary of the parish.
The only lake now in the parish is that of Loch
Gait, an insignificant marsh. Bruntwood Loch,
which was much frequented by water-fowl, has
wholly disappeared, having been drained a num-
ber of years ago. As in most of the other parishes
of Ayrshire, rapid strides have been made in agri-
cultural improvements.

HISTORY, CIVIL AND ECCLESIASTICAL.

The scene of the successful rencontre between

the patriot Wallace, and the English convoy un--

der Fenwick, in 1297, took place near to Loudoun
Hill, but within the boundaries of the parish of
Galston.* Bruce lay with his army at Galston,
previous to overthrowing the English army under
Sir Amyr de Valence, not far from the same spot,
in 1307. The cairn, which is said to mark the
vicinity of these battles, says the Statistical Ac-
count, ‘““is still in existence, in the vicinity of
Loudoun Hill, though considerably diminished by
the repeir of the neighbouring stone fences. The
¢ rude fortification,” however, which is said in the
former Statistical Account to have sheltered Wal-
lace and his handful of followers, performed the
same officc to a much more numerous body of
warriors, probably not less than a thousand years
before. It is evidently a Roman camp, chosen
and fortified with all the military science for which
that celebrated people were distinguished. Its
ramparts, though much reduced by time and the
depredations of the husbandman, may be distinctly
traced throughout its whole extent; and the Pree-
torian and Decuman gates are in a state of toler-
able preservation. The original camp, to which
these remarks apply, is 180 yards long, and 114
broad: but there is another enclosure upon & low-
er level towards the south, which scems to have
been added upon a subsequent occasion, to accom-
modate a larger force, or perhaps originally de-

* See vol. i. p. 26.

signed for the quarters of the allies. This addi-
tion lengthens out the parallelogram to 258 yards.
It does not appear that there have been any gates
at the extremities of the Principia ; and indeed it
is not to be expected from the nature of the ground,
which, on the right and left sides, slopes down-
wards for twenty or thirty yards, with the declivity
of a rampart. Upon one of these slopes there was
found, i 1881, a silver coin in good preservation,
having this inscription—C£SAR AVGVSTVS DIV
F. PaTER PaTRIE. This coin is now in the pos-
gession of Thomas Brown, Esq., the proprietor of
the estate on which the camp is situated, who is
also in possession of another Roman coin, found
along with many more, a little to the castward, in
the parish of Avendale, and inseribed, p1vvs AN-
TONINVS.® These facts and observstions, taken
in connection with the existence of a Roman mili-
tary way, which may still be traced on the oppo-
site bank of the Irvine, furnish incontestible evi-
dence that the parish of Galston has received at
least one visit from the masters of the world; and
it furnishes a striking proof of the stupendous scale
upon which that wonderful people conducted their
affairs, that marches and encampments, too trivial
to be recorded in their military histories, have
thus certified their own existence during a period
of not less than 1600 years. In connection with
these Roman remains, may be mentioned another
military station on the Galston bank of the Aven,
about two miles farther to the south. It is nearly
surrounded by the river, and fortified, where it is
not so, by a rampart and ditch. Its traditionary
name in the neighbourhood is Main Castle, which,
as there is not the slightest vestige of a castle in
the modern sense of the word, involuntarily sug-
gests to the classical scholar the Latin designation
of Minora Castra. In the absence of evidence,
therefore, to establish any other hypothesis, it may
not improbably be conjectured to have contained
a detachment of the army stationed on Allanton
Beg.”

With all due deference to the respected writer
in the Statistical Account, it seems fully more pro-
bable that the small encampment, thus described,
was a British fortlet and not a Roman station.
In the vicinity of the Roman encampments there
are invariably to be found one or more native
strengths; for we must recollect that almost every
inch of ground was contended for against the ad-
vancing enemy. Its being on the Galston, or
opposite side of the Aven from the Roman en-
campment, is in itself evidence of its having been

® Numerous coins have been discovered from time to
time in the parish of Galston. Mr Brown is in possession
of a variety of silver picces bearing the names of Alexander,
David, and Edward.
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& British encampment, constructed to observe the
movements of the foe. The banks of the Doon,
which, like the Irvine, was also traversed by a
Roman way, are studded, in a similar manner,
with British entrenchments, at points command-
ing a view of the Roman line of road.

The traditional name of Main Castle renders
it probable that a castle actually occupied the
spot in later times than the era of the Romans.
There is good reason for belicving that castles
existed in this country at a much earlier period
than is generally supposed; and, as other in-
stances prove, the fact of the existence of any
particular building soon becomes lost after all
vestiges of it have been removed. There is, no
doubt, some foundation for the tradition, other-
wise, why is the term castle not traditionally ap-
plied to all similar Roman or British remains?

In more recent times, during the momentous
struggle connected with the Reformation, Gal-
ston parish sustained a part fully equal to the rest
of the country. Her chiefs, Cesnock, Bar, and
Galston, took decided parts in the struggle, and
were well sustained by their dependents. In the
list of fugitives proclaimed by Government in
1684, twenty belonged to Galston parish.

Galston village, which no doubt had its origin
in the ancient tower belonging to the early pro-
prietors of the lands of Galston, is now a thriving
village, with a population of upwards of 4000. It
is delightfully situated on the south banks of the
Irvine, nearly opposite the policies of Loudoun
Castle. It has the best means of communica-
tion, the roads in the vicinity being both excellent
and numerous.

As to the ecclesiastieal history of the parish,
Chalmers says, * the church of Galston was dedi-
cated to St Peter, and a fair was annually held at
Galston on St Peter’s day, the 29th of June.*
The fair has declined in business and importance,
but the custom of lighting fires on the neighbour-
ing hills, on the evening before the fair, is still
continued.t The church of Galston was granted
to the Convent of Red Friars, which was founded
at Faile, in 1252 ; and it contiuued to belong to
that establishment till the Reformation. The
church was served by a vicar, who had a stipend
of five chalders of victual, yearly, with a manse
and glebe ; and the brothers of Faile enjoyed the
remainder of the revenues. In Bagimont’s Roll,
as it stood in the reign of James V., the vicarage
of Galston was taxed at £4, being a tenth of the

* In 1707, Sir Alexander Campbell of C. k obtained
an aot of Parliament for holding * yearly fairs aud mer-
cates at the towns of Galstonun and Riccartoun.”

+ These fires are no doubt the remains of the Druidical
festival at the summer solstice.

estimated value. At the epoch of the Reforma-
tion, the vicar's income of five chalders of victual
was let for the payment of 50 marks, or £88, 6s.8d.
yearly, which was greatly under its real worth.
Besides the five chalders of victual, which was
payable to the vicar, the minister, or chief of the
Convent of Fuile, drew from the parsonage tithes
of Galston nine chalders two bolls of victual,
yearly, at the period of the Reformation. Out
of this, he was obliged to pay £40 annually to the
exhorter, whom the Reformers placed in the
church, Before the year 1471, a chapel was
founded in the tower of Galston, which was de-
dicated to the Virgin Mary; and a chaplain was
endowed for performing divine service in it. On
the 3d of November, 1489, Mr John Charteris,
as chaplain of Galston,* obtained a letter of con-
firmation of the lands of Lenfene, in Kyle-Stewart,
which were settled on him for life. In 1578, the
patronage of the chapel of Galston belonged to
Campbell of Cesnock. The chapel was not then
used ; but the right of patronage secmed to give
a right to the property of the chapel. After the
Reformation, the patronage of the parish passed
through the hands of several proprietors, and was
at length acquired, in 1787, with a large estate in
the parish, by Miss Scot of Scotstarvit, [late]
Duchess of Portland.” The old church, which
was superseded by a new one in 1808, was built
before the Reformation. The new church—of
“ g neat quadrangular building,”—occupies the
site of the old, and is surrounded by the ancient
burying-ground. In the interior of the church,
below the north gallery, a tablet of black and
white marble, bears as under : * The burial place
of the Campbells of Cessnock and their descend-
ants, the Campbells of Mayfield, extends in front
of this wall 12 feet by 8 feet. To perpetuate their
remembrance, this plate is put up by Bruce Camp-
bell of Mayfield, Anno 1809.”

On the east wall of the galleries, to the right on
entering from the staircase, is a handsome mural
monument to the memory of an illustrious native
of Galston, Lieut.-Col. I{utchinson ; and to the
left is another design of the same school, bearing
a long record of the births, marriages, and deaths
of the ancient, but now extinguished family of
Nisbet of Greenholm. Both of the monuments are
of marble. That of Colonel Hutchinson has the
following inscription :—* In memory of George
Hutchinson, Esq. of Galston, late Lieut.-Col. of
his Maujesty’s Ninety-eight Regiment of Foot.
During the American war, he was first aid-de-
camp to the Right Honourable Earl Percy, and
Deputy Adjutant-General of the Grand Army.

* Alexander Arbukill was curate of Galston in 1551,
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His martial abilities, undaunted bravery, and he-
roic feats, had long attracted the notice of his
sovereign, who was graciously pleased to honour
him with seven different commissions. He fell a
sacrifice for his country in an Engagement in
India, the 5th of September 1782, aged 46 years.

** Be thou faithful unto death,
And I will give thee a Crown of Life.”

The monument of the Nisbets bears this record :

‘‘Sacred to the memories of Archd. Nisbet of
Greenholm, Esq., descended of Nisbet of that Ik,
eminent in King David the First's reign, 1126,
eldest son of Robert and Barbara Nisbet, who left
issue six sons and four daughters. Born 6th Oct.
1689; marricd Elizabeth Hogg, 6th August,
1727; died 25th Sept. 1764, aged 75 years. Had
issue five sons and seven daughters by his wife
Elizabeth, daughter of Hogg of Harcarse, who
died 23d Aug. 1756, aged 46 years. Also Ann,
their daughter, born 1 Nov. 1732, died 20 Aug.
1749, aged 16 years.”

¢¢ Sacred also to the memories of David Nisbet,
M.D., youngest son of Robert and Barbara Nis-
bet; born 10 July, 1708 ; married 2 Sept. 1736,
the eldest danghter of Sir Thomas Rinton ; died
29 March, 1773, aged 70 years, leaving no issue.
Also David, fourth son of Archd. and Elizabeth
Nisbet; born 18 Janry. 1742; married Sophia
Williams, 8 May, 1773. This monument is erect-
ed by their fourth son, David.

“ Data sunt ipsis quoque fata sepulchris.” *

The churchyard furnishes more than one me-
morial of the part which the parishioners took
in the civil and religious struggle of the seven-
teenth century:—

*“This stone is erected by public contribution
in the parish of Galston, in honour of those be-
longing to it who suffered at the glorious era of
Scotland’s Covenanted Reformation. May it stand
for ages as a Monument of Abhorrence at Tyranny
in Church and State, as a grateful and well-me-
rited tribute to those illustrious men who success-
fully struggled to resist it. May it excite in the
breasts of posterity an attachment to the Noble
Cause of Religious and Civil Liberty; and if ever
circumstances should require it, an ardour to
emulate the noble deeds of their ancestors.”

The west face of the stone, bearing the following
inscriptions, has cut across the upper part of it a
representation of ¢ Galston’s Covenanters’ Flag.”
On the centre of the banner is engraved a thistle,
and above it an open book, bearing * God is ever
the same.” Around the ends and top of the flag
runs the motto, * For God and State, Kirk and

* Greenholm is in the parish of Loudoun.

Covenants, and the work of Reformation,” with
* Galston,” along its lower unfurled extremity.
Above this representation is cut ‘‘ Renewed in
1828,” and below all is the following inscription :

“In Memory of John Richmond, younger of
Know, who was executed at the Cross of Glasgow,
March 19th 1684, and interred in the High
Churchyard there, and James Smith, East Threep-
wood, who was shot near Bank on Burn, Ann.
1684, by Capt. Inglis and his dragoons, and
buried there.

“ Also James Young and George Campbell,
who were banished in 1679, and the Rev. Alex-
ander Blair, who suffered imprisonment, 1678.”

East Face.—At the top is a miserably executed
bas-relief, meant to represent one man shooting
another, and between whom is a sand-glass two-
thirds of their stature. Above this scene is an
open book, marked Rev. xii. & 11, and below is
cut as under :

¢ Here lies Andrew Richmond, who was killed
by bloody Graham of Claverhouse, June 1679,
for his adherence to the Word of God and Scot-
land’s Covenanted work of Reformation.

“ Where bloody tyrants here did rage
Over the Lord’s own heritage,
To persecute his noble cause
By mischief framed into laws.”
* s 2 2 2
The remaining lines are covered by the soil.*

In reference to education, it is gratifying to be
able to state that it is ample. Besides the parish
school, there is now a free school, erected and en-
dowed from £4000 left for that purpose by Charles
Blair of Longhouse, one of the heritors of the
parish. Another legacy of £1000 were left by
John Brown of Waterhaughs, to be expended in
clothing and educating an equal number of chil-
dren from the parishes of Loudoun and Galston.

The parish records extend as far back as 1568,
although they have not been regularly kept till
1692. The oldest of the registers is devoted to
baptisms. The session minutes exhibit the usual
routine of business, and the constant labours of
the session to reform the habits of the people. In
reference to morality, Galston does not seem to
have been at all in advance of the other parishes
of Ayrshire—Sabbath breaking,t and promiscuous
sexual intercourse prevailing to no inconsiderable
extent.}

In 1592, when the records began to be regu-

® The Churchyards of Ayrshire. By William Dobie.

+ 28d March, 1628.—George Lockhart of Tempill, and
John Adame of Brewlands, having been summoned before
the session, “ confest the break of the Sabbath be striking
ilk ither.”

3 24th September, 1628.—A scale of penalties resolved
to be exacted from fornicators.
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larly kept, the ¢ purse of the puir” is put down
—2d April—as amounting to xlijs. 7d.

Some idea may be formed of the interior of the
old church from the following minute:—* 27th
August, 1626. The glk. day the sessioun con-
descendit thut George Lockhart of Tempill his
dasse sould stand and remaine still in the south-
eist nuik of the kirk, with the forme qrof. it is
presently set vp, ay and quhile the sessioun think
expedient to build ane laft, at quhat tyme the
height of the said dasse sall not exceed the cor-
balls,” &ec.

14th January, 1629.—No caution to be exact-
ed in proclamations of marriage. As in most
other places, it had been the practice to demand
pledges from the parties ‘ buikit.”

19th August, 1638.—* Qlk day the Laird of
Barr delyvered to the sessioune xiiis. 4d. qlk.
rested of the xiiijlibs. that was send to Edinburgh
to buy the Kirk Byble.”

This was probably the first * Kirk Bible” pos-
sessed by the parish, although there had been an
act of the Privy Council passed in 1575, ordain-
ing *“fyve pundis” to be collected in * every
perochin” for the purchase of a Bible. The act
is in itself curious—*‘‘ That In euerith paroche
kirke thair be a Byble remaining In sic forme as
salbe thocht expedient be the kirke, and allowit
and sett furth be our auctoritie, and that thair is
gude characters and printing Irnis already within
oure Realme, proper and sufficient for Wirking
and Imprenting of the said Bible, and that zit
the charge and hasard of the wark wilbe great
and sumptuous, and may not well be performit
without euery parochin, as weill to Burgh as
Landwart, advance aforehande the sowme of fyve
pundis, viz. for the price of the said Bible, weill
and sufficientlie bunde In paist or tymmer, foure
pundis xiijs. iiij pennies, and for the Collectioun
the vther sax shillingis and aucht pennies : Thair-
fore our saide Regent, Nobilitie, Estaittis, and
Counsall allowing of the saide overture, and will-
ing to extende our auctoritie to the furtherance
thereof, hes ordanit that the said sowme salbe
collectit of euery parochin be the Bischoppis, &c.,
and brought to Alexander Arbuthnot, burgess of
Edinburgh, the furnissar of the said warke.”

This act had a double purpose, to extend the
use of the Bible, and promote the printing of it
in Scotland. Five pounds was the sum conde-
scended upon by the Lords of Council as the price
of the Bible and Collection; but we see that Gal-
ston had forwarded to Edinburgh no less a sum
than fourteen pounds *‘ to buy the kirke Bible.”

Galston kirk, like-those of most of the other
parishes, had its Reader after the Reformation.
On the 19th March, 1689, the session ordained

that the Reader, Hector Campbell, should have
no wages, remuncration for his services arising
from certain gratuities. By another minute, 27th
December, 1639, it was statute that the session-
clerk, for the performance of certain duties as
reader, ‘‘and for the gude attending on ane
schoole,” should have * three schillings Scots
from ilk fyre house within the paroche,” &e.

From the proximity of Galston to Loudoun
Hill, the rendezvous of Montrose after the victory
of Kilsyth, the parish seems to have been in a
very excited state at the time. Various parties
were subsequently brought before the session to
answer for their misdeeds.

¢ June 16, 1646.—Present, minister, Galstoune,
Sornbeg,” &c., certain parties were summoned for
buying plundered goods from the enemy, i.e.
the soldiers of Montrose. ‘‘ Lykwyse compeirit
James Finlay and Johne Browne, for going to
Bodellbrig quben the enemie ware ther, but de-
nyed they stopit ther at all, and confessed that
they bought a horse; lykwyse that James Find-
lay restored his to the owner of it, and Johne
Browne hes oblished himself to restoure his lykwyse
if it be challenged. However, censure ut supra.

“June 28, 1646.—Qlk day compeirit Wm.
Mortoune, for buying plundered goods from Kil-
marnock, quho confessed he bought some wool,
but nothing else, and lykwyse that he restored it
to the owner, whose censure is ut supra. Lyk-
wyse compeired Geo. Stinstoune for the same
business, quho confesses he bought a pair of old
plyds, but hes not yet restored them, but hes pro-
mised to restore tbem if they be awned, quhose
censure is ut supra.”

A number of others were at the same time be-
fore the session for similar offences.

July 25, 1646.—William Law, to answer the
slander of slaying another man’s bull in time of
confusion.

OLD BUILDINGS.

The moet ancient buildings extant in the pa-
rish are those of Bar Castle and Cesnock House,
the former possessed in early times by the Lock-
harts of Bar, and the latter by the Campbells of
Cesnock. There is no remains of a strong-house
which can be assigned as the residence of the
Keiths or Stewarts of Galstoun. The * tower of
Galstoun” frequently occurs in old writs, and
Chalmers mentions the fact of a chapel having
been erected in it, so that such a building must
have existed at some period or other. The cas-
tle of * Gastoune” is, in short, mentioned as in
existence at the same time with that of Bar, by
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Sir James Balfour, in his manuscript * Collec-
tion for the Shires of Scotland.” No vestige of
it, however, now remains, and * the oldest in-
habitant” has no recollection of ever hearing of
it. Bar Castle is now almost surrounded by the
village, though originally the situation must have
been at once secluded and pleasant. The tower
is planted on a gentle knoll on the banks of the
Burnawn. It is a massive oblong square, of mo-
derate height, and still in good preservation—a
modern slate roof having been substituted in place
of the ancient stone flags. The principal entrance
was by a short outside stair, reaching to the first
floor above the keep. There is scarcely any ves-
tige of additional buildings having at any time
existed in connection with the tower, which seems
to have retained its pristine characterof a *‘ tower,”
long after these buildings, by additions and alter-
ations, had generally begun to assume the name of
places, or mansion-houses. Bar Castle was a favou-
rite haunt of a well-known, but unfortunate local
poet of no small merit, John Wright, whose *Re-
trospect,” and other poems, are highly creditable
to the unlettered muse of Scotland. He repeatedly
alludes to the tower, but more especially in one
of his small pieces addressed to ‘* Bar Castle”:—
“Bar Castle! tenantless and wild!
Dome of delight! dear haunt of mine!
The shock of ages thou hast foiled,
Since fell the last of Lockhart's line;

Thou, left a hermit, to grow gray

Oer swallow, crane, and bird of prey.”
The walls of the old garden, though somewhat
dilapidated, still enclose a space of ground devot-
ed to gardening purposes; and in a field adjacent
stands a majestic elm, among the branches of
which, according to tradition, Sir William Wal-
lace, upon one occasion, concealed himself from
his foes. Whether this may be the case or not,
the tree is of undoubted antiquity, as its huge
sapless, hollow trunk, and bare extended wither-
ed arms, clearly evince. It is celebrated as ¢ The

Warrior's Tree,” in a pleasant little volume of
prose and poetry, entitled, * Recreations of Lei-
sure Hours,”* by Archibald M‘Kay, author of
the ‘* History of Kilmarnock,” &ec.

“ The vision has passed, but the warrior's tree,

Though fading 'neath Time's chilling blight,

Btill waves its broad branches alone on the lea,

The haunt of brave Wallace the Wight.”
“In the trunk of the tree,” says Mr M‘Kay, ** is
a cavity ample enough to contain several per-
sons; and apart from the story of Wallace, to the
lover of nature it cannot fail to be highly inter-
esting.”

Cesnock House, which is still inhabited, is si-
tuated about a mile and a-half from Galston, far-
ther up the Burnawn. It occupies a steep bank at
one of the numerous bends of the stream, forming a
natural defence on two sides of the building, and
probably it was at one time defended on the other
by a trench, cut from bank to bank of the pic-
turesque Burnawn, whose beauties are depicted
in language of intense local attachment by the
poet already mentioned :—

¢ Clear, wild, romantic rill ! at sound of thee

How thrilled affection throbs through every vein!

A lovelier fountain search were vain to see;

From hills 80 rich, ne’er leaped into the main

Thy likeness yet, nor rolled through wealthier plain.
The genius of thy waters is the maid

That moistened Eden—and, unhurt, here reign
Peace, love, primeval purity, arrayed

In garb that peccancy to stain yet never strayed.”
Cesnock ITouse is a large building—several addi-
tions having, from time to time, been made to the
original square tower—the whole forming rather
more than three sides of a square. It yet retains,
even in its deserted state, an air of mellowed
grandeur, if not magnificence, amply attesting the
wealth and importance of the family who once re-
sided within its walls. It is surrounded with some
fine old trees, and commands a pleasant view of
Loudoun Castle, on the opposite side of the Ir-
vine, and of a great portion of the valley.

FAMILIES IN THE PARISH OF GALSTON.

KEITHS, STEWARTS, AND ROSSES OF GALSTON

Wood, in his Peerage of Scotland, supposes that
Sir John Keith, Great Marischal of Scotland,
who died before 1270, had a third son, ancestor
of the

KEerrus or GALSTOUX, in Ayrshire,} and father
of the gallant Sir William Keith of Galstoun, who

¢ Kilmarnock : H. Crawford and Son, 1844.
t 8ir Edward de Keith, Great Marischal of Scotland,
who sucoceeded in 1824, married Isabel de Keth, said to be
| of the family of Galstoun.
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repulsed the English with extraordinary valour at
Berwick, in 1318. He accompanied Sir James
Douglas on his expedition to Palestine with the
heart of King Robert I. in 1380. He commanded
in Berwick in 1833; was ambassador to England
in 1885, when he obtained a safe-conduct for him-
self and sixty horsemen in his retinue, and was
killed at the siege of Stirling with his own lance,
1386. He ‘‘left a daughter, Johanna Keith, heir-
ess of Galstoun; married, first, to a gentleman of
the name of Hamilton;* secondly, to Sir Alex-
ander Stewart of Derneley, and had issue by both.”
This explains a charter, confirmed during the re-
gency of the Duke of Albany, by Johanna de Keth,
Domina de Gallystoun, to her son, Andrew de
Hamyltoun, of her lands of Gallystoun, in the ba-
rony of Kyle, and shire of Are, viz., Tholock,
Uvermomunde, Langsyde, Bryntwod, Sorne, Kirk-
toun, and Dundivane. The original charter is
dated at Dalserff, the 10th December 1406. Among
the witnesses to the charter are William de Ha-
myltoun, and Jobn Stewart, sons of the said Jo-
hanna, the latter son being designated Domina de
Crukystoun. John Cambell of Gallystoun is also
a witness to the charter, so that the Keiths had
only possessed part of the lands of Galston.

The next possessors we find of Galston were the
StewARTS—no doubt & branch of the Stewarts of
Darnley.

I William Stewart, feodatarii de Galstoun,
whose son,

II. Thomas Stewart of Galstoun, was retoured
as heir of his father, March 24, 1608, viz., ‘“in
terris de Galstoun, molendino de straith, et bra-
sina, apud ecclesiam parochialem de Galstoun, cum
8 acris terre eisdem spectantibus, in baronia de
Tarboltoun,t et balliatu de Kyle-stewart.” Old
extent, £16, 18s.4d.; newextent, £83,6s.8d. Tho-
mas Stewart of Galstoun is mentioned in a variety
of documents, from 1601 till 1643. Tn 1632 oc-
curs the testament of Jeane Ros, spous to Thomas
Stewart of Galstoun, who died in December, made
and given up by the said Thomas Stewart, in name
and behalf of Margaret and Barbarat Stewarts,
their lawful bairns. He married, again, Anna
Ross, a sister of his former wife. This appears
from the testament of Dame Mareoune Boil], re-
lict of vmqle. James Archbishope of Glasgow, who
died in November 1636, ‘ maid and gevin vp be

* The gentleman, as Wood elsewhere shows, was Sir
David de Hamilton, an ancestor of the ducal house of Ha-
milton, who died in 1392.

t+ John Stewart, Lord of Kyle, cldest son of Robert, the
Steward of Scotland, granted the lands of Tarbolton and
Drumley to his cousin, 8ir John Stewart of Darnelcy.

$ 30th July, 1626.—Baptized to the laird of Galstoun
ane lawfull daughter, callit Barbara.—Witnesses, Bar and
Sornbeg.—PARIsE RECORDS.

VOL. 1I1.

Thomas Stewart of Galstoune, hir sone-in-law,”
&c. * Legacie—At Glasgow, the 24th day of
September, 1636 zeiris.—The quhilk day Dame
Mareoun Boill, &c. Item, I heirby nominat Tho-
mas Stewart of Galstoun, my sone-in-law, and
Anna Ros, my dochter, conjunctlie, &c., my onlie
executours, &c. Item, my saidis debtis being payit,
I leive the rest that sall be free to be devydit be-
tuixt the said Thomas Stewart his bairnes procreat
betuixt him and vmgle. Jeane Ros, my dochter,
and the said Anna Ros, my other executrix, sche
being in lyf,” &c. Thomas Stewart of Galstoun
frequently occurs in the session records, and his
name is mentioned in a testamentary document so
late as 1643. He appears to have been succeeded
by.
II1. Lodowick Stewart of Galston, who married
Agnes Hamiltone.* He died at Glasgow, in May
1650, leaving apparently no issue. By his latter-
will he made over his whole substance to his uncle,
George Rosse of Brownhill, Renfrewshire, brother
of his mother, who was afterwards styled

1. GEORGE RossE of Galstone.t He married,
first, Grissell Maxwell, who died at Paisley on
the 4th of April, 1647, leaving at least a daughter,
Anna Rosse. From her testament, it appears
that William Maxwell of Kowglen was the tutor
of the deccased. 'The daughter only survived till
the 4th of October of the same year. He mar-
ried, secondly, Jeane Stirling, of the house of
Glorat, and died in July, 1655, leaving two sons,
George and Mungo, but whether by his first or
second wife does not appear. The following is
the substance of his testament : * Lattre-will and
legacies.—At Glasgow, the xix day of July, 1655.
The quhilk day George Rosse of Galstone, &c.,
constituted William Andersone, yr., portioner of
Newtone, his sole executour, &c., lykas he nomi-
nats, makes, and constitutes William Barkelay of
Peirstone, James Rosse of Thornetone, and the
said William Andersone, or any two of them, tu-
touris testamentouris to George and Mungo Ross,
his lawfull children, during the zeiris of thair pu-
pilaritie, &c. Item, he lieves in legacie to Alex-
ander Rosse, his naturall sone, &c., the soume of
ane thowsand markis, &c. Item, in caice it sall
pleis God to remove the said George and Mungo
Ross, his childrein, befoir they sall attaine to the
aige of sevintein zeiris compleit, then, and in that

* Agnes Hamilt Ladie Galst in the testa-~
ment of Michaill Maire of Dalley, 1648. &he could hardly
be the wife of Thomas Stewart of Galston, although he
may have married a third time.

t+ There were Rosses, proprietors to a considerable extent,
in Galston parish before this time. Mathew Ross of Hayn-
ing was served heir of his father, “ Magistri Mathei Ros
de Hayning,” April 15, 1619, “in terris de Hayniug pa-
roche (Hayning-Ross), Overton, Netherton, Rance, Rod-
dingis,” &c.

I
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caice, he lieves in legacie to the persones eftir spe-
cifit, &c., to witt, to Jeane Stirling of Glorat, his
spous, the equall half of that soume of aught thow-
sand markis that is dew to him be Sir Mungow
Stirling of Glorat, be vertew of his contract of
marriage; as also, to the said Katherine Rosse
of Dreghorne, the soume of ane thowsand markis,
quha is dochter lawfull to the said vmgle. John
Rosse of Dreghorne; flarder, the said George
Rosse does heirby lieve to the said Alexander
Rosse, his sone, in caice it sall pleis God that the
said George and Mungo Ross, his childrein, sall
depairt this lyfe, &c., all and haill, the sowme of
ane thowsand markis,” &ec.

II. George Ross of Galstoun, one of the Com-
missioners of Supply in 1715. He married, first,
Lady Christian, third daughter of James, second
Earl of Loudoun; secondly, the widow of Alex-
ander Craufurd of Kerse.

Previous to this, the greater portion of the lands
of Galstoun, Bar, Hayning, and other properties,
had been acquired by the growing family of Ces-
nock. In 1580, we find Charles II. as heir of
Charles, Duke of Lennox, retoured, amongst
others, in the lands of Galstoune.

LOCKHARTS OF BAR.

In the Ragman Roll (about 1297) there is a
¢ Malcolm Lockhart del Conte de Air,” possibly
the progenitor of the Lockharts of Bar. That
the family was of ancient standing, and had con-
siderable ramifications in Ayrshire, there is no
doubt. The Lockharts, during the sixteenth and
seventeenth centuries, were amongst the leading
citizens of the burgh of Ayr, some of them being
merchants of no small enterprise. The first with
whom we meet in charters is,—

I. ANDREW LOCKHART, who had a charter of
the lands of Bar, Gallartlands, Makiswodeis, and
Newtoun, in the barony of Walter's Kyll, from
Robert ITI. No date is given, but it must have
been between 1390 and 1400, the limits of that
monarch’s reign. John Lockhart, probably a
brother, or his son, had a charter of the lands of
Dalry, Auchinbert, in the barony of Walter's
Kyll, from the same monarch. The next that

appears 18,—

II. John Locarde de le Bar, one of the jury in
a dispute between the burgh of Irvine and Francis
of Stane, respecting the right to a piece of muir
ground. The paper containing the decision, in
the archives of Irvine, is dated 1417.

III. Johne Lockhart of Bar, whose name first
occurs in connection with a feud with the Stewarts |

of Ochiltree, in 15560.* Jokn and Hugh, his bro-
thers-german, are also mentioned in the Criminal
Records.t Lockhart was a zealous supporter of
Knox, and in the same year was warmly engaged
in the spoliation of various churches. His name
occurs in a * remission to Robert, Lord Boyd, by
Henry and Marie, for assisting the Duke of Chas-

selherault in taking the Castles of Haddington

and Draffin,” dated 28d April, 1560.1 * In the

beginning of the year 1556, Knox was conducted

by Lockhart of Bar, and Campbell of Kinean-

cleugh, to Kyle, the ancient receptacle of the Scot-

tish Lollards, where there were a number of adhe-

rents to the Reformed doctrine. He preached in

the houses of Bar, Kineancleugh, Carnell, Ochil-

tree, and Gadgirth.”§ He signed the band, along

with a number of other Ayrshire gentlemen, for

the protection of Knox, when the Reformer pro-

ceeded to that county on his famous expedition

to meet Abbot Kennedy, of Corssraguel, at May-

bole, in 1562. He married a daughter of Mure

of Rowallan, relict of the laird of Newark. He

had issue,

1. James, who predeceased him. On the 10th July, 1568,
was baptized Willlam Lockhart, son to James Lock-
hart, younger of Bar.|

2. John, who succeeded.

He died in or before 1575, in which year his son,

IV. Johne Lockhart of Bar was served heir.
He seems, like his father, to have taken an active
interest in public affairs. Knox mentions that
‘* the young laird of Bar” was ‘‘a traveller” in
the affair of a projected marriage between Queen
Mary and the King of Sweden, in 1562. This,
however, must have referred to his elder brother,
James. He married a daughter of Mure of Row-
allan, he and his father having thus married two
sisters.

V. George Lockhart of Bar is mentioned in
the testament of John Campbell in Boirdland, in
1601. George Lockhart of Bar again occurs in
the testament of ** Williame Brown, merchand
burges of Air,” in 1618 ; while * Johne Lock-
hart of Bar and his wife,” are also mentioned in
the same document.

[It would appear from what follows (No. VIIL.),
that the lands of Bar passed about this time from
the Lockharts of Bar into the hands of their re-
latives, the Lockharts of Boghall, near Ayr.]

VI. Johnne Lockhart of Bar, who died in
1614, and from whose latter-will the following is
an extract:—* Testament, &c. and Inuentor, &e.

® Vol. i. p. 952.

t He had another brother, Alexander, killed, according
to Knox, at the siege of Leith.

$ Boyd Charter Chest.

§ MCrie's Knox.

| Parish Records.
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qlks. perteinit to vmgle. Johnne Lockhart of Bar,
. « Quha deceist in the moneth of Apnle,
1614, fiaytfullie maid and gevin vp be his awin
mouth, &c.
Debtis awand out . . . To Johnne Lock-
hart, sone to George Lockhart, sumtyme of Bar,*
to be payit to him eftir the deceis of his fether and
mother, the sowme of fyve thowsand and thrie
hundrith markis. To William Cvnynghame, tutor
of Aiket, Twa thowsand and sevin hundrith markis.
To Jeane Cvnynghame, dochter to the I.aird of
Robertland, Twa thowsand twa hundrith markis.
.+« « To James Campbell of Steinstoun, his
bairnes, aucht hundrith markis.

Legacie. At Air, the saxtein day of Aprile,
1614, The quhilk day the said vmqle. Johnne com-
mittis his saull to God, his creatour and maker,
to be with him in glorie as redeimit with the
pretious bluid of his saviour and redeemer, Jesus
Chryst; and ordanes his bodie to be bureyt in the
kirkzaird of Air, in the burial place of his vimgle.
father. Item, he nominats, &c. Mareoun Cvn-
ynghame, his spous, Johnne, Margret, and Jonet
Lockharts, his bairnes, his onlie executouris, &ec.
Item, he willis and ordanes the said Mareoun
Cvnynghame, his spous, to intromit, &c., quhill
the said Johnne Lockhart, his sone, be twentie
ane zeir of age compleit, quherby scho may keip
and hald him at the scholls eredutioune and ver-
tew, quhill they may defray and pay to the said
Johnne Lockhart of Bar, his Lawfull debtis awand
be him. Item, the said Johnne Lockhart of Bar
loveinglie intreitis, requeistis his honorabill and
loving Maisters, Alexander Erle of Dumfermling,
Chanceler of Scotland, my Lord Abircorne, my
Lord of Lowdoun, and Sir Claud Hamiltoun of

knyt, to tak the patronomie of his |.

puir wyf and bairnes, and to sie thame nocht op-
prest nor wrangit. Item, he wills and requeistis
his guid freindis, Wm. M‘Kerrell of Hillhouse and
Johnne Power, merchand, burges of Edinburgh,
to concur with his wyf and bairnes in all the laut-
full adois, as he wold evir bein reddy to do the
lyk for thame., Item, he levis to the puir ane
hundrith ma.rhs [he concludes by several small
bequests to his servants,] and this testament, maid
at day, zeir, and place foirsaid, befoir thir witness,
Hew Lockhart, his brother-germane, George Ma-
soun, notar,” &c. Mareonn Cvnynghame, Lady
Bar, died in January, 1628.

VIL John Lockhart of Bar, son of the preced-
ing, succeeded. He died in April, 1624. He
seems to have died suddenly, as he is one of the

* In the testament of the master of Loudoun, 1613, John
Lockhart is mentioned as “son to George Lockhart, sum-
tyme of Bar.”

executors appointed in the’ testament of George
Campbell of Cesnock, who died in February of
the same year. It was probably a daughter of
this laird of Bar, Margaret, who was married to
Neil Montgomerie of Lainshaw, about 1630.

VIIL Johnne Lockhart of Bar was served heir
to Alexander Lockhart of Boghall, his grand-
father, in the lands of Boghall, &c., 24th June,
1630. His name, which is attached to the * so-
lemn league and covenant,” in 1640, repeatedly
occurs in the session records from 1626. He
is mentioned as one of the overseers in the testa-
ment of Mr Alexander Blair, minister at Galston,
in 1643, and * Jon. Lockhart of Bar” again oc-
curs in a similar document, in 1651.

IX. John Lockhart of Bar and his lady, Bar-
bara Jamieson, are mentioned in the town records
of Ayr, in 1672. Sometime before, the estate of
Bar, and others in the vicinity, were acquired by
the Campbells of Cesnock. In 1686, the lands
of Cesnock, Galstoun, Barr, &c., belonging to
Sir Hugh and George Campbells, were disjoined
from the Crown in favour of John Viscount Mel-
fort.

S8CHAWS OF 80RNBEG.

The Schaws of Sornbeg were a branch of the
ancient family of Hayley. They appear to have
acquired Sornbeg, and other lands, from the noble
house of Cathcart by wadset. The first of them
was,

1. ANDREW ScHAW of Sornbeg, son to Hayley.
He was infeft in the lands of Sornbeg, Polkemmet,
‘Whitburn, and other lands in the shire of Ayr and
Linlithgow, &e., 21st May, 1447.

II. Alexander Schaw of Sornbeg and Polkem-
met, his son, resigned the lands of Polkemmet in
fuvour of Sir Robert Hamilton of Preston,in 1486.
He was succeeded by his son,

III. William Schaw of Sornbeg. He was infeft
in the lands of Polkemmet and Sornbeg on the
14th March, 1486, and in the lands of Flockside,
in the shire of Renfrew, 20th April, 1487. He
was succeeded by his son,

IV. Jobn Schaw of Sornbeg, who was infeft in
the lands of Flockside, &c., 28th May, 1529.

V. Andrew Schaw of Sornbeg, his son, was
served heir in special to William Schaw of Sorn-
beg and Polkemmet, his grandfather, in the five
pound land of old extent of Helington; five pound
land of old extent of Knockindale; fifty shilling
land of old extent of Goldring; the lands, barony,
and fortalice of Sornbeg, and others, in the shire
of Ayr, 18th December, 1547. The lands of Pol-
kemmet, Sornbeg, Foulshiels, &c., having fallen
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into the hands of Queen Mary, by reason of non-
entry, in 1549, they were gifted to David Hamil-
ton of Preston, in trust, it would appear, for An-
drew Schaw, the nearest heir, upon which he
obtained a charter, under the Great Seal, in fa-
vour of himself and John Schaw, his son, dated
4th March, 1550. In 1555, he purchased the
lands of Hayley from his relative, John Schaw.
The sasine, proceeding npon a charter of feu-right,
was in favour of * Andre Schaw and Robert Schaw,
his son, of Sornbeg.” In 1589, Andrew Schaw
was infeft in the lands of Flockside, upon a pre-
cept forth of the Chuncellary, as heir to his father,
Jobn; and, on the 2d March, 1590, he obtained
a charter from Queen Mary in favour of himself
and his son, John,* of the lands of Sornbeg and
others. He married Ilelene Ross, who died in
1551. Her testument is dated at Galston, the
last day of February in that year. It was written
in Latin by Alexander Arbukill, curate of Gals-
ton. She directed that her body should be
buried in the church of St Peter of Galston, and
that 4s. should be given toward the repair of
the church of Glasgow. ller executors were,
Andrew Schaw, her spouse, and John, Robert,
and William, her sons. Amongst the debts ow-
ing was a sum of £253, 6s. 8d. Scots, due by Hugh
Wallace of Carnell, restand of a contract of mar-
riage between John Schaw, son and heir of An-
drew, and Helen Wallace, daughter of the said
Hugh. Amongst the witnesses was William Schaw,
brother of Andrew. He was succceded by his
eldest son,

VI. John Schaw of Sornbeg, who married, 28th
April, 1550,t as already indicated, Helen Wallace,
daughter of Wallace of Carnel, or Cairnhill. He
was succeeded by his son,

VII. John Schaw of Sornbeg, in 1592. He
was infeft upon a precept forth of the Chancellary,
as heir to Andrew Schaw, his grandfather, in the
foresaid lands of Sornbeg, Helington, Knockin-
dale, Goldring, &c.; and, on the 28th October,
1608, he was infeft in the lands of Polkemmet,
&c., as heir to John Schaw of Polkenmet, his
father. In 1615, upon his own resignation, he
obtained a charter from James VI. erccting the
haill lands into the barony of Sornbeg; and, in
1620, he granted a charter to his son, Patrick, at
his marriage, of the lands of Polkemmet.

Agnes Dunbar, Ladie Sornbeg, who died in
1603, must have been the wife of this laird of
Sornbeg. In her testament, she constituted * Mr
Ard. Drummuire, scholemaster at Air, hir guid-
sone, and Janet Schaw, hir dochter, his spous,

Te So states the writer in the Appendix to Nisbet.
+ Date of contract of marriage.

executouris and intromittouris with hir gnids and
geir.” She left ¢ ane zoung kow” to her ‘¢ oye,
John Drummuire.”

The laird survived till 1623 ; at least there was
a John Schaw of Sornbeg died in that year, who
had a daughter, Agnes, married to Johne Masoune
in Barnaiche. He was succeeded by his son,

VIII. Patrick Schaw of Sornbeg. He is men-
tioned as of Sornbeg in the testament of Robert
Broune, merchand in Kilmarnock, in 1628, al-
though his service as heir to his father did not
take place till 25th Angust, 1631. He signed the
“Solemn League and Covenant” in 1640, and
his name occurs in testamentary documents, and
in the parish records, down till 1646. He resign-
ed in favour of John, his son, and John, his grand-
son, who were infeft under the Grent Seal in 1699.
He married a daughter of Durham of Duntervie,
by whom he bad his heir, and, as appears from
the parish register, another son called Thomas.
¢ 24th of July 1626.—Baptized to Patrick Schaw
of Sornbeg ane lawfull soune, callit Thumas; wit-
nesses, John Lockhart of Bar, Johne Neilsoune
of Maxwood.”

IX. John Schaw of Sornbeg, his son and sac-
cessor, married, in 1651, Isabel Boswell, second
daughter of David Boswell of Auchinleck, by
whom he had,

X. John Schaw of Sornbeg, who married Ma-
rion Kennedy, daughter of Kennedy of Kilhenzie.
He had a mortification of his property in 1672.
He had issue:

1. John, his successor.
2. Alexander, writer in Edinburgh.

1. Anne, married to Graham of Drynie.
2. Catharine, married to Mackenzie of Suddie.

XI. Captain John Schaw of Sornbeg held =
commission in the First Royals, with which regi-
ment he served in America. He was served heir
to his futher and grandfather in 1720.

CAMPBRLL OF CESNOCK.

It seemns to be pretty satisfactorily shown by
Robertson, from the entail executed by Hugh
Lord Loudoun in 16138, that the ancestor of the
Cesnock family must have been a second son of
George Campbell, No. VIL. of Loudoun. The
name, however, has not been ascertained.

1. —— CawmpBEeLL of Cesnock. He married
Lady Janet Montgomerice, seventh daughter of
Hugh, first Earl of Eglintoun. This appears from
the Records of Parliament, 7th November, 1513,
—the Earl having become surety for his daughter,
Janet, Lady Cesnock.

II. John Campbell of Cesnock, no doubt the
son of the foregoing. Ie married Janet, third
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daughter of Sir Hugh Campbell of Loudoun, his
cousin-german,—which marriage, according to
Craufurd, took place in 1563. He was succeeded
apparently by his son,

III. George Campbell of Cesnock, mentioned
in Knox’s History of the Reformation before
1550.

1IV. George Campbell of Cesnock was served
heir to his father on the 16th of October, 1578, in
the £42 lands of Cesnock and Galston,* of old
extent, which, in the reckoning of those times,
makes a very considerable property. There is also
a Crown charter, dated 6th February, 1597, in
favour of George Campbell of Cesnock, and Agnes
Cuninghame, his spouse, a lady of the Caprington
family.

Robertson supposes that this is the George
Campbell of Cesnock mentioned in the Loudoun
entail of 1618, and who, after the death of his
first wife, married secondly a daughter of Ker of
Kersland. There is good reason to believe, how-
cver, that they were two different persons. Be-
sides the long interval between the succession and
the death of the party, according to Robertson,
and the fact of two marriages, the second George,
according to our view of the matter, is styled ‘* Mr
George Campbell of Cesnock,” in a testamentary
document in 1600,—showing that he had been
brought up to some of the learned professions,
and must have been a different person from George
No. IV., probably his son.

V. Mr George Campbell of Cesnock married
Anna, daughter of Daniel Ker of Kersland. In
Kersland’s will, 1613, * George Campbell of Ces-
nock” appears as a creditor for ** thrie thowsand
markis” ‘¢ restand of his tocher guid, conforme
to his contract of mariage.”t His name also oc-
curs as one of the legatees in the will of the Mas-
ter of Loudoun, who died in 1612, and as a cre-
ditor for eleven hundred and fifty marks in that
of Lady Loudoun, 1n 1617. He was one of the
commissioners appointed by Parliament, in 1608,
to regulate the price of hides, ** buits and shoone,”
in consequence of * the grite and extraordinair
derth and pryces rasit vponne the buitis and shone
through all pairtis of this countrey.” He died in
1624. The following is an extract of his will :—
‘¢ Legacie.—At the towre of Galstoune,} the tent
day of Februar 1624.—The qubilk day George

¢ Part of the lands of Galston only—a portion being
then in the possesaivn of the Stewarts of Galston.

t George Campbell of C k obtained the lands of
Tulloch, which formerly belonged to William Walluee of
Dulland, and Andrew Faulds, from Alexander Nisb.. of
Greenholm, 12th June, 1613.—BoYD I'APERS.

$ The Cesnock portion of the lands of Galston had thus
contained the old tower.

Campbell of Cesnok nominats, &c., Anna* Ker,
my spous, my only executrix, &c. Item, I nomi-
nat, &c., the said Anna Ker, my spous, tutrix
testamenter to Hew, George,t and Margaret
Campbells, my bairnes, procreat betwixt me and
hir; and ordanes in speciall Alexr. Erle of Eglin-
toune, John Lord of Loudoun, Sir William Cvn-
ynghame of Caprington, knyt, and David Dunbar
of Enterkin, to be overscaris, &c. . . . . with the
assistance of Kersland, my guid-brother, and the
laird of Blackbie (?) That my leving be tane vp
for the weile of my hous, and releif of my bur-
dingis, as they sall answer to God. Item, I or-
dane my said spous to content and pay thir lega-
cies vnderwrittin to the persones eftir specifit, viz.
Imprimis, to the distressit minesterie, and to be
distributit be sicht of Mr James Cvnynghame,
minister at Cesnock, Mr James Greg, minister at
New Mylnes, Mr James Inglis, minister at Daylie,
and Mr James Bonar, minister at Mayboill, the
sowme of fyve hundrith markis.” How long his
lady, Anna Ker, survived him, does not appear,
but she was alive in 1630. He was succceded by
his son,

VI. Hew Campbell of Cesnock, who, on the
27th May, 1630, was retoured heir to his father
in the £20 land, old extent, of Cesnock, the eighth
part of the muir of Galstoun, and the fourth part
of the muir of Cesnock,—from which it appears
that the property, though still extensive, had been
considerably reduced. He married Lady Eliza-
beth, second daughter and co-heiress of George,
Master of Loudoun, and with her obtained con-
siderable estates, part of the family lands of Lou-
doun; so that, besides being the male represen-
tative of that noble family, the descendants of this
marriage are also nearest in blood to the Loudoun
Campbells, failing the descendants of Lady Mar-
garet, the eldest sister. By this marriage, accord-
ing to Robertson, there were four sons :

1. George, born in 1639, who was knighted in his fa-
ther's time. .

2. James, ancestor of Treesbanks.

8. Captain Hugh Campbell of Barquharrie. §

4. John, ancestor of Fairfield. |
Hew Campbell of Cesnock wus a member for the
county of Ayr in the Parlianment which met in
1639 and 1641, and in which Charles 1. attended

in person. He was of the Presbyterian party

# In the testament of Margaret Schaw, Riccartoun, she
is styled “ Nans Ker, Lady Cesnock.”

t « George Campbell, brother-german to the laird of
Cesnock,” is witness to a baptism in 1637.

t George, son to Hew Campbell of Cesnock, was bap-
tized 17th March, 1639. Witnesses, Johne Lord Loudoun,
John Lockhart of Bar.—PAROCHIAL REGISTER.

§ It is somewhat doubtful whether Captain Hugh was a
son or grandson of Sir Hew. If a son, he must have been
neurly 60 ycars of age when he married, In 1702,

1 This is also questionable.
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during the troubles which led to the death of
Charles I. In 1643 the laird of Cesnock was one
of the committee of war, and, along with the lairds
of Rowallan and Houstoun, had the command of
all the cavalry of the county, save those of Car-
rick, which were to be commanded by such as the
Earl of Cassillis “sall appoynt.” He had the
same appointment in 1648. He opposed the esta-
blishment of the Commonwealth in Scotland,* and
was one of the representatives of Ayrshire in the
Parliament held in 1649 and 1650 by Charles II.
in person. He appears to have been knighted
about this time; for in 1649, we find Sir Hew
Campbell of Cesnock supplicating Parliament to
bave his purchase confirmed of the hundreth and
nine merkland of Riccarton, which he had acquired
from the laird of Craigie, elder, Sheriff-depute of
Edinburgh. He was appointed Lord Justice-
Clerk by the Parliament of 1649, and is so styled
in the records, but it appears he declined to act.

Sir Hew took no part in public affairs at the
Restoration in 1660; and it seems rather unac-
countable, in the absence of any specific charge
against him, that he should have been one of those
exempted from the act of indemnity passed in
1662. On the contrary, he was subjected to
heavy fines, first of £800 Scots, and again of
£1500. In 1665, Sir Hew was confined in the
Castle of Edinburgh for two years, and not libe-
rated till he granted a bond to keep the peace.
No reason was ever assigned for such tyrannical
procedure. In 1683, both Sir Hew and his son,
Sir George, were thrown into prison, on a charge
of having been concerned in the rising at Both-
well. In 1684, Sir Hew was brought to trial. He
was defended by his friend, Sir Patrick Hume of
Polwarth, advocate; but, as related by Wodrow,
he would have been convicted but for the break-
ing down of a witness apparently suborned and
paid to give evidence. The witness was so con-
science-struck with the manly appearance of Sir
Hew at the bar, that he would not confirm, on
oath, what he had previously declared. Sir Hew
was in consequence acquitted.t

# It i3, however, somewhat questionable whether he was
hearty in this opposition. In 1650, Lord Mauchline and
Colonel Robert Montgomerie complain to Parliament, that
of the 500 horse appointed to be raised in Ayrshire, only
146 had been brought in by the Earl of Eglintoun, and
189 by C k, while Colonel K dy of Kirkhill had
not brought in his number.

t His own defence was,—* That though several fleld-
conventicles had been kept in the country where he lived,
yet he had permitted none to be upon his ground; that
neither himself, children, or servants, had been present at
any of them; that as he kept his own parish church regu-
larly, so, missing two of his servants there one Lord’s-day,
he caused them to be kept out of his gates till the Sabbath
was over, and next morning called for them, paid them
their wages, and dismissed them; that during the time of

Notwithstanding of their acquittal, both father
and son were still detained in prison; and in the
following year were again put upon trial as acces-
sories to the Ryehouse Plot. At the trial, the
Cesnocks, elder and younger, admitted that ** they
were at the meeting mentioned in Monro's depo-
sition, and threw themselves upon the king’s mer-
cy.” The Parliament accordingly found the dit-
tay proven, and sentence of forfaulture was pro-
nounced against them—their lives being spared,
in consequence of their having thrown themselves
upon the mercy of the court. Their estates were
accordingly annexed to the Crown, and Sir Hew
and his son ordered into confinement in the Bass,
until his majesty's pleasure should be known. The
following year, 1686, the estate was digjoined from
the Crown, and conferred upon John Drammond,
Viscount of Melfort, one of the cabinet, by whom,
it is supposed, the accusation against the Camp-
bells had been chiefly urged. The property is
thus described in the Act:—** The lands and ba-
rony of Riccarton; the lands and barony of Ces-
nock and Galstoun, with the tower of Cesnock,
and pertinents; the lands and barony of Castle-
mains and Cumnock, and the lands and barony of
Haining-Ross—all lying within the sheriffdom of
Ayr, formerly possessed by Sir Hugh and Sir
George Campbell, some time of Cesnock.”

Sir Hugh Campbell did not long survive his
unjust forfeiture and harsh treatment. It should
seem that, on account of his infirmities, he had
been relieved from his imprisonment in the Bass,
and had come to Edinburgh, where he died, on
the 20th September, 1686, which appears from
an old memorandum-book, in the possession of a
descendant :—** Monday, September 20th, 1686.
Sir Hugh Campbell died this day, in his son
Hugh’s chambers, in Edinburgh, of seven days
sickness, which he contracted on the Monday
night previous. He was buried by torch light, at
6 o'clock on the Thursday following, in the Grey-

the libelled rebellion, he was 8o far from encouraging it
that he retired to Gilchrist (perhaps writ for Gilcherscroft,)
a strong house, and abode there till it was over; that he
had put off his ground all his tenants who were said to be
at Bothwell, as aoon as they were convict; that if he was
found guilty in that matter, he was most willing to underly
the law, but he knew he was innocent; that one of the wit-
nesses adduced against him he never saw before, as far as
he knew, but could prove he had declared in several places
that he would do Cesnock an ill turn, becanse he had in-
formed about a he (the witness) had mitted.”
The proof against him simply amounted to this—* That
the pannel having met with the persons mentioned coming
from the rebels in arms, June 1679, and having asked them
where they had been, and when they had told him they
had come from the westland army, he said, he had seen
more going to them than coming from them; and he hav-
ing asked them if they were to return, and they answered
they knew not, said to them, he liked not runaways, and
thsat they should get help if they bide by it."—Wobgow.
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friars’ churchyard, aged 71 years in March, 1686.
Note.—I understand that Sir Hugh Campbell's
death was occasioned by being at that time, in
consequence of some false information, taken to
the Canongate jail, which brought on bad health,
and killed him.”

Soon after the Revolution, there was an act
passed in Parliament, rescinding all the forfeitures
and fines that had occurred since the year 1665.
The lands of Cesnock were consequently restored
to the family.

VII. Sir George Campbell of Cesnock was
served heir to his father on the 5th March, 1691.
In the previous year he had been appointed Lord
Justice-Clerk, and one of the Lords of Session.
Sir George married, in 1665, Mrs Anna M‘Mou-
ran, heiress of an estate in Fife, as appears from
a charter in his favour, dated the 24th of Novem-
ber of that year. By this lady he had three
daughters: Mary, the eldest, was married to Wil-
liam Gordon of Earlstoun, without issue. Chris-
tian, the youngest, was married to Dr Francis
Pringle. The second daughter, Margaret, was
married in 1697, to Sir Alexander Hume, advo-
cate, afterwards Earl of Marchmont. He was
the second son of Sir Patrick Hume of Polwarth,
the great friend of the late Sir Hugh Campbell,
and of the family; and who had himself suffered
great hardships during the persecutions that pre-
ceded the Revolution ; but in reward for his signal
services, had been, in 1696, constituted Lord High
Chancellor of Scotland, and, in 1697, was created
Earl of Marchmont.

VIII Sir Alexander Hume, on the death of
Sir George, assumed the name of Campbell, and,
in right of his wife, succeeded to the property of
Cesnock. He was a man of great abilities, and
filled, at different times, several high and counfi-
dential offices in the State. He became second
Earl of Marchmont, on the death of his father, in
1724, his elder brother, Patrick, Lord Polwarth,
having died in 1710. He himself died in 1740,
By his lady, Margaret of Cesnock, he had four
sons :—

1. George, Lord Polwarth, who died in 1724, in the

twenty-first year of his age.

2. Patrick, who died the same year.

afterwards.

3. Hugh, of whom
4. Alexander Hume Campbell, & twin-brother with Hugh.

He married Miss Pettis; but died without issue in
1760, In the fifty-third year of his age.
There were four daughters, of whom two were
married, but only one had issue, namely,—
Lady Anne Hume Campbell, married to Sir Willlam
Purves of Purveshall, Berwickshire.
IX. Hugh, third Earl of Marchmont, third son
of Sir Alexander Hume Campbell, the second
Earl, succeeded his father in 1740. He died in

1794, in the eighty-sixth year of his age. He was
a man of distinguished abilities, and of great poli-
tical and literary talents. He was one of the re-
presentative Peers of Scotland from 1750 till
1784, ** during which he punctually attended the
House of Lords, taking an active part in business,
being exceeded by none in Parliamentary infor-
mation and experience.” He was twice married:
first, to Miss Anne Western, by whom he had
Patrick, Lord Polwarth, who died young, and
three daughters. He married, secondly, Eliza-
beth Crompton, by whom he had a son, Alexan-
der, Lord Polwarth, afterwards a British Peer,
by the title of Lord Hume of Berwick. The Earl
alienated the ancient estate of the Campbells,
concentrating his whole property in Berwickshire,
the more ancient seat of his own family.

Arms of Cesnock—Girony of eight pieces, or
and sable, for Argyle; within a bordure, gules,
charged with eight escalops of the first; and a
canton, also girony of eight pieces, ermine and
gules, for Loudoun.

Crest—A Pheenix head erased, or.

Motto—Constanter et prudenter.

The arms of Hume Campbell are to be seen on
a brass plate, still on the door of Cesnock house.

The property of Cesnock has passed through
various hands since it was alienated by the March-
mont family. The Dicks of Cesnock seem to
have been the next proprietors. John Dick of
Cesnock had a daughter, baptized October 17,
1719, called Marjory;* and, again, a son, whose
name is not mentioned, on the 11th February,
1721. Cesnock was subsequently acquired by
John Wallace, second son of John Wallace of
Cairnhill, who possessed it before 1778, in which
year, 28d September, ‘‘ John Wallace of Ces-
nock” had a son, William, baptized.t Ile had
another son, James Mazwell, baptized, born 21st
February, 1788. Soon after this, in 1787, Ces-
nock was acquired by the trustees of Miss Scott,
late Duchess of Portland, and it now remains in
the hands of the Duke.

CAMPBELL OF BARQUHARRIE AND MAYFIELD.

There were several branches of the Cesnock
family, the principal amongst whom, connected
with the parish of Galston, was the Campbells of
Barquharrie and Mayfield. According to Ro-
bertson,

* Session Records.
+ Ibid.
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L. CarraiNn HueH CAMPBELL of Barquharrie
was the third son, or grandson, of Sir Hugh Camp-
bell of Cesnock and Elizabeth, second daughter
of George, master of Loudoun. He married, 5th
June, 1702, Margaret Boswell, second daughter
of David Boswell of Auchinleck, by Anne, daugh-
ter of James Hamilton of Dalziel, and had issue.

II. Hugh Campbell of Barquharrie, afterwards
of Mayfield,* Comptroller of the Customs at Ayr.
He married, 10th January, 1727, Margaret,
daughter of David Henderson of Tinochside, by
whom he had, says Robertson, three sons, Hugh,
Claud, and Bruce. He had, however, at least
another son, whose name occurs as follows in the
parochial registers: * Hume Campbell, son of
Hew Campbell of Barquharrie, was born and bap-
tized at the Tower of Cesnock, the 15th of Ja-
nuary, 1742;” but this son may bave died young.

III. Bruce Campbell, the youngest, was de-
signed of Mayfield and Milrig, or of Hillhouse, as
he is sometimes styled in the parochial registers,
from which it seems probable that his elder bro-
thers had died early, or unmarried. He married
Annabella, daughter of James Wilson, Esq., Kil-
marnock, by whom he had issue :—

1. Hugh of Burquharrie, Captain in the 85th regiment,
who married, 18th December, 1797, Sophia, youngest
daughter of Thomas Barber, Esq. of Greaseley, in Not-
tinghamshire, and dying at Bath, 5th January, 1824,
left issue:

1. Hugh Bruce of Barquharrie, now residing at Not-~
tingham, born 8th April, 1803, who married, first,
Anne, daughter of —— Hurd, Esq. of Kentish
Town, by whom he had no issue; and, secondly,
in October, 1832, Elizabeth, daughter of E. Werge,
Esq. of Hexgrave Park, Nottinghamshire.

2. Thomas Alexander.

3. Willam.

4. John.

1. Anne, married to the late George Douglas, Esq.
of Roddinghead, Ayrshire.

2. Annabella, married to William Comyn, Esq. of
the county Clare.

8. Sophin LElizabeth, married to Denis Browne, Esq.
of Brownestoun, Ireland.

2. Bruce, born 25th May, 1775, Captain E. I. C.’s Naval
Service, died unmarried.

8. Al der, born September, 1778, & Captain in the
74th regiment, and of distinguished bravery. Of his
services, particularly at the memorable battle of Assaye,
honourable mention is frequently made in Col. Welch's
“ Reminiscences of India.” He died of his wounds,
in October, 1805. The Duke of Wellington, on hear-
ing of his death, wrote a very complimentary letter to
his brother, dated Berkley Square, March, 1806. * He
was an officer,” says the Duke, “ with whom I had the
advantage of eerving frequently, and I never knew
one of his rank and situation in whom I could place
more confidence, with a more certain belief that my
expectations from him would not be disappointed.”

4. John, late in Sornbeg.

5. William, born 4th May, 1788, died in January, 1830.

* Mayfield was part of the lands of Gulston, formerly
belonging to the Stewarts.

t * Alexander, son to Bruce Campbell of Hillhouse, born
23d September, 1778."—PAROCHIAL REGISTER.

1. Euphemia, married to her cousin, Hugh Wilson, Esq,
Kilmarnock, and died in 1817, leaving a son, Hugh
Campbell Wilson.

2. Marianne, died in April, 1825, unmarried.

Besides these, there are the baptisms of a son and
two daughters recorded in the parish registers.
Bruce Campbell of Mayficld had a son, whose
name i8 not given, born on Thursday, 20th Ja-
nuary, 1774, ‘about half an hour after 11 at
night :” * Susanna, daughter to Bruce Campbell
of Hillhouse, Esq., born on Sabbath, 23d of Sep-
tember, 1777;” and ‘‘Margaret Boyd, daughter
to Bruce Campbell of Hillhouse, born 11th Fe-
bruary, 1782.”

Mr Campbell died in February, 1813, aged 79.
He sold the estate of Milrig, which formed part
of the paternal property acquired from Cesnock,
to Colonel Hughs, who, in turn, disposed of it
to the late Gordon, Esq. of Milrig. It is
now possessed by Captain A. D. Tait.

Arms—Girony of eight pieces, or and sable,
within a bordure, gules, charged with eight escal-
lops, of the first; and a canton, also girony of
eight pieces, ermine and gules.

Crest—A Pheenix head, erased.

AMlotto—Constanter ct prudenter.

There were several other families of the name
of Campbell, all connected with Cesnock or Lou-
doun, in the parish of Galston, such as Campbell
of Windyhill, Campbell of Waterhaughs, &c.
Amongst other small proprictors, there were the
Lockharts of Tempill, Adams of Brewland, Neil-
souns of Maxwood, Rosses of Ilayning, Meikles
of Clokisland, Patouns of Straith, Richmonds of
Peirisland, Mitchells of Escherzairdis, Mitchels of
Littlemont, &c.*

Of the modern proprietorships of Lanfine and
Holmes we have little information.

The lands of Lanfine belonged to the Church.
In 1489, as Chalmers states, Mr John Charteris,
as chaplain of Galston, obtained a letter of con-
firmation of them for life. After the Reformation,
they were acquired by Lockhart of Bar, who took
an active part in the overthrow of the Popish
ecclesiastical structure. The properties of Green-

¢ The following list of the heritors of Galston parish
occurs in the presbytery records, 20th April, 1727 :—* The
heritors of Galston being called, there compeired John,
Duke of Glasnock, for the Earl of Marchmont; the lairds
of Greenholm, Waterhaughs, Bruntwood, Bankhead; Mr
Fawsyde, by his letter; Alexander Morison of Cowrsbrae-
head; John Aitain, for David Crawford; John Browniug
of Bankhouse; John Adam of Brewlands; John Gebbie of
Middlethird; William Findlay of Crofthead; Alexander
Meikle of Strath; John Woodburn of Ashyards; James
Young of Whitehorn; Alexander Meikle of Priestland;
Hugh Brown, for John Smith of Ashyards; John Aiton of
Tilloch and Groweraig; James Brown of Ronaldeamp.”
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holme* and Lanfine were acquired by JonN
Bgrowx, of the well-known Glasgow banking firm
of Carrick, Brown, & Co., who was succeeded by
the late NicoL BrRowx of Lanfine. The present
proprietor, THOMAS BROWN, second cousin of
Nicol, is liferented in the lands of Lanfine. He is
heir to his brother of Langside, near Glasgow.

The Holmes appears to have been the lands
styled of old ** Stewart-Gallesholme,” or the holm
lands of Galston. They were purchased from the
Earl of Marchmont in 1770, by Mr Patrick Clark,
merchant. * Janet Clark, daughter of Patrick
Clark of Holmes and Margaret Fairley, being
their fourth daughter, born 21st June, 1785.”t
They had also a daughter, born at Holmes, 5th
June, 1789. On the death of Mr Clark, in 1796,
the Holmes was purchased by the late Mungo
FAIRLIE, one of three brothers who made for-
tunes in the East and West Indies. Mungo died
& bachelor in 1819, and was succeeded by his
nephew, the present proprietor, JAMES FAIRLIE
of Holmes.

FAIRLIE OF HOLMES.

The Fuirlies, of whom Holmes is a branch, are
understood to be descended from the Fairlies of
that Ilk, near Largs. About 1650, the principal
purt of the property was alienated to Boyle of
Kelburn. A cadet of the fumily,

1. TRoMAS FAIRLIE settled in Irvine about the
middle of the seventeenth century, and married
Jane Francis, of the ancient family of Francis of
Stane, and had one son,

¢ The estate of the ancient family of Nisbet, in Loudoun
parish.

t Lurish Register.

VOL. I1.

II. James, who was twice married, and had a
family by both wives. By his first, Jane David-
son, there were three sons, the eldest,

1. John, married Agnes, eldest daughter of
Mungo Mure of Bruntwood, and had issue, four
sons and three daughters, the eldest son,

IV. James, of Bellficld, shire of Ayr, and
formerly of Jamaica, married Sarah Bell, relict
of John Mitchell, Esq., and had issue, three
daughters and one son,

V. James, the present proprietor of Holmes,
Lieut.-Colonel Commandant of the Ayrshireerl(:-
manry, a deputy-licutenant and justice of the
peace of the pootfnty of Ayr. Hec succeeded his
father in 1819, and his uncle, Mungo Fairlie of
Holmes, in the same year. He inarried, in 1821,
Agnes Maria, cldest daughter of the late William
Fairlie of London, and formerly of Calcutta, and
has issue,—

. James, Bengnl Light Cavalry.
‘William, merchaut in Calcutta.
Mungo.

. John Robert, Madras Light Cavalry.
Edward.

Patrick.

Charles Hay.

Henry Alexander.

. Margaret Ogilvy, married R. H. H. Knightley, Esq. of
H.M. 76th regiment.

. Sarah Adelaide.

. Agnes Maria.

. Mary Jane Sophia.

Louisa Emmeline Ann, and Thomas Francis, died in

infancy.

rENAesm0m

[l d

Arms—Argent, on a cheveron sable, between
three water budgets of thc second, as many mol-
lets, or, all within a bordure ermine.

Crest—A lion’s head couped proper.

Motto—Meditare.



PARISH OF GIRVAN.

ETYMOLOGY, EXTENT, &c.

The name of this parish is of Celtic derivation.
The town of Girvan, where the church stands, was
of old called Inver-Garvan, from its being erected
at the mouth of the river Garvan, which here en-
ters the sea. Garv-Avan, or Garvan, signifies
the rough or rapid river—a name peculiarly de-
scriptive of the Girvan. The river thus gave the
name to the town, and the town to the parish.*

¢ This parish,” says the Statistical Account,
¢ lies on the sea-coast of Carrick, about midway
between the well-known points of Bennan and
Turnberry. Its length, from south-south-west to
north-north-east, is nine imperial miles; and its
breadth from two to seven miles. The mean
breadth, as nearly as can be computed, is four
miles, which gives a surface of 36 syuare miles, or
19,000 acres. It is bounded on the east by the
parishes of Dailly and Bar; on the south by the
parish of Colmonell; on the west, for nearly its
whole length, by the sea; and on the north by
the parish of Kirkoswald.”

The parish is scmewhat mountainous, & ridge of
hills, of considerable height, stretching diagonally
across the district. The highest point of this ra-
ther commanding range is not less than 12,000
feet above the level of the sea. ¢ On the south
side of it the ground is high and coarse, and where
not cultivated, covered with heath. On the north
side, though not uniformly level, it is low, and of
fine quality.” The climate, in consequence of the
inequality of the surface, is of courte variable—
being much colder in the high than the lower por-
tions of the parish; still, from the light, dry qua-
lity of the soil, it is on the whole most salubrious.
Springs of water are both excellent and numerous,

* Burns thought the name of the river so ** borridly pro-
saic,” that, in his inimitable song,
“ Behind yon hills where Girvan flows,”
he changed it to * Lugar,” which he deemed more poetical.

and there are at least three running streams con-
nected with the parish—the Girvan, the Lendal,
which falls into the sea at Carleton Bay, and the
Assel, a tributary of the Stinchar. There are,
however, only two small lochs in the parish, Loch-
ton and Laggan.

Whatever may have been in ancient times, there
is now no natural wood in the parish, and but a
few patches of modern plantation.® The late Sir
Hew Dalrymple Hamilton of Bargany was the
first to plant on a small scale, and since his time
several of the proprictors have followed the ex-
ample. As in most other parishes, great improve-
ments have been made in agriculture. The state-
ment of the writer in the Statistical Account fur-
nishes the best evidence of this. Forty years ago,
he says, *‘there were about 1700 head of black
cattle, and 214 scores of sheep, in the parish;
whereas now there is only about the one-half of
either. The cattle were then alnost all of the
Gallowny breed, and the sheep of the small black-
fuced kind. These have been succeeded, the for-
mer by the Ayrshire breed, chiefly for the dairy,
and the latter, by a much larger boned stock of
the black-faced, and in some instances, by Che-
viots. The reason of the decrease in the numbers
of live stock, therefore, are obvious. In the first
place, the animals are both heavier and better fed
than formerly; and, in the second place, there is
now a much greater proportion of the land bear-
ing grain than there was at the period above al-

* This is somewhat curious. Abercrammie, in his “ De-
scription of Carrick,” written shortly before the Revolution
in 1688, says: “ No countrey is better provyded of wood,
for alongst the banks of Dun, Girvan, and Stincher, there
be great woods, but especially in Girvan; whereby they
serve the neighbourhood, both in Kyle and Cuninghame.
for timber to build countrey-houses, and for all the uses of
husbandrie, as cart, harrow, plough, and barrows, at verie
easie rates; and the sorts are birch, elder, sanch, poplar,
ash, oak, and hazel; and it is ordinary throughout all that
countrey, and every gentleman has by his house both wood
and water, orchards, and parkes.”
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luded to.” Since the Statistical Account was writ-
ten, however, a still greater advance has been
made in the science of farming; and tile-draining,
then scarcely begun in the parish, has been ex-
tensively carried into operation.

The Bay of Girvan is well frequented by the
best kinds of white-fish; and salmon-fishing has
long been carried on at the mouth of the Girvan,
formerly by net and coble, but latterly with the
more destructive stake-net.

HISTORY, CIVIL AND ECCLESIASTICAL.

Girvan is a burgh of barony. The charter was
originally granted by Charles IL., in 1668, to Mr
Thomas Boyd of Ballochtoul, and renewed by King
‘William to Sir Archibald Muir of Thornton, in the
year 1696. Abercrummie, in his ** Description of
Carrick,” gives rather an amusing account of the
new burgh of Girvan:—** And near to the influxe of
the sea, upon a levell ground, high above the water,
stands the kirk of Girvan, and the parson’s house,
on the north syde of the churchyard. Opposite
to which, on the other syde of the river, lyes a
pleasant links, with conyware;* and at the foot
of it is a salmond-fishing, at the mouth of the river,
and a station for boats that come from Ireland or
the Highlands. Southward from the kirk of Gir-
van stands the tower of Ballachtowll, a monument
of the builder’s folly, being raised five story high,
without a staircase, and no more but one room in
each story. It has neither garden or orchard, nor
planting, but stands in the midst of rich corn-fields.
The builder of this house, Boyd of Penkill, pro-
cured a patent for building a new burgh at Girvan,
whose situation and streets he designed and mark-
ed out in these barren sands, on the south syde of
the water mouth of Girvan, and erected a pole for
the crosse thereof; but this design never took ef-
fect, not an house having been built there, save
(one?) and that scarcely within the compass of the
bounds assigned his towne; yet it bath four faires,
one for every quarter of the year, that give the
names of the new burgh of Girvan to these sandy
knowes. Amongst which, there is one spot that
is not to be passed without observation, which is
called Knockoshin; upon which the head courts
of this jurisdiction are kept and held, and all the
vassalls compear there, and seems to retaine some-
thing of the ancient custome of our nation, that
the king's vassals were convened in the field, lyke
a rendezvous of souldiers, rather than ane house
for ceremony and attendance.” The charter re-
mained in abeyance till 1785, when, in consequence

® Cuningar, or rabbit-warren.

»

of the great increase of the town, it assumed the
liberties and privileges of a burgh, which it has
since continued to enjoy. ‘It is beautifully situ-
ated on a fine bay, and commands a magnificent
view of the sea; of the north coast of Ireland; of
the rock of Ailsa; of the mull and promontory of
Cantyre; of the islands of Sunda, Arran, Plada,
Little Cumbrac; part of Bute, and the hills of
Cowal.”* The number of inhabitants in the pa-
rish is upwards of 7,000, the greater portion of
whom reside in the town, and are employed in the
cotton trade. There is a harbour at the mouth of
the Girvan, which has been much improved of
late, and affords great facilities to the shipping of
grain, coals, and other commodities, rendering
Girvan one of the most important outlets on the
coast of Carrick. The want of a convenient har-
bour was long felt by the inhabitants of Carrick,
“Though this country,” says Abercrummie, writ-
ing some two hundred and fifty years ago, ** be
(washed) with the sea, for the space of 24 myles
and upwards, yet there be no convenient harbours
or bays, for receiving of ships; so that none resort

| (to) it but small boats and barks from Ireland or

the Highlands, and their best receptacle is the
broad lands of Turnberry, and the mouths of Dun,
Girvan, and Stincher; and of all these three, Gir-
van is the best; and for the fishing-boats, they
have no other shelter but to draw them up the
length of the water-mark, when they come ashore,
and then to (launch) them when the tyde puts
them afloat againe.” Such continued to be the
state of the harbour of Girvan until within these
few years.

Though Girvan remained an insignificant placet
—as witness the abortive efforts of Ballochtcul
to raise it in the scale of burghs—until very re-
cent times, it scems to have possessed a bridge
over the Girvan as early as the close of the six-
teenth century—a convenience which many places
of greater importance did not enjoy. This fact is
known from ‘ The Historie of the Kennedyis,” t
where a certain rencontre is said to have occurred
at ‘ the brig of Girwand.” Towards the close of
the seventeenth century, however, the bridge seems
to have wholly gone to decay, or been swept down,
for we find the Presbytery of Ayr, March 4, 1696,
ordering a letter to be written to Lord Bargany
respecting the building of a bridge over the water
of Girvan at the new church—if there was any va-
cant stipend, of which he was patron, the same to
be applied to the erection of the bridge. Bargany
replied that he would devote a year’s vacant sti-

* Statistical Account.
+ In 1791, it contained only 1012 inhabitants.
$ Original Manusoript, with Notes and Illustrations, by

Robert Pitcairn. Edinburgh: John Stevenson. 1&80.
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pend of Maybole, and also of Daillie, towards the
building of the bridge.* Several years elapsed,
however, before any progress was made with the
bridge; for in July 1701, the Presbytery require
the Lord Bargany to build a boat for the Girvan
until the proposed bridge should be constructed.
The Presbytery assigned as a reason for urging
Lord Bargany on the subject, that many lives were
lost by persons going to church attempting to ford
the river when flooded.

Chalmers, as usual, supplies us with the eccle-
siastical history of the parish of Girvan. The
church, dedicated to St Cuthbert, was * granted
to the monks of Crossragwell, which was founded
by Duncan Earl of Carrick. It was confirmed
to that monastery by Robert L. and Robert I1IL,
under a charter, wherein the church was called
¢ Ecclesia Sancti Cuthberti de Invergarvane.’
This church continued in possession of the mo-
nastery of Crossragwell till the Reformation.
The monks enjoyed much of the revenues; the
remainder belonged to the vicar, who served the
cure, as settled by the Bishop of Glasgow. John,
the vicar of the church of Garvan, swore fealty to
Edward I. in 1296. In Bagimont’s Roll, as it
stood in the reign of James V., the vicarage of
¢ (Feraven,' in the deancry of Carrick, was taxed
£2, 13s. 4d., being a tenth of its estimated value.
In a rental of Crossragwell Abbey, which was
given in officially after the Reformation, it was
stated that the church of Girvane produced to that
monastery 260 bolls of bear and meal yearly. In
the old parish of Girvan, which was much larger
than the present, there were several chapels. In
the south of the parish, there was the chapel of Kil-
domine, which was dedicated to the Holy Trinity.t
. . . In the northern part of the parish, there was, in
former times, a chapel dedicated to St Donan, a
Scottish saint of the ninth century, whose festival
was celebrated on the 17th of April. This chapel,
which was named fromn himn Chapel-Donan, stood
on the lands of Cragach, ncar the sea-coast, more
than a mile and a-balf north-north-east of Girvan.
In the charter of Robert III., before mentioned,
to the monks of Crossragwell, he confirmed to
them, among other estates, the twenty-shilling
lands of the chapel of St Donan of Cragach. In
1617, the patronage of the parish church of Gir-
van, with the other property of Crossragwell Ab-
bey, was anncxed by act of Parliament to the
Bishoprick of Dunblane ; reserving, however, the
rights of Peter Hewet, as commendator. On the

® An Act of Parliament was passed in 1696, warranting
Lord Bargany to employ the vacant stipends of Maybole
and Culmonell, of which churches he was patron, in build-
ing the proposed bridge.

t 8ee Parish of Bar, vol. i.

final abolition of Episcopacy, in 1689, the patron-
age of the church of Girvan was vested in the
King, to whom it now belongs. In 1653, the
south-east part of the old parish, lying on the
river Stincher, was detached from this parish, and
made part of the new parish of Bar, which was
then established. When this large detachment
was made from the parish of Girvan, it received
some additions, both on the north and on the
south.”

" So far Chalmers. He does not tell us when
the old or new churches of Girvan were built.
From the letter of the Presbytery to the laird of
Bargany, in 1696, in reference to building a bridge
over the Girvan at the new church previously al-
luded to, we should suppose that the church of
Girvan had then been recently built; but this
does not appear to have been exactly the case,
for, in 1701, mention is made of the church hav-
ing undergone repairs, and of the building of the
manse. It may have been denominated the new
church, in contradistinction to the old, though
built some considerable time previously. The
present church, according to the Statistical Ac-
count, was built about 1780.

The parochial registers do not go farther back
than 1788, and being chiefly a register of births,
they present no feature of interest. There is no
doubt that older records were at one time in cx-
istence, but they probably experienced the fate of
not a few other similar documents, by being hand-
cd over to the huckster or tobacconist.

ANTIQUITIES.

The only antiquities of which the parish can
boast are five circular encampments, generally re-
garded as ancient British strengths. They occupy
the ridge of hills already described, and all of
them command a view of the sea. One of them
is somewhat remarkable as having two parallel
ditches. These encampments, in all likelihood,
belong to the period of the Danish, Irish, and
Scottish® invasions. Formerly there were a num-
ber of cairns in the higher part of the parish; but
we regret to say that they have nearly all been
removed for the purpose of building fences. ¢ On
removing one of them,” says the Statistical Ac-
count, ‘‘there was found, in a kind of coffin,
formed of broad thin stones, an earthen urn, un-
glazed, and rudely ornamented. It held about
the quantity of two English pints, and contained
a small portion of something like ashes.”

® The Scots from Argyle under Alpin.
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FAMILIES IN THE PARISH OF GIRVAN.

KENNEDIES OF ARDMILLAN.

We have not been fortunate enough to trace
the origin of the Kennedies of Ardmillan upon
documentary evidence; but there is reason to be-
lieve that they were of the house of Bargany.
The author of * The Historie of the Kennedyis,”
says, there  hes of it cumin the Houssis of Ard-
millane, Dunneane, Bennane, Kirkhill, Bardro-
hatt.” This is supported by the fact, that the
first of them with whom we mect was,

I. THoMas KuNNEDY, usually styled ¢ the
gudeman of Ardmillan,”* who bore the honours of
the house of Bargany at the funeral of Gilbert,
the seventh laird of Bargany, who fell in the feud
fight with the Earl of Cassillis at Pennyglen, in
1601. According to the histoffan already alluded
to, he attempted, by reason of his relationship, to
procure the tutory of Bargany, but was defeated
by the greater interest of Josias Stewart, brother
to the Lady Bargany. His name repeatedly oc-
curs in testamentary documents from 1604 till
1637, in which latter year he died : ‘ Test. &c. of
Thomas Kennedy of Ardmillane, . . Quha
deceist in February, 1687 zeiris: flaytfullie maid
and gevin vp be Hew Kennedy, now of Ardmil-
lane, sone lautfull to the defunct and executour
dative,” &c. He married Marion Wanfred, Lady
Dronghame.t He was succeeded by his son,

0. Hugh Kennedy of Ardmillan, who was
served heir to his father on the 18th September,
1640, in the 23 merk lands of old extent of Ard-
millan, with numerous other properties, in all
forming a large estate. It comprehended the
lands of Kilsanctniniane, Beyndgrange, Drum-
fuirne, Barjarge, Over and Nether Aldeans, Knok-
cormill, Templelands of the church of Girvan,
Drumbayne, Archanroche, Ellerkinnoch, Letter-
pyne, Ballochdowane, Balmanache, &c. On the
20th of July, 1642, the * goodman of Ardmillan”
supplicated the Presbytery of Ayr, that his “twen-
tie pund land of Ardmillan” might be annexed to
the parish of Colmonell, to which the Presbytery
agreed, under protest that the junction should not
be prejudicial to the College of Glasgow. He
married Jean, daughter of Thomas Kennedy of

® In old documents, the proprietors of Ardmillan inva-
riably bore this title. The distinction between LAIRD and
GUDEMAN had reference to the titles of the property, whe-
ther held from the Crown, or merely from a feudal superior.

t Thomas Kennedy of Ardmillan and Marion Wanfred,
Lady Drongh his sp are tioned in the town
records of Ayr, 7th June, 1608.

~

Baltersan, tutor of Culzean.®* Robertson states
that he married Margaret, daughter of John Blair,
younger of Blair, so he must have been twice mar-
ried. He had a son, who, in 1645, seems to have
favoured Montrose. ‘* Ardmillan, younger,” occurs
in the list of disaffected. And farther, * Thomas
Kennedy of Ardmillan, younger,” confessed be-
fore the Presbytery that he had supped with
Alaster M‘Donald in Kilmarnock accidentally—
that he carried & letter to the laird of Culzean—
and that he went to Peebles on the way to Philip-
haugh. This Thomas Kennedy, younger of Ard-
millan, must have been married ; for in the Pres-
bytery records, in the course of the year 1646,
there are various minutes in reference to a ‘‘scan-
dale of adulterie between the Laird of Culzean,
elder, and the Lady Armillan, elder.”t In 1647,
Ardmillan, younger, confessed on his knees before
the Presbytery his compliance with the enemy,
and was forgiven ; and, two years afterwards, he
was received into communion with the Church.
Thomas Kennedy, younger of Ardmillan, died
apparently without issuc before his father, who
was alive in 1652.%

Hugh Kennedy, elder of Ardmillan, left two
daughters, one of whom married James Craufuird
of Baidland before 1658, in which year he is styled
of Ardmillan, and the other Sir Alexander Ken-
nedy of Culzean. Craufuird, in consequence of
this marriage, succeeded to the property of Ard-
millan.

CRAUFUIRDS OF ARDMILLAN. §
X. William Craufuird, younger of Ardmillan,

In June, 1691, he threw himself and some suc-
cours into the fortress of the Bass, in the Firth of

® « Historical Account of the Noble Family of Kennedy,”
&c. Privately printed, 1849.

+ These records afford an instructive illustration of the
power of the Church courts at the time: “2d June, 1647.—
Compeired Sir Alex. Kennedy of Colzean.” He denied
that he had converse with the Lady Ardmillan— especially
that he was with her alone in a chamber compting money,
or that he bedded in the same chamber, where she and her
husband were. At a subsequent diet, the report was not
found clearly proven against the parties; but the case was
continued, On the 14th July, however, they were ordered
to be censured as adulterers, and the act formerly passed
against them, [prohibiting their keeping company), to re-
main in full force.

$ His name occurs in a testamentary document of that
year.

§ For the Craufuirds of Baidland, of whom the Craufuirds
of Ardmillan are a continuation, see vol. i. p. 418.
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Forth, which was so long held out by the adhe-
rents of King James, and was the last place in
the kingdom that surrendered to King William.
e married Margaret, daughter of Kennedy of
Baltersan, and had issue :—

1. Archibald, his successor.

2. James, who settled in England
a considerable family in Sussex.

1. A daughter, married to David Craufurd of Drumsoy,
whose son, David, was Historiographer to Queen Anne
for Scotland, from which marriage also descended John
Craufurd of Auchnames.

XI. Archibald Craufuird, his eldest son, suc-
ceeded in 1712.* He was a keen Jacobite, and
after the rebellion of 1745, had to remain for
several years under hiding in Edinburgh. He
married Marion Hay, a descendant of one of the
branches of the Tweeddale family, by whom he
had two sons :—

1. Archibald.
2. Thomas, of whom afterwards.

e died in 1748, when he was succeeded by his
eldest son,

XII. Archibald Craufuird of Ardmillan. He
married Anne, daughter of Robert Kennedy, Esq.
of Liverpool ; and on his death, in 1784, was suc-
ceeded by the eldest son of that marriage,

XIII. Archibald Craufuird of Ardmillan, W.S.
His father having been deeply involved in the un-
fortunate copartnery of Douglas, Heron & Co.,
the estate was brought to a judicial sale during
his minority, when it was acquired by his uncle,
Thomas Craufuird. Archibald married Marga-
retta, youngest daughter of his uncle, and had
issue:—

1. John Macmiken.

Hisd dants are

2. Thomas.

8. Archibald—all of whom died young.

4. Robert, heir pr ptive of Kil tninian, died 8. p.
aged 27.

5. Hugh, died in Jamaica, aged 18.

6. Ti who ded to the cstates of Grange and

Kilsanctninian in 1840. He is male representative of
the Craufuirds of Baidland and Kennedies of Ardmil-
lan. He married, 13th June, 1843, Elizabeth Fraser,
second daughter of David Stewart Galbraith, Esq. of
Mackrihanizh and Dromore, in Argyleshire.

. Hamilton Catheart.

John Graham of Gartur, in Stirlingshire, and Three-

mile-river, in Jamaica. Died May, 1840.

1. Margaret, eldest daughter, married July 8, 1881, to

William Handley Sterndale, and has issue.
2. Marion, married obscurely.
8. Ann, and five other daughters who died young.

He died 16th May, 1824.

XIV. Thomas Craufuird, second son of Archi-
bald, No. XI., acquired Ardmillan by purchase, as
above stated. He had served in the army, and
held a lucrative office, under government, at Bris-
tol, by which means he was enabled to preserve
the estate in the family. He married, first, Anne,

™ =3

* About this time, or shortly afterwards, Baidland was
sold to Hugh Macbride, merchant in Glasgow.

daughter of John Taylor, Esq. of East Sheen, in

the county of Surry, by whom he had issue ; and,

secondly, Jane, daughter of the Rev. Hugh Ha-

milton of Girvan. He died in 1798, leaving :—
1. Archibald, his successor.

1. Anne, married Macmiken of Grange.
2. Margaretta, married her cousin, Archibald Craufuird.

Mrs Jane Craufuird, relict of Thomas Craufuird
of Ardmillan, died May 25, 1825, aged 80. *

XYV. Archibald Clifford Blackwell Craufuird,
now of Ardmillan, a Major in the army, and late
a Captain in the 78th Highlanders. He served -
in India, and at the taking of the Cape of Good
Hope in 1795. He married Jane, daughter of
Dr Leslie, and has issue.

Arms of Craufuird of Baidland—Gules, on a
fesse ermine, between three mullets, argent ; two
crescents interlaced of the field.

Motto—Durum patientia frango.

Arms of Kennedy of Ardmillan—Argent, a
cheveron, gules, between three cross crosslets
fitched sable, within a double tressure.

Crest—A game hawk, hooded and belled.

The representative of both families quarters
these respectively: first and fourth, Baidland;
second and third, Ardmillan. The present pro-
prietor of Ardmillan, and the junior branches of
the family, bear gules, a fusse ermine, with the
interlaced crescents, the hawk, and the above
motto.

Seat—Ardmillan House, about two miles south
from the town of Girvan. In Balfour’s Collec-
tions, Ardmillan is called a castle, and a glowing
description is given of it by Abercummine : ¢ Next
to this (Turnberry) is the castle of Ardmillane, so
much improven, of late, that it looks like a Pa-
lace, built round, court-wayes; surrounded with
a deep broad ditch, and strengthened with a move-
able bridge at the entry; able to secure the owner
from the suddain commotions and assaults of the
wild people of this corner, which on these occa-
sions are sett upon robbery and depredation ; and
to enable him the better to endure a seige, he is
provided of well in his court; and a hand-mill in
the house, for grinding meall or malt, with which
two lusty fellows sett a-work will grind a firlott
in the space of ane hour. It is well surrounded
with orchards that yeild plenty of apples and
pears; and one more particularly, that for its pre-
cocity is called the early pear of Ardmillan, of &
very pleasant tast. In the year . . hap-
pened a strange conjunction 'twixt a Jackdaw and
a Magpie that paired together, built their nest,
and brought forth ther young, resembling more
the jackdaw than the magpie.”

¢ Headstone in old churchyard, Ayr.
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TROCHRIG.

Trochrig, mentioned by Abercrummic as one |
of the old houses of the gentry in the parish of |
Girvan, was in his time, and long afterwards, in
the possession of the Boyds, a branch of the Kil-
marnock family. He says, * on the north syde of
the River (Girvan) downward, and up toward the
hill, about & myle from the River, stands the
TIouse of Trochreg, which belongs to the Boyds ;
which family hath produced two great men, famous
in their generation, and great lights in the church
of God. One was James Boyd, Archbishop of
Glasgow, who maintained the honour of his char-
acter by a vertuous and exemplary lyfe, and stre-
nuously defended the lawfullness of his office
against the insults of our first zealots, Mr Andrew
Melvin and his accomplices.* The other was his
son and heir,t who, following the study of Divi-
nity, merited the Chair in the College of Saumure,
in France; and thence, was brought to be Prin-
cipall of the Colledge of Glasgow; whose learned
Commentaries on the Ephesians are well known,
and justly had in great estimation.”

1. James Boyp, the first of Trochrig, was the
Archbishop of Glasgow, above referred to by
Abercrummie. e was the second son of Adam
Boyd of Pinkill, brother to Robert, Master of
Boyd, who was father of Robert sixth Lord Boyd.
Keith, in his Catalogue of Scottish Bishops, gives
the following account of him: ** During the Earl
of Marr's regency, a new kind of episcopacy hav-
ing been set up, Mr James Boyd of Trochrig,
(in 1572), a very worthy person, received the title
of the See of Glasgow, and he exercised the office
of particular pastor at the Cathedral Church, the
barony of Glasgow being then the parish that
pertained to that church. This Bishop Boyd was
the second son of Adam Boyd of Pinkill, brother
to the Lord Boyd. When the legality of the epis-
copal functions came to be first called in question
by the assembly, in the year 1578, he learnedly
and solidly, both from Scripture and antiquity,
defended the lawfulness of his office; yet, the
animosities, which he then perceived to be in the
hearts of a great many, so far impaired his health,
that he died in the month of June, 1581.” This
eminent churchman was the second Archbishop of
the Protestunt faith in Glasgow. He was pre-
ceded by John Porterfield, and succeeded by Ro-
bert Montgomery.} He was buried in the choir
of the Cathedral, and laid in the same sepulchre

with Bishop Gavin Dunbar. He married Mar-
garet, daughter of James Chalmers of Gadgirth,*
who long survived him. ** Margaret Chalmeris,
Lady Trochrig,” occurs as a creditor *for hir
fermes of the said lands of Grange, the said crop
1611,” in the testament of George Hutchesoune
in Grange, Mayboill, March, 1612.

II. Mr Robert Boyd of Trochrig was served
heir to his father, the Archbishop, 16th February,
1608, in the ten pund land of Trochrig, with the
mill, the five merk land of Barneile, M'Cryndle,
and Snaid, A. E. £13, (s. 8d. He was one of the
most learned men of his time—having been Pro-
fessor of Divinity, first at Saumur, in France, and
subsequently in Glasgow and Edinburgh. Ie
was the author of the well-known Commentary
on the Ephesians. The following brief summary
of the career of this eminent theologian is from a
manuscript in the College of Glasgow: ‘ Born at
Glasgow in 1578—taken from Glasgow to Troch-
rig on the death of his father, in 1581—sent to
the school at Ayr—studied afterwards at Edin-
burgh, where he got the degree of A.M., in 1594,
or thereby—left Scotland in 1597—arrived in
France, May 7th, same year—taught at Thouars
—was made Professor of Philosophy at Montau-
ban, 1599—went to Sawmnur in 1606—in 1607
Mr Boyd travelled through Germany, Iolland,
England, and Scotland. 1In 1608 he returned to
Saumur, and was chosen Professor of Divinity
there. e came over to Scotland in 1610—re-
turned same year to Saumur—married at Saumur,
in May 1611, Anne Malverin—returned to Bri-
tain in 1614—settled in Glasgow in December
same year—was made Principal of the College in
January 1615.”

In 1621 he resigned the Principality, and re-
moved his family and furniture to I'rochrig, where
he resided, except when called occasionally to
Edinburgh for a few weeks, till 1622, when he
was called to be Principal there. He resigned,
however, next year, and, in 1626, was called and
admitted minister of Paisley. In April of the
same year, a riot was committed on his house, and
he demitted his charge in September following.

Having fallen into bad health, he went to Edin-
burgh for medical advice, and died there 5th
January, 1627. The following is an extract of
his latter-will :—

¢t The Testament, testamentar, and Inventar of
the guidis, geir, debts, and sowmes of moncy
quhilks perteint to vmgle. Mr Robert Boyd of
Trochrig, within the parochin of Kirkoswall,} the
tyme of his deceis, Quha deceist in the moncthe

* Abercrummie was 8 keen supporter of Epi

t Mr Robert Boyd of Trochrig.

{ The latter, having been compelled to demit the See,
became minister of Symington in 1587.

Laaad A1

* From Wodrow’s MS. Life of Trochrig he appears to
have had a sister married to James Chalmers of Sauchrie.
t This is a mistake, Trochrig is in Girvan parish.
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of Junuar Jaivi® and Twentie sevin zeirs: fayt-
fullic maid and gevin vp be his awin mouth, In
sa far as concernes the nomination of his exccu-
trix, nominat be him in his Latterwill and Testa-
ment, and legacies eftir-mentioned, and pairtlie
maid and gevin vp be Anna Demaliverin, onlie
executrix nominat be the defunct ; In sa far as
concernes the vpgeving of ye Inventar of the de-
funct's guids, geir, debts awand In and Out, as the
samyne testament of the date vnderwrittin mair
fullie proports.
Inuentar.

Ttem, the defunct had, the tyme foirsaid, the
guids and geir vaderwritten of the availls, qualities,
and pryces eftirspecifit, viz. Certane buiks, all
estimat to Jaiv® lib. Item, the Insi¢ht of the
hous in utincills and domicills, with the abuilze-
ment of the defunct’s bodie (by the airschip), esti-
mat to j° lib. Item, twa ky and ane stoitt, pryce
of the peice xii lib. Inde xxxvi lib.

Summa of the Inventar, Jaivi¢xxxvi lib.

Dcbs awand In.  [Under this head occur a va-
riety of money transactions with the tenantry of
Trochrig, Barneill, &c., and other persons. In
all, these credits amount to JaiLviii lib. iiiis.].
Next we have

Decbts awand Out.

Item, there was awand be the defunct, the
tyme foirsaid, the sowmes of money following
To the persones efterspecifeit, viz. To Mr Hew
M¢Kaill, for ane zeirs fie, Lxvilib. xiiis. iiiid.
To Jonet Ramsay, nureis, for ane zeirs fey xl lib.
To Johnne Tod, gairdner, for ane zeirs fey
xxiililib. To Alex. Ramsay, for ane zeirs fey
vililib. To Mareoun Gairner, for ane zeirs fey
vii lib.

Summa of the Debts out jClvii lib. xiiis. iiii d.
Restis of Frie Geir, debts deducit
Jjajvexxxvilib. ixs. 8d.
Legacie.

At Edinburght, the Twentie fyift day of De-
cember, the zeir of God, Jaivi® and Twentie sex
zeirs, The quhilk day I, Mr Robert Boyd of
Trochrig, calling to mynd the certantie of daith,
and the incertantie of the tyme and place, and
being willing to declair my latterwill and testa-
ment, Haiff' thairfoir nominat my loveing spous
Tutrix to my eldest sone, and to our haill rema-
nent childrein, during the zeiris of thair pupulla-
ritie ; and fuilzeing of hir be deccis or marriage,
I nominat my honorable and lovcing kinsman,
Thomas Boyd of Pinkill, conjunctlie,* Tutours to

* There secms to be some omission here. Some other
person was evidently intended to have been named along
with Pinkill,

the saids bairnes ; and failzeing of the ane be de-
ceis, as God forbld the vther being on lyf, being
assured that they, or ather of thame, will not onl)
assist my said loveing spous in the richt adminis-
tration of the said office of Tutourie, swa lang as
scho sal happin to be Tutrix, bot likwayis quhen
the said ofic sall accres to thame, will mayst cair-
fullie dischairge the samyne for the guide of the
saids pupillis. I leif in legacie to Mr Alexander
Boyd, sone to vmgle. Mr Williame Boyd, The
sowme of ane hundrithe marks, and to Robert
M:Call, my servand, Ten punds, and to Alex.
Ramsay, my servand, Ten punds, without preju-
dice to the feyis that sall be dew to thame the
tywe of my deceis. Item, I leive to Mr Johuue
Ker, minister at Prestoune, and Johnne Hamil-
toune, hypothecar, burgess of Edinburght, the
sowme of ane hundrith merks, to be vplifted of
the first and reddiest of my stipend restand awand
to me of the Kirk of Paislay, to be imployed
be thame, and failzcing the aune, the vther onlyf,
to sich vses as I have maid knawn to thame.
Item, I leif to my guid freind, Doctor George
Sibbald, *Scaligeri Commentarie in Arristotelein
de Historia Animalum,’ as anc small taiken of
my love to him. Item, I leive Twenty punds to
help to by ane bell to the Kirk of Daylie, and
Twentic merks, including thairin the ten merks
alreaddy promeist be me to the bigging of the
brig of Girvane. And last, I leive fourtie merkis
to be distribute amongest the puir of the pare-
chin quher I sall happin to depart this Iyf. And
Ileif the haill rest of the thrid of the guids and
geir quhilk cumes vnder my testament to my
childrein, Johnne, Margrat, and Jonet Boydes,
to be equallie devydit amangst thame, and to be
imployed to thair behuif. In witnes quherof I
haue subsecryvit thir presents, at Edinburght, the
xxv day of December, the zeir of God, Jai vic and
Twentie sex zeirs, Befoir thir witness, Mr Robert
Boyd of Kippis, Mr James Robertoune, advocatts,
and Michaell Melvill, servitour to the said Mr
Robert Boyd, and writer of the premiss. Sic
subr. Mr Robert Boyd of Trochrig, Mr Robert
Boyd, witnes, Mr James Robertoune, witness,
Michaell M‘Gill, witnes.

Confirmed at Glasgow, June 8, 1627. Mr
Johnne Chalmeris of Sauchrie, cautioner.”

III. Mr John Boyd of Trochrig was served
heir to his futher, April 21, 1640. He had s
daughter married to Sir William Bruce of Sten-
house, Bart., and a son.

IV. Robert Boyd of Trochrig, who succeeded
him. Ie refused the Test in 1683, and was
thrown, in consequence, into prison. He obtain-
ed his liberty, August 7, 1685, on payment of a
fino of one thousand merks for church irregulari-
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ties, and giving a bond and caution, for two thou-
sand pounds sterling, to live regularly and orderly.
He was alive in 1724, in which year his name
occurs in the Ayr Presbytery records. He mar-
ried a daughter of William Craufurd of Auch-
names, and was succeeded by his son,

V. John Boyd of Trochrig, who, in 1752, was
served heir-male to Alexander Boyd of Pinkill,
the last of that branch, who died in 1750. He
died himself without male issue.

VL Ann Boyd of Trochrig, his daughter, mar-
ried William Boyd Robertson, to whom she had
a daughter, and who alienated the property.

Trochrig, or Trochraigue, was acquired up-
wards of forty ycars ago by the late James Fer-
gusson of Monkwood, advocate, and by him sold
to his brother, the late Mr John Hutcheson Fer-
gusson. It is now possessed by his son, John H.
Fergusson of Trochraigue, at present residing in
Calcutta. .

BALLACHTOULR.

Ballachtoule, another of the old houses of the
gentry mentioned by Abercrummie, was in the
possession of the Grahams of Knokdoliane in the
sixtcenth century. Robert Graham of Grougar,
as heir-male of entail of John Graham of Knok-
dolinn, was retoured in the lands of Ballachtoule,
April 16, 1606. From Abercrummie’s Account
of Carrick, it would appear that, about the mid-

YVOL 1II.

dle of the seventeenth century, Ballachtoule be-
longed to Thomas Boyd of Pinkill, who obtained
the charter constituting Girvan a burgh, in 1668,
and who built the tower of Ballachtoule on the
lands laid off for the new burgh. Ballachtoule
was acquired by Sir Archibald Muir of Thorn-
ton, in 1696, and shortly afterwards by Gilbert
Stewart, designed of Ballachtoule, in various
documents. He was alive in 1726. In 1746,
it was purchased by William Wilson, writer in
Edinburgh, in virtue of a decreet of adjudica-
tion obtained by him against William Stewart,
chirurgeon in Edinburgh, only surviving son of
the late John Stewart of Ballachtoule, merchant
in Kilmarnock, heir general to Gilbert Stewart of
Ballachtoule, his father. Ballachtoule is now the
property of the Bargany family, who are the su-
periors of the burgh of Girvan.

TROWAIR.

crummic. It wasin his time, and still continues
to be, in the possession of the Cathcarts of Carle~
ton. William Cathcart, heir of Allan Cathecart of
Wattirheid, his father, was retoured in the twelve
merk lands of Trowair and Killouh, 9th April,
1681; and in 1662, Hugh Cathcart of Carleton
is served heir in the lands, amongst others, of
Trowair.

Troweir, or Trowair, also noticed by Aber-



PARISH OF IRVINE.

ETYMOLOGY, EXTENT, &c.

There can be little doubt that the parish of Ir-
vine, like those of Ayr and Girvan, derived its
name from the town, and the town from the river
Irvine. In old charters, the name is generally
spelled Irwyn, sometimes Ervin, or Yrewin; and
Chalmers presumes that it may be a corruption
of the British or Celtic Ir-Avon, signifying the
clear river, which is certainly characteristic of the
Irvine throughout the greater part of its course.

The parish of Irvine is bounded on the east by
that of Dreghorn; on the west, by Stevenston ;
on the north, by Kilwinning and Stewarton; and
on the south, by the water of Irvine. The parish
comprehends an area of about five square miles,
or 2644 acres. The surface is throughout level.
In the lower part of the parish, the soil, originally
pure sand, has been pretty generally converted
into a fertile loam in the course of cultivation.
Towards the interior, however, it is naturally of a
strong, adhesive clay; but it has also been greatly
improved by cultivation. Good crops of all kinds
of grain, and green cropping, are grown in the
parish, particularly of potatoes and turnips.

There are no lochs of water in the parish, but
it is well supplied with springs and running
streains.

HISTORY, CIVIL AND ECCLESIASTICAL.

The history of the town of Irvine may be said
to constitute that of the.parish. The origin of
the burgh is assuredly lost in the ¢ mists of anti-
quity.” It may possibly date its rise so far back
as the days of the Romans, for there is no doubt
that that wonderful people traced the Irvine, as
well as the Doof, westwards to its junction with
the sea. We are not aware that any remains of
Roman masonry have been dug up at Irvine, as

there was at Ayr; but it seems extremely likely
that one of their stations was fixed on the high
ground, on the banks of the Irvine, where now
stands the town. Roman implements of war, and
other vestiges of their presence, have been found
in the vicinity—thus corroborating the fact of
their having continued the causeway, still trace-
able at particular parts of the banks of the Irvine,
all the way till the confluence of the water with
the sea. These, however, are, to some extent,
merely conjectural notions as to the rise of the
burgh of Irvine. Of its grest antiquity, st the
sametime, there can be little doubt. Chalmers
considers it the most ancient town in Ayrshire.
He says:— It is certain that the town of Irvine,
and the castle, under the protection of which it
arose, were in existence before the castle and the
shiretown of Ayr were founded. Hoveden refers
to the castle of * Irewin,’ in Cuninghame, as 3
place of note in 1184.” We have great respect
for the research of Chalmers, but he sometimes
forgets his own statements, and his deductions are
not always to be depended upon. No doubt, the
period referred to by Hoveden is a few years ear
lier than the erection of Ayr into s royal burgh
by William the Lion, who at the same time built
a new castle at Ayr ; but that both a town and s
castle existed previously at Ayr, seems plain from
the words of the charter itself. There is evidence
to show that the new town, or Newton of Afh
with its castle, existed early in the thirteenth cen”
tury; so we can have no difficulty in believing
that there must have been an old town long pre-
viously,

We put forward these remarks, not from a8}
desire to claim a greater- antiquity for the 08
burgh than the other, but because they bear *
out in an opinion, founded upon similar facts, that
towns and castles are of more remote antiquty
in Scotland than most people imagine. It
usual to aseign their origin to the infusion of
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Norman blood after the conquest of England; but
though it might be difficalt, or rather @apossible,
to prove, by documentary evidence, that castles ex-
isted prior to that period, yet the more we study
history—and particularly local history—the more
are we convinced that such towns and castles as
those of Ayr and Irvine originated earlier even
than the Danish invasion. There are various re-
mains of castles built by the Romans in England,
and are we to suppose that they did not introduce
the art into Scotland?

None of our local historians have ever attempt-
ed to point out the remains, or the site, of the
Castle of Irvine, mentioned by Hoveden. There

are the remains of only one castle in connection”

with the burgh, called the Seagate Castle, supposed
by Robertson to have been built as a jointure-
house by the Eglintoun family, sometime after
1361—a central stone in a vaulted chamber in the
lower story having engraved upon it the united
arms of Montgomerie and Eglintoun. It is not
improbable, however, that this was the site of the
castle referred to, the present ruin having been a
re-building, after the union of the houses of Ea-
gleshame and Eglintoun.* What makes this sup-
position the more likely is the fact, that anciently
the sea flowed much nearer the town than it does
at present—so much so as to form a complete
defence, on the south and westward, to the castle.
No situation could be more appropriately chosen.
Indeed, had there not been a castle existing pre-
viously upon the spot, and if it had merely been
meant as a jointure-house, as Robertson supposes,
it is hard to conceive why a site in such proximity
with the town of Irvine should have been chosen,
when so many other and more appropriate might
have been selected. Supposing the Seagate Cas-
tle to have been the original stronghold of Irvine,
it would have been as nearly as possible about the
same distance from the Cross of Irvine as the Cas-
tle of Ayr was from the Cross of Ayr, and in every
respect similarly protected by the river and the
sea.

Be this as it may, we proceed to trace the rise
of Irvine upon more certain data. The earliest
of the Crown documents preserved.in the charter
chest of the burgh is a precept by Robert I. un-
der the Great Seal, dated 14th February, 1308,
commanding his Justiciare, &c., to protect the
burgh, burgesses, and commumity of Irvine. The
next & a charter by Robert 1., 12th May, 1828,
declaring that the burgesses of Irvine, and their
successors, shall be free from toll, &c., * as is more

* The old square tower is of great antiquity, and much
older than the other parts of the building. The portion in
which the chamber with the arms occurs, is much more
modern, and built of quite & different stone.

fully contained in a charter granted thereupon to
the same burgesses, by Alexander the Second,
King of Scots, of venerable memory, our prede-
cessor.”® This charter by Alexander IL, whose
reign extended from 1214 to 1249, and which has
been lost or destroyed, may be considered as the
first possessed by the burgh. The boundaries and
privileges of the incorporation of Irvine are shown
by another charter by King Robert I1., dated 8th
April, 1872, proceeding on an inquest made at
the king’s command, concerning a dispute between
Ayr and Irvine in reference to the boundaries and
liberties of the respective burghs. By this inquest
it was clearly found, that Irvine had been sixty
years and upwards, and from time past memory,
in possessien of the liberties of the whole barony
of Cuninghame, and of the baronies of Largs,
¢ pro suis tam mercandisis et mercimoniis in eis-
dem libere exercendis.”

These were the mercantile boundaries of theburgh
of Irvine, including the whole of Cuninghame and
Largs, 1 as those of Ayr extended over the whole of
Kyle and Carrick. The heritable boundaries of
the burgh, however, are not so easily ascertained,
though they were no doubt clearly enough stated
in the charter of Alexander IL now lost. That
they were pretty extensive may be inferred from
a charter by the Duke of Albany, dated 24th July,
1417, proceeding upon an inquest ordered by the
governor, regarding the right to a piece of muir
claimed by William Fraunces of Stane, situated
about midway up the parish, when the jury una-
nimously found that the right lay with the burgh
of Irvine. Also from a notarial copy, 12th May,
1444, of an indenture, dated June, 1260, entered
into between the Lord Godfrey Ross and the bur-
gesses of Irvine, regarding their respective rights
in the tenement of Hormissoch (Ormsheugh) and
the wood of Longhurst. It was arranged that
Godfrey should have right to all the ploughed and
ploughable part of the said tenement, and an ex-
clusive right to the said wood—the burgesses to
have a right of common pasture over the whole of
the said tenement, except the arable ground and
the wood, neither party to have power to cut the
wood. The property of Ormsheugh is still farther
up the parish than the lands of Stane. In-1689,
the lands then belonging to the town were lotted
in twenty-six lots of three acres each. These
were,—Kidneuk and Redburn; Murray's Land;

» This charter superadds an immunity to the burgesses
of Irwyne, and their successors, from a toll which, previous
to this new grant, they were in the habit of paying in the
burgh of Ayr.

t These and other charters were subsequently confirmed
by James I., James IV., and James V1.

$ Largs is now a portion of Cuninghame, though then a
distinct barony or baronies. )
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Macfade’s Rig; Bogside Land and Loan; Groat-
holm; Rottenboag; Spittalmeadow; Divet Park;
the value of the whole amounting to £606, 13s. 4d.
Scots.

The jurisdiction of the Magistrates of Irvine*®
extended over the entire heritable boundary of the
burgh. Early in the sixteenth century, a dispute
occurred between the Earl of Eglintoun, Bailie of
Cuninghame, and the Magistrates, as to their re-
spective powers of administering justice. At length
a contract of agreement was entered into, 10th
February, 1522, settling their respective jurisdic-
tions. The Magistrates’ right was admitted to
extend over the freedom of the burgh, burgh
woods, burgh lands, and community ; while the
Earl was to * keep the heid fair” of the burgh
of Irvine, holden on the 15th of August yearly.
The feuds and slaughters usually prevailing at this
annual gathering, are referred to in the contract
as a principal reason why the Earl, as Bailie of
Cuninghame, should keep the fair.

By a charter under the Great Seal, 20th March,
1572, James V1. conferred on the authorities the
power of holding Justiciary Courts within the
Court-house of Irvine, for trying residenters with-
in the burgh for the crimes of pickery, theft, and
receipt of theft, by a jury of honest men, inhabi-
tants of the burgh. Crimes, however, of a deeper
die were frequently tried before this court. In
1586—18th December—** Master William Mont-
gomerie, Arthur Montgomerie, his sone and ap-
peirand air,” were summoned before the Justiciary
Court of Irvine, to answer at the instance of

- Patersoun, “sone and air of vmquhill Archibald
Patersoun, burgess of Irwin,” for ‘ violent and
masterfull spoliatioun.” And on the 20th Octo-
ber, 1625, was tried ** per Allanumn Dunlop nobis
praefectum dicti burgi,” ‘¢ Alexander Banks, sone
of Robert Banks, flesher, for the slaughter of
Gilbert M‘Alister, heilland man, slain in Steven-
ston yesterday, and brought in by the Earl of
Eglinton, as baillie of Cunningham, and repledgit
from his court to the jurisdiction of this burgh,
as ane of yair inhabitants.”

The town was repeatedly involved in disputes,
particularly with the burgh of Ayr, as to their
jurisdiction. So late as 1694, they had to defend
themselves against the encroachments of the Com-
missary Court of Ayr, who had *‘proceeded to
judge some of the inhabitants of this burgh (Ir-
vine) for alleged calumnies and other crimes,
although the burgh had appeared and produced
their charters of resignation, which were alto-
gether disregarded and contemned.”

® The burgh was governed by a Provost, Baillies, and
Councillors—in all, 17.—Sederunt, Sept. 1626, Allan Dun-
lop, Lord Provost.

Irvine does not appear to have ever beecn &
walled town, but it was enclosed with gates, or
ports, one at the west end of Glasgow Vennel,
and the other at Eglintoun Street. The town
then, as now, consisted chleﬂy of one main street,
running parallel with the river. It is impossible
to trace the extension of the burgh with any de-
gree of satisfaction. It must, however, have been
rather an inconsiderable town before the end of
the fourteenth century. Up till that period, it
had no public place for the aunthorities to meet in.
In 1386, a charter was obtained from Robert IL.,
dated 22d October, granting ground in the mar-
ket-place for building a Council-house, &ec. on
payment of a blench duty of a penny of silver if
demanded allenarly., This charter was confirmed
by Robert III.

One of the most ancient evidences of the privi-
leges of the burgh of Irvine—we mean the Cross
—was removed in 1694. The minute, ordering
the removal of this interesting relic, is dated 7th
September, and to this effect: The Cross to be
taken away, and the stones to be applied towards
erecting the meal market-house, now a-building,
in respect there is great want of freestone for that
new work, and that the Cross, being of an old
fashion, and inconvenient, doth mar the decorum
of the street and meal market-house. We are
not aware that a drawing of this relic anywhere
exists.

It does not appear that the town possessed any
town clock before 1686, in which year, 8l1st
March, the Council give orders to David Buch-
anane, smith, * to make ane clock for the vse of
the said burgh.” The same year, 9th July, Adam
Gray, wright, is appointed ‘for coopring of the
toune clock and ringing of the Tolbuith bell, for
the space of ane zcir.” Salary 40 merks.

‘We are not aware that Irvine ever was the seat
of any particular species of manufacture; but
much of its importance, no doubt, arose from the
harbour, which was at one time the principal one
on the Clyde. Its advantages seem to have been
purely natural; but as the sea to recede
its capabilities gradually diminished. The first
document which occurs in the Irvine archives in
reference to the harbour, is a contract, dated 8d
August, 1572, between the magistrates and ““John
Wallace of Dundonald, Edward Wallace of She-
walton, and Robert Wallace, his son and heir
apparent,” by which the Wallaces, in considera-
tion of 200 merks, sold to the burgh * ane suffi-
cient quantity and roume of ground of their landis
of Murrass, extending to the quantity of twelf fallis
broad, for louseing and landing of their Schippis,
Barkis, and Bottis, with their merchandice, and
the merchandice of whatsumever utheris that sal




PARISH OF IRVINE.

85

happen to resort towards the said Burch upon the
foresaidis landis of Murrass on ayther syd of the
watter of Irwyng, with ane sufficient gaite and
passage through the foresaidis lands for free Ische
and Intres to and frae the said water, togedder
with ankerage and ankerfauld upon the saidis
landis,” &c. This would seem to have been the
first attempt at the construction of a regular har-
bour for shipping. A few years afterwards—15th
August, 1579—James V1. granted the customs of
the burgh to the magistrates, amounting to twenty-
" nine merks yearly, for the space of five years, to
enable them to repair their haven and port. In
¢ Timothy Pont’s Cunningham Topographized,”
printed in 1620, the harbour of Irvine is called

‘“the chieff porte of the country of Cunningham.”

The porte and harbry being now much decayed
from quhat it was anciently, being stopt with'
shelves of Sand which hinder the neir approach
of shipping.”

‘¢ As appears from the map which accompanies
Pont’s work,” says the Statistical Account, * the
confluence of the rivers Irvine and Garnock had
not taken place at the time to which it refers, for
he describes the Garnock as emptying itself into
the sea, about two miles from the mouth of the
river Irvine. Indeed, long subsequent to Pont's
time, the sea came up close to the town, and ves-
sels were loaded and discharged at what was then
and is now termed the Seagate. Within the me-
mory of persons now alive, the sea has receded
considerably on this coast ; and very considerably
since 1620, for the lower part of the Seagate is
now nearly half a mile from the sea. Some time
subsequent to the period at which Pont wrote,
Thomas Tucker published a report (in 1656) upon
the settlement of the revenues and customs in
Scotland. He had been sent by the Government
of England, for the purpose of introducing order
into the collection of the revenues of the excise
and customs, and was appointed one of the com-
missioners of the Scottish board. The district
concerning which he was to report, consisted of
t Glasgow, Newarke, Greenocke, Fairly, Col-
burgh, Saltcoates, Bute, and, lastly, Irwyn.’
¢ Irwyn,’ says he, * a small burgh towne, lying at

"the mouth of a river of the same name, which
hath some time been a pretty small port, but at
present clogged and almost choaked up with sand,
which the western sea beats into it, soe as it
wrestles for life to maintaine a small trade to
France, Norway, and Ircland, with herring and
other goods, brought on horseback from Glasgow,
for the purchasing timber, wine, and other com-
modities to supply theyr occasions with. The
vessels belonging to this district are, viz. to Glas-
gowe, 12, viz. 3 of 150 tons, 1 of 140, 2 of 100,

1 of 50, 8 of 80, 1 of 15, 1 of 12. Renfrew, 8 or
4 boates of five or six tonnes a-piece. Irwin, 3
or 4, the biggest not exceeding sixteen tonnes.”

The shipping of Irvine had thus been in a very
low state in 1656. The Civil War had no doubt
somewhat to do with such a state of affairs.
Shortly after the Restoration, however, matters
began to assume a better aspect. By a minute
of the Council, 29th June, 1677, it was ordered
that * the haill stanes lying at the ends of the
bridge be taken to the shore for the laying of a
kasey (causeway) for the good of the harbour,
and ease and advantage of the vessels;” and by
another minute of the 3d August, of the same
year, all the able inhabitants were ordered * to
go out, at tuck of drum, and take stones out of
the water for the laying of ane key at the Bar of
Irvine.” There is also, amongst the town's papers,
a precept, of the same date, by Corsbie [Fullar-
toun of that IIk] in * favour of the burgh, for six
bolls beir for helping to build ane key at the Bar
of Irvine.” A considerable traffic seems to have
been maintained with Ireland about this time and
subsequently, chiefly in the importation of grain,
no doubt in return for the products of this coun-
try. On the 22d January, 1676, it was enacted
by the Council, that meal and malt, &c., import-
ed within the precincts of Irvine by strangers,
should be first offered to the community of the
burgh. A curious illustration of this rule, as well
as of the miscellaneous nature of the traffic with
Ireland, occurs in a minute of the town council,
October 4, 1687, to the affect that there had been
offered to the town, by a merchant from Carrick-
fergus, & large importation of goods, and that he
was to be allowed to sell the sume in the market,
if the magistrates did not by next day accept the
offer.

Various acts were passed by the legislature, in
the reign of Charles II. and subsequently, impos-
ing a duty on the importation of Irish grain, with
the view of checking the trade, which was alleged
to drain the western districts of money, and de-
preciate the value of home grown corn; but the
merchants of Irvine continued their importations
in defiance of law, partly in the belief that their
privileges as a burgh entitled them to doso. The
Statistical Account, quoting Fountainhall, gives
the following example of this in 1712: “Thomas
Gray, merchant in Irvine, and others, were dilated
before the justices as criminals for this offence,
and for their contumacy in not appearing, were
figed in £100 sterling each, under the penal sta-
tutes against the importing of Irish meal. Gray
suspended, and stated various important pleas,—
1st, That the burgesses of Irvine were not subject
to the jurisdiction of the county justices, and that
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the magistrates had the power of repledging them.
This plea was repelled, and the right of repledg-
ing found to be in desuetude. 2d, That it was
not competent to refer the fact on which the
charge rested to the oath of party. This was
also repelled, and the court found it provable by
oath, as well as usury and the like. 8d, That the
fine was most exorbitant. The court found that
the offenders should not be all classed alike, for
one who had only brought in a boll or two was
not to be 8o deeply fined as he who had brought
in a hundred, and had reiterated his transgres-
sion,” &c.

Towards the close of the sixteenth century the
trade of the harbour of Irvine had greatly increas-
ed, and, in 1760, it was ranked as the third port
in Scotland—Port-Glasgow ranking first, and
Leith second. Irvine was the chief seat of the
customs on the Ayrshire coast.® The principal
imports are timber and grain from America, and
butter and grain from Ireland; and the exports
consist almost wholly of coals.

The parochial church of * Yrewin,” which we
find first mentioned in the chartulary of Paisley
so far bask as 1233, belonged to the Abbey of
Kilwinning, by the monks of which, who levied
the revenues, a vicarage was established for the
service of the church. The earliest document in
the archives in reference to the Church is a deed
of mortification, dated September, 1323, by Tho-
mas, surnamed Baxter, burgess of Irvine, of an
annual rent of 37s. 10d. to the chaplain of the
parish church of Irvine, &c., for the welfare of his
own soul and that of his wife, Eda. This deed
was sealed with the scal of the abbot of Kilwin-
ning and the common seal of the burgh. None of
the impressions, however, are preserved. The next
is another deed of mortification, dated 1st March,
1418, by Mr William de Cunynghame, perpetual
vicar of the church of Dundonald, son of the
Lord William de Cunnynghame, Lord of Kil-
maurs, of various tenements in the burgh of Ir-
vine, &c., to maintain two chaplains in the church
of Irvine for prayers for the souls of himself, of
his father, of Agnes, his mother, &c., at the altars
of St Catharine and St Ninian, in the parish
church of Irvine, &c., of which two chaplains, the
bailies and community of Irvine, after the death
of the mortifier, were to have the presentation.
In a subsequent deed by the same party, dated
26th July, 1426, assigning certain tenements in

* Ayr is now the chief—Irvine is the custom-house for
Irvine, Troon, and Ardrossan.

t In a dispute between the Abbot and Monks of Paisley
and Gilbert, the son of Samuel of Renfrew, in 1283, the
first gxamination of witnesses took place in the parochial
church of “ Yrewin,” before the Deacons of Carrick and
Cunninghame and the Schoolmaster of Ayr.

Irvine to the Church, for the health of * James I.,
King of Scots, and his Queen, Johanna,” he is
designed canon of Glasgow as well as vicar of
the church of Dundonald. This last deed is con-
firmed by a charter of James L., dated 28th July,
1426.

¢ Before the Reformation,” says Chalmers,
“ there was at Irvine a chapel dedicated to the
Virgin Mary, which stood on the bank of the
river, near to the parish church;” and he quotes
a grant in favour of this chapel by Lady Loudoun,
in 1451. Amongst the Irvine charters, however,
there is & notarial instrument, dated 16th Novem-
ber, 1446, being a species of sasine, setting forth
a deed of mortification by Lady Alicia Campbell,

“Lady Lowdonhill, of an annual rent of five merks

out of two tenements within the burgh of Irwyne
%o the chaplain who should officiate at the altar of
St Michael in the new aisle of the Virgin Mary,
within the parish of Irwyn. This was followed
by a charter of confirmation by the same lady,
dated 8d January, 1451, in which the previous
mortification is repeated, and the annual rent of
four additional tenements devoted to the sapport
of St Mary’s Chapel. The new aisle may there-
fore be regarded as having been only recently
erected at the time of Lady Alicia’s first grant,
and to have been merely an extension of the pa-
rish church.

On the 6th September, 1502, James Chalmyr
of Gudgircth resigned an annual rent of 40 pence,
payable out of a tenement in Irvine, for the sup-
port of the chaplains officiating at the altars of
St Ninian and Catharine, within the parish church.
There is also a similar mortification by Rankin
Brown, burgess of Irvine, dated 16th November,
1506. In 1540, Alexander Scot, the provost of
the collegiate church of Corstorphin, granted five
roods of land, in the burgh of Irvine, a tenement
in the same, and a piece of land beside the bridge
of Irvine, two acres of land at the said burgh,
and annual rents to the amount of £6, 2s. 4d.,
from a number of tenements within the said burgh,
for the purpose of building a chapel within the
parish church, and maintaining a chaplain. The
charter under the Great Seal, confirming this
grant, is dated 10th February, 1641. The origi-
nal is in the Irvine charter chest. Chalmers men-
tions, that ‘* at Bourtreehill, in the country part
of the parish of Irvine, a mile distant from the
town, there was formerly a chapel, with a burying-
ground.”

¢ From the rental of Kilwinning, which was

iven in officially to government in 1562, it ap-
pears that the monks received from the church of
Irvine yearly, 89 bolls of meal, 9 bolls and 2 fir-
lots of bear, £17, 6s. 8d. for part of the tithes
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leased, and ‘four hugguttis of wine.' At the
sarne epoch of the Reformation, the vicarage of
Irvine was held by Thomas Andrew, who made a
return on the 8d of March, 1561-2, stating that
the fruits and revenues of that vicarage had been
let for forty years past, at 40 marks yearly.”*

In 1572, this same Thomas Andrew, vicar of
Irvine, feued the church lands belonging to his
vicarage, to Patrick Brown of Boroughland, for a
feu-duty of five shillings Scots, being one shilling
in augmentation of the old rental.

In 1562, immediately after the Reformation,
the burgh 'of Irvine received a perpetual grant of
all the revenues and property which had belonged
to the Church for the purpose of establishing a
public school at Irvine. The instrument of sasine
conveying the gift, is dated 5th October, 1564,
and proceeds upon a royal precept, dated 8th
June, 1562, bearing that a perpetual grant had
been made to the provost, bailies, councillors, and
community of the burgh of Irwyne, and their suc-
cessors, “‘of all and singular the lands, houses,
buildings, churches, chaplinaries, orchyards, gar-
dens, crofts, annualrents, trusts, remts, profits,
emoluments, farms, alms (lie Daill silver), anni-
versaries, alterages, and prebendaries within any
church, chaplainary, or colledge, founded by any
patrons of the same within the liberties of the
burgh of Irvine: as also, six bolls of multure be-
longing to the Carmelite’s Order, all united into
one tenement, to be called in time coming the
King's foundation of the school of Irvyne.” This
seems to have been the first step towards the in-
stitution of a public school in Irvine; but it ap-
pears not to have been immediately acted upon;

for there is a charter from James VI., ten years

afterwards, dated 8th June, 1572, including all
the subjects enumerated in the previous grant,
and proceeding upon the narrative of his Majesty’s
desire to enable the people to establish schools in
all the burghs. It does not appear that the
‘¢ King’s foundation of the School of Irvyne” was
ever matured by the authorities. No doubt a
schoolmaster was maintained by the burgh, al-
though we do not find any notice of the fact in
the Council records, till a minute of the 16th
Apryle, 1686, states that the authorities had
¢ aggreid with William Clerk, scholemaster at
Beith, ffor serving as scholemaster of this burgh
for the space of ane yeir,"—salary, ‘*twa hun-
dreth merks for the said yeir.” There can be
no doubt, however, that a parish school had ex-
isted long previously at Irvine. The present
academy, towards the erection of which the town
contributed largely, was built in 1814.

In Pont’s Cuninghame Topographised (1620)
Irvine is thus described:—** The toune is a free
Royal Burghe, and is governed with a Provost
and his Baillies. In it is a fair church, and the
Baillie Courts of Cuninghame ar ther keipt by the
Earl of Eglintoune and his deputts. Neir to the
toune the river Irwyne i8 overpassed by a faire
stone bridge ; neir to vich was formerly a frierrey
of the order of the Carmelitts,* founded of old by
the Laird of Fulartoune de eodem. Ther is
plenty of salmond taken in this river, and the
toune bears for ther armes, argent, a Lyone chain-
ed, gules.” A new bridge was built at the ex-
pense of the burgh in 1746, and widened and im-
proved in 1827. The present church was erected
on the site of the old in 1774. ‘¢ The revenue of
the burgh,” says the Statistical Account, *is de-
rived chiefly from landed property. In the year
1697, it amounted to £1557, 2s. 7d. Scots, and the
expenditure to £1431, 6s. 7d. Scots. In the year
1840, the revenue amounted to £1675, 6s. 11d.
sterling, and the expenditure to £1567, 15s. 4d.
sterling.” As in most other burghs, no small so-
ciality seems to have prevailed under the old re-
gime. Amongst the loose papers in the archives
of Irvine, there is a goodly roll of tavern-keepers’
accounts against the burgh. For example, the
¢ Account due be the Toune of Irvin to Janet
Garven, Beginning 28 January, 1686,” till Nov.
10, amounted to the round sum of £84, 14s. 4d.
Scots. One of the items runs thus:

‘“Jan. 80.—It. The Magistrats and Councill
when they were subscryving the tacks betwixt my
Lord Montgomerie and the toune, ffour pynts of
wyne, and for Aill, Brandy, tobacco, and pypps,
208, . . £05 00 00.”
Only think of the Ma.gimms and Councillors of
the present day enjoying their tobacco and pipes
at the public expense!

Memorabilia connected with the Burgh:

The following notes from the papers and records
of the burgh may be amusing, while they serve to
illustrate particular passages both of local and
general history :—

1529.—Discharge by the Earl of Rothes, the
Abbots of Whithorn, Arbroath, &c., as Lords
Compositors, to the Bailies of Irving, for compo-
sition of £88, 6s. 8d. for the Raid of Solway.—
Dated at Air 12th February.

1540.—Letter of protection by James V. under
his Privy Seal, dated 7th August, in favour of the
Provost, &c., showing the disturbed state of the
times.

@ Chalmers’ Caledonia.
t Original feu-charter in the archives of Irvine.

® This friary was on the Fullarton side of the river, in
the parish of Dundonald.
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1546.—Commission by Queen Mary, with con-
sent of the Earl of Arran, 15th August, proceed-
ing on a narrative of the burgh of Irvine being
infected with a plague, and therefore granting to
the Magistrates, while the plague continued, the
same powers of justiciary which the Justice-Ge-
neral possessed, to enable them to enforce the
necessary regulations, &c.

1549.—Licence and warrant by Queen Mary,
under the hand of the Regent, Earl of Arran, as
her tutor, narrating, that *‘ for the composition of
sax scoir pundis money of our realm, hes grantit
and given licence to our louitts the prouist, bail-
zies, and haill communitie of our burgh of Irvine,
to remane and byid at hame fra our oist and army
devisit to conuene on Roslene muire the xx day
of October instant, for resisting of our auld ine-
mies of England, and recovering bf the forts of
our realine presentlie in their handis.” It farther
narrates that the Provest and Bailzies had paid
the composition, and that the inhabitants delayed
to repay the same; the Regent therefore grants
warrant to * command and charge all and sindrie
the burgesses inhabitantes, wedeis, alsweill women
as men,” * to relief and mak thankfull payment
to the saidis Provest and Bailzies of the foirsaid
compositione . . within the dayis next after they
be chargit, under the pane of rebellione, and put-
ting of thame to our horne.” Dated at Hamilton,
9th October, the seventh year of the Queen’s
reign.
1569.—Discharge by Alexander Earl of Glen-
cairn, commonly called the ¢ Good Earl,” to the
burgh of Irvine, for £52, 6s. 8d., for furnishing
men for recovering the Castle of Dumbarton, &ec.
Dated at Finlaystoun, 27th December.

1572.—Letters of protection by Archibald Earl
of Argyle.

1583.—Letter from James VI. * To our traist
freindis the Prouost, Bailzies, and Counsel of our
Burth of Irving:—Traist freindis, we greit you
hairtlie weill. It hes plesit God, to our content-
ment, and we ar assurit na less to the commoun
lyking of all our affectionate subjectis, to blis with
appeirance of successioun, our darest bedfallow the
quene being with child, and neir the tyme of hir
delyuerie.—Qubhilk and vther wechtie cffairs gev-
ing occasioun of & mair necessar deliberatioun and
adwyse of our nobilitie and estaittis nor at any
tyme heirtofoir, we have thocht meit to desyre you
maist ernistlic, that ye faill not, all excuses set
apairt, to addres your commissioners towards us
heir at Halyruidhous the xi day of Januar next
to cum,” &c. From Haliruidhouse the xviij day
of December.

1584.—Letter from the Earle of Mar and Gou-
ry, the Abbots of Dryburgh, Cambuskenneth, &e.

to the Provost and Bailies of Irvine, stating that
they have declared their mind to the Lord Boyd,
to be shewn unto them in some matters of conse-
quence, tending to the * suirtie of God’s true re-
ligion and professors thairof, the welfair of the
Kingis majestie and commonwealth of the haill
realme, wherganent we desire you effectuously to
give him ferme credit.” From Stirling, xxi Sep-
tember.

1598.—Letter from Lords Blantyre, Newbottle,
and others, respecting imposts on wyne.—3d Ja-
nuary.

1644.—Letter from the Marquis of Argyll, dat-
ed 9th August, for 2000 weight of powder for the
service of the Committee of Estates; with receipt
by John Campbell, servant of the Marquis, for
the same in 20 barrels.

1656.—Paper signed by Lord Cochrane, Cess-
nock, Rowallane, &c., bearing that Mr Robert
Barclay, Provost of Irving, had craved payment
of a bed, &c. Dated at Kilmarpock, 30th May.

1670.—George Erskine, procurator-fiscal, re-
presented to the Counsell ane ryot and misde-
meanour committed be Sir Alexander Cunyng-
hame of Robertland and others, his assotiats, vpon
the 12th instant, within the said burghe, within
the hous of Arthour Hamiltone, toune-clerk of
this burghe, &e. :

1671.—Discharge from Alexander Earl of Eg-
lintoun to the Magistrates for 200 merks, their
fourth year's answering for militia horses.—18th
December.
.—* A true Account of the Disburse-
ments and Losses by John Dunlop,. gll. he was
Magistrat of Irwin, in tyme of Alaster Macdo-
nald, In the tyme of the sectaries prevailling after
the defeat at Hamiltoun,”—amounting in all to
£811, 13s. 4d. Scots. He desired the burgh to
refund him.  He had been summoned to Kilmar-
nock and Glasgow, and among other items occurs
the following :—** Imprimis, ane fedder bed and
its furnitour, to the garrisone in Eglintoune, which
I never gat back, £30.”

1675.—The Council order three pounds to be
paid Thomas Thomson, to mend a wound in his
child’s head, he being in poverty.—May 12.

1676.—Price of ale fixed by the Council at
28d. the pint; beer, 32d.; cake of oat bread, 30d. ;
candle, 4s. 4d. per 1b.—20th Feb.

1677.—Provost Blair complains to the Council
against Dean of Guild M‘Goun for calling him a
fool, &e. Admitted to proof.—Sept. 27.

1678.—Intimation to the Council that a mill-
stonc in Kameshill, also a blue bonnet, had been
bought for the Holme miller, if Magistrates would
accept them.—Aug. 23.

——.—Archibald Dickson of Towerland to pay
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£40 Scots for his entry in lands of High Myre.—
Memorandom, that Mathew Gray and Robert
Dickie, tenants of the burgh, have not got allow-
ance of their disbursements anent the Hielandmen
and sojours, but ordained to be allowed them as
other noblemen and gentlemen allow to their ten-
ants, &c.—Sept. 27. -

1678.—Large mecting of the inhabitants held
in the church to elect a committee to act in the
town's affairs. Seventy persons are mentioned in
the sederunt. Twenty merchants and five traders
were appointed.—Oct. 31.

. Nov. 1.—Another large meeting held in
the quere of the church to name & committee for
electing the Magistrates.*

1680.—Provost Boyle ordered by Council to
ryde over to Ayr with the first convenience, and
do his utmost to remove the quartering (of the
military) that is presently on the burgh.

1686.—William Hendersone, weaver, obtains
ten pounds from the burgh as a gratuity to repair
his house, which had accidentally fallen down. He
was fourscore years of age, and poor.—30th Jan.
.—Ane hundreth punds Scotts money voted
by the Council to defray the expense of the Pro-
vost in attending Parliament (John Montgomerie,
Provost.)—23d April. ’
.—Persons appointed by the Council to
oversee the sett of the Doura coal-heuchs,t &c.—
28th May.

——.—The Magistrates and Council sign a
bond to support William and Mary.—July 9.

1687.—Shewalton and Bailie Wallace appoint-
ed commissioners, with Sir Willilam Wallace of
Craigie, to repair to Castle Drummond, and com-
mune with the Earl of Perth, Lord High Chan-
cellor, anent the affairs of the burgh.—Oct. 15.

1688.—The Council agree to build pews in the
meeting-house for their convenience.t—Jan. 8.

——.—Magistrates apply to Government for
the gift of * a plack to the pynt, or 20s. the boll
of malt,” to defray the amount of cess, and pay
off other debts.—March 15.

———.—Thomas Wallace of Alderslie, advocate,
appointed to manage the town’s affairs in Edin-
burgh.—April 17.

.—** Considering that therc is a party of
Major-General Graham of Claverhouse his troops
hath been quartered upon this burgh for some
time back, for the additional supply due by this

® These meetings, as the reader will perceive from the
dates, occurred during the struggle for civil and religious
liberty under Charles I1.

t Coal was early wronght in the parish of Irvine.

$ Taking advantage of the Act of Toleration, 8 meeting-
house, apart from the parish church, had been built in Ir-
vine. The resolution of the Council to build “ pews,” was
obviated by the Revolution.

VOL II.

burgh to Sir Hugh Wallace of Inglestane, and
which supply had been uplifted, and was still rest-
ing by the late Magistrates; therefore, order the
said party to quarter upon the late Magistrates .
for the same, and to pound for the quartering mo-
ney, if necessary.”

1688.—The burgh to put forth men, horse, and
furniture, in obedience to his Highness'* procla-
mation.—Oct. 12.

———£160 Scots to be instantly advanced to
the Provost and John Craufurd of Banneik, to
ryde for the town,t and more to be sent them, if
they have occasion to tarry long in his Majesty’s
service.

In respect of the great burdens under which the
burgh at present laboured, the Magistrates were
not able to outreik men, horse, and furnitour for
the foregoing use. Resolved, that one month’s
cess be laid upon the inhabitants for the said out-
reik, &e.—Oct. 12.

~——.—The 5000 merks contributed to procure
the gift of 20s. on the boll of malt, to be brought
back from Edinburgh, and applied to the most
pressing debts.t—Oct. 28.

1689.—Letter from the Prince of Orange, dat-
ed at St James'’s, 5th February 1689, addressed
to the Town-Clerk, requiring the whole burgesses
to meet and choose their commissioners for the
meeting of the Estates, to be held at Edinburgh
on the 14th March, &c.—Feb. 25.

Alexander Cuninghame of Cherrylands was ap-
pointed.—March 6.

~——.—Order for payment of £9, 14s. 4d. to
the Provost for expenses incurred by him with
Lord Eglintoun and Licutenant-Colonel Grahame
and others, along with the inhabitants, at Kilwin-
ning, at the burial of one of Lord Montgomerie's
men; also for attending a county meeting at AyT.
—May 14,

—— —Town to be guarded by * twenty fence-
able men each night, in case the officers tran-
siently on the spot refuse to do so.”"—May 7.
.—Fencible men called out, and ammuni-
tion brought from Ayr. They are formed into
two companies, with two pair of colours—* one
pair being the town’s arms, the other the king or
kingdom's arms,” &c.—May 7.

.—Innkeeper’s to give nightly a list of all
persons lodging with them.—dJune 21.

——.—% Fencible men within Cuninghame to
rendezvous to-morrow within the town's libertie,
under the command of the Laird of Kilbirnie,
their Colonel.” Town's companies * to go forth

& The Prince of Orange.

t+ To appear in arms.

$ The proposed plack a pynt of dues was obtained in
November following.

M



90

PARISH OF IRVINE.

to Townend in their best armes and joyn them.”
—July 8.

Such was the display of arms deemed necessary
to aid in guarenteeing the infant Revolution of
1688, which, a few years afterwards, was felt to be
so firmly established, that we find the burgesses
of Irvine with ample leisure and inclination to at-
tend to the amusements of the people.

1694.—Appoint a silver tumbler to be made at
the town's expense, as the prize to be run for at
the race which is to be at this place on the last
Tuesday of October current.—Oct. 12.

Irvine, or Bogside Racces, have been long fa-
mous.

The Presbytery Records.*

Irvine was somewhat famous as a place of exe-
cution in the era of witchcraft. No fewer than
twelve witches were there executed at one time,
in the month of March, 1650, and four more in
the course of a few weeks afterwards.

15th June, 1647.—The plague surmised to be
in Kilwinning, and that the sickness at Largs still
continues.

15th Sept. 1647.—The Presbytery, in terms of
the Assembly’s ordinance, ordains that a thanks-
giving be solemnly keeped the last Lord’s-day of
this instant, for thir causes: 1st, That the Lord
hath been pleased to grant so glorious a victory
to our army employed against the rebels in the
Hielands. 2dly, That in the time of England’s
confusions, and our fears from them, it has pleased
the Lord to give us the benefits of a General As-
sembly, which, with great unanimity, has issued
forth a public declaration against the errors in
England. 8dly, That the Lord hath been gra-
ciously pleased to keep the pestilence from spread-
ing over the face of the land, &c., &c. Mr John
Nevoy is returned from the army, and gave the
brethren hearty thanks for their care in supplying
his kirk in the time of his absence.

26th Oct. 1647.—Collections ordered for Largs,
where the people were very destitute. Some in-
dividuals in the bounds of the Presbytery having
gone into England, and got married, contrary to
the order of the kirk, the General Assembly to be
applied to for instructions how the Presbytery are
to proceed in censuring the said persons. Sums
collected for Largs: From New Mills, 152 pounds
8s. 4d. From Irvine, 200 merks; Kilmaurs, 102
merks; Kilbirnie, 50 pounds. From Stewarton,
111 pounds; Kilwinning, 100 pounds; Dreghorn,
43 pound 8s.; Dalry, 48 pound 20 merks; Ar-

® We are indebted for the following notices to a corres-
pondent of ¢ The Irvine Monthly News-Letter.

drossan, 50 merks. From Perston, 40 pound viii
merks. Three clergymen appointed to spesk to
the Erle of Eglinton anent the plantation of Per-
ston.

16th May, 1648.—The Presbytery having read
and examined a letter from the Commission of the
Kirk, dated at Edinburgh, 28th April 1648, to the
end that there may be some testimony and evi-
dence extant of the zeal and faithfulness of the
commissioners of the kirk in the cause of God,
does ordain that the special heads and elanses of
the said letter should be inserted and registered as
follows: The first head bears a narrative of the
commissioners’ proceeding towards the present
Parliament, which had gone on and concluded
ane engagement in war against England before
satisfactory answer was given to the desire of the
kirk, relating withal, that they did conceive the
liberty of the kirk much prejudiced by the Parlia-
ment proceeding to determine in these things,
which so nearly and highly concerned religion,
without the advice and consent of the kirk, where-
upon the commissioners of the kirk does find them-
selves pressed for the preservation of the liberties
of the kirk, according to the word of God. Second
clause: Because there was just fear of overturning
the whole word of God in three dominions. They
require that & solemn fast may be kept the last
Sabbath of May, for entreating the Lord for the
means of help in the day of this our great need.
A third clause bears ane exhortation to the breth-
ren of the Presbytery, that they not only withdraw
themselves from giving any assistance and concar-
rence to the Parliament in the matter of the en-
gagement between the two nations, but also be
ready to give a testimony of their affection to the
cause as they shall see need, and to give timeous
warning unto all against the snares and tempta-
tions of the times; exhorting likewise that the
brethren may labour to be of one mind in the Lord,
that by his means the boasting of the adversary
may be put to silence. The fourth clause is anent
the reading of a short information relating to the
Parliament declaration, which is to be made known
to the people, and they are exhorted to get copies
of the same, to the end that they may not be en-
snared by specious pretences. The several heads
of the letter aforesaid being read over again in the
Presbytery’s audience, were unanimously approv-
en, the information to the people appointed to be
read the first Lord’s-day, the fast agreed unto to
be kept upon the day above mentioned, and that
Mr Hew M‘Kaile, Mr John Bell, and Mr John
Nevoy, shall draw up the causes of the fast out of
the commissioners’ letter, to be given to every
brother, that they might be publicly read upon
the day of the intimation.
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* The Presbytery also agree to a supplication to
be made to Parliament, embracing the foresaid
matters.

25th July, 1648.—Some of the brethren cited
before the Committee of Estates for being at
Mauchline Moor, although they had persuaded
the people who were there present to disband and
o home to their houses.

15th Dec. 1648.—The Presbytery gave various
directions regarding those who had been out in
the late unlawful engagement, directed, inter alia.
11th, Those who were active in quartering of so-
Jjures in the unlawful engagement, or being em-
ployed to quarter those who rose up for the good
eause, did either declare themselves unwilling or
absented themselves. They are to make a perso-
nal acknowledgment, and to be sadly and gravély
rebukit. Further, it is agreed upon and conclud-
ed, that all who are to make a personal acknow-
legment, if they be elders, are to be suspended
from the exercise of the eldership for a day or
two.

2d Jan. 1649.—On a report that some persons
in the family of Lady Semple, then residing at
Southanan, did absent themselves from church,
inquiry directed, that in case Lady Semple remain
there, some course be taken with that family.

13th Feb. 1649.—It is appointed that Elizabeth
Bruntfield and Bessie Duel, two of my Lady Sem-
ple, her servants, for the present at Southanan,
for their absenting themselves from the public ordi-
nances, shall be cited before the session of Largs.

13th Feb. 1649.—The Presbytery, taking into
consideration the diverse combats that have been
fought, and the challenges to duels within the
bounds of the Presbytery, &c., do appoint the
Assembly's Act, 12th Aug. 1648, to be publicly
intimated by every brother in the congregation,
that none may pretend ignorance.

8th May, 1649.—Elizabeth Bruntfield and Bes-
sie Duel, my Lady Semple, her two servants, are
gone out of the country.

22d May, 1649.—At trials of Mr Wm. Rodger,
in relation to a call to the ministry of Kilbirnie,
¢*The Presbytery having considered what common
head was most fit and useful to be handled in re-
ference to the times, does condescend upon that
De jure magistratus circa sacra, quhilk is pre-
scribed to the said William to be handled when
the Presbytery should appoint a diet.”

At a visitation at Kilmarnock, 19th June, 1649,
anent ane seperstitious image that was upon my
Lord Boyd his tomb, it was the Presbytery’s mind
that his Lordship should be written to that he
would be pleased to demolish and ding it down,
and that if he did not, then the Presbytery was to
take a farther course.

14th August 1649.—Compeared the two bailies
of Irvine, and did represent. to the Presbytery the
great skaith and damage that the town had sus-
tained through fire, and did desire a contribution
from the several parishes for re-edifying of the
houses that were burnt. The Presbytery baving
heard their desires, do unanimously condescend
thercunto, and that the contributions should be
gathered with the first conveniency, and brought
in.

20th Nov. 1649.—Thomas Cumming having
been required to sign the Covenant, * he gave in
a paper, declaring that, notwithstanding all the
pains the brethren had taken upon him, he could
not do so without sin.” The Presbytery finding
him obstinate, and unwilling to receive information,
does appoint that, without further delay, he renew
the Solemn League and Covenant upon Sabbath
come-fortnight, publicly, in the kirk of Kilmaurs;
and that before renewing the same, he acknowledge
that he has given scandal and offence to the people
of God, and that Mr William Guthrey preach that
day, and tender the Covenant to him; and in case
he do refuse, that Mr William Crooks make report,
that the Presbytery may go on in process against
him

15th Dec. 1649.—Compeared Thomas Cum-
ming, who offered to take the Covenant privately
before the Presbytery; that rather than take it
publicly, would venture upon excommunication,
imprisonment, and a scaffold; because to do it
publicly, was to make him suffer as an evil-doer,
&c., &c. The Presbytery think it altogether un-
Jjust and ridiculous, and therefore directed that he
receive the Covenant on the first Lord's-day.
Poor Thomas' courage evaporated; and on 1st
Jan. it was reported that he had taken the Cove-
nant as enjoined.

24th Sept. 1649.—The moderator of the Pres-
bytery (Mr Thomas Bell), upon the grounds and
presumption of witchcraft that are holden forth
against Elizabeth Graham in Kilwinning, having
written for a commission to try the said Eliza-
beth ; the commission is returned, whereupon it
is appointed that some of the brethren go to
the Erle of Eglinton, and speak his Lordship that
that commission may be put in execution, and
that his Lordship may be pleased actively to con-
cur.

24th Oct. 1649.—Upon the presumption of
witcheraft that was holden forth against Eliza-
beth Graham in Kilwinning,* the Presbytery did

* In a work entitled “ Satan’s Invisible World Discovered,
by Mr George Sinclair, Professor of Philosophy in the Col-
ledge of Glasgow,” there is an account of the proceedings
against Elizabeth, or Jessie Graham, one of the parties
mentioned in the minutes of Presbytery. It is stated to



92 PARISH OF IRVINE.

conclude that the Committee of Estates should be
written to for ane commission to put the said
Elizabeth to an assize, if their Lordships should
think the presumption relevant, and the draught
of the letter that was drawn up by Mr James
Ferguson is approven as fit to be sent.

19th March, 1650.—The bailie of Cuninghame
having signified to the Presbytery, that upon
Thursday next an assize was to be holden upon
twelve persons who had confissed the sin of witch-
craft, and that the exccution was to be upon Fri-
day the morn thereafter, and that it was fitting a
minister should be appointed to wait upon every
one of them that they might be brought to a
farther acknowledgment of their guilt, the Pres-
.bytery having considered the foirsaid, does, in
order thereto, appoint these brethren following
to wait upon the execution the said day, viz., Mr
Ralph Rodger, Mr James Ferguson, Mr Wm.
Russel, Mr R. Urie, Mr Alex. Nisbet, Mr James
Roman, Mr Wm. Rodger, Mr And. Hutchison,
Mr Wm. Castellan, Mr James Clandening, Mr
Rob. Aird, Mr Wm. Crookes, and Mr Gabriel
Cuninghame.

22d April, 1650.—The Presbytery finding that
the sin of witcheraft was growing daily, and that
in the several parishes meikle of the hidden works
of darkmess was discovered and brought to light
in the mercy of God, and that several were appre-
hended, and in firmance for that sin, did meet

have been given by the minister of the parish. It appears,
th:at in a fit of drunkenness Jessie had threatened another
woman, who ten days afterwards was taken ill and died.
Jeasie was apprehended and imp d in the steeple on a
charge of witcheraft. She lay there for thirtcen weeks,
the minister constantly visiting her. But she remained
obdurate, denying her guilt. He was under great doubts
on tho subjeet, when fortunately a cclebrated witch-finder,
named Bogs, made his appearance, and having examined
Bessie, found the mark in the middle of her back. Into
this mark Bogs inserted a large brass pin; and as Bessie
did not appear to feel it, and no blood flowed, this was con-
sidcred strong evidence. The minister was a good deal
nonplused, however, because the chief man in the parish,
(we presume Lord Eglinton,) and other judges, had de-
clared it to be “mere clatters.” Another circumstance ap-

to have given the minister some anxiety, which was,
his fear that the assize would not condemn Bessie, unless
he advised them to do so, which he was not very clear about
doing. In this dilemma he prayed for directions how he
was to proceed, and as he apy to have jdered it by
& special interposition, he was induced to listen at the-door
of the prison, accompanied by the bellman, where they
overheard Bessie conversing with the foul flend: although
the minister could not understand their conversation, the
bellman did; at the same time the bellman appears to have
got such a fright, that he nearly tumbled down the stair of
the stecple in his haste to get away from so dangerous a
personage. Of course this was conclusive of Bessie's guilt,
and her fate was soon settled. Finding she must die, poor
Bessic prayed earnestly for forgivenness of her ins, but de-
nied most obdurately the witcheraft, and the minister very
sagely discovered that this was a device between Bessie
and the devil to deceive him, but he was too knowing to
be thus taken in, and Bessie suffered according to her sen-
tence, impenitent to the last.

occasionally this day to hear and receive the con-
fessions of some, of the said sin of witchcraft, that
they might recommend the same to the Lords of
Privy Council, for the issuing forth of a commis-
sion of assize to sit upon the said persons; and
after hearing the Presbytery, do judge the con-
fessions of the persons following relevant to be
recommended: Imprimis, of Margaret Couper in
Saltcoats, who was apprehended by the Bailie of
Cunninghame, upon presumption of witchcraft
and common bruit, who confessed the renunciation
of her baptism, carnal copulation with the devil,
and the taking of a new name from him. Item,
the confession of Janet Robison in Monkecastle, of
Sarah Erskine in Largs, of John Shedden there,
of Margaret Montgomerie in Irvine, of Jean Ha-
milton, Marion Cuninghame, and Euphame Dic-
kie, there, of Janct M‘'Kie in Dalry, Catherine
Robison, Agnes Glen, and Bessie Ewing there,
likewise of Violet Mudie in Kilbride, all which did
confess before famous witnesses the renouncing of
their baptism, copulation with the devil, taking of
a new name from him, and several apparitions of
the devil to them, and some of them by and at-
tour, did confess. Further, the Presbytery being
informed that there were several persons in Dalry,
who, partly upon presumption, partly upon dela-
tion, and partly upon mala fama, were appre-
hended by the Judge Ordinary for witcheraft, who
continued still impenitent, therefore it is appointed
that Mr Patrick Colville, and Mr W. S. Russel,
shall go to Dalry, and deal with the said persons
for bringing of them to ane confession. Likewise
the confession of Catherine Montgomerie in Salt-
coats, who did confess, beside the renunciation of
her baptism ; the appearing of the devil ; the tak-
ing of a new name from the devil ; copulation
with him, and sundry malafices, and the alluring
and drawing on of others to the devil’s service,
is found relevant and clear, and recommend it
amongst the rest.

The Bailie Depute of Cuninghame, (north dis-
trict of Ayrshire,) having represented to the Pres-
bytery that sundry persons, who were
of witcheraft within the bounds of the Presbytery,
were apprehended (contrary to the privilege of
the bailiary) without a warrant from himn, the
foresaid representation being heurd and examined
by the Presbytery, they do judge it expedient
that no person or persons suspect of witchcraft as
said is, be apprehended and put in firmance by
any person, without a warrant from the Bailie of
Cuninghame or Depute; and in case any person
be apprehended before a warrant can e obtained
and had, that word be presently sent to the bailie
thoreof.

The confessions of several persons in Largs, of
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the sin of witcheraft, being read and examined,
are recommended to the Committee of Estates for
issuing furth of a commission to put the said per-
sons to ane assize, that so the land may be purged
of that abominable sin.

80th April, 1650.—Some of the brethren, viz.
Mr James Ferguson, moderator, Mr Alex. Nisbet,
Mr Thom. Bell, Mr J. Rowat, Mr A. Hutchison,
Mr Ralph Rodger, Mr Wm. Rodger, Mr Jas.
Clandening, Mr Robt. Urie, and Thos. Guthrie,
ruling elder, did convene to receive and examine
the confession of Maal Montgomerie in Largs,
Mall Small and Isobel Maillshead there. Siklike
of Margaret Isset in Kilwinning, who had con-
fessed ilk ane of them their guiltiness of the sin
of witcheraft ; and after examination of the fore-
said confessions, they are found relevant to be
recommended for issuing furth of & commission to
put them to ane assize.

7th May, 1650.—Because there is to be ane
execution of four persons upon Saturday next, at
Irvine, for the sin of witcheraft, the Presbytery
does appoint three ministers, viz. Mr James Fer-
guson, Mr Matthew Mowat, and Mr Andw. Hut-
chison, together with the minister of the place, to
attend the execution the said day.

Three ministers to go to Dalry, and deal with
those persons apprehended for the sin of witch-
craft, and continuing impenitent, to bring them to
a confession of their guilt, if it be possible.

Isobel Allan in Kilwinning, being trilapse in
fornication, compeared, and because she was under
the suspicion of witchcraft, and withal great with
child, &c., delay proceeding in the meantime.

The confession of Geiles Buchanan in Ardros-
san, and Janet Hill there, wherein was contained
their acknowledgment of the abominable sin of
witcheraft in renouncing their baptism, taking &
new name from the devil, baving carnal copula-
tion with him, and being at diverse meetings with
him, being read and examined, are judged clear
to be presented to the Lords of Privy Counsel or
Committee of Estates, for granting and giving a
commission to put the said persons to ane assize.

28th May, 1660.—The confession of Wm. Sem-
ple in Kilburnie, and Agnes Houston there, being
apprehended by the Bailie Depute of Cuninghame,
for the sin of witcheraft, and acknowledging the
same before witnesses, being read and examined,
are to be recommended to the Committee of
Estates for the issuing furth of a commission to
put the said persons to ane assize.

Mr Wm. Guthrey, and the two ministers of
Stewarton, are appointed to deal with some per-
sons within the parish of Dreghorn, apprehended
for the sin of witchcraft, both upon presumptions
and delations, for bringing them to ane confession.

16th June, 1650.—Having heard the confession
of Jean Hamiltown, Isobel Hutchison, Marion
Boyd, of Agnes Dunlop and Jean Swan, in Irvine,
of witchcraft, how that they had renounced their
baptism, taken a new name from the devil, &c.,
being read, are found to be clear, to be recom-
mended to the Committee of Estates for a com-
mission.

James Robertson and his wife, indwellers in
Irvine, apprehended to be cited before the Pres-
bytery for writing a letter to Barbara Montgo-
merie, now apprehended for the sin of witcheraft,
wherein they dissuade her from confession of that
sin, and desiring her by any means to keep her
tongue, and all the world will not get her life.

2d July, 16560.—The confession of two persons
in Irvine, having acknowledged their guiltiness of
witcheraft, viz., Thomas Brown and Isobel Carse,
likewise of ane Samuel Elves, an Englishman, who
had been a common beggar this many years in the
country, being read, are judged clear to be holden
furth to the Committee of Estates for a commis-

sion to put them to ane assize.

In 1697, a fast to be observed for various sins,
among others the sin of witcheraft. Three people
in Ardrossan, charged with using a charm to pre-
serve their cattle from disease, who declared they did
it ignorantly, and professed their grief, are sharply
rebuked, and ordered back to their session to be
rebuked.

19th July, 1698.—The Presbytery appoint Mr
Pat. Warner, their commissioner, to attend with
other ministers, the meeting of Parliament, for
prosecuting of the recommendations of the General
Assembly against popery and witcheraft.

This is the last instance in which witcheraft is
mentioned. There are several cases where partics
were brought before the Presbytery for consulting
spaewives for the purpose of recovering stolen
goods, the last instance occurs in the year 1785.

A number of individuals were brought before
the Presbytery at different times charged with
malignancy, and being concerned in the unlawful
engagement. Among others the Earl of Glen-
cairn, Lords Montgomerie and Boyd, the lairds of
Robertland, Knock, Baidland, Cambskeith, &c.,
and the sons of Lainshaw and Magbiehill; all
these parties appear either to have given satisfac-
tion to the kirk, or evaded it by kecping out of
their jurisdiction, in which cases the Presbytery
applied to their brethren, in the part of the coun-
try to which the culprits had gone, to follow up
the proceedings against them. The following are
a few of the cases mentioned: Janet Cunninghame
in Kilmaurs, for cursing of all those who went out
in the public cause, (i. e., those who went out to
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oppose parties employed in the unlawful engage-
ment,) ordered to be cited. Adam Simpson cited
for malignancy, viz. drinking to the confusion of
all that were contrary to the engagement, calling
the ministers deceivers of the people. That he
did curse the people of God—that he called Mr
Robert Aird ane ass and fool, because he said the
Parliament ought only to be obeyed in the Lord.
Simpson asked who were his accusers. The Pres-
bytery answered, *'That fuma clamosa was enough
for the Presbytery to own it, albeit there was none
to accuse him.”

Aug. and Sept. 1649.—Lord Montgomerie, and
others, applied to be allowed to confess their sin
in joining the unlawful engagement, which appears
to have been granted after having sufficiently
humbled themselves and submitted to the kirk.
The ladies did not escape. ‘ Concerning the Lady
Robertland, Mr Andrew Hutchison is appointed
to try what was her carriage in the time of the
unlawful engagement.”

April, 1650.—Process against the laird of Knock
continued notwithstanding of his removal to Ire-
land. They had, since 1647, hunted this unfor-
tunate laird all over Scotland, and he appears at
last to have taken refuge in Ireland.

7th May, 1650.—The laird of Robertland ap-
peared, but said he was not yet convinced of the
unlawful engagement. The Presbytery being
¢ desirous to go about all lawful means for the
gaining of the gentlemen,” appointed Mr Pat.
Colville and Mr Wm. Guthrie, to go and labour
with him to convince him.

Custom-House Records.

Much has been said by our local romancers on
the subject of smuggling on the coast of Ayrshire
during the last century. Many marvellous stories
have been told of the feats of those engaged in
the contraband trade, and of the great extent to
which it was carried. The following extracts
from the Custom-house records show that there
is at least good foundation for some of the tradi-
tional averments still current amongst the pea-
santry in the smuggling districts :—

1728, Sept. 27.—A letter from the collector
and comptoller, mentions a vessel, the Prosperity
of Kilbride, having arrived at Saltcoats, on 6th
September, with a cargo of brandy, woollens, &c.,
accompanied by a king’s sloop, to prevent the
cargo being run. The avowed object for coming
to Saltcoats being to take in salt, in addition to
her cargo. The master delayed sailing on pre-
tence of having met with damage, and being un-
able to proceed on her voyage.

28th Oct.—Another letter states that a mob

had attacked and robbed the vessel, after having
severely beaten the officers in charge, and on 7th
November, they reported that one of the officers
‘* was dangerously ill, and his life much doubted
of from the bruises he had received on that oc-
casion.”

1728, Nov. 7.—The Custom-house gttempted
to be robbed. At this period it appears to have
been the practice when tobacco was shipped, to
send troops from Glasgow to guard the vessels
till they sailed.

1730, Nov. 10.—A letter from the Commis-
sioners mentions that a troop of dragoons was
quartered at Kilmarnock, another at Kilbride,
and 50 men at Irvine, Saltcoats, Beith, &c., * for
the assistance of the officers of the customs in the
execution of their duty.”

1730, Dec. 83.—The collector and comptroller
directed, ‘“ not to receive any Old Bank notes in
time coming, as the Old Bank” (we suppose the
Bank of Scotland) * have come to a resolution to
alter the form of their notes, above twenty shil-
lings value, whereby they bave reserved to them-
selves an option, whether they will pay their cur-
rent cash notes on demand, or within six months
thereafter, which being a proceeding of a very
extraordinary and uncommon nature, and attend-
ed with great inconveniency, &ec. &c.” In 1775,
we find the collector and comptroller ordered not
to take Glasgow bank notes.

1731, Sept. 23.—From Commissioners, men-
tioning their having dismissed James Crawfurd,
surveyor, Alexander Kennedy, landwaiter, and
the collector’s clerk, for being concerned in a fraud
on the revenue, by shipping lately at Saltcoats,
on board the Jloses, a considerable quantity of
peats and stones as tobacco.

[This James Crawfurd was a son of Viscount
Garnock, and if he had had a family and descen-
dants, his heir would have now been Earl of Craw-
furd. James Crawfurd was the alleged ancestor
of Crawfurd, the Irish schoolmaster, who, about
forty years ago, laid cluim to the title and estates
of the Earldom of Crawfurd.]

1782, April 12.—Commissioners mention that
they bad received information from the Isle of
Man, that thirty sail of vessels were loading brandy
and other goods for Ireland and this country.

1788, July 6.—Francis Porter, cooper and tide-
waiter, understanding from Kilwinning, that on
Friday last, there were 16 or 18 carts there, which
came empty from Glasgow, in order to assist at
the re-landing tobacco along the coast, (our tides-
men observing always when any of our own car-
ters stir,) went with some others of our own tides-
men that night to Saltcoats, where they mostly
suspected it to be, and with the assistance of Mr
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Charles Hamilton, landwaiter, and other officers
there, carefully watched that night, and nothing
occurred ; only they observed several of Mr B.'s
sons, going to and fro, about his storehouse there.
In the morning, Mr Hamilton went along the
coast to learn what had become of the carters that
were at Kilwinning, and on his way understood
they had gone a bye-way to Pencorse, for fear of
being discovered ; but by the tracks in the sand,
was led to that old castle where the carts lay, and
their horses grazing hard by. Likewise in a creek
hard by that castle was a lighter, loaded with
tobacco, from Port-Glasgow; he being suspicious
they bad put part ashore the night before, went
on board of her and saw their cocket, which was
for Fort-William and Inverary, and saw her full.
He kept spies on her several nights, which they
understanding, thought it most proper to bring
her about to Saltcoats, and they have now got a
warrant to land it. Mr Hamilton since informs
us, that that night 20 of the hhds. had been put
on shore, and some of them came the length of
Arneal, (where Mr B. has been at Goat-Whey
this summer,) on their way to the storehouse at
Saltcoats, but the spies informing him that the
officers were out, drove it all back again to the
lighter. We are of opinion that the trick intend-
ed, was to have landed the 43 hhds. on board the
lighter, without any despatch, and to have sent
the lighter with the coast cocket to the Isle of
Man, or some part of the Highlands, where they
may have re-landed tobacco, and by the cloak of
the coast cocket, to have brought home the same
quantity ef tobacco, which they judge not safe to
risque without one, and to land it regularly in
order to get their coast bond cancelled.

1738, July 19.—Last night there came 40 or
50 armed men from Beith (as we suppose), and
broke open the Custom-house, and took away a
considerable quantity of the brandy, rum, teas,
&c., that was condemned in exchequer, and fallen
into the officers’ hands at sale; also most of the
parcels claimed by the Admiral,- and calico and
other goods which lay for payment of the duties.
They set guards round the house, so that neither
the officers who were on watch in the house, nor
the collector’s servants, could get out to alarm the
other officers, till a forward maid-servant of the
collector’s went out at a back window, three stories
high, on the roof of the adjoining house, and so
got down and alarmed the surveyor. Had it not
been for her getting out, and making this alarm,
together with the shortness of the night, also the
strength of the door, which took them a good deal
of time to undo, they had left nothing, &c., &c.
Troops are requested by the comptroller.

1733, August 10.-—It is flagrant up and down

the country who were concerned in it (the robbery
of the Custom-house), and there has been strange
debates among themselves about the division.
Last week, two of our officers went round the
country, and to Beith, incognito, and learned the
whole people concerned, and particularly got one
of the carriers, who was present, to meet Ladyland
and me yesterday here, and made a full confession.
He happened to be unmercifully beat, which made
him make the clearer confession. There are others
abused also, from whom we expect a like disco-
very. But the whole affair must lie dormant till
the soldiers come to the country, for without them
there is no attempting to secure any of them.

1788, August 13.—Upon Saturday last, one
James Ker, in Crumock, in Beith parish, came
and told me that a sub-tenant of his had acquainted
him of his being willing to discover the whole, so
being he would be pardoned. Ile also told me
that the ringleaders of that base crime were en-
tering into an association and solemn oath not to
discover any part of that fact; and that whoever
refused to do so were in danger of being murder-
ed by the rest; and that if I would give this Ker
what would maintain this person, either at home
or elsewhere he might be obliged to go to, which
I undertook. He brought him, and he made the
confession enclosed, which I think is more full than
the one made here the beginning of the week.

Note.—The confession is not copied in the let-
ter-book.

1788, September 12.—Yesterday morning, one
of the officers of excise here brought 12 casks of
brandy, which they seized in one of the present
magistrates' houses, and this morning, betwixt two
and three, 2 mob to the number of 50, armed with
guns and other offensive weapons, attacked the
Custom-house, who, after an hour’s hard work,
broke open the door leading to the warehouse. I
made all the resistance I could, having none but
myself and a servant in the house, and alarmed
the neighbourhood sufficiently, though without suc-
cess, they being all in the mob’s interest, and such
of the officers as lived near the Custom-house were
sent out by a sham information, so that I had no
access of getting them any mnotice; however, by
the methods used, they were diverted from their
main design, not having got the warehouse broke.
I have too great reason to believe that such mobs
are connived at by those whose business it is to sup-
press them.

1788-4, January 31.—We were yesterday in-
formed by Mr Charles Hamilton, land-waiter at
Saltcoats, that the Eagle of this place, John Boggs,
master, wherein Mr B. had shipped tobacco for
London, lay still there, as also the empty lighter
that brought it about from Clyde, notwithstanding
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they might often have sailed with a fair wind; that
for eight days past, there were lodged in about
Saltcoats and Kilwinning (where Mr B. is for the
present), several carts and two horses in each, that
came from Glasgow empty; that he and the offi-
cers, who are all on their guard, do observe themn
all convened at Mr B.’s storehouse, ready to put
some base object in execution, and as soon as they
learn the officers are out, the carts are locked up
in the warehouse, and the borses dispersed. Mr
B. has, since the carts have been here, given some
of the tidesmen sham information where brandy
lay at some distance, in order to carry them off,
but in vain. He also informs us that their design
is to land this here, and to carry tobacco along
with our coast cocket, which he might have re-
landed in the Highlands. The officers have been
8o fatigued, that we were obliged to send others
to relicve them. He begs us to entreat your
honours would use your influence to get the half
of the commsand that lie here removed to Saltcoats;
for though he should sce them in the execution of
any unlawful thing of the kind, he could not pro-
pose to make a seizurc good among such robust
fellows as these carters are. We are hopeful,
through the officers’ vigilance, to break Mr B.’s
plan in this attempt of re-landing tobacco, with-
out warrant, as was done last year, with respoct
to that parcel shipped for England on board the
Thistle, of which John Boggs was also master.

1733, February 28.—We received yours of the
25th, In answer, pleasc know that the Eagle of
Saltcoats sailed on Monday last, and has on board
25 hhds. leaf, and 7 bhds. roll tobacco, containing
25,688 pounds. John Boggs is gone master. The
lighter which took this tobacco from Clyde, took
in a few coals, and sailed some days before the
Eagle, pretending to be bound for Belfast, though
we have cause to suspect she is to be employed in
assisting them to execute some base scheme. We
learn the Thistle is now at Dublin, on her way
from Hamburgh to Belfust. Enclosed is a return
of a scizure of snake root, made by the officers
here. The party at Saltcoats shall be ordered to
return to Glasgow in a day or two, when she may
be fairly off the coast.

1764, March 26.—From collector and comp-
troller to Commissioners. Be pleased to know
that we have been lately informed, that for a con-
siderable time past both the officers of the Cus-
toms and those of the Excise in this collection,
and in the collection of Ayr, who have been’in
use to make seizures of brandy and rum at the
Troon point, about four miles from this port, have
compounded with the smugglers, and still continue
to do so, gencrally at the rate of four casks to
each officer—at the same time allowing several

hundred casks of spirits to be conveyed away into
the country in their presence; and further, that
their composition is such with the smugglers, that
the few casks received by them by way of compo-
sition, are sometimes first laid on the shore and
set apart by themselves, there to remain untouch-
ed by the officers till the residue of the cargo be
landed, and all- the residue conveyed into the
country as aforesaid. As this collusive practice
must greatly encourage the smugglers, and also
augment the illicit and very pernicious trade of
running of spirits into this precinct, and as we are
very apprehensive that certain of the officers of
the Customs here under our immediate inspection
are too much concerned in those compositions,
(with a greater body of excisemen who pretend
to have authority from their board to compound,
and who have made our officers in some degree
believe so,) we thought it our duty to acquaint
your honours of the same, that such methods
may be taken in order to the suppression of every
collusive practice tending to the cncouragement
of smuggling, as to you shall deem fit.

This method of compounding has intimidated
some of the officers, so far as they dare not at-
tempt to make a seizure unmless they unlawfully
join with those that compounded, and therefore
find it impracticable to do any service to the re-
venue in making search for run goods, and we
cannot help acquainting your honours, that upon
the 8th or 9th day of February last, Joha Iiar-
per, tidesman here, and James M‘Nillie, land-
waiter at Ayr, made a seizure at the Troon point
of several packages of teas, &c., landed out of a
wherry in the forenoon of that day, and were de-
forced, cut, beat, and abused by the smugglers
and their abettors, and the goods which they were
in possession of|, reseued.

Your honours will also be pleased to know
that the wherry put off again, and in the night of
the said day, she returned and landed several
hundred casks of spirits at the Troon point, after
a composition had been made by a great many
other officers both of the Customs and Excise,
and other aiders and abettors. .

Your honours will be pleased to know, that
after inquiry made here as to the nature of frauds
carried on between the Isle of Man and Scotland,
we find that as the Isle of Man is so situated, and
that as it is not above six or seven hours’ sail from
the nearest port of Scotland, and but about twelve
hours’ sail from this port, it is now more than ever
become the greatest storchouse or magazine for
the French and other nations to deposit prodigeous
quantities of wines, brandies, rums, &ec., coffee,
teas, &c., and other Indian goods, and all manner
of goods and merchandizes that pay high duties
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in Great Britain or Ireland, or are prohibited to
be imported into these kingdoms, which are after-
wards carried off in small boats and wherries
built for that purpose, and smuggled upon the
coast of Scotland to an enormous degree, as well
as upon the coast of England and Ireland, which
no method has yet been found out to prevent in
any degree, (not one in a hundred of the boats,
wherries, or vessels concerned in the smuggling
trade being taken at sea, or scized afterwards); it
cannot therefore be supposed that it can much
longer be suffered to be carried on to such an ex-
orbitant height.

Your honours will further be pleased to know,
that this is all the information we can obtain hére
with respect to the nature and manner of the
frauds carried on between the Isle of Man and
Scotland in general ; but we beg leave to acquaint
you, that smuggling into this part of Scotland has
so far increased, that it is believed that goods
thence have been smuggled into the precinct of
Irvine to the value of 20,000 pounds in the last
twelve months, notwithstanding of the king's
cruizers, and the endeavours of certain of the
officers of the Customs and Excise upon land to
suppress it.

We cannot pretend to make out a list of all the

goods imported into the Isle of Man, and after-
wards smuggled upon the coast of Scotland ; but
enclosed we send your honours a list of the seve-
ral kinds of goods that have been given into us
from our inquiry, together with the trivial daties
said to be paid thereon to the proprietor of the
island. .
A list of goods imported into the Isle of Man,
said to pay duties to the proprictor of the island
as under, and afterwards smuggled into Scotland,
viz.—

Brandies, rum, and geneva, one penny per gal-
lon; arrack, twopence per gallon; wines, one
halfpenny per gallon ; tobacco, one halfpenny per

und.

The following goods 2} per cent. ad valorem,
viz.—

Teas, silks, and other India goods, Barcelona
hankerchiefs, French lawns, silks, gloves, and
laces, chocolate, coffee, china ware, spiceries, India
drugs, and groceries.

Report by R. M*Clure and A. Crawfurd, Oct.1764.

Between seven and eight in the morning, we
descried a boat coming into the Troon, which
proved to be a small Isle of Man one, and which
we believed contained foreign spirits. She no
sooner arrived, than about 100 men, mounted on
horses, having large sticks in their hands, accom-
panied with some women, instantaneously came

VOL. IL

down from the country, and took possession of
the Troon ; and though we immediately made an
attempt to seize the said boat and spirits, we
could by no means get access to her for the mob,
who threatened to put us to death if we offered
to touch her or what was in her. However, the
spirits having been immediately landed, we stood
by in order if possible to seize any part of the
same, when conveying into the country, and ac-
cordingly we then laid hold on three carts, with
six casks of the spirits in each, but had no sooner
made a seizure thereof, than we were attacked by
one ——, servant to —— —— in Loans of
Dundonald, and by three other men unknown to
us, and disguised in sailors’ habits, all well pro-
vided with great sticks, who deforced us of the
seizure, while others, also unknown to us, drove
off the carts and spirits, swearing every moment
to knock us down, and sometimes lifted up their
sticks ready to lay on blows, upon which we made
off with an intention to go for Irvine, (seeing we
were 50 unequal in force, and that all the spirits
were conveyed up into the country,) and in our
way, about a quarter of a mile from the Troon,
we met with John Cousar.

1764, Oct. 20.—From collector and comptrol-
ler. We have received your letter of the 15th
ult., acquainting us that your honours had re-
ceived undoubted information that large quanti-
ties of rum and tea were to be smuggled from the
Isle of Man, at Troon, Heads of Ayr, or Turn-
berry, when the nights were dark and favourable
for the purpose, and therefore directing us, and
all the officers under our direction, to exert our-
selves upon that occasion, and to inform you of
our proceedings.

We beg leave to acquaint your honours that,
in obedience to your said order, we and all the
other officers have used our utmost endeavours to
disconcert the smugglers in the execution of their
intended fraud, and that notwithstanding thereof,
no seizure has been made by any of us since the
receipt of that order, excepting four kegs of rum,
by John Harper, tidesman; that the said four
casks of spirits are part of a wherry, and of a
boat’s cargo, directly from the Isle of Man, and
landed at the Troon yesterday, and the whole of
the spirits and a parcel of tea, &c., conveyed into
the country before the said John Harper, and
Robert M‘Clure, and Andrew Crawfurd, tidesmen,
could make up to the smugglers. That John
Harper was cut and much abused by sundry cad-
gers and carriers, supposed to have come from
Glasgow and the country adjoining, whose names
are unknown to him and the other tidesmen.
That the said officers were so much obstructed in
the execution of their duty, and threatened by

N .
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persons well known to them, that they could not
make themselves masters of one keg more, out of
about 150 cart and horse loads of spirits, &c.,
conveying further into the country by a huge
number of country folks, a great part of whom
were resolute and desperate fellows, being present
at their threatening and obstructing the said of-
ficers, and who were aiding and assisting in con-
veying away the run goods. That the said tides-
men went out to the Troon upon a venture, and
afterwards finding a necessity for a party of the
military, they immediately called out the same,
but before the party could make up, the whole of
the run goods were conveyed away into different
parts of the country and concealed.

We further beg leave to acquaint you, that it
is our humble opinion, that the most effectual
means of suppressing smuggling at the Troon,
(which has arisen to a very enormous degree),
would be for your hdnours to order a cutter, well
manned, & constant station at the Troon, and
never to leave that station but in the case of them
seeing smuggling wherries and boats going past.
‘We are also humbly of opinion, that were one
other cutter stationed at the Heads of Ayr, where
we are informed smuggling is carried on very con-
siderably, and a third to cruize between the Heads
of Ayr and Mull of Cantyre, this would be of much
more service to the revenue than any method that
bas hitherto been fallen upon.

29th August, 1766.—The collector and comp-
troller report, that the vesting the ports in the
Isle of Man in his Majesty, has had the effect of
suppressing in & great measure the smuggling from
that quarter; but that they are informed that
great quantities of rum from Belfast has been run
at Troon and other places, as well as on the coast
of Galloway.

1768, August 17.—From Commissioners, men-
tioning that they had received information that the
smuggling trade from Holland had increased to an
enormous height upon the coast of Scotland.

1768, December 8.—From collector and comp-
troller, stating that a party of smugglers, eight in
number, or upwards, on horseback, with casks
under them, had, between seven and eight o’clock
in the evening of the previous day, crossed the
bridge at Irvine, the river being flooded; that
they had been intercepted by the revenue officers
—some shots having passed on the side of the
officers, and many blows on both sides; and that
two of the smugglers had been seized and com-
mitted to prison.

1769, February 21.—From collector and comp-
troller, mention that a vessel, the Diamond, hav-
ing arrived from Dublin, and officers placed on
board, that between twelve and one o'clock the

previous night, a party of about twenty men had
boarded her, and tied the officers, and carried off
a quantity of goods concealed on board.

Of the ecclesiastical history of the parish of
Irvine since the Reformation, the Statistical Ac-
count affords a succinct outline. ¢ The first Pres-
byterian minister of Irvine, Mr Thomas Young,
was inducted in 1570. He was succeeded by Mr
Alexander Scrimseour in 1598; and in 1610, he
and several of his brethren were by the
Lords of Secret Council with the crime of har-
bouring ‘John Campell alias Fadder Christos-
tome, ane known traficquing priest.” Mr Scrim-
seour, in 1618, was succeeded by Mr Dickson,
who was deprived of his office by the Court of
High Commission ; but was afterwards restored
through the influence of Alexander the Sixth Earl
of Eglintoun. Mr Dickson was translated, and
became Professor of Divinity, first at Glasgow,
and subsequently at Edinburgh, where he died in
1662. His place as minister of Irvine was filled
by Mr Alexander Nisbet, whose character is well
stated in his epitaph, as written by one of his
brethren in these words: * Grande aliquid valta
nituit, gressuque docoro ; grandius in magni doti-
bus ingenii.’ After Mr Nisbet, Mr George Hut-~
chison became minister of Irvine. Not giving

"obedience to his bishop, he was first silenced by

the Parliament in 1662, and sabsequently, in the
same year, he was banished from Edinburgh; but,
upon their passing the act of indulgence, he was
authorised by the Privy Council, in 1669, to ex-
ercise the ministry at Irvine, where he died. Con-
temporaneously with Messrs Dickson, Nisbet, and
Hutchison, Mr James Ferguson was minister of
the adjoining parish of Kilwinning, and in con-
junction with these eminent individuals, he formed
the design of publishing brief expositions of the
Scriptures. In part, this plan was carried into
effect. Mr Dickson, inter alia, published his
¢ Expositio Analytica omnium Apostolicarum
Epistolarum.” Mr Nisbet published an Exposi-
tion of the two epistles of Peter, and also an Ex-
position of Ecclesiastes. From the pen of Mr
Hutchison, the public received an Exposition of
the Book of Job, of the Minor Prophets, and of
the Gospel according to the Evangelist John.
Mr Patrick Warner succeeded Mr Hutchison in
1688. Mr Warner met with great discourage-
ments from his people in the prosecution of his
ministry. Greatly oppressed by these discourage-
ments, he submitted the reasons of demission to
the Presbytery of Irvine in 1702. Upon the re-
tirement of Mr Warner in that year, Mr William
M‘Knight became minister of Irvine, and remained
in this situation till 1750, when he died. His suc-
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cessor, Mr Charles Bannatyne, was translated
from Kilmorie, in Arran, and died soon after he
laid the foundation of the New Church, in 1774.
During the preceding year a church was formed
in Irvine, in connection with the Synod of Relief.
The first stated pastor of this new church, viz.
Mr James Jack, was not ordained till 1777. The
vacancy occasioned in the Established Church by
the death of Mr Bannatyne was filled up by the
appointment of Dr James Richmond, who closed
his ministry in 1801. During his incumbency,
and in the year 1782, Mr White, the second mi-
nister of the Relief Church, was ordained to that
office, and, in 1783, he was deposed for error in
doctrine, and for contumacy. His errors were
adopted under the influence of a Mrs Buchan. It
appears from the autograph letters of this woman,
and from the correspondence of some of her fol-
lowers which we have seen, that, by herself and
by them, she was considered as being the spirit of
God dwelling in flesh,—as being, in short, the in-
carnation of the Holy Spirit. From the terms of
the libel against Mr White, we learn that by him,
and as we infer by her, it was held, first, that sin
does not adhere to the believer; secondly, that
Christ tasted death for all men; and, thirdly,
that, whilst the bodies of Saints under the New
Testament are the temples of the Holy Ghost, the
Saints under the Old Testament were not favoured
with this distinction. To the honour of the inha-
bitants generally, and more especially of the Re-
lief congregation, her doctrines and pretensions
excited feelings of abhorrence. Petitions were
presented to the magistrates, in which, by Dissen-
ters as well as Churchmen, the magistrates were
called upon to apprehend her, and proceed against
her as a blasphemer. They did not do this; but
they proceeded to dismiss her from Irvine. ¢To
protect the woman from insult,’ as we learn from
the Statistical Account, by Dr Richmond, ¢the
magistrates accompanied her about a mile out of
town; but, notwithstanding all their efforts, she
was grossly insulted by the mob, thrown into
ditches, and otherwise ill-used by the way. She
took up her residence, that night, with some of
her followers, in the neighbourhood of Kilmaurs;
and, being joined by Mr White and others in the
morning, the whole company, about forty in num-
ber, proceeded on their way to Mauchline, and
from thence to Cumnock, and to Closeburn, in
Dumfries-shire, singing as they went, and saying
that they were going to the New Jerusalem.’
This occurred in May, 1784; but the woman soon
died, and the establishment being broken up, the
imbecile fanatics, who had followed her, returned
to their former places of abode. Mr White was
depoeed in 1783, and Mr Peter Robertson was

ordained as pastor of the Relief Church, in 1784.
During his ministry the building was enlarged ;
and Mr Robertson died on the 30th January,
1819. He was succeeded by Mr Archibald Mac-
laren, who was ordained on the 23d March, 1820,
and died on Saturday, 11th September, 1841.

Dr James Richmond died in 1804, and was
succeeded by Mr James Henderson, who died in
1820.” The Rev. John Wilson was admitted to
the charge on the 22d June of that year. The
Rev. Mr Brown is the present incumbent. Up to
1785, the stipend of this parish was seven chalders
of victual, chiefly meal, and near £100 Scots. The
augmentation granted at that time was £400 Scots.
The last augmentation was granted on the 19th
June, 1816, and commenced with crop 1816. As
then granted, the stipend consists of eighteen
chalders of victual, with £10 sterling for commu-
nion elements. Originally, the glebe was about
one and 2-half acres, but subsequently an addition
was made to it of six and a-half acres. The
manse, which is commodious and handsome, was
built in 1820. ’

The parish, as well as the Presbytery records,
are in a very imperfect state.

ANTIQUITIES.

The only existing antiquities in the town and
parish of Irvine are the remains of the Seagate
and Stane Castles. Of the former, Robertson
says, *‘ It belongs to the Earl of Eglintoun, and
is supposed to have been intended as the jointure-
house of the dowager ladies of that family. There
is no date upon it; but from the circumstance of
the united arms of Montgomerie and Eglintoun
being engraved upon a central stone in a vaulted
chamber in the lower story, it must have been
built since the union of these two families by mar-
riage, in 1861; and that it could not be much

later than that period, may be inferred from its-

structure as a house of defence, in which are many
arrow-slits for bows, but no gun-ports for cannon
or other fire-arms, which were seldom omitted in
fortified places erected after that time. In this
old castle there remains still, quite entire, one of
the most perfect specimens of the Saxon or Nor-
man round arch that is perhaps now to be met
with in Britain. It is erected over the principal
gateway into the house. A square tower in one
of the corners is evidently much more ancient
than the rest of the building,* as may be con-

* This is corroborative of our suggestion, that the Sea- -

gate Castle is the ancient castle of Irvine alluded to by
Hoveden.

-1\
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cluded not only from the rest of the building, but
from the stone being greatly more decayed from
the action of the weather.”

All that remains of the ancient residence of
Stane is a square tower of small dimensions. It
is kept in repair by the Eglintoun family, whose
property it is.

The churchyard of Irvine has some pretensions
to antiquity, the present church having been built
on the site of the old. One of the oldest tomb-
stones is that erected to the memoary of John
Peebles of Broomlands, Provost of Irvine, who
died in 1596. : :

Another monumental stone contains the follow-
ing to the memory of the Montgomeries of Broom-
lands: ‘¢ Here lyes Hugh Montgomery of Broom-
lands, who died in November, 1658, aged 92
years. Also, Margaret Calderwood, his spouse.
Also, George Montgomery of Broomlands, their
son, who died May 6, 1700, aged 86. Also, Anna,
Barclay and Margaret Wallace, his spouses. Also,
Hugh Montgomery of Broomlands, their son of

the first marriage, who died December 8, 1728,
aged 83 years, in the 55th year of his marriage
with Jean Brown, his spouse; and the said Jean
Brown, who died December 8, 1728, aged 83
years. Also, Robert Montgomery of Broomlands,
their son, who died January 11, 1740, aged 63
years. Also, Hugh Montgomery of Broomlands,
their son, who died February 24, 1766, in the
80th year of his age.”

There are also headstones to the memory of
James Blackwood and John M‘Coull, who were
executed for being concerned in the rising of
Pentland.

EMINENT PERSONS CONNECTED WITH IRVINE.

Galt, the novelist, and Montgomerie, the poet,
are both claimed as natives of Irvine.

The celebrated Robert Barclay was Provost of
Irvine, and a Commissioner to the English Par-
liament in the reign of Charles I.

FAMILIES IN THE PARISH OF IRVINE.

There are several extensive and valuable pro-
perties within the parish of Irvine, but few fami-
lies of any note seem to have permanently resided
within its bounds. The most ancient of these
were the family of

STANE, OR STONANRIG,

A lordship extending to upwards of 800 acres
of good land. The first of the family we find
mentioned is * Willam Frawncies of le Stane,”
who occurs in the charter of the Duke of Albany,
already alluded to as in the archives of the burgh
of Irvine, dated 24th July, 1417. The family of
Frances was connccted by intermarriages with
the best in the district. It, however, failed in the
male line in the beginning of the sixteenth cen-
tury,® when the heiress was married to a younger
son of the Earl of Eglintoun.

¢ Robertson, writing in 1825, says, “ Cadets of the family
remained in respectable ci t in the town of Ir-
vine and vicinity, to the present times; of whom Mrs
Cowan, and her sister, Miss Frances, are the only survi-
vors now of the name — tliough diverged among many

MONTGOMERIES OF STANE.

1. WiLLiaM MoNTGOMERIE of Greenfield, third
son of Hugh, first Earl of Eglintoun, married, in
1508, Elizabeth, only daughter and sole beiress
of Robert Frances of Stane, with whom he got
the barony of Stane, St Bride's Kirk, and Bour-
treehill. He built a castle on the lands—the ruins
of which still exist—with his coat of arms thereon,
being the same as those of Eglintoun, with a pro-
per distinction.

Mr William Montgomerie had a licence from
the King, dated 2d January, 1532, to remain from
the army on the Borders, in consequence of sick-
ness; but his son and heir, and household, accord-
ing to his estate, were to pass to the army.*

“The laird of Blair askit instruments that Mais-

other familics through intermarriage. It is & name other-
wise little known in Sfcotland, and apparently of English
origin.” Henricus Franceys was one of the “ Burgenses et
cives de Berawyk” who subscribed the Ragman Roll.—
RyYMER. The arms of the Stane family, according to the
seal of Robert Frances, appended to the contract of mar-
riage betwecn Montgomerie of Greenfield and his daughter,
were & mascle between thrce stars.
® Pitcairn’s Criminal Trials.
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ter William Montgumry declarit in presence of the
lords, that quhen he past to red the maling callit

, pertening to Jonet Coluile, that the said
laird of Blair deforcit him not, nor he saw him
nocht on that ground.”*

William Montgomerie of Stane and Greenfield
died previous to the 8d September, 1546. He
had issue :

1. Arthur, who succeeded.

2. Hugh Montgomerie of Stane, of whom afterwards.

II. Arthur Montgomerie of Stane succeeded
his father. He married Elizabeth, daughter of
John Fairlie of that Ik, who died without issue.
Arthur Montgomerie of Stane is mentioned in the
latter-will of Hugh, sccond Earl of Eglintoun,
who died on the 8d September, 1546. He is
there appointed, along with many other friends of
the family, respectively and successively, tutor, to
the young Earl. He appcars to have been suc-
ceeded by his brother Hugh, who is also designed
of Auchinhood.

III. Hugh Montgomerie of Stane and Auchin-
hood, sold the barony of Stane, in 1570, to Hugh,
third Earl of Eglintoun. He married Elizabeth,
daughter of Blair of Adamtoune,} by whom he
had a son, Hugh, who succeeded.

IV. Hugh Montgomerie of Stane, who, accord-
ing to the Broomland’s Manuscript, took first the
designation of Stane, then of Auchinhood, then
of Bowhouse.; He married Margaret, danghter
of Calderwood of Peacockbank, and died in 1658,
aged 96. It appears that he married, secondly, a
lady named Peebles, probably of the Broomlands
family. He left issue three sons and two daugh-
ters:

1. Hugh, who succeeded him in Bowhouse.

2. George Montgomerie of Broomlands, born in 1614, of

whom afterwards.

3. Robert, from whom Northcove.

1, Janet, married to John Thomson of Gawcadden, but

had no issue.
2. Helen, married Ninian Barclay of Warrix, and had
issue.

V. Hugh Montgomerie of Bowhouse succeeded
his father. He married Margaret, daughter of
—— Swinton, merchant in Glasgow, by whom he
had a son,

VI. Hugh Montgomerie of Bowhouse, who suc-
ceeded his father. He married Margaret, daugh-
ter of Durry, merchant in Glasgow, by whom
he had a son,

8 Acts of Parliament, vol. ii. p. 813.

+ Hamilton of Wishaw’s Historical Notes of Lanarkshire
and Renfrewshire.

t The sale of the property, in 1570, must have been by
his father, as he would only be about four years of age at
the time. He may, bowever, have had a lease or wadset

VII. Hugh Montgomerie of Bowhouse, who
succeeded his father. He married Margaret,
daughter of George Montgomerie of Broomlands,
his cousin, but died in 1718 without issue.

MONTGOMERIE OF BROOMLANDS.

The Broomlands consisted of the upper and
nether Broomlands, lying partly in the parish of
Irvine, and partly in the parish of Dreghorn.
They belonged for many years to a family of the
name of PEIBLES, merchant burgesses of Irvine.
¢ Johnne Peblis of Brumlandis” is mentioned in
the latter-will of ‘¢ Robert Peblis, burges of Ir-
vein, and ane of the baillies thairof,” who died
September 16, 1605. He was, along with *“Johnne
Peblis, Knodgerhill,” and others, appointed one
of the tutors to the young family of the defunct,
to whom they were ecvidently nearly related.
John Peibles appears to have been succeeded by
¢ Patrik Peibles of Brumelands,” whose name
occurs in the testament of John Stewart, Beith,
in 1616. In 1623, 4th November, Mariote Peci-
bles was servéd heiress of John Peibles of Broom-
lands, her father, while James Peibles of Knoger-
hill* was retoured in certain lands as heir-male.
The Broomlands were subsequently acquired by,

I. GEORGE MONTGOMERIE of Broomlands,
second son of ITugh Montgomerie (3d) of Stane
and Auchinhood. He was twice married ; first,
to Ann Barclay, daughter of the laird of Perceton,
by whom he had two sons and a daughter:

1. Hugh, who suoceeded his father.

3. William Montgomerie, a merchant, and one of the
magistrates of Edinburgh. He married, and had three
sons: 1. William. 2. George. 3. Hugh; who all died
unmarried. This line failed in the year 1745.¢

Jean, married John Montgomerie of Bridgend, and had
issue.

George Montgomerie of Broomlands married,
secondly, Margaret Wallace, of the family of
Shewalton, by whom he had issue, six sons and
one daughter:

1. George Montgomerie, married Janet, daughter of
George Garven, clerk of the bailiery of Cuninghame,
by whom he had a daughter, Margaret, married to
Alexander Simpeon, surgeon in Edinburgh, and had
{ssue.

2. Alexander Montgomerie of Assloace, (living 1704,
when he was Commissioner of Supply in Ayrshire,)
married Margaret, daughter of Alexanger Montgome-
rie of Kirktonholme, by whom he had issue—four
daoghters:—

¢ Knogerhill is now the property of the burgh of Irvine,
acquired by purchase. It fell to an heiress, Jean Peebles,
heir of her uncle, John Peebles, who sold it to Hugh Kil-
patrick, burgess of Irvine, in 1670, and who, the same year,
disposed of it to the burgh. As the magistrates were su-

of Stane, hence his first designation. Auchinhood was
part of the barony of Eagleshame, s0 that the family would
scem to have had only a leasehold interest in that property
also.

periors of the lands, they had no doubt originally belonged

to the corporation.
t Broomlands MS., Geneal. Fragmenti.
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1. Janet, married to James Somerville of Kennox,
and had issue.

2. Penelope, married to Sir David Cuninghame
of Corsehill, and had issue.

3. Margaret, married to Mr Forbes of Waterton,
and bad issue.

4. Anne, married George Moore of Leckie, but had
no issue.

3. Robert, died without issue.

4. Ninian, died unmarried.

5. John Montgomerie of Wrae, left succession.

6. James Montgomerie, merchant in Edinburgh, married
Mary, daughter of Mathew Stewart of Newton, but
died without issue.

A daughter, married to Hugh Montgomerie of Bow-
house, but had no issue.

George Montgomerie of Broomlands died 7th
May, 1700, aged 86 years, and was succeeded by,

II. Hugh Montgomerie of Broomlands, his eld-
est son, who married ‘Jean, daughter and heiress
of Robert Brown of Moile, by whom he had five
sons and three daughters:

1. Robert, who succeeded his father.

2. George Montgomerie. He was Captain of 2 merchant
ship, and died at Jamaica, in 1735, unmarried.

3. Hugh Montgomerie, who ded his brother, of

whom afterwards.

. William Montgomerie, was a Cornet of Dragoons. He
married Jean, daughter of John Brisb of Bishop-
toune, by whom he had a son and a daughter:—

»

1. John Montgomerie of Arth born 1728.
He married and settled in Fife, but died without
leaving issue.

2. Jean, his daughter, married Robert Ramsay, mer-
chant in Dundee, and had issue; their daughter
married Mackenzie of Coul, and left descendants.

William Montgomerie died before 19th October, 1753,
;st:ppeu'u by his son’s “receipt of a legacy of that
ate.”

5. Alexander Montgomerle, was Captain of a Letter of
Marque ship, and died in the East Indies unmarried.

1. Margaret, married to Charles Binning of Pilmore,
advocate, and had issue.

2. Jean, probably married to William Kelso of Huller-
hurst, who is said to have married a daughter of Hugh
Mont rie of Br lands, by whom he had a son,
William Kelso of Hullerhurst.

3. Ann, married to Edward Ker, merchant, and one of
the magistrates of Irvine, and had issue._

Hugh Montgomerie died in December, 1728, aged
80 years, and was succeeded by his eldest son,

III. Robert Montgomerie of Broomlands, who
married Elizabeth, daughter of Mr Alexander
Cuninghame of Collelland. He died 11th Jan-
uary, 1740, without issue, and in the 63d year
of his age,* and was succeeded by his brother,

1IV. Hugh Montgomerie of Broomlands,} who
had been Provost of Campbelton, in Argyleshire,
and married Mary, daughter of the Rev. Mr
James Boes, minister of the gospel at Campbel-
ton, by whom he had one son and three daugh-
ters :

1. Charles, who succeeded him.

1. Jean Montgomerie, of whom afterwards.

2. Elizabeth, married the Rev. Mr David Campbell,
minister of Southend, in Kintyre, and had issue, a son,

* Broomlands MS.
t Author of the ‘ Broomlands M8.’ elsewhere referred to
in this work.

Charles Montgomerie Campbell, who married and had
issue.

3. Mary, married to Adam Dickson, merchant in Glas-
guw, and had issue.

Hugh Montgomerie of Broomlands married, 2dly,
Margaret, daughter of Mr Learman of Money-
more, in the county of Derry, by whom he had
no issue. He died about 1767, and was succeed-
ed by his only son,

V. Charles Montgomerie of Broomlands, who
sold that estate, and died in 178—, unmarried. He
entered merchant burgess of Glasgow, 24th Jan-
uary, 1754. It was in his time that the large
tree of the family of Eglintoun was completed.
Mr Dickie, writer in Kilmarnock, an excellent
penman, was employed to write the tree, which
was elegantly done, and of such large dimensions
as to require stretchers of wood to keep it open
when consulted. He was undoubtedly heir-male
of the Eglintoun family. The family of Broom-
lands claimed precedency over that of Lainshaw,
from an expression in a deed relating to the Hon.
William Montgomerie of Stane and Greenfield,
the ancestor of the Broomlands family, in which
that gentleman is styled second son of Hugh, first
Earl of Eglintoun. This, however, was subse-
quent to the death of John Lord Montgomerie,
the eldest son, who was killed in the streets of
Edinburgh, in 1520, in the fray popularly called
‘“Cleanse the Causeway,” so that at the time the
deed alluded to was drawn out, the Hon. Sir
Neil Montgomerie of Lainshaw was eldest, and
William of Stane and Greenfield, second (surviv-
ing) son of Hugh, first Earl of Eglintoun. After
the death of Charles Montgomerie of Broomlands,
the representation of that fumily devolved on his
eldest sister,

V1. Jean Montgomerie, eldest daughter of Hugh
Montgomerie of Broomlands, who married Mr
Henry Eccles of the Excise, by whom she bad a
daughter, Margaret. Mrs Eccles survived her
husband many years, and chiefly resided in Green-
ock, but occasionally visited her friends in Irvine.

. She died at Glasgow in 178, and was
interred in the burial-place of Dr George Mont-
gomerie, physician in that city, who was a relation
of the family of Bourtreehill. It was to Mrs Ec-
cles that the family tree came on the death of her
brother, Charles. She sent it to England to
her nephew, Mr Charles Montgomerie Campbell;
but it appears that it has been lost since. After
her death, the representation of the Broomlands
devolved upon,

VII. Margaret Eccles, her daughter, who died
about 1828. She married a Mr Henderson, and
had issue:

1. Archibald Montgomerie Henderson, Ensign 71st regi-

ment, or Highland Light Infantry. He was with his
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regiment at the battle of Waterloo, and retired on
half-pay sometime afterwards. He died without issue.

A daughter, married to Mr Seton, who, with her hus-
band, died in 1841, leaving issue.

BOURTREEHILL.

The greater portion of this valuable barony—
about 800 acres—lies in the parish of Irvine, the
remainder in that of Dreghorn. It formed of
old part of the large possessions of the Morville
family, and in the ¢ time of the Brucean contest,
it was poesessed, through marriage of two ladies
of that house, by William de Ferrars and Alan la
Suche.” The lands were afterwards confiscated
by Robert the Bruce for their adherence to the
party of the Balliols, their kinsmen, and conferred
on Roger de Blair of that Ik,  or rather an an-
nuity of four chalders of meal out of their lands;
for one should suppose that the rent would have
been much more, even though the territory should
not have been so0 extensive as at present.”* In
1685, and 1696, Bourtreehill belonged to the Skel-
morlie family, from whom it was purchased by
Peter Montgomerie, merchant in Glasgow, whose
son (probably) James Montgomerie, sold the pro-
perty to Robert Hamilton, prior to 1748.

RoBERT HAMILTON of Bourtreehill, born 5th
January, 1698, was the eldest son of Hugh Ha-
milton of Clongall, merchant in Ayr. He and his
younger brother, John, ancestor of the Hamiltons
of Sundrum, were long resident in Jamaica, where
they possessed the estate of Pemberton Valley,
and acquired very considerable wealth. He mar-
ried, and had several daughters:

1. Jane, married to the Earl of Craufurd and Lindsay.

3. Frances, dled unmarried, in 1798.

3. Elinora, married to Hugh, 13th Earl of Eglintoun.

4. Margaret, married to Sir John Catheart of Carleton,

without issue.

Robert Hamilton of Bourtreehill died 4th June,
1778, aged 75. He was succeeded in Bourtreehill
by his eldest daughter, the Countess of Craufurd,
who died October 6, 1809. The Countess was
succeeded, as heir of entail, by her sister, Dame
Margaret Hamilton Cathcart, widow of Sir John
Cathcart of Carleton, who died in 1785. She
died April 25, 1817, aged 73, when the property
devolved upon her nephew, the present Earl of
Eglintoun.

ARMSHEUGH,

A property of about 300 acres of excellent land,
belonged, in 1260, as appears from a contest

with the burgh of Irvine, previously mentioned,
to Sir Godfrey de Ross of Stewarton. It after-
wards came into the possession of John Balliol,
King of Scotland, and on the triumph of Bruce,
was conferred by that monarch on ¢ Sir Reginald
de Craufurd, of the Loudoun family ; or at least
two chalders of oatmeal, that John Balliol was
wont to receive yearly from these lands, was given
to Sir Reginald. In 1482, it appears along with
Doura and Patterton in a charter to Lord Boyd,
making part of the jointure lands to his mother,
the Princess Mary, sister of James ITI. In 1654,
and from that time, down to 1697, it appears in
various retours among the lands belonging to the
Montgomerie family of Skelmorlie, in which it was
latterly conjoined with the lands of Bourtreehill,
also belonging to the same family. It belongs at
present, and has for a long time past, to the Earls
of Eglintoun.* Part of the lands is in the parish
of Kilwinning.

BALGRAY.

This property * extends to 300 acres of arable
land, of a heavy and not unfertile soil, and is at
present divided into four distinct possessions. On
them all there are suitable mansions, each amid
its own plantations, making a good appearance
in the country, over which they all command an
extensive prospect. This ancient barony, in 1861,
is contained in a charter, along with the conter-
minous lands of Armsheugh, Dowra and Patter-
toun, to Sir Hugh de Eglintoun of Fglintoun, and
would pass of course, with the rest of the property
of that potent baron, to Montgomerie of Eagles-
hame, who married his only daughter and heiress
in the same year. The succession of proprietors
in these lands appears from the progress of writs,
to the present time, to be as under:—

1. In 1542, they are contained in a charter to
Gilbert, first Lord Kennedy.

2. In 1540, ditto to Gilbert, third Earl of Cas-

8. In November, 1600, they were conveyed by
John, fifth Earl of Cassillis, to Neil Montgomerie, -
younger of Lainshaw, who,

4. In 1602, conveyed them to William Mure of
Rowallan.

5. In 1680, disponed by Sir William Mure to
David Cuninghame, afterwards Sir David of Auch-
enharvie.

6. In 1684, sold by Sir Robert Cuninghame of
Auchenharvie to Hamilton of Grange, who,

7. In 1710, sold them to James Montgomerie
of Perceton Hall (now Annick Lodge), and who,

* Robertson's Cuninghame,

* Robertson's Cuninghame.
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8. In 1748, sold them to Robert Hamilton of
Bourtreehill.

9. In 1760, sold by the Bourtreehill family to
the family of Montgomerie of Kirktonholme, or
Corsehill.

10. In 1786, sold, by a judicial sale, to Richard
Campbell, William and Robert Reid, and John
Niven. '

11. In 1795, the above Richard Campbell sold
his part of them to

12. William Reid of Stacklaw Hill; and about
the same time, the above John Niven sold his
portion to Thomas Dunlop, which is now possess-
ed by his son, Robert Dunlop; whilst the descen-
dants of the above William and Robert Reid, and
William Reid of Stacklaw Hill, enjoy the other
portions, each in severalty.”*

BARTONHOLM.

Part of this property is nearly encircled in a

* Robertson’s Cuninghame.

link of the Garnock, and is among the richest
holm-land in the county. There is also upon it
one of the best going collieries in the neighbour-
hood. The property belongs to George Fullarton
of that Ilk, an account of whose family is given
under the head of * Families in the Parish of
Dundonald.”

¢ There are,” says Robertson, ‘ many other
properties, of considerable value, in the parish—
as Towerlands, consisting of 70 or 80 acres of fine
land, situated near to Bourtreehill House, and
surrounded by its land on all sides; Chalmers’
Houses, nearer Irvine, very rich land; as also is
Lochwards, in the same guarter; Holm Mill, on
the Irvine water; Scotsloch, on the north side of
the town. There is also Bogside and Snodgrass,
along the Garnock, extensive lands, belonging to
Lord Eglintoun, partly very valuable, partly sandy
soil—all incumbent on coal. The burgh itself is
a great heritor in its own parish, having 500 acres
or more in full property.”




PARISH OF

KILBIRNIE.

ETYMOLOGY, EXTENT, &c.

. Chalmers derives the name of this parish from
the church, which he reasonably supposes to have
been dedicated to St Birnie or Birinus, a bishop
and confessor, who converted the West Saxons,
and died in 650.* It is curious, however, if this
was the fuct, that all tradition of his festival, which
occurs on the 3d December, should have been for-
gotten, ** whilst that of St Brandane, the Apostle
of the Orkneys, is still commemorated on the 28th
of May, under the modernised appellation of Brin-
nan’s Day, the great annual fair of Kilbirnie.”

The parish is bounded, on the north and east,
by Lochwinnoch and Beith; on the north-west,
by Largs; and on the south and west, by Dalry.
It is from seven to eight miles in length, and about

s two and a-half in breadth, and has been calculated
to contain nearly 9,000 Scots acres.

The topographical features of the parish are well
described in the Statistical Account. It consists
of * two naturally well-defined sections, viz., a
lower and altogether an arable division, and a
more elevated and extensive one, combining with
a considerable portion of arable land a great ex-
tent of green hill-pasture, bog, and moorland. The
lower section, lying in the position of north-east
and south-west, along the boundaries of the pa-
rishes of Beith and Dalry, is partly flat, especially
towards the south-west, but more generally its
surface is varied with gently-marked swells and
depressions. This division, which is nearly four
miles in length, and about the medium breadth of
a mile and a-half, does not, therefore, possess any
striking features, unless it be the bright expanse
of Kilbirnie Loch, extending along two miles of
its eastern confines, and the winding course of the
water of Garnock, which flows through its upper

¢ Several other places in Scotland are called Kilbirnie.
t Statistical Account, drawn up by William Dobie, Esq.,
Grangevale, Beith.

YOL. 11

part from north to south, but which, after passing
within a quarter of a mile of the south-west ex-
tremity of the loch, forms the eastern boundary of
the lower part. West and north-west of this fer-
tile and highly-cultivated division, the ground as-
sumes a much greater variety of position and form;
in addition to which, it rises somewhat rapidly,
until it swells into airy upland pastures consider~
ably beyond the reach of cultivation. These ver-
dant uplands are succeeded by dreary tracts of
moss and heath, and irregular ranges of dusky
hills, of an extent equal to fully one-third of the
superficies of the parish; and, taken altogether,
compose a region, doomed alike by climate, inac-
cessibility, and soil, to hopeless sterility. The
lowest land in the parish is about 98 feet above
the level of the sea, and the highest, which is the
Hill of Staik, situated on its north-west boundary,
has an altitude above the same level of 1691 feet.
From the summit of this hill, the most elevated in
the district of Cuninghame, as well as from sever-
al of the adjacent heights, panoramic prospects
of an extent, variety, and magnificence, may be
enjoyed, unsurpassed by anything in the west of
Scotland.

“ There are numerous perennial springs of ex-
cellent water in this parish, but none have yet
been discovered possessing medicinal virtues; that
especially of Birnie’s Well, situated about a quar~
ter of a mile north of the ruins of Kilbirnie Place,
to which it had been conducted by pipes, is alike
remarkable for its strength, and the superior qua-
lity of the water. The Garnock and the Maich,
the latter forming the northern boundary of the
parish, are the only streams of any note. The
Garnock rises at the base of the hill of Staik, and
traverses the district in the direction of south-east.
About a mile and a-half from its source, it forms
a wild and romantic waterfall, called the Spout of
Garnock, which, after heavy rains, presents an
animated spectacle, strongly in contrast with the

o
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immobility and stillnessof the surrounding scenery.
Nearly three miles farther down, it winds in me-
lancholy murmurings round two sides of the pre-
cipitous knoll, on which are perched the tottering
ruins of Glengarnock Castle. Descending thence
for a short distance through a wooded ravine, it
hastens over a rocky channel, and after skirting
the village of Kilbirnie, quietly pours its accumu-
lated waters through a strath of much beauty, in
the lower part of the parish. It then pursues its
devious course through the parishes of Dalry and
Kilwinning, and, after being considerably aug-
mented by many tributary streams, falls into the
seaat Irvine. Like other mountain rivers, a heavy
fall of rain renders, in a short time, the Garnock
an impassable torrent, a little way from its source ;
while during the summer montbs, it is frequently
fordable at nearly all points within the parish. Its
banks are tame, presenting, in their whole extent,
no charms to the admirer of picturesque scenery ;
the immediate environs of Glengarnock Castle,
and of the waterfall, alone excepted.

* The source of the Maich is close by the south
side of the Misty-Law, in Renfrewshire. It runs
in a direction nearly parallel to the Garnock, from
which it is nowhere more than a mile and a-half
distant. After a sinuous course of about five miles
in a deep channel, occasionally fringed with natur-
al wood, this *lonely moorland river’ enters Kil-
birnie Loch from the north, to which it is by much
the most steady and abundant contributor. Kil-
birnie Loch lies in the south-east quarter of the
parish, and constitutes part of its boundaries in
that direction. It is a beautiful sheet of pellucid
water, and forms a noble feature in the widespread
landscape. Its banks, though tame, are remark-
ably clean, and, where not adorned with trees,
arable fields slope gently to its margin. It ex-
tends a mile and a-half in length, is scarcely half
a mile in breadth, and its greatest depth is about
five fathoms and a-half. Besides the Maich, the
loch receives supplies from the Mains and the Bath
burns, streamlets which have their sources close
by the town of Beith; and its only ontlet is by the
Dubs Water, which discharges itself into Loch-
winnoch Loch. 1t is well stored with pike, perch,
trout, and eel, and is betimes the resort of the wild
duck and heron. The loch forms part of the estate
of Kilbirnie, although that property does not ex-
tend around one-half of its circumference.®

# Kilbirnie Loch is thus noticed by Bellenden, the tran-
slator of Bece: “In Cunninghame is ane loch namit Gar-
noth, nocht unlike to Loch Doune, full of fische.” It was
subsequently called Loch Thankurt. In 1628, David Cun-
ynghame of Robertland is served heir of David Cunyng-
hame, his father, in the lands and barony of Glengarnock,
*et loch de Loch Thankart.” It belonged to the Cuning-
hames of Glengarnock, but the Craufurds of Kilbirnie dis-

** The soil in the lower or south end of the parish
is a deep alluvial loam of great fertility. Ascend-
ing the river it gradually changes into arich clayey
loam, while to the east, along Kilbirnie Loch and
part of the course of the Maich, it is a light red
clay, resting on a stiff clay subsoil. West of the
Garnock, clayey loam likewise prevatils, and occa-
sionally adhesive clay mixed with sand, varied with
numerous stripes of meadow ground, almost every
farm in this quarter having two or more acres of
this valuable ground. The soil of the higher
grounds being incumbent on trap and limestone,
is light and dry, and its fertility is sufficiently
evinced by the excellency of the pastures. The
moorish uplands are generally moss of various
depths, resting on a light-coloured clay, and the
more level parts are much broken by hags and
pools of stagnant water.” )

There is much want of plantation in the parish.
Early in the present century, about thirty acres
were planted on the estates of Ladyland and Kil-
birnie, which are thriving well; and a few fine old
trees still surround the ancient house of Ladyland,
but very little ¢ now remains of the noble sylvan
embellishmentsof the parks and pleasure-grounds”
which once distinguished the Castle of Kilbirnie.

¢ Great and striking improvements, by draining,
liming, and enclosing, have been effected in this
parish, within the present century, by various in-
dividuals, and in particular, by the late William
Cochran, Esq. of Ladyland. This gentleman, be-
besides adding considerably to the extent of his
arable grounds, by an extensive and skilful style
of draining, beautified much his estate by clumps
and belts of plantations, and was, by the conse-
quent increased productivencss of the soil, in the
course of a few seasons, amply indemnified for all
his outlays. He was, moreover, the first agricul-
turist in this quarter who introduced the enclosing
and irrigation of waste lands, by which, according
to Aiton, in his ¢ Agricultural View of the County
of Ayr,’ ¢land not worth more than 3s. or 4s. an
acre, produced to Mr Cochran upon 11 acres,
8000 stones, county weight, or 4500 stones Eng-
lish, of good hay.” Another portion of his estate,
consisting of 129 acres, he raised, by his mode of
improving it, from 1s. 6d. per acre, to about £1
of yearly value. In all his undertakings he was
eminently successful, and most strikingly illustrat-

puted their right, and, in the spirit of the times, these fami-
lies called out their tenants and retainers, and broke one
anothers’ boats. A case between them is reported, 16th
July, 1626, (Mor. Dict. p. 10,631), from which it appears
that both parties had the loch included in their titles. The
Craufurds of Kilbimie subsequently acquired right to the
barony of Glengarnock, and there was no longer room for
dispute on the subject. Sir John Craufurd's right was ra-
tified by Parliament in 1641.
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ed how much might be accomplished within the
compass of balf an ordinary life, by art and in-
dustry,

* When science plans the progress of their toil.’
Since their introduction by Mr Cochran, agricul-
tural improvements have been widely extended
here, all of which received a fresh impulse, a few
years ago, by the succession of the Earl of Glas-
gow to the estate of Kilbirnie, comprising three-
fourths of the parish. Several of the largest arable
farms on that extensive property are in every
species of improvement rapidly advancing to the
limits of perfection; while the hope may appa-
rently be safely indulged, that the period is not
distant when all the land in the parish, susceptible
of profitable cultivation, will be in an equally im-
proved condition.”

HISTORY, CIVIL AND ECCLESIASTICAL.

Apart from the history of the families connected
with the locality, there are few details of a histo-
rical character at all pertaining peculiarly to the
parish. There are no traditions, even, worthy of
record, though, from the number of tumulii at
one time existing, there can be no doubt that
events, important to our ancestors, occurred with-
in its boundaries at some period or other.

The parish, though now divided among a num-
ber of proprietors, was formerly possessed by three
only, and was accordingly divided into three ba-
ronies, which division is still nominally adhered
to. These are—Kilbirnie, Glengarnock, and La-
dyland. The barony of Kilbirnie was the most
extensive, consisting of upwards of 5000 acres, of
the most fertile quarter of the parish. The ba-
rony of Glengarnock extends over about 1400
acres, of which more than 1000 are arable. Nearly
700 acres of the best of it, with the superiority of
all the rest, now belong to the barony of Kilbir-
nie. The barony of Ladyland contains upwards
of 1800 acres, nearly the one-half of which is
arable—the remainder, consisting of excellent up-
land pastures, and a considerable extent of moor-
land. About 400 acres of the arable land are
held by twelve different proprietors.

St Brinnan’s, or Brandane’s Day (third Wed-
nesday of May), is the principal fair in Kilbirnie.
It has long been famed as a horse-market. The
value of the horses brought together for sale on
this occasion, have been calculated to amount to
not less than £8000 or £9000 annually. A good
deal of cooper-work, in the shape of milk and
culinary utensils, used to be disposed of ; and much
general business is still transacted. Two other
fairs, or holidays, were formerly observed. The

first of these, the Trades’ Race, was held on the |.

first Tuesday of July; the second, Craufurd’s Day
—a cow fuir, instituted, it is said, by the Crau-
furds of Kilbirnie—on the last Tuesday of Octo-
ber. Both have been discontinued.

Though a church had long existed at Kilbirnie,
and the privileges of a burgh of barony had been
obtained by John Craufurd of Kilbirnie in 1641,
the existence of the village of Kilbirnie is of very
recent date. In 1740, there were only three
houses in it. What with manufactures, and the
recent impulse given to the locality by the Ayr
and Glasgow Railway, and the vicinity of numer-
ous iron-works, it is now a thriving and spirited
community, containing not less than 2000 inhabi-
tants.

“The church of Kilbirnie,” says Chalmers,
‘* belonged anciently to the Monastery of Kilwin-
ning. The monks enjoyed the rectorial tithes and
revenues, and a vicarage was established for serv-
ing the cure. At the Reformation, the parsonage
tithes of the church of Kilbirnie were held on a
lease, from the abbot and monks of Kilwinning,
for the inconsiderable sum of £8 yearly. The
lands which belonged to the church of Kilbirnie
passed into lay hands after the Reformation. In
1603, the patronage and tithes of the church were
granted to Hugh Earl of Eglintoun, with many
other churches, that had belonged to the monks
of Kilwinning. The patronage of the church con-
tinued with the family of Eglintoun at the Resto-
ration, and it still remains with that family.”*

“In the Books of Adjournal, commencing in
1507, mention is made of Robert Peblis, in Brockly,
being convicted of a felony done in the house of
John Skeoch, capelano in Kilbirny. This is the
first notice we have met with of a resident chap-
lain. In 1548, James Scott was vicar of Kilbir-
nie. Prior to that year, the Abbot of Kilwinning
had granted to the College of Justice a yearly
pension of £28 Scots from the vicarage of Kilbir-
nie; but on the 15th of December, a mandate by
the abbot, ordering said sum to be taken from the
vicarage of Dunlop, is ratified by Parliament. In
1567, Mr Archibald Hamilton was vicar and ex-
horter, with the thryd of the vicarage, amounting
to £31, 2s. 2d. He was forfeited in 1571, for
joining with his clansmen, the Hamiltons, in de-
fence of Queen Mary, and was succeeded by Ro-
bert Crawfurd, vicar and reader, who had the
haill vicarage. His successor was Mr John Har-
riot, who died prior to 1619, as in that year Mr
William Russell, minister of Kilbirnie, appears as
a debtor in the testament of Alexander Boyd, one
of the regents of Glasgow College.t In 1670,

¢ Chalmers’ Caledonia.
t On the 15th June, 1647, Mr Russcll complained to the
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Mr Wiliam Tullidaff was admitted under the first
indulgence, and in 1672, Mr Patrick Anderson
was conjoined with him. Mr Tullidaff did not
conform to the wishes of the court, and was in
consequence subjected to many hardships. On
8th July, 1673, he was fined in the half of his sti-
pend for not observing the 29th of May, the an-
niversary of Charles'’s restoration, and in 1684, he
and others of the indulged ministers were impri-
soned. At the Revolution in 1688, Mr John
Glasgow was admitted, and remained in the charge
until his death in 1721, when he was succeeded by
Mr James Smith, who died 11th February 1733.”*

The church of Kilbirnie, an object of great inter-
est to the antiquary and genealogist, * is situated
about half a mile south of the village, at the base
of a gentle rise forming the westward boundary
of the fertile valley watered by the Garnock.
The fabric is a simple oblong in form, measuring
sixty-five feet in length, by twenty-nine and a
half in breadth, with wings or aisles extending
north and south from its eastern extremity, and a
plain square tower of moderate elevation attached
to the opposite gable. Both the church and tower
are covered with deep roofs, and the west gable
of the latter is crowned with a sinall belfry. The
aisles, which are of unequal dimensions, have been

Presbytery, that John Braidine, one of his parizhioners,
hud called his doctrine * dust and grey meal.” The said
John Braidine being summoned before the I’resbytery for
the offence, “ compeared 29th June, and ingenuously con-
fessed his fault. The Presbytery, considering how preju-
dicial such speeches were to the whole ministrie, after ma-
ture deliberation, does ordain, that first upon his knees he
make ane coufession of hia faalt before the Presbytrie, and
yrafter to goe to his owne congregation, and there in the
public place of repentunce make ane acknowledgement of
his fault likewise; and Mr Hugh 3M‘Kaile to go to Kilbir-
nic to receive him.”—He submitted, and was absolved.

® On his tombstone in Kilbirnie churchyard is the fol-
lowing epitaph, said to have been composed by Patrick,
second Viscount Garnock :—

“ Bethia Barclay erected this monument in memory of
her dear husband, }Mr James Smith, minister of the gospel
fn Kilbimy, who died 11th of February, 1733.

“ And though after my skin worms destroy this body,
yet in my fiesh shall I see God.”

Buried here lys a worthy man,
‘Whose life, alas! was but a span;
He pleasure took by God's command,
To lead us to Emanuel’s land.
¥e was a blessing to our place,
‘Where he did preach by power of Grace,
Bidding us Jesus' footsteps trace,
And from all sinning strive to cease.
To us, alas! he is no more;
His soul triumphs in endless gloir;
‘Why should we then his death deplore,
‘Who joined has the Heavenly choir?
To make his character compleat,
Nature blest him with temper sweet,
Kind to his own, to all discreet.
All who do love his memory, '
Must like him live, and like him dy,
Then ye'l enjoy eternity,
In ever praising the Most High."¢

¢ Statistical Account.

added at different periods to the original structure,
the oldest being the one projecting southwards.
It is built of jointed ashlar, and ornamented with
a few indifferently formed meuldings: the body
of the church and tower being of common wa-
sonry, with the quoins and facings of the aper-
tures of roughly chiseled freestone. Over a win-
dow of this aisle, in a panel, are cut the armorial
bearings of the name of Cuninghame, with the
date 1597, and the letters 1. C. and K. C., being
the initials of Sir James Cuninghame of Glengar-
nock and his lady, Katherine, second daughter of
William, seventh Earl of Glencairn. The north
wing, which is considerably the largest, contains,
besides the Crawfurd gallery, a private apartment
and entrance lobby, and under these, in impres-
sive contiguity, is the family burial vault. This is
the most modern and best built part of the church,
having been erected by Sir John Craufurd in 1642,
as is testified by his initials, and the date being
cut in raised characters on the gable of the aisle.
That the main part of the edifice is of much older
standing than the earliest of these additions, seems
obvious from the greater strength and simplicity
of the masonry in that part of the building, and
though not prepared to assign a date for its con-
struction, yet, as the south or Glengarnock aisle
was built only thirty-seven years subsequently to
the Reformation, it can scarcely be doubted that
the body of the structure was a place of public
worship prior to that great era in the history of
the country. The church is, however, chiefly re-
markable on account of the carvings in oak with
which the Craufurd gallery and the pulpit are
profusely decorated, and the numerous heraldic
proofs on the former of the ancestral gentility of
John, first Viscount Garnock, by whose commands
all these adornments were executed early in the
last century.”*

Along the front of this stately family-seat, there
are no fewer than sixteen armorial escutcheons
genealogically arranged, besides two eluborate re-
presentations of the Viscount'’s honours. ¢‘There
are, besides, two paintings on the paneling of the
walls at each end of the gallery, which, though
but of slender artistical merits, are worth men-
tioning. The right hand panel contains a repre-
sentation of the Jewish legislator holding the
Tables of the Law, and the other the High Priest,
arrayed in his pontificals. Both of these paintings
are 8o wasted, that in a short time the decayed
canvas will be unable to maintain its situation.”

¢ Besides these illustrations of the ancestral
dignity of the house of Garnock on the gallery,

* This and the subsequent quotations, in reference to the
church of Kilbirnie, are from an excellent account of it by
Willlam Dobie, Esq., Grangevale, Beith.
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there are on other parts of the church three repe-
titions of the conjoined bearings of Craufurd and
Lindsay. Oune of these, which is a painting in
oil, and an exact transcript of the armorials in
the central arcade, is on the front of a loft run-
ning across the western portion of the church,
erected some seventy-years ago. The second is
on the pulpit, and bears simply the impaled coats
of Craufurd and Lindsay. The other is suspend-
ed over the Glengarnock aisle, and the shicld,
which is of an oval form, is tastefully inwreathed
with palms, and ensigned with a Viscount’s coro-
net, the bearings in every respect being the same
as those first referred to. An empty picture
frame, affixed against the moulding, above the ar-
morials last noticed, contained, until lately, a beau-
tiful specimen of the ornamental cipher. It wasa
painting, or in other words, the letters J.C. M. S.,
composing it, were in gold, artistically shadowed
on canvas of a bright blue colour. On its falling
down, the cloth, when handled, crumbled into
dust; and thus, as in countless similar cases, was
lost that which, by a little timely attention, might
have still withstood the wasting influence of many
vears. . . In a state of decay, fast verging
to the like condition, though their disappearance
will not excite so much regret, are two funeral
escutcheons placed against the opposite side walls
of the church. That to the right of the Craufurd
gallery retains only one of its ghastly mementos,
while the other, which was probably put up on
the demise of the first Viscount, one-half of its
blighted quarterings still retain their places, the
number, form, and arrangement of which appear
to have been, of course, precisely the same as those
on the gallery.

“ There remains yet one coat armorial to be
noticed. Besides the peculiarity of being the only
one within the church unconnected with the house
of Garnock, its date shows it to be of considerably
older standing than the more elaborately insculp-
ed and artfully emblazoned armorials of that fa-
mily. It is cut on the back of the Ladyland fa-
mily pew, and occupies only the dexter side of
the shield, the other half having been left plain.
The bearing is a mullet between three cinque
foils, but the bordure, waved, the special mark of
difference of Hamilton of Ladyland, has been
omitted. Over the shield is the date July, 1671,
in raised characters, but the initials W.— C.—
L— G., planted against its sides, are those of the
father and mother of the late Mr Cochran of
Ladyland, and must have been put there since
1756, the year of their marriage.

On the pulpit, an object which attracts the at-
tention of every visitant, ¢ the most prominent of
the carvings is a winged female figure, the emblem

of religion, standing on coiled serpents, and hold-
ing in her right hand an olive wand. DBeneath
the serpent is a richly carved ornament, in out-
line, resembling somewhat an ancient lyre. The
lower part of the compartment is occupied by a
kind of divided pediment, composed of two fillets,
and finished with circular flowers, from which,
across the last mentioned ornament, extends a
festoon of bay leaves. The fillets, which are five
inches apart, enclose three cherubs’ heads on each
side of the pediment, the field of which is deco-
rated on the right hand with a thistle, and on the
other with a rose. The space between the figure
representing religion and the pediment, is orna-
mented with wreaths of fruit and foliage, termi-
nating in grinning masks, and doves with sprigs
of foliage in their beaks; the interstices being
semé of stars, while at each extremity of the ca-
nopy stands a half-draped juvenile figure blowing
a trumpet.

¢ Besides the gallery and pulpit there are sever-
al lines of carved cornices, scroll and other orna-
mental work, on different parts of the church,
but the common-place form of these, and their
indifferent execution, demand nothing beyond a
passing notice. Little indeed, if any, of the sculp-~
tured work, which we have attempted to describe,
is calculated, on account of spirited handling, or
delicate finish, to elicit commendation from the
finical connoisseur; by much the greater part of
it, though effective enough at some distance, bear-
ing too many marks of the gouge and the chisel
to stand a close inspection. To the rough and
unfinished condition of the carvings, generally,
may not improbably be ascribed the origin of the
tradition, that the artist brought them all into
their respective forms unaided by other implement
than his knife.

*¢ The interior of the church was formerly used
by the Kilbirnie, Glengarnock, and Ladyland
families, as their place of sepulture. Of this once
common, though baneful practice, excepting a
flag-stone forming part of the pavement of the
passage between the gallery and the pulpit, there
are now no visible indications. The stone bears
only the engraved figure of a two-handed sword,
with a slightly sunk fillet or groove cut around
the margin. The memory of him who lies beneath
it has long since sunk into oblivion; for, though
we have heard it stated, that this memorial de-
noted the last resting place of Sir John Craufurd
of Kilbirnie, who died in 1661, it does not seem
at all likely that this distinguished person should
have been buried elsewhere than in the vault
erected by himself in 1642.

“The apartment over the vault, which is en-
tered by the same outside stair as the gallery, is
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in keeping with the desolate condition of every
thing in this parish once belonging to the extin-
guisbed house of Craufurd and Garnock.

¢ Now to the dust gone down, their houses, lands,

And once fair spreading family dissolved.’

Shortly after the death of the last Earl in 1808,
the apartment was denuded of its garniture by the
order of his sister, the late Lady Mary Lindsay
Craufurd. Long previously, however, to this, it
had ceased to be the resort, occasionally, on Sun-
days of noble lords and high-born dames, and was
only used at the period adverted to as the rendez-
vous where the tenants of the Kilbirnie estates
met on rent days to pay their devoirs to the fac-
tor. For several years past it has not even been
thus employed, though it is not improbable it may
yet serve some purpose still more at variance with
its original destination. The pictures that once
adorned its walls, and which are still remembered
with garrulous regret by a few of the older pa-
rishioners, consisted of drawings in water colours
of Kilbirnie House, Glengarnock Castle, and en-
gravings of scriptural and allegorical subjects.
That several of these possessed considerable merit
we are induced to believe, by their having been
deemed worthy of a place in so splendid a man-
sion as Craufurd Priory; nor would the view of
Kilbirnie House, unless it had exhibited a master's
hand, been especially noticed in a description of
that august residence, drawn up by the celebrated
Delta of Blackwood’s Magazine. The only other
matter regarding these specimens of the graphic
skill of a former age that we can state with cer-
tainty is, that they were all dispersed by auction
shortly after the demise, in 1833, of the noble
person by whose orders they had been withdrawn
from the apartment.”

** By much the most interesting monument in
the burying-ground is the ¢ stately tomb,’ erected
in 1594, by Captain Craufurd of Jordanhill, for
himself and his lady. It stands a few yards south
of the church, and is of a quadrangular form,
measuring nine feet and a half in length, six feet
in width, and six feet six inches in height. It is
built of chiseled freestone, and covered horizon-
tally with the same material; and, though still
entire, has been long in a state ripe for repairs.
The walls are finished at the angles with columns
composed of three bottels, separated by hollow
curves, which are enriched with the Gothic astrat-
ed ornament, and over each of the bottels is carved
a mask, by way of capital. The only other de-
corated external feature of this ¢ pretty stone mo-
nument,’ as it was designated by Timothy Pont,
already quoted, is a cornice composed of alternat-
ing cima-reversas and quarter-rounds, surmount-
ing the walls. Through an aperture in the east

end of the monument, aided by a faint light ad-
mitted through slits in the south and west walls,
are seen the recumbent statues of the gallant cap-
tain in military garb, and of his spouse in the cos-
tume of the time. The figures have the hands
joined on the breast as in prayer, and, though at
first look but indifferently seen, the light soon
becomes strong enough to repress all regret that
these rude efforts of the untutored stone-cutter
are not more distinctly visible. On the exterior
of the north wall, the following inscription, which
has been cut in large raised characters, may still
be traced :-—

GOD . SCHAW .

‘THE . RICHT .

Heir . Lyis . Thomas . And . Ionct . Ker . His .
Cravfyrd . of . Yor . Spovs . Eldest , Doc .
danhil . Sext . Son . Hter . To . Robert . Ker .
To. Lavrence . Crav.  Of. Kerrisland .

fvrd . of . Kilbirny . 1.5.9. 4.

‘In the centre of the inscription is engraved a
shield bearing, quarterly, Craufurd and Barclay,
and for crest, a figure, by its irregular outline
meant probably to represent a rock, in allusion to -
Dumbarton Castle. The motto, * God . Schaw .
The . Richt.’ was conferred on Captain Craufurd
by the Earl of Morton, in memory of the conflict
at the Gallow-Lee, in 1571, betwixt the factions
of the King and Queen. Captain Craufurd died
3d January, 1603, and was buried alongside of the
inscribed wall of the monument, as is still indicat-
ed by a flat stone bearing his name.*

“ There is no other memorial in the churchyard
of so old a date as the one just described, by
nearly half a century; but there are three or four
flat stones, bearing the figure of a sword, to which
we would not hesitate to assign an antiquity con-
siderably more remote. These stones are each
seven feet in length, and one foot nine inches
broad at the top, and three inches less at the
lower end. Between the handle of the sword and
the upper verge of the stones, is cut, within &
circle sixteen inches in diameter, a figure seemingly
intended to represent a cross, with an annulet in
each of its quarters. On account of these figures,
but especially of that of the sword, it has been
alleged that these unlettered memorials comme-
morate at least the fact of so many Knight Tem-
plars having been buried here, though there is no
other evidence, nor even a whisper from tradition,
adduced in sypport of the notion.

® The name of Captain Craufurd has been rendered fa-
mous by his adventurous exploit of storming the almost
impregnable fortress of Dumbarton, in 1571. In consider-
ation of this extraordinary feat of courage and dexterity,
which Sir Walter Scott held to be unparallcled in ancient
or modern history, Captain Craufurd received a grant of
several lands in the neighbourhood of Glasgow, whence his
title of Jordanhill, besides an annuity of £200 Scots dur-
ing his life, payable out of the Priory of 8t Andrews.
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“ The remains of Tam Giffen, the reputed war-
lock of the district, lie beneath the hearthstone of
the Watch-house, erected about twenty-five years
ago in the south-east corner of the churchyard.
A few of his ridiculous sayings, by means of which
he ‘kept the country-side in fear,’ and procured
a ready amous, are still preserved in the parish,
and certainly convey but a low idea of the intel-
ligence of the peasantry in this quarter a hundred
and fifty years ago, when a sturdy beggar's idle
tales could

* Tousle &’ their tap, and gar them shake wi’ fear.’*

The parish records commence in 1688 ; but nu-
merous and long gaps occur, especially in the
minutes of session. What remains presents little
worthy of quoting, being chiefly a record of the
immorality of the district.

ANTIQUITIES.

Under this head, we cannot do better than con-
tinue our quotations from the carefully drawn up
article in the Statistical Account:— -

t Various tumuli have, at different times, been
accidentally explored in this parish, and in some
of which urns filled with calcined bones have been
found, and in others stone coffins containing hu-
man remains. Early in the century, three stone
coffins, but without the addition of any mound
over them, were discovered on the right bank of
the Garnock, about a quarter of a mile below Kil-
birnie Bridge; one of them contained a large urn
filled with burnt bones; but in neither of the other
two, nor in one opened about the same time on
the opposite bank of the river, near to Nether-
Mill, and close to the base of a large barrow or
mound, were found any relics whatsoever. About
thirty years ago, the late Mr Cochran, in the
course of his agricultural improvements, had oc-
casion to remove a slightly elevated tumulus, situ-
ated on the lands of Ladyland, in the centre of
which a small urn was found containing ashes.
The urn, until lately, was to be seen in the Mu-
seum of Glasgow College, to which it was pre-
sented by Mr Cochran, but it appears now to be
either lost or withdrawn from that collection. In
1836, a stone coffin, containing remains of human
bones, was discovered on the farm of Langlands,
about three quarters of a mile north of Kilbirnie.
The tumulus over it was by much the most re-
markable object of the kind in this quarter. It
stood on the level part of a field, skirted by the
Garnock on the west, from which it was fifty yards
distant. It was of a circular form, 100 feet in
diameter, and six feet in height. Originally, it
had been much higher, but, about the beginning

of the century, a great quantity of stones were
taken from its summit to form a road in the neigh-
bourhood. What remained of it in 1830, was
composed of stones of various dimensions inter-
mixed with earth. Few of these were heavier
than a man could carry, excepting & row placed
seven feet within the line of the base, and some
three or four feet apart, each of which might weigh
half a ton. The coffin or chest, which was formed
of six flat stones neatly fitted together, measured
2 feet 7 inches in length; 1 foot 9 inches in
breadth; and 1 foot 7 inches in depth. It was
situated in the centre of the tumulus, and its
longitudinal position was north and south. It
contained nothing but bones very much decayed,
and the greater part of which lay in its south end.
Many of these, on being handled and exposed to
the air, crumbled into dust, but several of the
fragments which have been preserved can be dis-
tinctly recognised as belonging to the human spe-
cies. In the spring of 1887, every vestige of this
primeval monument wus removed. The mound
situated at Nether-Mill, incidentally mentioned
above, is of an irregular pyramidal form, about
18 yards in length, 9 in breadth, and between b
and 6 in height. It is, we doubt not, artificial,
and has apparently been formed by excavating
the adjoining bank, which overlooks it. This
opinion, though not supported by popular belief
or local tradition, is strengthened by the unstra-
tified appearance of the composition of the mound,
and by the circumstance of the stone coffin already
noticed being discovered in its immediate vici-
nity.

& Coin.—In tilling a field last year, near the
ruins of Glengarnock Castle, there was turned up
a silver coin about the size of a modern shilling.
It is in excellent preservation, having apparently
been little worn, and weighs about one drachm
thirty-five grains. The obverse bears the Scot-
tish shield and crown, supported by the letters
M. and R. Legend, Maria . Dei. G . Scotor .
Regina. 15656. On the reverse, a large cross,
with four less in its quarters. Legend, In . Vir-
tute . Tua . Libera . Me. It is of pure silver, or
appears to be so; it feels like malleable iron; the
modern silver coinage like cast-metal.

¢ Kilbirnie House.—The stately ruins of the
ancient house or Place of Kilbirnie, are situated a
mile west of the village, and overlook a consider-
able extent of country beyond the valley, beau-
tified with Kilbirnie Loch, and fertilized by the
Garnock. The surrounding grounds fall gently
towards this valley, and are varied but slightly by
a shallow dingle, on the margin of which stands
the ruined mansion. The building, which has
been erected at two widely different periods, con-
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sists of an ancient quadrilateral tower, and a mo-
dern addition, extending rectangularly from its
east side. The tower is 41 feet in length by 82
feet in breadth, and its walls are 7 feet thick. Its
height has been divided into four stories, the low-
est of which is vaulted and without a fire-place.
The second, which consisted of a hall, 26 feet long,
and 18 feet wide, has likewise been vaulted, and
lighted tolerably by a window in its south wall,
and another facing the west. Above the hall have
been two tiers of chambers; but of their subdivi-
sions there are no traces left. Access to the dif-
ferent floors and to the roof, has been gained by
a narrow spiral stair in the north-east angle of
the building. A way fenced with a parapet has
gone round the top, all of which has fallen down,
as well as every vestige of the roof, which was
probably of the high triangular form, common to
such castellated mansions. It is impossible, from
any peculiarities in the masonry of this feudal
tower, to ascertain the period of its construction.
The absence of gun-ports in its walls—a provision
of defence with which every stronghold erected
subsequently to the use of fire-arms was furnished
—scems to imply that it was bullt, at the latest,
in the early part of the fourteenth century, and
consequently in the days of the Barclays, the most
anciently recorded lords of the barony. The mo-
dern part of the edifice wus built about 1627, and
must have proved a satisfactory increase of light
and airy accommodation to that afforded by the
sombre tower. It extends 74 feet, is 25 in width,
and has been three stories in height, besides the
attics, the pedimented windows of which have
risen above the lower line of the roof, as have
likewise the hanging turrets at the extremities of
the principal fagade. Much of the exterior walls
of both parts of the building is still entire; and,
as is frequently the case in similar ruinous struc-
tures, the most ancient part is the least dilapi-
dated. Most of the interior divisions have, within
these few years, fallen down, a few of the vaulted
apartments excepted, and in these the ‘¢ lazy steer
and sheep” have been long permitted to find a
shelter. The building was entirely destroyed by
fire accidentally kindled on the 1st May, 1757,
and from which, as it occurred at an early hour of
the morning, the Earl of Craufurd with his infant
daughter and the domestics, had little more than
time to escape.* Eighty years of exposure to the

® The cause r ined long table, The car-
penters had nearly finished their operations. They were
working in the garret story. They had no fire there, and
by way of precaution, they locked the doors of the apart-
ments in the evenings when they left off work, and carried
the keys with them. They had left, however, the garret
or sky-light windows open. It was through these that the
fire found access from a foul chimney that was set on fire

weather have much lessened, and greatly enfee-
bled what the fire had spared; while, during this
long period, all the contiguous pleasure-grounds
have been torn up by the plough, or permitted to
run waste. The noble straight-lined avenue, full
twenty yards in breadth, has returned to a state
of nature:—the gardens situated to the west, in-
stead of flowers and shrubs, are allotted to the
rearing of potatoes and turnips; and of the orch-
ard grounds no traces are now to be found. The
high walls with which they were enclosed are
everywhere breaking down, and all the fine old
timber, which had beautified and sheltered *¢ the
Place” for ages, and afterwards added much to
the grandeur and interest of its ruins, has disap-
peared within the last thirty years.

‘¢ Glengarnock Castle.—The ruins of Glengar-
nock Castle stand on a precipitous ridge or knoll,
overhanging the Garnock, about two miles north of
Kilbirnie. This brawling stream skirts two sides
of the knoll; and as the ravine through which it
flows is fully eighty feet in depth, the position,
under the ancient system of warfare, must have
combined security with the means of easy defence.
The only access to the castle is from the north-
east, in which direction the ridge, upon which it
is situated, is connected with the adjoining field.
At the distance of thirty yards from its entrance,
a depression in the ground indicates what has
been the course of a dry moat, by which, and a
drawbridge, the approach is said to bave been
protected. The ground-plan of this ancient strong-
hold could, until lately, be easily traced; und as
a portion of the exterior walls still remains nearly
the original height, its appearance when entire
may, with little difficulty, be yet shadowed out.
From notes and measurements taken a few years
ago, it may be described in general terms, as hav-
ing consisted of a quadrilateral tower, with a court
of less elevated buildings extending from its east
side. The entrance has been from the eastern
extremity of the latter. This fucade is 46 feet
long, and has been about 24 feet in height. A
court or passage, 59 feet in length, lay between
the entrance and the tower, on each side of which
has been a range of two-storied apartments. The

by one of the ladies of the family, having inadvertently
thrown the melted grease in the socket of a candlestick into
a grate in the lower story, about the time she retired to
bed. Even the firing of the chimney was not at the in-
stant discovered, as the flame did not issue from below, but
altogether at the top of the vent. 'This circumstance, which
was known to one only of the female servants, or rather to
& nurse, employed at that time in nursing Lady Jean, who
was C of Eglintoun, was fully con-
cealed at the time; and the burning was always accounted
supernatural, till about twenty-four years after, when, on
the death of the Earl, it was divulged.—ROBERTSON'S
CUNINGHAME.
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tower is 45 feet long, 33 feet wide, and its height
has been above 40 feet. Its upper and now only
accessible story has consisted of a hall occupying
the whole extent within the walls, and the im-
bowed ceiling of which has been 20 feet in height.
It has been lighted both from the court and from
the exterior walls. One of the windows over-
looks the rugged chasm through which murmurs
the Garnock, and from two narrow apertures fac-
ing the east, the eye may yet revel over a beau-
tiful extent of the district bearing the same name
as the old lords of the castle. From the hall, a
narrow circular stair led to the upper part of the
building, which has been surrounded by a parapet
wall. The ruins show neither the arrow-slit nor
gun-port of defence, so common in similar old
houses. Perhaps the situation was of itself so se-
cure-as to render unnecessary the ordinary means
of repelling an attack. The uniformity of style
in all castellated mansions, erected prior to the
discovery of gunpowder, renders it hazardous to
be precise regarding the date of their construc-
tion. Few, however, conversant with such rem-
nants of feudal architecture, would hesitate to
assign to the ruins of this stronghold, an antiquity
a8 remote as that of any remains of masonry in
the west of Scotland. It is not, therefore, impro-
bable that Glengarnock Castle may have existed
in the time of the De Morvilles, though the con-
Jjecture of its having been the residence of these
ancient lords of Cuninghame, appears entitled to
nearly the same consideration as that of its having
been the castle of Hardyknute. It may be added,
in justification of so minute an account, that the
ruins of this castle will soon cease to be an object
of interest to the local antiquary, or to form a
picturesque feature in the landscape. The storms
of January 1839 overthrew the north wall of the
tower, containing between 4000 and 5000 solid
feet of masonry; and unequivocal symptoms por-
tend, that, at no distant date, the bed of the Gar-

nock will receive the greater part of the time-worn
remains.

** Ladyland House.—The old house of Ladyland,
briefly characterised by Pont, circa 1609, as a
¢ strong tower,’ was demolished in 1815, with the
exception of about 20 feet in length and 25 feet
in height of its north elevation. This fragment
is six feet in thickness, and as compact as the so-
lid rock. A pedimented stone, which belonged
to a door or window of the building, but which is
now placed over an entrance to the adjoining gar-
den, bears the initials W. H. I. B., and the date,
Anno 1669. The date records, doubtless, the
period of some repairs, or perhaps the year the
estate was acquired by Hamilton of Ardoch, as
there cannot be a question of the existing fragment
of masonry having formed part of the strong
tower’ noticed by Pont, and in which, a few years
previously to his visiting the district, had resided
Barclay, the unfortunate friend of Montgomerie,
the poet, as had likewise, probably, all his ances-
tral possessors of the barony of Ladyland. In
taking down this ancient strong-house, there were
found, in a cavity in one of the walls, a little above
the foundation, four small urns, a painted drink-
ing glass, and a large jaw bone, supposed to have
been that of an ox. The urns were neatly form-
ed of common clay, three of which were filled with
an unctuous kind of earth, and one of them, be-
sides the earth, contained the breast and side
bones of a chicken. Two of the urns’had handles,
and all of them were tightly closed with shreds of
trimming or woven cloth, the most of which, on
being taken out, crumbled into powder. Part of
these relics are preserved by Mrs Cochran of La-
dyland, as is a small coin found in the grounds
adjoining the tower. The coin is of some com-
pound metal, and bears the legend FESTINA LEN-
TE; but the date and the impress on both sides
appear to have been effaced by long circula-

tion.”

FAMILIES IN THE PARISH OF KILBIRNIE.

THE BARCLAYS AND CRAUFURDS OF KILBIRNIE.

I. Str WALTER BARCLAY, derived, as Crau-

JSurd supposes, from Sir Walter Barclay, Lord

The oldest possessors of the barony of Kilbirnie, | High Chamberlain of Scotland in 1174, married
so far as there is any record, were the Barclays, | Margaret, daughter of Sir John Craufurd of Crau-
supposed to have been a branch of the very an- | furd-Jokn, by whom he obtained one-half of the

cient family, the Barclays of Ardrossan,
VOL. IL

lands of Craufurd-John.
P

(\



114

PARISH OF KILBIRNIE. L4

II. Hugh Barclay, who was in possession of
half the lands of Craufurd-John in 1857.* He
was succeeded by—

II1. Sir Hugh Barclay, designed of Kilbirnie,
as well as of half the lands of Craufurd-John, in
1897. Sir Hugh had two sons—Adam, who suc-
ceeded; and Archibald, the first of the Barclays
of Ladyland, soon after 1400.

IV. Sir Adam Barclay, styled in a charter, in
1429, ** Adam filius domini Hugonis de Kilbirny.”
He left issue, a son,

V. Sir John Barclay of Kilbirnie and Craufurd-
John, who died without male issue in 1470, and
whose only daughter, Marjory, was married to,

I. MarcoLM CRAUFURD of Greenock, the fifth
in descent from Sir John Craufurd of Craufurd-
John, t by which the heirs-male and heirs-line of
this-family became united. He had a charter
from James IV., in 1499, ¢ Malcolm Crawford
de Greenock, terrarum de Kilbirnie, dimidietat
baronize de Crawford-John.” There were four
sons and a daughter of this marriage :—

1. Maloolm, who succeeded.

2. James, first of the Craufurds of Monock.
8. Thomas.

¢. John.

Isabel, the daughter, was married to Sir Adam Cuning-

hame of Caprington.

II. Malcolm Craufiurd of Kilbirnie and Crau-
furd-John, who, on the 24th April, 1499, had a
resignation from his mother of the barony of Kil-
birnie and others. He married Marion Crichton,
danghter of Robert, Lord Sanquhar, by whom he
had two sons, Robert and Jokn.

III. Robert Craufurd of Kilbirnie and Crau-
furd-John, son of the preceding, had a charter of
the whole lordship of Kilbirnie, on the 8th May,
1499, on his father's resignation, who reserved a
competency to himself. He married Margaret,
daughter of Semple of Eliotson. He died in
1513, and was succeeded by the only son of the
marriage,

IV. Laurence Craufurd of Kilbirnie. He ex-
changed the lands of Craufurd-John, with Sir
James Hamilton of Fynmart, for the lands of
Drumry, in 1528. He married Helen, daughter
of Sir Hugh Campbell of Loudoun, by whom he
had six sons and two daughters; of the sons,
Thomas, the sixth, was ancestor of the Craufurds
of Jordanhill. He died in 1541, and was suc-
ceeded by his eldest son, }

* Craufurd’s Peerage.

t Sir John Craufurd is said to have been the second son
of Sir Reginald Craufurd, who married the heiress of Lou-
doun; but there is some confusion in the family tree, which
it would be difficult, if not impoesible to clear up in a satis-

manner.

$ 1540, June 11,—Lettre of gift to Hew Craufurd, sone

V. Hugh Craufurd of Kilbirnie,* who fought in
the battle of Langside, May 13, 1568, on the part
of Queen Mary. He married, first, Margaret,
daughter of Colquhoun of Luss, by whom he had
a son, who succeeded him; secondly, Elizabeth,
daughter of Barclay of Ladyland, by whom he
had a son, William, of Knightswood, who mar-
ried Jean, daughter of Andrew Craufurd of Baid-
land; also, a daughter, Marion, married to John
Boyle of Kelburne. He died in 1576, and was
succeeded by his son of the first marriage,

VI. Malcolm Craufurd of Kilbirnie, who mar-
ried Margaret, daughter of Cuninghame of Glen-
garnock, by whom he had two sons and a daugh-
ter. He died in 1592, and was succeeded by his
eldest son,

VIL John Craufurd of Kilbirnie, who married
Margaret, daughter of John Blair of that Ilk, by
whom he had three sons and two daughters.t
It was in this laird’s time (1602) that the place of
Kilbirnie was broken into, and a number of valua-
ble articles abstracted. ‘‘Johnne Crawfurd, sum-
tyme in Auchinloch, now (1606) in Auchinbothe,”
was put upon his trial for the robbery, 26th Fe-
bruary, 1606. The indictment, which is curious,
18 as follows:—

¢ Forsamekill as he, accompancit with Thomas
‘Wilsoun in Wallase, with divers vtheris thair com-
plices, cowmoun thewis, in the moneth of Nouem-
ber, the yeir of God Im. VIc. and twa yeiris, come
to the place of Kilbirnie, the Laird being than
furth of this realme, and his Lady being than in
Grenok, ten myle distant fra the said place of Kil-
birny: and thair, vnder sylence and cloud of
nycht, brak the said Place, at the North syde
thairof, enterit within the samin, and thiftious-
lie stall, concelit, ressett and away-tuik, furth
thairof, and furth of the cofferis than standing
within the said Place, ane figuret velvet goune,
ane blew bend of tafletie, ane ryding cloik and
skirt of broun cullerit claith, wroucht with siluer
pasment; ane blak velvet dowblet, cuttit out and
wrocht with silk cordounis; ane pair of broun
veluet breikis, wrocht with cordounis of gold, ane
lowse goun of grograne, ane skirt of broune sa-
tene, ane broun saittene dowblet, twa hwidis with
craipis; togidder with ane pair of blankettis,
quhairin he band all the saidis clathis and abulze-
ments: Quhilkis guidis and geir pertenit to the
and are apperand to Laurence Craufurd of Kilbirny, of all
gudis, movabill and vnmovabill, &c. quhilkis pertenit to
the said Laurence, Eschete for flalseing and flenzeing of
ane proces of apprizing, led at his instance agains Johne
Cunynghame (‘1¢. merkis® of composition.)

* He was one of the assize at the trial of the Laird of
Bishoptoune, Oct. 8, 1541.

t Margaret Blair, Lady Kilbirny, and John Crawfurd,

her spous, ocour in the testament of vmgle. Mareoun Bar-
clay, who deceist April 1602,—GrAscow Con. REC.
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said Johnne Crawfurd of Kilbirnie and his spous.
Lyke as, att the same tyme, he with his complices,
brak vp the said Johnne Crawfurdis Charter-kist,
standing within the said Place, and thiftiouslie
stall, concelit, ressett and away-tuik, furth thairof,
ane grit number of the said Laird of Kilbirneis
speciall eunidentis and writtis, togidder with the
saidis guidis and geir and abulzements, he and his
complices had and convoyit away with thame, and
disponit thairvpoun att thair pleasour; and he wes
airt and pairt of the thifteous steilling, conceling,
resetting and away-taking of the saidis guidis,
geir, writtis, euidents and vtheris aboue writtin,
and of the breking of the said Place, in maner, and
att the tyme forsaid; quhilk wes notourlie knawin.
To the takin, (token) he, with his wyffe and
seruand-wemene, delyuerit bak agane to the Lady
Kilbirny, within the duelling house of Cuthbert
Crawfurd in Parkfut, in presens of the said Cuth-
bert Crawfurd, Hew Gavin in Boig, William
Allane in Manis, Thomas Harvie in Brocklirhill,
Mungo Allane in Sarslie, Hew Starrie in Bank-
syde, and George Kelso in Brighill, the perticuler
abulzements following, viz. the saidis cuttit out
velvet dowblet, the broun velvet brekis, the lowse
grograne goune, the broun satene skirt, ane
broune satane dowblet, the said figurit velvet
goune, the said broun ryding cloik and skirt, with
the saidis twa huidis, qubilkis wer thifteouslie
stollin and away-brocht be him and his complices,
farth of the said place, att the tyme foirsaid: To
the takin also, he being examinate him selff, in
presens of the Minister, eldaris and deakinnis of
the Kirk of Kilbirnie, he grantit and confessit the
haifing of the said blew taffatie bend, with certane
of the said Laird and Ladies writtis and eunidentis,
bot wald nocht declair how he came be thame; as
the Extract of his Confessioun, heirwith produceit
to schaw, beris: To the takin lykwayis, the said
Johnne, being charget of befoir to find cautioune
to haif comperit before the Justice, at ane certane
day bygane, to vnderly the law for the foirsaidis
crymes, he than, for disobedience of the said
charge, past to the horne; as the Hoirning lyk-
wayis schawin beiris.”

Notwithstanding the strong evidence here ad-
duced, * the assise, be the mouth of Williame Orr
in Lochrig, chancellor, for the maist pairt, ffand,
pronuncet and declairit the said Johnne Craw-
furd to be clene, innocent and acquit of airt and
pairt of the breking,” &c.

John Craufurd died, as the following extract
from the Commissary Record of Glasgow shows,
in 1622. * Testament dative and Inventar of the
guids, &c. qlk. pertenit to vmqle. Johnne Craw-
fuird of Kilburnie the tyme of his deceis, Quha
deceist in the monethe of Januar, the zeir of God

1622 zeirs. flaytfullic maid and gevin vp be
Johnne Crawfurd now of Kilburnie, lawfull sone
to the defunct, and executour dative decernit to
his guids and geir be decreit of the Commissary
of Glasgow, 27th Merche, 1622, &c. Inventar—

. . Item, ane boitt wt. hir furnitor, Rowmg
and sailling graithe, estimat to jeli. Item, in the
bornes and bornezairdis of Kilburnie, Grenok,
and Fairlie Crevoche, rextive. Sax scoir bolls
aitts, price of the bole v li. 6s. 8d. Cond. the
penult day of May, 1622. Hew Crawfurd of
Jordanehill, Cautr.”

VIII. John Craufurd of Kilbirnie, son of the
testator, rebuilt, or rather made additions to, the
house of Kilbirnie in 1627. He married Lady
Mary Cuninghame, daughter of the Earl of Glen-
cairn, by whom he had two sons and two daugh-
ters, one of whom, Anne, married Sir Alexander
Cuninghame of Corsehill. He died in 1629, and
was succeeded by his eldest son,

IX. Sir John Craufurd of Kilbirnie, who was
knighted by Charles I., and took part in the
Civil Wars. Ie married, first, a daughter of
Lord Burleigh, by whom he had no issue; second-
ly, Magdalene, daughter of David, Lord Carncgie,
by whom he had two daughters :—

1. Anne, married to Sir Archibald Stewart of Blackhall,
from which marriage descended the family of Black-
hall and Ardgowan.

2. Margaret, who married Patrick, second son of John,
the fifteenth Earl of Craufurd and first of Lindsay.

Sir John died in 1661. The representation of the
family now fell on Cornelius Craufurd of Jordan-
hill, as heir-male; but in the estate of Kilbirnie,
Sir John was succeeded by his youngest daughter,

X. Margaret Craufurd, and her husband, Pa-
trick Lindsay, who now, in consequence of the
entail, assumed the name of Craufurd of Kilbirnie.
Of this marriage there were seven children. Both
husband and spouse died suddenly in 1680, having
been carried off by a malignant fever. Their
deaths are thus detailed in Law’s Memorials :—
“ October 1680. In one week’s tyme, dyed, first,
the Lady Kilburnie, daughter to the late laird of
it, on the 12th of that instant, and her husband,
the laird, second son of the Earl of Lindsay, who
gott that estate by marrying this laird’s daughter,
dies also upon the 15th of that instant, both of a
feaver. The Sabbath before, they were at the
celebration of the Lord’s Supper at the kirk of
Beith. On the day they sickened, the laird’s
dogs went into the closs, and an unco dog com-
ing in amongst them, they all set up a barking,
with their faces up to heaven howling, yelling,
and youphing; and when the laird called upon
them, they would not come to him, as in former
times, when he called upon them. The death of

, thir spouses was much lamented by all sorts of
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people. They left seven children behind them;
within a few days after, the Lady Blackhall, her
sister, being infected with the same disease, (for
it was a pestilentious fever,) and coming to Kil-
burnie to wait on the funeralls, she also dyes
there.” It would appear that a considerable party
of the citizens of Glasgow had attended the fu-
neral of these distinguished individuals, for on the
21st December following, the town-council or-
dained *John Robesoune to have ane warrand
for the soume of thrie hundreth sextie punds,
nyne shilling Scots, payed be him for the expenses
and hors hyres of these that went to the buriall of
Kilbirnie, his Ladie, and to the buriall of the
Ladie Blackhall.”

XI. John Craufurd of Kilbirnie, the eldest son,
was served heir, 4th December, 1690. He took
an active part in those measures which led to the
Revolution, and, as stated in our account of the
parish of Irvine, commanded the Fencible men of
Cuninghame in 1689. In 1693, he was chosen
member of the Scots Parliament for the shire of
Ayr, and again in the first Parliament of Quecen
Anne. In 1705, he was raised to the peerage by
the title of Viscount Mount Craufurd, which he
afterwards got altered to that of Garnock. He
married Lady Margaret Stewart, daughter of the
Earl of Bute, by whom he had five sons :—

1. Patrick, his successor.

2. John.

8. James, sometime oonnected with the Customs at Ir-
vine, and the rep stor of John Lindsay Crau-
furd, the Irish claimant of the honours and estates of
Craufurd.

4. David.

5. Charles; and three daughters.

He died 25th December, (o.s.) 1708, and was
succecded by his eldest son,

XII. Patrick, Viscount Garnock. He married
Miss Home, daughter of George Home, Esq. of
Kelly, by whom he had two sons and three daugh-
ters. Iis eldest daughter, Margaret, was mar-
ried to David first Earl of Glasgow, of whom the
present Earl is descended. He died 24th May,
(o. 8.) 1735, and was succeeded by his only sur-
viving son,

XII. George, third Viscount Garnock, who
succeeded to the honours of Craufurd, &e. on the
death of John, the eighteenth Earl. He married
Jean, daughter of Robert Hamilton, Esq. of Bour-
treehill, by whom he had three sons and two
daughters :—

1. George, who succeeded.

2. Robert. 3. Bute; both of whom died unmarried.

1. Lady Jean, married, in 1772, to Archibald, Earl of
Eglintoun, but died in 1778, in her twenty-first year,
without issue.

2. Lady Mary, of whom afterwards.

Lord Garnock died in 1781, and was succeeded by
his eldest son,

XIV. George Lindsay Craufurd, fourth Vis-
count Garnock, twentieth Earl of Craufurd, and
sixth Earl of Lindsay, Lord-Licutenant of Fifc,
and a Major-General in the army. His Lordship
died unmarried in 1808, and was sueceeded m his
estates in Fife, Dumbartonshire, and Ayrshire, by
his only remaining sister,

XV. Lady Mary Lindsay Craufurd, of Crau-
furd, Lindsay, and Garnock. Her Ladyship re-
mained unmarried, and enjoyed the property till
her death, in 1838, when the estates fell to George,
fourth Earl of Glasgow, in right of his descent
from Margaret, the eldest sister of the first Vis-
count Garnock.

Arms—The arms of the Viscount Garnock, as
represented in the Craufurd gallery of Kilbirnie
Church, are as follow: Two coats impaled, Baron
and Femme; the first bears quarterly, first and
fourth, azure, three cross patees, or, for Barclay ;
second and third, gules, a fess, cheque, argent
and azure, for Lindsay; and by way of surtout,
gules, a fess, ermine, the maternal coat of Crau-
furd; the second bears, or, a fess, cheque, azure
and argent, for Stewart, his Lordship having mar-
ried Lady Margaret Stewart, only daughter of
James, first Ear]l of Bute. The shield is timbered
with helmet, coronet and mantling, befitting the
quality of Viscount, and on a wreath of the prin-
cipal tinctures of the coats, for crest, a stag's head
erased proper, collared, ermine, and between his
attires, or, a cross crosslet, fitche, of the last. On

an escroll is the motto, * Hinc. Honor . Et . Sa-

lus.” Supporters, on the dexter & man robed in
green, striped with gold, and carrying on his right
arm « shield charged with the fess, ermine, of the
Craufurds, and on the sinister, a horse, sable, the
whole standing on a compartment on which are
the words, ¢ Sine . Laba . Nota.”*

* Lest the accuracy of any part of the above biazon
should be called in question, we shall briefly notice what
appears to be three errors committed in the ‘ getting up’ of
this handsome achievement. The first is the omission in
the sinister coat of the double tressure flowered and coun-
ter-fiowered with fleur-de-lis, gules, assumed by the first
Earl of Bute in addition to the simple coat of Stewart.
The second is in the tincturing of the supporter of this
coat, viz., 2 horse, sable, whereas in the Bute achievement,
from which it is taken, and of which it is the dexter sup-
porter, the horse is argent, bridled gules: and thirdly, the
mantlings, which are or, doubled sable, appear to be fauity,
inasmuch as they are not of the tinctures of the arms with-
in the shield, as was the rule of old with us, nor are they
agreeable to the English practice, which of late, says Nis-
bet, “our heralds have followed, who have all the mant-
lings of gentlemen and knights red without, and lined op
doubled with white wtthin. and those of dignified nobility
also red, but doubled »—(A t of the Church
and Churchyard of Kilbirnie, by W. Doble, Esq., Grange-
vale, Beith.)
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CUNINGHAMES OF GLENGARNOCK.

As slready stated, this barony was anciently in
the possession of a family of the name of Riddell,
supposed to have been descended from the Rid-
dels of Teviotdale. The Cuninghames acquired
the property by marriage.

L. REGINALD, second son of Sir Edward Con-
yngham of Kilmaurs, by his wife, Mary, daugh-
ter of the High Steward of Scotland, living about
1292, married Jonet Riddell, the heiress of Glen-
garnock.* His son,

II. Sir Gilbert Conyngham of Glengarnock
married Ann Lyle, daughter of Sir Allan Lyle,
Sheriff of Bute, who turned to the English in-
terest, and became keeper of the castle of Rothe-
say. The vassals of the Stewarts there rose and
put Sir Allan Lyle to death. Gilbert de Con-
yngham del Comte de Aire, swore fealty to Ed-
ward about 1296.

HI. Donald Conyngham of Glengarnock, kiv-
ing about 1810, married Elizabeth, daughter of
Linn of that Ilk. t

IV. John Conyngham of Glengarnock (about
1830) married Jean, daughter of Sir Ronald
Crawfurd of Loudoun.

V. Robert Conyngham of Glengarnock (about
1360) married Magdalene, daughter of Blair of
that Ilk.

VL John Conyngham of Glengarnock (about
1380) married Elizabeth, daughter of Conyng-
ham of Kilmaurs.

VI. William Cuninghame of Glengarnock,
who, about the commencement of the fifteenth
century, married Christian, daughter of Sir Hum-
phry Colquhoun of Luss. His son,

VIII. Sir Humphry Cuninghame of Glengar-
nock, married Jean, daughter of Buchanan of
that Ilk. About the year 1450, he had a daugh-
ter, Agnes, married to Sir Andrew Moray of
Abercairney.

IX. William Cuninghame of Glengarnock, his
son and successor, married, about 1470, Ann,
daughter of Montgomerie of Ardrossan.

X. Sir William Cuninghame of Glengarnock,
married, about 1480, Mary, daughter of Sir
William Edmonston of Duntreath. He was wit-
ness to a charter granted by Alexander, Lord
Montgomerie and Laird of Giffyne, signed at Ax-
drossan, 20th July, 1452.

The Lords Auditors, 5th August, 1473, decreits
that Thomas, Lord Erskine, Johne, Lord Der-
nele, and William of Conynggam of Glengarno,
sall pay to Walter Stewart of Morfie and Patric

» Millar's M. 1 Ibid.

Steruiling, fyftie ky and oxin, twa horss, ane
meir, ane chartour, twa ringis of gold, &c.

In the actioun, 17th May, 1474, persewit be a
venerable Fadir, George, Abbot of Inchechaff,
and his Convent, against William of Conynggam
of Glengarnok, Thomas and William, his sonnes,
anent the destructioun and doun castin of the
mylne lade and dam of Dunfallie, perteining to
the said Abbot, the Lords decreits that the Con-
ynggams sall big up again the dam, &c. on their
awn ex X

Another accioun, 12th October, 1494, be the
said Abbot agane said William and Thomas, for
the wrangwis withhalding thair Place of Inchane-
ray, &c. Sentens againes the said Conynggams.*

Issue :— '

1. Patrick.

2. Thomnas.

3. William. )

XI. Patrick Conyngham of Glengarnock died
before 1478. .

XII. Umphra Conyngham of Glengarnock at-
tended a Parliament at Edinburgh (as one of the
barons) 2d April, 1481. He married Marjorie
Scott, daughter of the laird of Balweirie.

In ane actioun, 12th October, 1478, before the
Lords of Councill, be Umphra Conynggam of
Glengernok, as air to umquhill Patric of Conyng-
game, aganis Alexr. Conynggam of Lekkie and
James Norie of Bochopil, for the wrangwis with-
holdin of the gudes of airschip of said Patric,
the Lords decreits that said Umfra nocht to have
airschip of said Patric becaus he had nane heri-

e.
t'angle Lords of Councill, 14th October, 1478,
assignis to William of Conynggam, the 11th Ja-
nuar, to prufe that umquhill Patric of Conyng-
gam, his brothir, sald him 22 young schepe, &e.

Umphra Conyngham of Glengarnock, on 12th
October, 1478, as air of Patric, pursues for air-
schip of moveables; but is non-suited, because
Patrick had no heritage.

The Lords assigns, 14th October, 1478, to
Alexr. Conynggam and James Norie, executouris
to Patric of Conynggam, 11th Jan., to prufe that
the twentie four yowis and twentie thre lammis
taken be William of Conynggam was the said
umgquhill Patrikis gudis, and byrnt with his Birn.

The Lords, 20th October, 1478, ordains that
Patric Erskine deliver agane to James and Alex-
ander Conynggam, executouris to umqule. Patric
Conynggam, the mails of the lands of Clotherok,}
and the cornes that was prysit for said' umgqle.

* Acts of the Lords Auditors, pages 29, 33, and 36.
.+ Clockodrick, in the perish of Kilbarchan, about two
miles from Johnshill, Lochwinnoch.
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Patrikis herezeld gife he hes takin the said corn
or maills.

Compeirit before the Lords Auditors, 12th
March, 1478, Umphra Conynggam of Glengar-
nock, Patrick of Galbraith, and Donald Fischer,
summond at the instans of David Barcla, parishe
clerk of Kilbirnie, and protestit, &ec.

Before the Lords Auditors, 26th Feb. 1483, it
was appunctit and accordit betwixt Johne Inglis
of Culquhalye, on the tae pairt, and Umfra Con-
ynggam of Glengarnok, on the tithir part, anent,
&c. The Lordis decreitis that Umfra sall pay to
said Johne, nyne tidie kye, nyne thre yeir auld,
and tuelf merkis for three chalders of aittis.*

Umphra Conyngham of Glengarnock had a
crown charter, including the Baldalloch, Paley-
aris, and Kifassettis properties in 1505.

XIII. William Conyngham of Glengarnock,
who married Isabella Cuninghame. It was pro-
bably in this laird’s time that a grant of the forest
of Buchan, in the lordship of Galloway, dated
July 8, 1526, was obtained by the family. In
1627, William Cuninghame of Glengarnock was
fined for intercommuning with Hugh Campbell,
the Sheriff of Ayr, then at the horn for the
slaughter of the Earl of Cassillis.

XTV. William Cuninghame of Glengarnock,
who was slain at Pinkie, was probably the son of
the foregoing. His mother, at all events, * Lady
Isabellat Cunyngham,” was alive at the time.
Before taking his departure for the army, he made
his will, of which the following is a literal transla-
tion:—* Death is certain—the hour most uncer-
tain, Hence it is that I, William Cuninghame of
Glengarnock, taking my way to rencounter our
old enemies, and, in the event of sudden death,
make and ordain my testament and last will. In
the first place, I give and leave my soul to Al-
mighty God, the most blessed Virgin Mary, and
all saints, and my bones to be buried where it
shall please the Most High. And I leave iiij
pence to the fabrick of St Kentingern, and xx
pound to be given to a chaplain duly ordained to
pray for my soul in the parochial church of Kil-
birny. Also, I leave to Sir Robert Cunyngham,
chaplain, x merkis of money; likewise I leave to
the Friars Minor of Air and Glasgow, xx merkis.
Also, I appoint and ordain that my tenants have
the liberty of compounding their debts. Further,
I appoint my executors, viz., Elizabeth Synclair,
my wife, and Lady Isabella Cunyngham, my mo-
ther, only; and I leave my four best horses to my
four sons, in such a way that the cldest shall have
the first choice of the same, viz., ay the cldest to

® Acts of Lords Auditors.
t The name Isabella, sccms favourable to the belief that
she was the spouse of William.

cheis first, and that the heirship horse shall stand
to my heir for his choice. I leave to Alexander
Cunyngham, my younger son, the younger horse
called the ¢seur staig,’ and to John Blair, my
son-in-law, the younger horse, called the ¢ brown
staig.” I grant and assign to Elizabeth Cunyng-
hame, my daughter, relict of the late Alexander
Schaw of Sauchguy, that sum of 400 merkis, rest-
ing upon the lands and buildings of Sir John Mak-
ghe, vicar of Arbruthven, lying within the city of
Glasgow; as also, that sum of 200 merkis, owing
by the said Sir John, I assign to the foresaid Eli-
zabeth, towards relieving my executrices of the
forementioned sum of 700 merkis due to the said
Elizabeth. Moreover, all my goods, moveable
and immoveable, my debts being taken out and
paid, I give and leave to my three daughters, to
be distributed and apportioned at the will of my
executrices aforesaid, as they shall answer to the
Supreme Judge.” This testament was made by
the mouth of the departing, ** the xxix day of the
month of August, in the year of our Lord 1547,
my manuel subscription bearing testimony, at
Glengarnock.” Follows the form of subscription,
* William Cunyngham of Glengarnock, with my
hand.” This testament was confirmed, &c., 4th
November, 1547.*

It was probably this Wiliam Cuninghame of
Glengarnock who was engaged in so many of the
local feuds of his time. The Books of Adjournal{
show, that in 1580, May 28, * William Cunyng-
bame of Glengarnock, David C. of Robertland,
and thirty-seven of their followers, found caution
to appear at the Justice-aire of Air, to underly
the law for art and part of the forethought, felony,
and oppression done to Gabriel Sympill, lying in
the highway, in feir of weir, near Ormysheuche,
awaiting his arrival, for his slauchter, of fore-
thought, felony, and old feud.”

In 1503, November 20, he was engaged in the
feud between his chief, the Earl of Glencairn, and
Lord Sempill, and had to underly the law for as-
sisting the Master of Glencairn in attempting the
slaughter of Lord Sempill. * William Cunyng-
hame of Glengarnock, David C. of Robertland,
and Robert C. of Auchinhervey, with sixteen
others, found caution to underly the law at the
same Justice-aire, for art and part of the fore-
thought felony and oppression done to Robert
Snodgerse, Mark Sympill, and Patrick Young,
coming with convocation of the lieges to the num-
ber of 100 persons, in warlike manner, on the (8d)
day of September last, within the lands of the
said Robert, and forcibly seizing and imprisoning

® Statistical Account.
t Pitcairn’s Criminal Trials.
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him, &c. The parties, both Cunynghames and
Sempills, were bound over to keep the peace, un-
der the pains of 5000, 2000, and 1000 marks each,
according to their respective ranks.”

William Cuninghame married Elizabeth, daugh-
ter of Lord Saint-Clair. Issue:—

1. John, who succeeded.

2. William, who died intestate before his father. The
inventory of his effects was confirmed before the Com-
missary Court of Glasgow, on the 5th of January 1547.
He is styled in that document * Will. Conynghame,
filii quond. nobilis viri Willmi. Conynghame de Glen-
gammok.” His executors dative were Isabella, Johanna,
and Agnes Cuninghame, *sorrores legittime.”

3. Cuthbert.

4. Alexander.

1. Elizabeth, married to Alexauder Schaw of Sauchie,
who died before 1547.

2. Isobel, married to William Porterfleld, younger of
that Ik, in 1506.

3. Margaret, married to John Blair of that Ilk.

4. Johanna. .

5. Agnes.

XYV. John Cuninghame of Glengarnock suc-
ceeded his father. Robertson supposes him to
have been twice married, as he had a daughter,
Jean, married in 1565 to John Shaw of Greenock,
who could not have been the daughter of Mar-
garet, daughter of Malcolm, third Lord Fleming,
whom he married in 1548. He had also a daugh-
ter, Margaret, married to Malcolm Craufurd of
Kilbirnie. He had, according to Millar's MS.,
twelve sons :-—

1. Willlam, who predeceased him.
2. John, the first of Caddell, &o.

And five daughters, viz. Lady Blair, Lady Kilbir-
nie, Lady Greenock, Lady Fullwood, and Lady
Duchall. Like his predecessors, this Laird of Glen-
garnock entered pretty deeply into the feuds of his
time. In 1555, January 8, * John Cunnynghame of
Glengarnok, Cuthbert C. of Cochrane, and Alex.
C., his brothers,* John C. of Croy, and thirty-
two others, found caution to underly the law at
the next Justice-aire of Air, for convocation of
the lieges to the number of thirty persons, armed
in warlike manner, and coming under silence
of night, in July 1554, by way of hamesucken,
to the house of Humphrey Galbrayth in Eister
Glenne, breaking up the doors thereof, entering
the same, and searching for him for his slauchter,
committed on forethought felony.” He lived to
agreatage. In 1591, June 19, Sir Patrick Hous-
ton of that Iik, &c., was ** dilatit of airt and pairt
of the slauchteris of vingle William Cuninghame,
oy (grandson) of the auld Laird of Glengarnok,
and vingle. Johnne Cwningham, his sone naturall,
committed with convocationne, of the causing of
the said Sir Patrick, the ferd day of Apryle last-

¢ This shows that John Cuninghame of Glengarnock was
the son of William who died at Pinkie, Alexander, who
was left the ‘seur staig,’ having been the younger son.
Robertson was doubtful on the point.

was, vpoun sett purpoise and provisionne.” The
pursuers for this slaughter were, * Johnne Cwn-
inghame of Glengarnok,” and * William Cuning-
hame, zounger of Glengarnok.” As already stat-
ed, the ‘ Auld Laird” survived the younger.*
He died, however, before 1596.

XVI. William, who died before his father,
married Mary Sinclair, daughter of Lord Sinclair,
and had issue:—

1. 8ir James, who succeeded his grandfather.

2. William of Quarreltoun, who obtained from his father
the lands of Quarreltoun, Paisley parish, in 1583. He
married t and had issue.

1. Robert of Quarreltoun, married Margaret Wood.
He died in 1632, and left, in their minority :
1. Robert.
2. Willlam.
3. John.
4. Margaret.
6. Iwobel.$
2. James, executor of his father’s will, died in 1614.
8. Murgaret, married to Robert Blair of Lochwood,
died in 1618.
3. James, died May 18, 1644.
4. Jean, married to her cousin, John Schaw of Greenock ,
in 1565.

5. Andro went toIreland. Durle, in his Decisions, men-
tions him as living in 1626.

XVII. Sir James Cuninghame of Glengar-
nock. ¢ Jan. 29, 1595-6, James Cunynghame
of Glengarnok ordained to be denounced, for
not ¢ compeiring personalie’ before the King and
Council, ‘tuicheing the removing of the ffeid
standing betuix him and Schir Patrik Houstoun
of that Ilk, knt. and his freindis,” &c. He suc-
ceeded in 1599, and was served heir to his father
in 1601. In 1602, January 15, James Cwning-
hame of Glengarnok was ‘‘dilatit of art and
part of the slauchter of vmgqle. Williame Cun-
inghame in Walzaird.” In 1609, * Sir James
Cuninghame of Glengarnock” was one of the as-
size on the trial of Sir James Makconeill of Knok-
rynsay, knt.,&c. He appears to have heen knight-
ed about this time. His name occurs in several
testamentary documents, a few years previously,
as James Cuninghame simply. In the testament
of * Hew Garven, notar, toune-clerk of Irwein,”
in 1610, however, it occurs thus: * Item, be Sir
James Cunynghame of Glengarnock the sowme of
Thrie hundrith thretty-tbrie pund vis. viiid.”

He married, about the beginning of the seven-
teenth century, Lady Catherine, daughter of
James, seventh Earl of Glencairn, by whom he
had three sons and a daughter : —

¢ William the young laird died before 1592, as Robert- -
son quotes a sasine subscribed at Glengarnock, 7th Sep-
tember, 1592, by John of Glengarnock, and James his
grandson and heir apparent.

t “ The Kirkland Rosses, in Renfrew parish, made inter-
marriages with the Sempills of Fulwood, Whytefuirds of
that Ilk, and Cunynghams of Quarreltoun.”—ROBERTSON'S
CRAUPURD.

$ Wishaw.
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1. John, the representative of the family.
2. William, of Balluchaw, in Ireland, whose daughter,
f’:;l:cl, married 8ir James Colquhoun of Luss, about

The daughter married James Boswell of Auchinleck.

Having got into pecuniary difficulties, Sir James
** agsigned, in 1609,* the lands of Glengarnock in
behoof of his creditors, and went to Ireland, where
he had got a grant of 12,000 acres of land from
King James VI.t

XVIIIL. John Cuninghame, representative of
the famxly of Glengarnock. With the view of
recovering the wadset lands of Boquhan, he sold
the lands of Crawfield, Beith parish, to Gabriel
Porterfield of Hapland, and Jean Maxwell, his
spouse. The deed of sale was dated at Castle-
Cuninghame, Ireland, the penult day of January,
1648.1

Arms—Argent, a shake-fork, sable, charged
with a cinque foil of the first.

THE OTHER CUNINGHAMES OF GLENGARNOCK.

Davip CuxiNgHAME of Robertland bought
the barony of Glengarnock, and was infeft in it,
15th October, 1628. Iis second son, Alexander,
who married Elizabeth, daughter of John Cun-
inghame of Cambuskeith, resided at Ladyland in
1647.§ He joined the Marquis of Montrose, and
was rebuked for doing so in the kirk of Kilbirnie.
He appears to have garrisoned the old castle of
Glengarnock in the royal cause. The following
notice occurs in reference to this:—* Deburssit
be the Hieat, Bigert, and Ramsheid, to Alexander
Cunyngham his garrison of Glengarnock, £51,
15s. 0d., July, 1651, the half, £25, 17s. 6d.”

The Robertland family sold the barony of Glen-
garnock in 1651 or 1652, to

1. Richard Cuninghame, son of William Cun-
inghame, clerk of the Signet, and depute-keeper
of the Privy Seal, who died before 1646. Wil-
liam was the second son of James Cuninghame of
Aishinyairds, in Kilwinning parish—e branch of
the Craigends family. Richard married, in 1654,
Elizabeth, daughter of James Heriot of Trabroun,
and niece of the celebrated George Heriot, foun-
der of Heriot’s Hospital in Edinburgh. This lady

® The name of Sir James Cnnlnghune of Glengarnock
oocurs in several t cted with
the locality as late as 1615, at which period he appears to
have still remained in Scotland.

t Durie mentions, that being engaged in a law plea in
1626, Sir James Cuninghame of Glengarnock borrowed
1000 merks from Walter Forrester upon his lands of Bo-
quhan.

$ Beith Papers.

§ Notwithstanding, he was elected ruling elder for the

parish in 1649.

had possibly some relations in the vicinity of Glen-
garnock, for Maister John Heriot was *‘ minister
of the word” at Kilbirnie in 1615. Maister John
married Jean Barclay, and had a daughter, Jean
Heriot, married to Hugh Montgomerie, Irvine, in
1615. Richard is said to have received £12,000
Scots by his wife.* He died in or before 1671,
and his wife in March 1672. They were both
interred in Glengarnock aisle in Kilbirnie kirk.
They had twelve children, of whom six as fol-

lows:

1. Richard, his successor.

2. John went to Ireland. He occurs in 1676.

8. Wmiun. born ut Glengn.rnock He received from
Al Cu h of Craigends, 17th August,
1687, part of 1250 merks addebted to “ Robert, my
brother, now in America, conforme to a letter from
said Robert, directed to Janet Cunynghame, Lady
Craigens, his father-gister.”

4. David Cunyngh son of umquhile Richard of Glen-
garnock, witness to the seisin of his brother Richard
of Glengarnock's creditors in 1671.

§. Alexander, fifth son, born at Glengarnock in 16656.
He was ordained minister of Dreghorn in 1695, and
died in 1712. He married Janet, daughter of Aiken-
head of Jaw, in Stirlingshire. Issue, among others—

1. Willam Cunyngham, who married his cousin,
Elizabeth, daughter of Robert Cuninghame of
Cayen, in St Christophers, in the West Indies.
He had several children, but all withoat issue.

2. Richard Cunyngham, minister at Symington,
who died in 1760. He married Ann, daughter of
Mr Murray, merchant in Edinburgh, who died in
1775. Issue, three children:—

1. Elizabeth Cuningham,t married to George
Bannatyne, minister at Craigie, and there-
after one'of the ministers of Glasgow. He
was son of Mr James Bannatyne, who was
minister of the College Church of Edinburgh.
lssue, five sons and a daughter, all of whom
died without issue except Richard Bannatyne,
who married Jean, daughter of Robert Alli-
son of Fowtoun. He died in 1815, leaving
five sons.

. Alexander Cuningham, minister at Syming-
toun, succeeded his father. Died in 1782, in
his 46th year, unmarried.

. Robert ham went to Blandford in
Virginia. Died in 1796. He married Mar-
tha Baird, an American lady. Issue, two
daughters, who died unmarried; and two
sons, viz. 1. Alexander Cuningham, married.
2. Richard Cuningham, unmarried (when the
Bannatyne Manuscript was written). Both
are, or were, settled at Petersburgh in Vir-

ginia,$
6. Robert Cwnyngham, born at Glengamock in 1669,
son of Richard and Elizabeth Xlcriot. He went to
America, or to the West Indies, before 1687, when he
wrote to Lady Craigends, his aunt, craving Craigends
for 1250 merks due to him. He gained a considera-
ble fortune, and purchased an estate called Cayen,
in 8t Christopher’s. He married, first, in 1693, Judith
Elisabeth de Bonnisson, daughter of Daniel de Bon-
nisson of Morlaix, in France, by his wife, Mary de
Barat, sister of Charles de Barat, Seigneur de 1a Bodie,

® He appears, however, to have been in pecuniary difi-
culties, for John Watt, in Edinburgh, had the half of
Glengarnock in wadset, 24th January, 1667.
i t She survived Mr G. Bannatyne, her husband, and died

1802.

{ Bannatyne MS. used by Mr Robertson in his Ayrshire
Families.

~
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Lieutenant-General to the King of Franes, and Go-
vernor of the Citadel of Lyle in France.* He mar-
ried, secondly, in his old age, Mary Garnier, his house-

He had by his French lady fifteen children,

m of Anthony Hodges, Governor of Monbernt.
Hedied in 1772, aged 72. He had four children:
1. Elizabeth Philadelphis, married to Charles
Pearce of London.
2. Robert, died at Montserrat.
3. Henrletta, married to John Knight of Sea-
castle, Worcestershire.
4. Anthony, married Harriet Rook.
4. &namn.(b Mary Garnier) to whom he left his
Scots estates of Baidland of Dalry, and Craig of
Kilmaurs. This lady married Major Hay of
Nunraw, in East-Lothian,t
IL Richard Cunynghame of Glengarnock, born
at Glengarnock in 1656. He was served heir to
the property 6th June, 1671. His father’s debts
were greatly beyond what had been calculated
upon; and the young heir was so distressed by
his creditors, that his education was neglected.
The estate of Glengarnock was bought by Patrick
Lindsay of Kilbirnie, in 1672 and 1677.§ Rich-
ard Cunynghame attained his majority in 1677.
Having been dispossessed, and *‘ roupit” out of
his inheritance, he married the heiress of Baid-
land, Elizabeth Cuninghame, about 1686. He
was alive in 1710, ] about which period he made
up the following memorandum of his family:—
1. Richard, born 8d February, 1687. He was in the
army in Flanders in 1710.
2. John, born 1st October, 1690. An apprentice to &
sargeon in 1710.
3. Ann, born 16th June, 1693.
, born 13th July, 1694.

born in March, 16986.
Robert, born 2d January, 1699.

i

John M‘Dowall, factor to Castlesemple, in 1749.
—— born 12th July, 1702.
0. ‘William, born 21st November, 1708.
10. Mary, born 14th March, 1708.

¢ Nisbet's Heraldry.

+ Craig was sold, in 1780, to the bvotherofthepmt
Robert Morris of Craig; and Baidland-Cuninghame, about
1783 or 1784, to the Earl of Glasgow.

$ This is noticed among the family papers in 1673.

§ The rental of the whole barony of Glengarnock, com-
prehending 33 farms, was, in 1672, as follows:—* 8um
money rent, £3480; of meale, 52 bolls; of malt,
14 bolls, inde 66 bolls; of fouls, § hens, § capons, 24 dozen

of caponis. By the mylne ane dozen; with 25

stackt, and the mains for myselfe, which I value at ——.”
the acoount of the Chamberlain, John Cuning-
hame of Wattiestoun, second son of 8ir David Cuninghame
of Robertland. In his papers occurs the following notices
in reference to the property of Glengarnock :—

“The 27 Apryle, 1672, for the outrick of Blew Coats,
£27, 108, 0d.

“ 38 May, 1672, for three weekis mayntenance of the
militia, the fourt pairt is £90, 0s. 0d.

“For collecting fyve punds inde £90, 2s. 2d. allowit to
Johne Cunynghame as the maister’s pairt, with fyve pund
for the tennents of waist land, inde £95, 2s, 2d.]

1 Craufard’s Renfrewshirc.

VOL. I1I.

;

(Besides, says Richard, I have a son and four daughters,
dead.)

III. A son who went to the West Indies, where
he married and had three sons. They were liv-
ing in 1777, according to the Bannatyne manu-
script, which ended in that year. ‘It should
seem that this Richard did not retain this pro-
perty; for we find it the possession of his brother
Robert.

‘¢ Note.—This account is collected chiefly from
the Bannatyne MS., with the perusal of which I
have been favoured by Mrs Bannatyne, widow of
Richard Bannatyne, son of the late minister of

Craigie.”*

LADYLAND—BARCLAYS,

The earliest possessors of this barony, so far as
seems known, were a branch of the Barclays of
Kilbirnie. The first of them, according to Craw-
furd’s Peerage, was

1. ArcHIBALD, second son of Sir Hugh Barclay
of Kilbirnie, who had the dimidieatum terrarum
de Ladyland bestowed upon him by his father.
It is out of our power, however, to trace the des
scent of the family in a connected manner. Some
generations passed over, the next we find on re-
cord is,

II. David Barclay of Ladyland, who was one
of the jury, in 1564, on the trial of Patrick Hous-
toun of that Ilk, for assaulting Archibald Hamil-
ton of Cochno on the street of Dumbarton.t His
wife was Margaret Craufurd, probably of the Kil-
birnie family. Issue:

1. Hew Barclay, his heir, of whom lﬂarwndl
2. David.

1. Elizabeth, married to Hugh Craufurd of Km)lrnie
This was the * Laird of Ladyland” who, in May
1568, was with Queen Mary’s party at Hamilton,
and who, no doubt, fought at the subsequent bat-
tle of Langside.

IT1. Hew Barclay of Ladyland was a poet, and
the friend and companion of Montgomerie, the
author of * The Cherry and the Slae.” Two of
his sonnets, the one addressed to Captain Mont-
gomerie, and the other to Ezekiel Montgomerie
of Hesilhead,} are preserved in Laing’s edition of
the poems of Montgomerie. These were written
in the author's happier days, about 1580, and dis-
play no small talent. The first of the sonnets is
fall of quaint humour. He represents himself as
in the country, * hotching on a sped,” * draiglit

¢ Robertson's Ayrshire Families, val. i p. 3183—318.
Trials.

f Criminal
$ Ezekiel, younger son of the laird of Hesilheld, was
styled of Weitland, Kilbarchan . He was chamber

lain to his kinsman, Lard Sem
Q
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in dirt, vhylis wat evin to the skin;” and regret-
ting his absence from his correspondent, who, with
his friends, was “ birling at the wyne,” and * pu-
ing Bacchus’ luggis.”

The poet, unfortunately, got himself embroiled
in the civil commotions of the times; and with
characteristic enthusiasm took part with the losing
gide. In 1592, he was seized and imprisoned in
the Tolbooth of Edinburgh, for being concerned
in the Popish plot. He was, however, set at
liberty, by the king’s directions, in 1598, on find-
ing four sureties for his re-entering in ward in
Glasgow at his majesty’s pleasure. In this some-
what critical position, and sensible of the danger
of his political predilections, he disponed, in 1598,
all his lands of Ladyland to his brother David,
under a liferent to Margaret Craufurd, his mother,
and that of Isobel Stewart, his spouse. Soon after
this he fled to Spain; from whence he returned
in 1597, and contrived to get possession of the
Craig of Ailsa, with the view of holding it in
aid of the designs of the party with which he was
connected. His enemies, however, were too ac-
tive for him. He was discovered while laying i
8 store of provisions, and being pursued, he either
fell by accident, or threw himself intentionally into
the sea, and was drowned.

He left no issue. His lady long survived him,
¢ Isobel Stewart, Lady Ladyland,” occurs in the
testament of John Barclay, Kilbirnie, July 1618.*

IV. Sir David Barclay of Ladyland succeeded
his brother in 1599, and died in 1606, leaving
issue:

1. David, who succeeded.

2. William, burgess of Irvine. He married Margaret

Cunynghame. They were infeft in a certain tenement
in that burgh in 1619.

3. Hugh, witness to a sasine in 1616. His name occurs
in a similar document in 1619.

" V. David Barclay of Ladyland was served heir
to his father, 27th March 1606. His name occurs
in various documents, testamentary and other-
wise, from the year 1616 till 1621, inclusive. In
1621, he is mentioned in the testament of * David
Stewart of Fairlie Crevoche, within the parochin
of Stewarton;” from which it may be inferred that
his aunt, Isobel Stewart, Lady Ladyland, was of
that family. He seems to have been in easy cir-
cumstances; for, in 1617, he gave some money in
loan to Lord Sempill, over the lands of Lochhesd.
He is supposed to have married a daughter of
Alexander Cuninghame of Corsehill,t and left
issue.

VI. David Barclay of Ladyland was retoured
heir to his father, * Sir David Barclay, knight, of

IAdylmdmdAuclnnmﬂ' " united in one dominum,
in 1629. He was very unfortunate. His father
had happened to become cautioner for a debt in
1621, which debt had never been liquidated. In
1631, he was pursued for this debt, as heir of his
father, by the Laird of Cloberhill, parish of Stew-
artoun. The Lords of Session ordained Ladyland
to pay the claim, with expenses. This seems to
have ruined him ; for, in the same year, John Blair
of Cloberhill was infeft in the 